# **PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH**

VOLUME 7 ISSUE 3 JANUARY 2019 ISSN 2050-4381

Randomised controlled trial with economic and process evaluations of domiciliary welfare rights advice for socioeconomically disadvantaged older people recruited via primary health care (the Do-Well study)

Catherine Haighton, Suzanne Moffatt, Denise Howel, Mel Steer, Frauke Becker, Andrew Bryant, Sarah Lawson, Elaine McColl, Luke Vale, Eugene Milne, Terry Aspray and Martin White



Randomised controlled trial with economic and process evaluations of domiciliary welfare rights advice for socioeconomically disadvantaged older people recruited via primary health care (the Do-Well study)

Catherine Haighton,<sup>1</sup> Suzanne Moffatt,<sup>1</sup> Denise Howel,<sup>1</sup> Mel Steer,<sup>1</sup> Frauke Becker,<sup>2</sup> Andrew Bryant,<sup>1</sup> Sarah Lawson,<sup>1</sup> Elaine McColl,<sup>1</sup> Luke Vale,<sup>2</sup> Eugene Milne,<sup>3,4,5</sup> Terry Aspray<sup>5</sup> and Martin White<sup>1,6</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>Institute of Health & Society, Newcastle University, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK <sup>2</sup>Health Economics Group, Institute of Health & Society, Newcastle University, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK

 <sup>3</sup>Public Health Directorate, Newcastle City Council, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK
 <sup>4</sup>School of Medicine, Pharmacy and Health, Durham University, Durham, UK
 <sup>5</sup>Institute for Cellular Medicine, Newcastle University, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK
 <sup>6</sup>Medical Research Council (MRC) Epidemiology Unit, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, UK

\*Corresponding author

**Declared competing interests of authors:** All authors received a grant of £28,000 from the North East Strategic Health Authority in 2012 to cover the costs of delivering the intervention, associated training and other non-research costs of this study. Elaine McColl has been a subpanel member of National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Programme Grants for Applied Research and Programme Development Grants since June 2008. She was also an editor for the NIHR Journals Library Programme Grants for Applied Research programme from July 2013 to March 2016. Luke Vale has been a panel member of the NIHR Health Technology Assessment Clinical Trials Board since 2014, a panel member for NIHR Programme Grants for Applied Research programme from March 2008 to June 2016, and Director of the NIHR Research Design Service for the North East of England since April 2012. Martin White is a member of the NIHR Journals Library Editorial Board. He is Programme Director of the NIHR Public Health Research programme and Editor-in-Chief of the NIHR *Public Health Research* journal (he has held both roles since October 2014).

**Dedication:** We dedicate this report to Emma Noble, the lead researcher on this project, who died tragically, aged 46, in the second year of the study. Emma was a registered general nurse who worked in the NHS for 14 years prior to her appointment to Newcastle University in September 2004. Emma worked as a researcher in the School of Neurology, Neurobiology and Psychiatry, and the School of Education, Communication and Language Sciences, before she was appointed as a Research Associate in the Institute of Health & Society. Emma worked on the Do-Well study from its inception and was central to establishing the trial. She was a highly valued member of the team. Her sudden and unexpected death was a shock, not only to her family, friends and colleagues, but also to study participants to whom she was a great source of support. She is greatly missed.

Published January 2019 DOI: 10.3310/phr07030

This report should be referenced as follows:

Haighton C, Moffatt S, Howel D, Steer M, Becker F, Bryant A, *et al.* Randomised controlled trial with economic and process evaluations of domiciliary welfare rights advice for socioeconomically disadvantaged older people recruited via primary health care (the Do-Well study). *Public Health Res* 2019;**7**(3).

## **Public Health Research**

ISSN 2050-4381 (Print)

ISSN 2050-439X (Online)

This journal is a member of and subscribes to the principles of the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) (www.publicationethics.org/).

Editorial contact: journals.library@nihr.ac.uk

The full PHR archive is freely available to view online at www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/phr. Print-on-demand copies can be purchased from the report pages of the NIHR Journals Library website: www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

#### Criteria for inclusion in the Public Health Research journal

Reports are published in *Public Health Research* (PHR) if (1) they have resulted from work for the PHR programme, and (2) they are of a sufficiently high scientific quality as assessed by the reviewers and editors.

Reviews in *Public Health Research* are termed 'systematic' when the account of the search, appraisal and synthesis methods (to minimise biases and random errors) would, in theory, permit the replication of the review by others.

#### PHR programme

The Public Health Research (PHR) programme, part of the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR), evaluates public health interventions, providing new knowledge on the benefits, costs, acceptability and wider impacts of non-NHS interventions intended to improve the health of the public and reduce inequalities in health. The scope of the programme is multi-disciplinary and broad, covering a range of interventions that improve public health. The Public Health Research programme also complements the NIHR Health Technology Assessment programme which has a growing portfolio evaluating NHS public health interventions.

For more information about the PHR programme please visit the website: http://www.nets.nihr.ac.uk/programmes/phr

#### This report

The research reported in this issue of the journal was funded by the PHR programme as project number 09/3009/02. The contractual start date was in December 2011. The final report began editorial review in April 2016 and was accepted for publication in October 2016. The authors have been wholly responsible for all data collection, analysis and interpretation, and for writing up their work. The PHR editors and production house have tried to ensure the accuracy of the authors' report and would like to thank the reviewers for their constructive comments on the final report document. However, they do not accept liability for damages or losses arising from material published in this report.

This report presents independent research funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR). The views and opinions expressed by authors in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, the NIHR, NETSCC, the PHR programme or the Department of Health and Social Care. If there are verbatim quotations included in this publication the views and opinions expressed by the interviewees are those of the interviewees and do not necessarily reflect those of the authors, those of the NHS, the NIHR, NETSCC, the PHR programme or the Department of Health and Social Care.

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Published by the NIHR Journals Library (www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk), produced by Prepress Projects Ltd, Perth, Scotland (www.prepress-projects.co.uk).

## **NIHR Journals Library Editor-in-Chief**

**Professor Ken Stein** Chair of HTA and EME Editorial Board and Professor of Public Health, University of Exeter Medical School, UK

## **NIHR Journals Library Editors**

**Professor Ken Stein** Chair of HTA and EME Editorial Board and Professor of Public Health, University of Exeter Medical School, UK

Professor Andrée Le May Chair of NIHR Journals Library Editorial Group (HS&DR, PGfAR, PHR journals)

**Professor Matthias Beck** Professor of Management, Cork University Business School, Department of Management and Marketing, University College Cork, Ireland

Dr Tessa Crilly Director, Crystal Blue Consulting Ltd, UK

Dr Eugenia Cronin Senior Scientific Advisor, Wessex Institute, UK

Dr Peter Davidson Consultant Advisor, Wessex Institute, University of Southampton, UK

Ms Tara Lamont Scientific Advisor, NETSCC, UK

**Dr Catriona McDaid** Senior Research Fellow, York Trials Unit, Department of Health Sciences, University of York, UK

Professor William McGuire Professor of Child Health, Hull York Medical School, University of York, UK

Professor Geoffrey Meads Professor of Wellbeing Research, University of Winchester, UK

Professor John Norrie Chair in Medical Statistics, University of Edinburgh, UK

Professor John Powell Consultant Clinical Adviser, National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE), UK

**Professor James Raftery** Professor of Health Technology Assessment, Wessex Institute, Faculty of Medicine, University of Southampton, UK

Dr Rob Riemsma Reviews Manager, Kleijnen Systematic Reviews Ltd, UK

Professor Helen Roberts Professor of Child Health Research, UCL Great Ormond Street Institute of Child Health, UK

Professor Jonathan Ross Professor of Sexual Health and HIV, University Hospital Birmingham, UK

**Professor Helen Snooks** Professor of Health Services Research, Institute of Life Science, College of Medicine, Swansea University, UK

**Professor Jim Thornton** Professor of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, University of Nottingham, UK

Professor Martin Underwood Warwick Clinical Trials Unit, Warwick Medical School, University of Warwick, UK

Please visit the website for a list of editors: www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/about/editors

Editorial contact: journals.library@nihr.ac.uk

## Abstract

## Randomised controlled trial with economic and process evaluations of domiciliary welfare rights advice for socioeconomically disadvantaged older people recruited via primary health care (the Do-Well study)

Catherine Haighton,<sup>1</sup> Suzanne Moffatt,<sup>1</sup> Denise Howel,<sup>1</sup> Mel Steer,<sup>1</sup> Frauke Becker,<sup>2</sup> Andrew Bryant,<sup>1</sup> Sarah Lawson,<sup>1</sup> Elaine McColl,<sup>1</sup> Luke Vale,<sup>2</sup> Eugene Milne,<sup>3,4,5</sup> Terry Aspray<sup>5</sup> and Martin White<sup>1,6</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>Institute of Health & Society, Newcastle University, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK <sup>2</sup>Health Economics Group, Institute of Health & Society, Newcastle University, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK <sup>3</sup>Public Health Directorate, Newcastle City Council, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK

<sup>4</sup>School of Medicine, Pharmacy and Health, Durham University, Durham, UK <sup>5</sup>Institute for Cellular Medicine, Newcastle University, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK <sup>6</sup>Medical Research Council (MRC) Epidemiology Unit, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, UK

#### \*Corresponding author martin.white@mrc-epid.cam.ac.uk

**Background:** Welfare rights advice services are effective at maximising previously unclaimed welfare benefits, but their impact on health has not been evaluated.

**Objective:** To establish the acceptability, cost-effectiveness and effect on health of a domiciliary welfare rights advice service targeting older people, compared with usual practice.

**Design:** A pragmatic, individually randomised, parallel-group, single-blinded, wait-list controlled trial, with economic and process evaluations. Data were collected by interview at baseline and 24 months, and by self-completion questionnaire at 12 months. Qualitative interviews were undertaken with purposive samples of 50 trial participants and 17 professionals to explore the intervention's acceptability and its perceived impacts.

Setting: Participants' homes in North East England, UK.

**Participants:** A total of 755 volunteers aged  $\geq$  60 years, living in their own homes, fluent in English and not terminally ill, recruited from the registers of 17 general practices with an Index of Multiple Deprivation within the most deprived two-fifths of the distribution for England, and with no previous access to welfare rights advice services.

**Interventions:** Welfare rights advice, comprising face-to-face consultations, active assistance with benefit claims and follow-up as required until no longer needed, delivered in participants' own homes by a qualified welfare rights advisor. Control group participants received usual care until the 24-month follow-up, after which they received the intervention.

Main outcome measures: The primary outcome was health-related quality of life (HRQoL), assessed using the CASP-19 (Control, Autonomy, Self-realisation and Pleasure) score. The secondary outcomes included general health status, health behaviours, independence and hours per week of care, mortality and changes in financial status.

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

**Results:** A total of 755 out of 3912 (19%) general practice patients agreed to participate and were randomised (intervention, n = 381; control, n = 374). In the intervention group, 335 participants (88%) received the intervention. A total of 605 (80%) participants completed the 12-month follow-up and 562 (75%) completed the 24-month follow-up. Only 84 (22%) intervention group participants were awarded additional benefits. There was no significant difference in CASP-19 score between the intervention and control groups at 24 months [adjusted mean difference 0.3, 95% confidence interval (CI) –0.8 to 1.5], but a significant increase in hours of home care per week in the intervention group (adjusted difference 26.3 hours/week, 95% CI 0.8 to 56.1 hours/week). Exploratory analyses found a weak positive correlation between CASP-19 score and the amount of time since receipt of the benefit (0.39, 95% CI 0.16 to 0.58). The qualitative data suggest that the intervention was acceptable and that receipt of additional benefits was perceived by participants and professionals as having had a positive impact on health and quality of life. The mean cost was £44 per participant, the incremental mean health gain was 0.009 quality-adjusted life-years (QALYs) (95% CI –0.038 to 0.055 QALYs) and the incremental cost-effectiveness ratio was £1914 per QALY gained.

**Conclusions:** The trial did not provide sufficient evidence to support domiciliary welfare rights advice as a means of promoting health among older people, but it yielded qualitative findings that suggest important impacts on HRQoL. The intervention needs to be better targeted to those most likely to benefit.

**Future work:** Further follow-up of the trial could identify whether or not outcomes diverge among intervention and control groups over time. Research is needed to better understand how to target welfare rights advice to those most in need.

#### Trial registration: Current Controlled Trials ISRCTN37380518.

**Funding:** This project was funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Public Health Research programme and will be published in full in *Public Health Research*; Vol. 7, No. 3. See the NIHR Journals Library website for further project information. The authors also received a grant of £28,000 from the North East Strategic Health Authority in 2012 to cover the costs of intervention delivery and training as well as other non-research costs of the study.

## Contents

List of tables	xiii
List of figures	xv
Glossary	xvii
List of abbreviations	хіх
Plain English summary	ххі
Scientific summary	xxiii
Chapter 1 Introduction Socioeconomic inequalities in health among older people Resource-based interventions to promote health Social welfare for older people and the underclaiming of entitlement Welfare rights advice services and their evaluation Study design, level of randomisation, contamination and dilution Equipoise and the control condition Pragmatic versus explanatory Length of follow-up Selection bias Choice of outcome measures Generalisability Target population Nature of the intervention Process evaluation	<b>1</b> 1 2 2 3 3 5 5 5 6 6 7 7 7 8
Chapter 2 Methods Objectives of the randomised controlled trial <i>Primary objective</i> <i>Secondary objectives</i> Trial design Setting Participants and recruitment Randomisation Blinding Intervention Blinding Intervention reach Training and quality control Fidelity assessment Comparator (wait-list control condition) Data collection <i>Primary outcome measures</i> Secondary outcome measures Harms Other quantitative data collected Sample size	<b>11</b> 11 11 11 13 13 13 15 15 15 16 17 17 17 18 18 18 18 19 20 20 20

Data handling, record keeping and sharing	20
Trial data analysis	21
Statistical analysis	21
Analyses of study end points	22
Exploratory analyses	23
Analysis of trial process	23
Qualitative study	23
Sampling	23
Recruitment	23
Data collection	24
Analysis	24
Economic evaluation	24
Intervention costs	24
Outcomes	26
Missing data	31
Data analysis	31
Ethics arrangements, governance and sponsor	32
Changes to protocol	32
Independent Trial Steering Committee	32
Data Monitoring and Ethics Committee	33
Patient and public involvement	33
Chapter 3 Main trial findings	35
Process evaluation	35
Trial implementation	35
Receipt of intervention (reach)	35
Dose	38
Changes to the intervention	38
Fidelity assessment	39
Contamination	40
Unanticipated consequences of the intervention	40
Baseline characteristics of trial participants	40
Outcome analysis	43
Intention-to-treat analysis of primary and secondary outcomes	43
Exploratory analyses	45
Chapter 4 Oualitative study	51
Introduction	51
Participant characteristics	51
Acceptability of research design and intervention	56
Intervention recruitment	56
Randomisation	57
Trial participation	60
Acceptability of the intervention	61
Impact of the intervention	62
Financial impact	62
, Impact on well-being and health	66
Mechanisms of action	68
Role of the welfare rights advisor in overcoming barriers to older benefit claimants	68
Primary care as a point of contact for older people	70
Domiciliary model	70
Unanticipated consequences of the intervention	72
Intervention delivery	72

Impact of external factors Resource-intensive intervention Optimally identifying benefit entitlement among older people Impact of public sector cuts Impact of widespread negative portrayals of citizens claiming welfare benefits Summary	73 73 74 76 77 78
Chapter 5 Economic evaluation findings Sample characteristics Cost–consequences analysis Costs Financial benefits Non-financial benefits Health-related quality of life Cost–utility analysis	<b>79</b> 79 80 80 80 81 88 89
<b>Chapter 6 Discussion</b> Summary of main findings Strengths and limitations of the study Strengths and limitations in relation to previous studies Meaning of the study: possible mechanisms and implications for policy and practice Unanswered questions and future research	<b>95</b> 96 99 100 102
Acknowledgements	103
References	107
Appendix 1 General practitioner recruitment letter	115
Appendix 2 Information for general practices	117
Appendix 3 Participant recruitment letter	121
Appendix 4 Participant information sheet	123
Appendix 5 Participant opt-out slip	127
Appendix 6 Participant consent form	129
Appendix 7 Letter assigning to intervention or control	131
<b>Appendix 8</b> Guidance for general practitioners on Attendance Allowance and Disability Living Allowance benefits applications	133
Appendix 9 Instructions for welfare rights advisors involved in the Do-Well study	135
Appendix 10 Checklist for internal assessment of welfare rights interviews	137
Appendix 11 Baseline questionnaire	139
Appendix 12 Participant recruitment letter (qualitative study)	203
Appendix 13 Participant information sheet (qualitative study)	205

Appendix 14 Participant consent form (qualitative study)	207
Appendix 15 Other household members information sheet (qualitative study)	209
Appendix 16 Other household members consent form (qualitative study)	211
Appendix 17 Casework contact sheet	213
Appendix 18 Non-financial benefits: unit cost of aids and adaptations	217
Appendix 19 Research governance guidelines for Trial Steering Committee	223
<b>Appendix 20</b> EuroQol-5 Dimensions-3 Levels scores at baseline and 24-month follow-up by trial arm	225

## **List of tables**

<b>TABLE 1</b> Outcomes of recruitment of local authorities, general practices andpatients to the Do-Well RCT	14
TABLE 2 Welfare rights advisor salary and travel reimbursement (2013/14), with           sensitivity analyses	25
<b>TABLE 3</b> Casework contact sheet and equivalent data location in participant           questionnaire (financial benefits)	28
<b>TABLE 4</b> Casework contact sheet and equivalent data location in participantquestionnaire (non-financial benefits)	29
TABLE 5 Number recruited (%) to trial by general practice	37
<b>TABLE 6</b> Welfare rights advice receipt and outcomes at 24 months for those in intervention arm ( $n = 381$ )	38
<b>TABLE 7</b> Distribution of benefits received by 24 months for the 335 participantsreceiving welfare rights advice in the intervention arm	39
TABLE 8 Comparison of the distribution of common variables in the Do-Well trialand the ELSA cohort	40
TABLE 9 Baseline demographic data by trial arm: categorical variables	41
TABLE 10 Baseline demographic data by trial arm: numeric variables	42
<b>TABLE 11</b> Baseline data: primary and secondary outcomes measures by trial arm(continuous variables)	42
TABLE 12 Comparison of baseline characteristics between responders andnon-responders at 24 months	43
<b>TABLE 13</b> Primary outcome: CASP-19 scores (range 0–57) at baseline, 12 and24 months by trial arm using complete cases and multiple imputation	43
TABLE 14 Continuous secondary outcome measures by trial arm	44
TABLE 15 Secondary analysis of categorical outcomes at 24 months by trial arm	45
TABLE 16 Comparison of characteristics of those who did or did not receive           additional benefits at baseline and 24 months (intervention arm only)	46
<b>TABLE 17</b> Comparison of CASP-19 scores at 24 months between subgroups who did and did not receive welfare rights advice or welfare benefits (intervention arm only)	46
TABLE 18 Comparison of secondary outcomes between subgroups of those who           did and did not receive welfare rights advice (intervention arm only)	47

<b>TABLE 19</b> Comparison of secondary outcomes between subgroups of those whodid and did not receive welfare benefits (intervention arm only)	48
TABLE 20 Intervention participant characteristics and intervention outcome	52
TABLE 21 Control participant characteristics and intervention outcome	54
TABLE 22 Professional participant characteristics	56
TABLE 23 Questionnaire data on health status at baseline and 24-month follow-up	79
TABLE 24 Welfare rights advisor resource use and associated costs (intervention group only)	80
TABLE 25 Financial benefits: average total amounts gained per participant andnew benefit awarded (1.5% discount rate)	82
<b>TABLE 26</b> Financial benefits: average total amounts gained per participant andnew benefit awarded (3.5% discount rate)	83
<b>TABLE 27</b> Financial benefits: average total amounts gained per participant and new benefit awarded (1.5% discount rate, first quartile of duration distribution used for control group participants)	84
<b>TABLE 28</b> Financial benefits: average total amounts gained per participant and new benefit awarded (1.5% discount rate, third quartile of duration distribution used for control group participants)	85
TABLE 29 Non-financial benefits: number (%) and amount (£) of new benefits bygroup allocation and data source	86
TABLE 30 Number (%) of newly received benefits: aids and adaptations by           group and by data source	87
<b>TABLE 31</b> Aids and adaptations: average total amounts gained per participant inintervention and control groups, and mean difference	88
TABLE 32Health-related quality-of-life measures at baseline and 24 months inintervention and control groups, and mean differences	89
TABLE 33 Cost-consequences analysis: balance sheet	89
TABLE 34 Cost-utility analysis: ICER – base case	91
TABLE 35 Cost–utility analysis: ICER, probabilities for cost-effectiveness and sensitivity analyses	93
TABLE 36 Non-financial benefits: aids and adaptations – unit costs (£)	218
TABLE 37         EuroQol-5         Dimensions-3         Levels scores at baseline and 24-month           follow-up by trial arm         Follow-up by trial arm         Follow-up by trial arm         Follow-up by trial arm	226

# **List of figures**

FIGURE 1 Overview of study design	12
FIGURE 2 The CONSORT flow chart of participants in the Do-Well RCT	36
FIGURE 3 Distribution of (a) time (days) between randomisation and first WRA visit; and (b) time (days) from randomisation to welfare rights advice case being closed	37
FIGURE 4 Association between CASP-19 score at 24 months and weekly amount of financial benefit awarded	49
FIGURE 5 Association between length of time that participants were in receipt of additional benefits and CASP-19 score at 24-month follow-up	49
FIGURE 6 Cost-effectiveness plane	91
FIGURE 7 Cost-effectiveness acceptability curve	92

## Glossary

**Aids and adaptations** Household equipment and alterations around the home to make life easier for those with disabilities, to help maintain independence.

**Attendance Allowance** A non-means-tested benefit for people aged  $\geq$  65 years to help with their personal care costs if they are mentally or physically disabled. The allowance is paid at two different rates, and how much is paid depends on the level of care required.

**Blue Badge** A non-means-tested parking scheme enabling those with severe mobility issues to park their vehicle in restricted areas.

**Carer's Allowance** A non-means-tested benefit payable to someone who earns no more than £110 per week and provides at least 35 hours per week of care for someone who is in receipt of certain benefits.

**Casework contact sheet** A form completed by welfare rights advisors to record the actions and outcomes of advice and claims assistance provided to study participants.

**CASP-19** A 19-item, four-domain, health-related quality-of-life questionnaire. The acronym stands for the four domains of Control, Autonomy, Self-realisation and Pleasure.

**Community Care Alarm Scheme** A pendant and telephone alarm scheme linked to 24-hour warden cover.

**Council Tax Benefit** A form of support that was replaced in April 2013 by Council Tax Reduction.

**Council Tax Reduction** A means-tested benefit administered by local authorities to help with payments of council tax for those on a low income. The amount of money received varies depending on where people live, as each council runs its own scheme. The benefit is sometimes referred to as Council Tax Support.

**Department for Work and Pensions** The government department responsible for administering state pensions and national means-tested and non-means-tested benefits.

**Disability Living Allowance** A tax-free benefit for disabled people who need help with mobility or care costs. The rate is made up of two components (care and mobility). The amount paid depends on the way in which the disability or health condition affects the claimant. The care component is made up of three levels (lowest, middle and highest) and the mobility component is made up of two levels (lower and higher). Disability Living Allowance ended in April 2013 for people born after 8 April 1948 and existing claimants were invited to claim Personal Independence Payment. New Disability Living Allowance claims can be made only by people < 16 years of age.

**Employment and Support Allowance** A benefit payable to those aged  $\geq$  16 years, but under the state pension age, if illness or disability affects their ability to work. The benefit comprises two components (contribution based and income based). Contribution based is a flat-rate amount that is payable for up to 12 months if sufficient National Insurance contributions have been made. Income based is means-tested and is not time limited.

**EuroQol-5 Dimensions-3 Levels** A descriptive system of health-related quality-of-life states consisting of five dimensions, each of which can take one of three responses referring to three levels of severity.

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

**Health-care Costs** The NHS Low Income Scheme, part of the NHS Help with Health Costs scheme, helps people on a low income with prescriptions, dental care, eye care, wigs and fabric support, and health-care and travel costs.

**Home Energy Efficiency Scheme** Grants to assist people who meet the eligibility criteria to improve the energy efficiency of their home.

**Housing Benefit** A means-tested benefit for people on low incomes to help pay all or part of their rent. The benefit is administered by local government.

**Income Support** A means-tested benefit for people aged  $\geq$  16 years and under the state pension age who are on a low income.

**Industrial Injuries Disablement Benefit** A non-means-tested benefit for illness or disability caused by accidents or disease at work.

**Pension Credit** Extra money for people of state retirement age to bring them up to a minimum income. It is a means-tested benefit that consists of two parts (Guarantee Credit and Savings Credit). The Guarantee Credit tops up the weekly income if it falls below a specified amount. The Savings Credit is an extra payment for people who have saved some money towards their retirement.

**Severe Disablement Allowance** This was phased out and replaced by Employment and Support Allowance in April 2001.

Short Form Health Survey-36 A validated, 36-item, health-related quality-of-life questionnaire.

**Spare Room Subsidy** In April 2013, new rules were introduced for working-age tenants living in local authority or housing association homes. The amount of Housing Benefit paid is based on the number of people in the household and the size of the accommodation. The amount of Housing Benefit is reduced by 14% for one bedroom and by 25% for two or more bedrooms if the bedrooms are considered 'spare' under the rules. The subsidy is often referred to as 'bedroom tax' in the media.

**Warm Zones** A not-for-profit agency that helps people on low incomes improve the energy efficiency of their homes. It provides up to 100% grants to improve heating and/or insulation in the home.

# List of abbreviations

CASP-19	Control, Autonomy, Self-realisation and Pleasure	NICE	National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
CCS	casework contact sheet	NRES	NHS Research Ethics Service
CEAC	cost-effectiveness acceptability curve	PASE	Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly
CI	confidence interval	PCRN-NY	Primary Care Research Network –
CONSORT	Consolidated Standards of		Northern and Yorkshire
	Reporting Trials	PHQ-9	Patient Health Questionnaire-9
ELSA	English Longitudinal Study	QALY	quality-adjusted life-year
	of Ageing	RCT	randomised controlled trial
EQ-5D-3L	EuroQol-5 Dimensions-3 Levels	SD	standard deviation
GP	general practitioner	SF-36	Short Form Health Survey-36
HRQoL	health-related quality of life	SUR	seemingly unrelated regression
ICER	incremental cost-effectiveness ratio	TSC	Trial Steering Committee
IMD	Index of Multiple Deprivation	WRA	welfare rights advisor
IQR	interquartile range	WRA DEI	welfare rights advisor delivering
LSOA	lower-layer super output area		the intervention
MSOA	middle-layer super output area	WTP	willingness to pay

## **Plain English summary**

**P** oorer older people are more likely to need extra money and equipment to help them remain at home and cope with poor health. Welfare rights advice services can support those eligible to claim benefits, but we do not know if receiving these benefits improves health. This study evaluated advice given at home to people aged  $\geq$  60 years from general practices in poorer areas. The service was provided by local government or voluntary organisations in North East England. Seven hundred and fifty-five people received the service immediately or after 24 months. We measured health and well-being before the service and 12 and 24 months later.

Among the 381 people who received the service immediately, 84 were eligible for additional benefits. Those who received new benefits were in poorer health and were less physically active than those who did not. We found no evidence that the service improved health or well-being during the period of the study, but there was some indication that it resulted in access to more care. However, those who received benefits valued them and told us how they felt their health and well-being had improved. On average, the new service cost £44 per person, £17 per person more than usual care. Although we are uncertain whether this service promotes health, the social and financial gains for those who received new benefits or care are clear. Longer-term follow-up of study participants or further evaluation using different types of research may help to find out whether or not the service can improve health.

## **Scientific summary**

## Background

There is no empirical evidence to support the hypothesis that increasing access to material or financial resources leads to improved health. A high proportion of older people in the UK do not claim the welfare benefits to which they are entitled. Welfare rights advice services are effective at maximising welfare benefits, but their impact on health has not been evaluated.

## **Objectives**

- To establish the effects on health-related quality of life (HRQoL) of a domiciliary welfare rights advice service targeting independently living, socioeconomically disadvantaged older people (aged ≥ 60 years) identified via primary care, compared with usual practice.
- To establish the cost-consequences and the cost-effectiveness of the intervention.
- To establish the acceptability of the intervention to trial participants and relevant professionals.
- To identify the unanticipated consequences of the intervention.

## **Methods**

#### Study design

We conducted a pragmatic, individually randomised, parallel-group, single-blinded (researchers), wait-list controlled trial of domiciliary welfare rights advice versus usual care, with embedded economic and quantitative and qualitative process evaluations. The trial took place in the North East of England. Data were collected by interviewers in participants' homes at baseline and 24 months, and by postal self-completion questionnaire at 12 months.

#### Participants, recruitment and randomisation

Working in 10 local authorities able to deliver the intervention, we identified 17 general practices that had Index of Multiple Deprivation scores for practice location within the most deprived two-fifths of the distribution for England, had no previous access to welfare rights advice services and were willing to participate. From these practices we recruited randomly selected volunteer patients aged  $\geq$  60 years, living in their own home, fluent in English and not terminally ill. After we gained written informed consent and collected baseline data, participants were randomised in a 1 : 1 ratio, stratified by general practice, and informed of their group allocation by letter.

#### Intervention and control condition

Participants allocated to the intervention group were referred for welfare rights advice, comprising face-toface consultations and active assistance with benefit claims, delivered in participants' own homes by a qualified welfare rights advisor (WRA). We asked WRAs to deliver the initial assessment and advice sessions within 2 weeks of the baseline assessments. The participants were followed up at home or by telephone, as required, by WRAs until they no longer required assistance.

The participants in the control group received usual care until the 24-month follow-up, after which they received the intervention.

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

#### **Outcome evaluation**

Our primary outcome was HRQoL, measured using the CASP-19 (Control, Autonomy, Self-realisation and Pleasure) instrument at baseline and 24 months, and in addition at 12 months.

We also collected data on the following secondary outcomes: Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) depression scale; social interaction, strength of confiding relationships and social isolation; general health status [using the EuroQol-5 Dimensions-3 Levels (EQ-5D-3L)]; change in smoking, alcohol, diet and physical activity; independence and the number of hours per week of home care; mortality; Affordability Index; Standard of Living Index; and household financial status, including all income, major outgoings, debts and capital assets. At 24 months, data were collected by WRAs on new benefits received since baseline.

We assessed the potential harms of the intervention using these primary and secondary outcome measures as well as qualitative interviews.

To provide context and adjust for potential confounding, we collected data on age, sex, ethnicity, educational level attained, employment status, living arrangements, functional ability using the modified Townsend Activities of Daily Living scale, and life events.

#### Sample size

A minimum of 318 participants (a total of 636) needed to be followed up in each of the study arms to provide 90% power at 5% significance level to detect a 1.5-unit difference in mean CASP-19 score at 24 months. With an estimated attrition at 24 months of 15%, 750 participants needed to be recruited to the study.

### Statistical analysis

We analysed outcomes on an intention-to-treat basis. Simple and multiple imputation methods were applied to deal with missing outcome data, with sensitivity analyses to explore the effect of imputation approaches. The difference between the intervention and control groups at 12 and 24 months in mean CASP-19 with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) was assessed using multiple linear regression with adjustment for baseline values and general practice.

Continuous secondary outcome variables were compared at 24 months between the intervention and control groups using multiple linear regression with adjustment for baseline values and general practice. We used logistic regression with adjustment for general practice to compare proportions between the intervention and control groups for categorical secondary outcome variables.

Bootstrap estimation was used for CIs throughout when the distribution was skewed.

Exploratory analyses were performed in which the linear model for the primary outcome contained terms for intervention, other key variables (sex, age in years and education) and the interaction between them. In addition, within the intervention group, multiple linear regression explored whether the mean CASP-19 score at 24 months differed, first between those receiving and not receiving welfare rights advice and, second, between those receiving new welfare benefits. A comparison was also made between CASP-19 scores at 24 months for intervention arm participants who had previously been awarded a financial welfare benefit and those in the control arm who were later awarded a financial benefit. All of these models also included the participants' baseline CASP-19 score, general practice, age, gender and level of educational attainment and whether or not they were living alone.

#### **Process evaluation**

We assessed descriptively whether or not participants received the intervention as intended in terms of timeliness, reach, uptake and quality. We undertook an assessment of intervention fidelity by independent observation of one welfare rights advice session delivered by each WRA to a study participant. We also conducted semistructured qualitative interviews with 50 trial participants, purposively sampled to achieve

maximum variation with respect to group allocation, gender, age and receipt of benefits. Seventeen professional participants were interviewed, selected on the basis of their roles in service commissioning, policy, strategy and service delivery. Sampling and interviews with trial and professional participants continued until data saturation was achieved. The interviews with trial participants explored acceptability and perceived consequences of the intervention. The interviews with professional participants explored the acceptability and fidelity of the intervention and the likely implications for translation into routine practice. All interviews were digitally recorded and transcribed verbatim. A coding framework was developed and data were analysed thematically using the framework method with constant comparison and deviant case analysis to enhance validity.

#### **Economic evaluation**

The relative efficiency of the domiciliary welfare rights advice intervention was assessed in within-trial cost–consequence and cost-utility analyses to estimate the incremental cost per quality-adjusted life-year (QALY) gained. Changes in HRQoL were captured using the EQ-5D-3L questionnaire, from which scores for participant-specific health state utilities at each time point were derived. The EQ-5D-3L scores were transformed into QALYs using the 'area under the curve' method. Imprecision surrounding incremental QALYs was estimated using bootstrapping to derive 95% Cls. Sensitivity analyses were performed to assess the impact of different data sources and varying key assumptions and parameters on the cost-effectiveness of the intervention. Estimates of cost took the perspectives of public sector services (for the service delivery costs of the intervention) and the Treasury (for additional benefits awarded). Incremental cost-effectiveness ratios (ICERs) were calculated and compared with the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence's threshold of £20,000–30,000 for society's willingness to pay for one QALY gained. The probability for the intervention to be cost-effective at different willingness-to-pay thresholds was assessed using a cost-effectiveness acceptability curve.

#### Results

#### Main trial findings

Out of 3912 patients approached by general practices, 755 (19%) agreed to participate and were randomised (intervention, n = 381; control, n = 374). In the intervention group, 335 (88%) participants received the intervention. The median time to first WRA assessment and advice was 58 days (range 0–403 days) and only five (1.5%) participants were seen within 2 weeks as intended. A total of 605 (80%) participants completed the 12-month follow-up and 562 (75%) completed the 24-month follow-up. Data were available for analysis at 24 months on 283 and 279 participants in the intervention and control groups, respectively. Only 84 (22%) intervention group participants were awarded additional benefits: 65 (19.4%) financial; 14 (4.2%) non-financial and 5 (1.5%) both.

The allocation groups were balanced with regard to all outcomes and covariates. The mean age of participants was 70 years, half of participants were female and, on average, participants were less socioeconomically deprived than non-participants. Those who dropped out of the trial tended to be a little older, to be male and to have a lower average CASP-19 score at baseline.

The observed WRA consultations were delivered consistently as per protocol; all relevant applications for means-tested and non-means-tested awards and benefits were completed.

We found no evidence from our quantitative analyses of any unanticipated consequences of the intervention. In qualitative interviews, some control group participants reported receiving new welfare benefits, but we found no direct evidence that any of the control group participants independently sought welfare rights advice during the 24-month follow-up.

There was no significant difference in CASP-19 score between the intervention and control groups at 24 months (adjusted mean difference 0.3, 95% CI –0.8 to 1.5). We found a significant change in the

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton S016 7NS, UK.

hours of care received per week, which increased more in the intervention group (adjusted difference 26.3 hours/week, 95% CI 0.8 to 56.1 hours/week).

In the exploratory analyses we found no significant differences in primary or secondary outcomes between those in the intervention group who received welfare rights advice versus those who did not, and those in the intervention group who received benefits versus those who did not, except that those who did not receive benefits reported significantly higher levels of physical activity at 24 months. We also found no significant differences in CASP-19 score between the 55 participants in the intervention group who were awarded financial benefits and the 48 participants in the control group (who were found to be eligible at the 24-month follow-up and were, thus, comparable on eligibility) (adjusted mean difference in CASP-19 score 1.4, 95% CI –2.0 to 4.7). We found no evidence of a dose–response relationship between amount of financial benefit received and change in CASP-19 score. We did, however, find a weak positive correlation between CASP-19 score and the amount of time since receipt of the benefit (0.39, 95% CI 0.16 to 0.58).

#### **Qualitative study**

Receipt of the intervention was acceptable, and both participants and professionals perceived the receipt of additional financial and non-financial benefits as having a positive impact on health and HRQoL. For some participants, the increased benefits allowed them to escape a stressful financial situation; alleviated some food and fuel poverty and provided security against unplanned costs; helped them to maintain their mobility and independence and to pay for formal and informal support with activities of daily living; or allowed them to provide gifts for informal help received.

#### Economic evaluation

The delivery of domiciliary welfare rights advice was found to be, on average, more costly and more effective than standard practice. The average total cost per participant was £44, £17 per person more than usual care. The incremental mean health gain was 0.009 (95% CI –0.038 to 0.055) QALYs, resulting in an ICER of £1914 per QALY gained. However, the probability that the intervention was cost-effective was only 60% when compared with conventional thresholds for society's willingness to pay for a QALY (£20,000) and any value above. Imprecision around all estimates was high and analyses involving multiple imputation to account for missing data yielded differing conclusions.

### Discussion

#### Interpretation of findings and relationship to prior knowledge

This is the first randomised controlled trial to examine the impact of welfare rights advice on health outcomes and the first to explore, specifically, its impact on older people when it is delivered in their own home. The outcome analyses do not provide sufficient evidence to support domiciliary welfare rights advice as a means of promoting health among older people. These findings are somewhat surprising, given the qualitative findings, which suggest important impacts on HRQoL. Nevertheless, taking into account the potential limitations of the study, we cannot rule out the possibility that the intervention might have had a potentially beneficial effect and that this might be cost-effective.

#### Strengths and limitations of the methods

The trial was rigorously, ethically and legally conducted to internationally accepted standards, adhered to accepted reporting protocols and was overseen by an independent Trial Steering Committee. We employed rigorous controls to ensure data quality, and blinding to minimise bias among data collectors. Our primary and secondary outcomes were measured using validated scales, and were chosen on the basis of rigorous pilot work. The intervention and control groups were balanced on all variables, indicating appropriate and effective randomisation.

The qualitative study was rigorously conducted, with systematic and double coding of data to enhance internal validity. The participant data were corroborated using data from professional participants.

The economic evaluation was conducted from public sector and Treasury perspectives, and comprehensively explored the potential for cost-effectiveness using both cost-utility and cost–consequences analyses. The sensitivity analyses assessed the impact of different data sources and varying key assumptions and parameters on the cost-effectiveness of the intervention.

The study had a number of key limitations. The study participants were less socioeconomically deprived than expected, meaning that fewer than one-quarter were eligible for new welfare benefits. The reports of benefits received differed substantially between interview data and the data collected by WRAs at 24 months. The rate of attrition was higher than had been anticipated at the outset. There was evidence that those remaining in the study at 24 months were healthier than those who dropped out for any reason, which will also have introduced bias.

#### Implications for health and social care

Welfare rights advice remains an important social and economic intervention. Given that many unclaimed benefits for those aged  $\geq$  60 years are health related, our research suggests that it will be of value to health care if professionals opportunistically identify and refer people they believe may be eligible for unclaimed benefits.

## **Recommendations for further research**

- 1. Methods need to be developed to identify patients most likely to benefit from welfare rights advice, so that they can be systematically targeted in primary and secondary care for referral to welfare rights advice services.
- 2. Longer-term follow-up of this trial cohort should be undertaken to identify whether or not outcomes diverge among intervention and control groups over a more extended time horizon.
- 3. Research is needed to better understand how to target welfare rights advice to those most in need, in relation to both welfare entitlement and capacity to benefit in health terms.
- 4. Further evaluations of welfare rights advice should be conducted, using alternative study designs (e.g. taking advantage of natural experiments) over extended periods.
- 5. Research is needed to explore further the most appropriate outcome measures for evaluating the health impacts of welfare rights advice.

## **Trial registration**

This trial is registered as ISRCTN37380518.

### Funding

Funding for this study was provided by the Public Health Research programme of the National Institute for Health Research. The authors also received a grant of £28,000 from the North East Strategic Health Authority in 2012 to cover the costs of intervention delivery and training as well as other non-research costs of the study.

## Chapter 1 Introduction

**S** ome text in this chapter has been reproduced from our study protocol,<sup>1</sup> published under the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY 2.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/). In addition, some text, boxes, figures and tables have been reproduced from Howel *et al.*<sup>2</sup> This is an Open Access article distributed in accordance with the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution International license (CC BY 4.0), which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt and build upon this work, for commercial use, provided the original work is properly cited. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

### Socioeconomic inequalities in health among older people

A vast body of observational evidence on socioeconomic inequalities in health suggests a close relationship between access to resources and health status that is positive, progressive and has no apparent thresholds.<sup>3,4</sup> Health inequalities are universal across time, nations, societies and the human life course. Socioeconomic differences in health persist into old age, and socioeconomic inequalities in self-reported physical and mental health widen in early old age.<sup>5,6</sup> Individuals with mild cognitive impairment exhibit poorer financial and health literacy.<sup>7</sup> Low household wealth is strongly associated with poorer life satisfaction and quality of life.<sup>8</sup> The poorest older people have inadequate access to services essential to health and well-being.<sup>9</sup> Older people, especially those in poor health, therefore often need additional income and support to maintain their independence, including payments for care, domestic help and aids and adaptations to the home.<sup>10–12</sup>

#### **Resource-based interventions to promote health**

Research into the differential provision of welfare across nations has shown that it can exert an influence on subjective well-being, morbidity and mortality. For example, older people are emotionally better off<sup>13</sup> and at lower risk of suicide in welfare states more generous than the UK.<sup>14</sup> Almost half of the reduction in excess winter mortality since 1999/2000 has been attributed to winter fuel payments.<sup>15</sup> Key theories that explain how money influences health include materialist explanations (e.g. money buys health-promoting goods and the ability to engage in a social life in ways that enable people to be healthy, and enables the avoidance of health risks in the environment); psychosocial mechanisms (e.g. the stress of not having enough money may adversely affect health, and having adequate resources may relieve stress); behavioural factors (e.g. people living in disadvantaged circumstances may be more likely to have unhealthy behaviours); and being in poor health may affect education and employment opportunities in ways that affect subsequent health.<sup>16</sup>

In theory, increasing individual or group access to material, social or financial resources (so-called 'assets-based' approaches)<sup>17</sup> should result in improved health,<sup>4,18,19</sup> yet little research has directly evaluated the impact of increasing resources on health.<sup>20</sup> Ecological studies following the reunification of Germany have suggested important impacts of increased income on mortality, although a range of other factors may have played a part.<sup>21,22</sup> A systematic review<sup>20</sup> of 10 North American randomised controlled trials (RCTs) of income supplementation experiments targeting a range of age groups, carried out in the late 1960s and 1970s, showed that none had reliably assessed the effects of increased income on health. The authors pointed out that, although such experiments are unlikely to be repeated, one way of assessing the health impact of increasing financial resources on health would be to evaluate the impact of assisting claimants to obtain full welfare benefit entitlements.<sup>20</sup>

Tackling health inequalities has become a major policy priority for the UK, highlighted, for example, in the White Paper on public health (*Saving Lives: Our Healthier Nation*).<sup>23</sup> Following publication of the Acheson report<sup>24</sup> and the advent of Health Action Zones in the late 1990s,<sup>25</sup> there was an increase in welfare rights advice projects linked to primary care in the UK. Welfare rights advice provision in primary health-care

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

settings can reduce, by an estimated 15%, the time general practitioners (GPs) spend on benefits issues, and leads to fewer repeat appointments and fewer prescriptions.<sup>26</sup> In 1999, *Reducing Health Inequalities: An Action Report*<sup>27</sup> highlighted welfare rights advice as a potentially effective intervention for reducing health inequalities. This proposal was endorsed by the UK government's Marmot review in 2010.<sup>3</sup>

### Social welfare for older people and the underclaiming of entitlement

In the UK, a range of financial and non-financial welfare benefits is available; these benefits have different purposes and different criteria for entitlement. Some are means-tested (income-related) and others are dependent on an assessment of health or other needs. Means-tested benefits include income-replacement benefits (e.g. income-related pension credit, and income-related financial support with housing costs). Non-means-tested benefits are intended to help meet the additional needs of those with health or social care problems (e.g. meeting the extra costs associated with ill-health or disability, carer's benefits to supplement/replace earnings for people who provide support or bereavement benefits for people whose legal partner dies). In addition to financial benefits, material support can be offered to those in need (e.g. mobility aids and housing adaptations, such as rails, ramps and bathroom aids). Financial and non-financial benefits are variously administered through the Department for Work and Pensions, local authorities, housing associations and charities. Welfare rights advisors (WRAs) in local authority social services departments and third-sector organisations (e.g. Citizens Advice Bureaux, Age UK and other charities) help by undertaking financial assessments, recommending whether or not a client might be eligible for a benefit and sometimes offering active assistance with completing claims. Active assistance may also involve liaising with health or social care professionals for evidence of diagnosis or care needs.

The non-claiming of welfare entitlements among older people is a long-standing problem, which is currently increasing.<sup>28</sup> A large proportion of eligible welfare benefits remains unclaimed,<sup>28</sup> and many of these are health-related benefit entitlements of vulnerable groups, such as older people.<sup>28,29</sup> Failure to claim entitlements is associated with a number of factors including the complexity of the benefits system,<sup>30</sup> lack of knowledge about entitlements and difficulty in making claims.<sup>12,31–33</sup> In recent British studies, the bureaucracy associated with applying and uncertainty regarding the outcome of any claim, the amount of the award, autonomy and independence were reasons cited by people who were entitled to but did not claim benefits.<sup>12,31–34</sup> In addition to the state pension, there are a number of means-tested and non-means-tested benefits that can be awarded to older people if entitlement conditions are fulfilled. The level of underclaiming varies depending on the benefit concerned, but it is estimated to be at least 33% for Pension Credit and 40% for Council Tax Benefit.<sup>35</sup> Entitlement to one benefit can often act as a 'passport' to others, as many of the benefits aimed at people over the state retirement age are linked together in a complex network of entitlements that is often difficult for people to access without expert assistance.

### Welfare rights advice services and their evaluation

Our systematic review of the health, social and economic impacts of welfare rights advice services in health-care settings<sup>32</sup> identified numerous studies that demonstrated the financial and material benefits of such services. Welfare rights advice provided by local authorities and third-sector organisations is known to increase the uptake of benefits among those eligible, particularly when this involves 'active assistance' with benefit claims.<sup>24,36</sup> Studies have also shown that the receipt of benefit entitlements can be increased by providing information and advice in general practice, particularly in relation to those benefits that are health related.<sup>37–41</sup> However, our systematic review identified only two studies that investigated the health impact of welfare rights advice,<sup>42–44</sup> one of which found an improvement in health-related quality of life (HRQoL) in some of the subscales of the Short Form Health Survey-36 (SF-36).<sup>42,43</sup> However, both studies demonstrated the difficulties of identifying and measuring appropriate health outcome measures when assessing the health effects of welfare rights advice in primary care. Neither study used a randomised controlled design, and both suffered from significant methodological weaknesses that rendered them

inconclusive. Both studies evaluated a model of welfare rights advice delivery that was based in primary care, required referral from practice staff and did not offer a domiciliary service or active assistance with claims. Qualitative studies exploring the impact of welfare rights advice on clients in primary care have identified a range of health-related outcomes that can potentially result from the receipt of welfare rights advice, including changes in the physical, behavioural and, in particular, psycho-social domains of health.<sup>12,31–33</sup>

Since 2006, few studies have added substantively to this literature. Two papers updated analyses included in our systematic review but yielded no new conclusions.<sup>45,46</sup> A study in a hospice setting audited referrals for welfare rights advice and found inconsistency in referral practices and a heavy workload for WRAs, but valuable potential of such referrals in terms of benefit eligibility.<sup>47</sup> A study in a UK musculoskeletal clinic<sup>48</sup> examined the use of the Health Assessment Questionnaire<sup>49</sup> as a tool to identify patients' eligibility for welfare benefits. Although the authors found relatively high levels of eligibility for new benefits among those identified, there are inconsistencies in the numbers in the paper that make it difficult to interpret. Nevertheless, it does identify a potential screening tool for use in health care that might be of value in the future. Another study from some of the authors of this report (Moffatt, Noble and White) examined the use of welfare rights advice among 1174 cancer patients, assessing the viability of a service linked to clinical teams using qualitative methods.<sup>50</sup> The service proved feasible, with exceptionally high levels of successful claims (96%) and median benefits returned (£70/patient). Patients and staff valued the service highly, and health outcome evaluation was felt to be warranted. Krska et al.<sup>51</sup> used a cohort study with qualitative interviews among 148 patients in primary care to evaluate a Citizens Advice Bureaux-delivered welfare rights advice service.<sup>51</sup> They reported a decrease in prescription of hypnotic/anxiolytic medications 6 months after referral for advice, compared with 6 months before, but their analysis was uncontrolled. Practitioners felt that the service benefited patients and reduced workloads.

We conducted a pilot RCT to prepare for the definitive RCT described here, evaluating the impact of a domiciliary welfare rights advice service offered to people aged  $\geq$  60 years identified via primary care in disadvantaged areas.<sup>11,12,52</sup> In this pilot trial, 58% of participants were awarded either financial (median gain £55/week), non-financial (e.g. aids and adaptations to the home) or both types of benefits,<sup>11</sup> confirming the feasibility and success of the intervention from the point of view of accessing unclaimed benefits. It also provided vital information on the feasibility of such a trial, which has helped in planning the definitive RCT reported here. In reporting on the pilot trial we identified a number of key design and methodological issues that would need to be addressed in a definitive evaluation. These are discussed below.

## Study design, level of randomisation, contamination and dilution

An appropriate trial design was required, preferably with both randomisation and concurrent controls. Individual-level randomisation was considered preferable to cluster randomisation (e.g. at general practice level), as it required a smaller sample size. The potential problem with individual-level allocation was that there could be 'contamination' between intervention and control participants in the same general practice. This was more likely to be the case when welfare rights advice was available from an open-access service delivered in the general practice. However, by using a WRA who only saw patients in their own homes, we found in our pilot RCT that contamination did not occur; no control participants reported independently seeking welfare rights advice during a follow-up period, albeit a period of only 6 months.<sup>11</sup>

## Equipoise and the control condition

A key consideration in designing the proposed trial was whether or not there was genuine equipoise. Welfare rights advice is known to increase access to financial and material resources for eligible clients. However, our systematic review of published and grey literature indicated that there was no conclusive evidence that welfare rights advice leads to positive or negative changes in health.<sup>32</sup> We discussed these

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

findings with WRAs, with directors of adult social services, with a selection of GPs and with members of the public in our target age group. We found each of these groups to be in equipoise with regard to the proposed trial health outcomes. Having established this, we also carefully considered the issue of study design and the ideal and feasible control conditions.

We considered that, ideally, controls should be adults as similar as possible to intervention group participants, but should not receive welfare rights advice, nor claim or receive new benefits, during the period of outcome follow-up. In clinical trials, it is usual to withhold the intervention from the control group because the health benefits of the intervention are not proven (i.e. clinical equipoise exists). Although this is the case with regard to the health impacts of welfare rights advice, as indicated above there is adequate evidence that welfare rights advice leads to significant financial and material gains for a proportion of recipients. Thus, it was considered ethically problematic to identify that control group participants were eligible to receive additional financial benefits, but either to keep this information from them or to tell them of their eligibility but not give them advice or help with claims. To circumvent this dilemma, we proposed that control participants should not receive a welfare rights assessment until the end of the trial period (i.e. following final outcome measurement). The full intervention (i.e. a full benefit assessment and active assistance with claims until resolved) would then be offered.

We had concerns that the WRAs might feel tempted to offer benefits advice to control participants before the 2-year 'wait period' had elapsed. We planned to avoid this by not informing the WRAs of the names of control participants until a few weeks before their benefits assessment was due (i.e. 2 years after their baseline assessment). The study team would hold control participants' names securely during this period.

The design would thus avoid unfairly raising expectations among control participants. It would also help to avoid the potential problem of contamination, which could have arisen if control participants independently sought welfare advice (leading to dilution of the outcome effect), although we did not propose attempting to prevent this as we found little evidence of it in our pilot RCT. The proposed control condition is, therefore, in effect a 'wait-list' control, whereby the control group waits to receive the intervention 24 months after the intervention group.

It is, of course, possible that some members of both the intervention and control groups will die during the proposed 24-month follow-up period, which we would expect in the course of any prospective study of this age group. In our pilot study, we recorded seven deaths (four in the intervention group and three in the control group) out of 105 after 24 months' follow-up.<sup>11</sup>

One of the reasons that such interventions to date have not been rigorously evaluated for health impacts is in part because such research has previously been deemed unethical by researchers considering undertaking such evaluations,<sup>53</sup> on the grounds that one cannot withhold benefits to which people are entitled. The proposed design of this RCT is fair because, at present, this kind of intervention is not routinely available to primary care patients and is generally only available to those who seek such services or are referred to them by a health or social care professional (e.g. a hospital social worker); these options remain open to patients in this trial. When targeted services are available in primary care, they tend to be short term and ad hoc. If we find any general practices in participating local authority areas with access to such services, they will be excluded from this trial. Genuine uncertainty exists about the proposed health-related outcomes because participants will not be denied any entitlement that they would otherwise receive and, at the time of the study, the health impact of the proposed intervention remains unknown.<sup>32</sup> We have determined that the research team and key stakeholders from health and social services are in equipoise about the proposed health outcomes.

### Pragmatic versus explanatory

In the proposed trial, we know that not all participants in the intervention group will be eligible for additional benefits, and that those who are will receive variable amounts of financial and non-financial benefits. Ideally, we wish to examine the health impact of receiving versus not receiving such benefits, as well as examine the potential for a gradient of effect ('dose–response' relationship) by the amount of benefit received. However, to do so will require a substantially larger sample size than that proposed. In practice, therefore, the receipt of welfare rights advice is the intervention we will be evaluating (rather than receipt of specific benefits), as 'welfare rights advice' is the service being delivered. The proposed trial is, therefore, a pragmatic (intention-to-treat) RCT of this 'complex' intervention.<sup>54</sup> Nevertheless, we will also assess the potential for exploratory subgroup analyses looking at differential effects by participant characteristics (such as age and sex), and receipt/non-receipt of and levels of any benefits received. We anticipate that the trial will therefore contribute both to answering the question of whether or not the welfare rights advice intervention is effective in improving health and to providing new evidence on the more fundamental question of whether or not increasing resources leads to better health.<sup>4</sup>

### Length of follow-up

To enable the accurate assessment of the health and social effects of welfare rights advice, an appropriate length of follow-up is required. Our previous work suggested that considerable time may elapse between the first advice session and the receipt of new financial or material benefits. Often this is between 3 and 6 months, but it can be longer if the case is not straightforward or if there is an appeal. For example, in our pilot RCT, 45% had received their entitlements by 3 months after their welfare assessment, 85% after 6 months, 95% after 9 months and 100% by 12 months.<sup>11</sup> Given such delays in receipt of benefits, as well as the fact that any financial benefits may not be spent immediately, it seemed unlikely that the benefits would have substantial impacts on health within the first 12 months. In our pilot, which was not adequately powered for substantive analyses, we found no suggestion of differences in health-related outcomes between the intervention and control groups after 6, 12 or 24 months (although in the pilot trial control participants did receive the intervention and measurement of outcomes, the greater the chance of demonstrating a substantive effect on health.

To assess the acceptability of a range of delays in receiving the intervention among control group participants, we undertook an experiment in the context of a focus group discussion with a representative sample of low-income older people. To achieve this, simulations of the RCT randomisation procedures were undertaken. The first simulation concerned a typical drug trial, and participants were given sweets whose colour depended on whether they were randomised to the intervention or the control group. Then, randomisation for the proposed trial was simulated. The concept of equipoise, with regard to the health impacts of welfare rights advice, was explained. Next, each group member was given an envelope from which they found out whether they were in the control group or the intervention group. If in the intervention group, they were allocated various types of benefit (e.g. Attendance Allowance plus Council Tax Benefit plus Housing Benefit), and the monetary value of these was revealed to them. We then talked through the various possible time delays until the control group would also receive their welfare rights assessment and advice. The time delays used were 3, 6, 9, 12, 18, 24, 36 and 60 months. The initial response to the design was that it was unfair to those in the control group. However, when it was explained that (1) although such services exist, they are not routinely targeted at or delivered to all people aged  $\geq$  60 years but are only available on referral or demand, (2) the findings of this study could influence the development of such services, involving collaboration between health and social services, and (3) that a substantial 'wait' between intervention and control groups is needed to establish any differences in health outcome, the consensus of the group was that a delay of 24 months would be acceptable in the context of the proposed trial. We therefore opted for a wait-list design for the proposed RCT, with a 24-month follow-up period for the main outcome assessment, followed immediately by delivery of the full intervention to the control group.

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

## Selection bias

In our pilot RCT, GPs wrote to random samples of people aged  $\geq$  60 years, inviting them to respond with an indication of their willingness to participate in the trial (i.e. to 'opt in').<sup>11</sup> Using this method, 36% initially agreed to participate, 14% declined to participate and 50% failed to respond. Low levels of positive response to an 'opt-in' approach carries a risk of participation bias.<sup>55,56</sup> In their work on evaluating the impact of welfare rights advice for the Department for Work and Pensions,<sup>57</sup> Corden *et al.*<sup>58</sup> routinely use an 'opt-out' method of recruitment for similar populations. With the approval of the NHS Research Ethics Service (NRES), we proposed using this type of recruitment method in this trial; this should have reduced the potential recruitment bias associated with 'opt-in' recruitment methods and increased the efficiency of trial recruitment.

### **Choice of outcome measures**

Previously reported studies of the health effects of welfare rights advice have restricted reported health outcomes to general measures of health or psycho-social functioning (such as the SF-36<sup>42,59</sup>), together with measurement of financial gains.

In our qualitative research among recipients of welfare rights advice,<sup>12,33</sup> we identified a range of potential benefits of advice, including:

- health (improvements in anxiety, depression, insomnia; reductions in medication or consultation)
- health-related behaviours (health-promoting changes in smoking, diet, physical activity and alcohol consumption)
- social (improvements in family or other relationships, reduction of social isolation, increased ability to work, ability to care for relatives, etc.)
- financial (debt rescheduling and receipt of new benefits, e.g. Attendance Allowance, Disability Living Allowance, Disability Living Allowance mobility component, Invalid Care Allowance, Incapacity Benefit, Housing Benefit, Income Support)
- material (e.g. access to free prescriptions, Council Tax exemption, entitlement to respite care, Meals on Wheels, rehousing or home modifications).

The qualitative findings of our pilot study<sup>12,33</sup> summarised these perceived benefits of the intervention in terms of:

- increased affordability of necessities
- increased capacity to manage unexpected future problems
- decreased stress related to financial worries
- increased independence, including ability to travel, shop, visit the GP, etc.
- increased ability to participate in family life and society.

These findings are corroborated by a recent evidence synthesis undertaken to develop a logic model for the health outcomes of welfare rights advice services.<sup>19</sup> The resultant logic model has been used as the basis for a realist evaluation of the health impact of Citizens Advice Bureaux services, for which a protocol has recently been published.<sup>60</sup>

In addition to qualitative work with study participants in our pilot RCT, we collected proposed outcome measures and relevant potential confounding factors.<sup>12</sup> The pilot trial was not sufficiently powered for substantive analyses, but the feasibility of measurements was good, and well tolerated by older people. The main outcome measure we assessed was the SF-36 instrument, as used in several previous studies.<sup>42,59,61,62</sup> Although this had demonstrated some potential, albeit in uncontrolled or non-randomised studies (e.g. positive changes in the mental health and emotional role domains),<sup>59</sup> we were concerned that
its domains did not sufficiently encompass the substantially wider range of reported impacts of welfare rights advice services and their evaluation).<sup>12,33</sup> We therefore sought an alternative HRQoL measure that might best encompass key domains, such as independence, social participation and mental health. There is no single, ideal outcome measure that captures all of these domains, but the CASP-19 (Control, Autonomy, Self-realisation and Pleasure) instrument,<sup>57,63</sup> developed specifically with a view to measuring quality of life in older people, comes close and has been recommended by Corden *et al.*<sup>58</sup> as a composite measure of the impact of welfare rights advice.<sup>57</sup> It is a self-reported summative index, comprising 19 Likert scale items in four domains: control, autonomy, self-realisation and pleasure.<sup>63</sup> Its performance has been examined in several prospective studies, including the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing (ELSA).<sup>64,65</sup>

## Generalisability

Our pilot trial was undertaken in one social services district (Newcastle upon Tyne) and in four general practice populations.<sup>11</sup> However, we know, from other work and discussions locally, that service delivery in welfare rights advice varies from area to area, as do general practice populations. To enhance the potential generalisability of the results, the RCT was, therefore, undertaken across a range of geographical and local authority areas (including urban and rural) and general practices. It seemed possible, indeed likely, that the present welfare regime would change during the course of the trial. The proposed intervention was not dependent on any particular set of benefits and was adaptable to any new regime. This added to its future generalisability.

## **Target population**

Although we recognised that isolated older people who are eligible for benefits may live in all areas, in order to maximise the efficiency (and impact) of welfare rights advice services provided through primary health care, this RCT focused on practice populations in socioeconomically disadvantaged areas. Eligibility for health-related benefits (and failure to claim) increases with age, particularly post retirement; although there are other key target groups, such as single parents, non-claimants most likely to be accessed through primary care are predominantly in older age groups.<sup>33,66–68</sup> This trial therefore focused on a predominantly post-retirement population (those aged  $\geq$  60 years), residing in areas of economic deprivation.

The North East has some of the poorest health outcomes in England, coupled with high levels of socioeconomic disadvantage. From the 19th century, the regional economy was based on heavy industries such as deep coal mining, shipbuilding and steel making. Since the 1970s and the demise of heavy industry, the area has suffered economic decline due, in particular, to the closure of shipbuilding, coal mines and other heavy manufacturing. The post-retirement population of interest in this trial were born in the pre-and post-Second World War years (from 1920 to 1950), and many would have worked in these industries, which are associated with industrial-related conditions such as musculoskeletal injuries and diseases of the lung.

# Nature of the intervention

The intervention delivered in this trial was based on standard advice services of the type found across local authorities in England when this study was designed. Welfare rights advice is not a statutory service, and provision varies across all local authorities in England, Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland. Conventionally, however, these services are available only on demand or by referral. Thus, for example, an older person admitted to hospital may be referred by a hospital social worker, doctor or nurse for benefits assessment prior to discharge. Only some services have undertaken the targeting of welfare rights advice at a population level.<sup>32</sup> Those that have done so have found that there is a significant level of underclaiming in

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

the general population and, in particular, among older people.<sup>29</sup> The proposed intervention is, therefore, a modification of a standard welfare rights advice service to target proactively a particularly vulnerable population in which we anticipated there would be high levels of underclaiming (i.e. those aged  $\geq$  60 years in disadvantaged areas). The only reliable population registers in England at a local level are the primary care patient registration lists held by GPs, which were used to sample this target group selectively.

In our pilot RCT, we identified that effectiveness and efficiency (in terms of successful claims) could be maximised by making the service domiciliary, as a substantial proportion of those aged  $\geq$  60 years have limited mobility, and during assessments clients often need access to information they keep at home.<sup>33</sup> Domiciliary visits also proved more popular with clients. In addition, we found that WRAs need to provide 'active assistance' with claims, for example completing claim forms for clients, as being unable to complete the forms is a key barrier to people claiming.<sup>12,31,32</sup> Finally, GPs need to have appropriate awareness of welfare entitlements and, for health-related benefits in particular, an understanding of the medical criteria on which decisions are made, so that they can support reasonable claims effectively in medical assessments requested by the Benefits Agency. Good communication between GPs and WRAs is essential to facilitate this. In our pilot RCT, we delivered education and training on these issues to all GPs in participating practices,<sup>11,12</sup> another feature that is included in the proposed definitive RCT.

## **Process evaluation**

Process evaluation is an essential element of designing and testing complex interventions. Process evaluation is used to assess the fidelity and quality of implementation, clarify causal mechanisms and identify contextual factors associated with variation in outcomes.<sup>54</sup> When evaluating the impact of an intervention, the emphasis of process evaluation is on providing greater confidence in conclusions by assessing the quantity and quality of what was delivered, and assessing the generalisability of its findings by understanding the role of context.<sup>69</sup>

To draw conclusions about what works, process evaluations aim to assess fidelity (whether or not the intervention was delivered as intended) and dose (the quantity of intervention implemented). Intervention fidelity relates to adherence to the content of the study protocol and the process of ensuring quality and consistency in intervention delivery to all study participants.<sup>70,71</sup> This includes ensuring a clear intervention model, developing an intervention protocol, selecting appropriate staff to deliver the intervention, ensuring adequate training in the implementation of the intervention and providing staff with ongoing supervision.<sup>70</sup> In complex interventions, fidelity is not a straightforward process. In pragmatic trials the standardisation of the intervention to the study protocol will promote internal validity, but limiting variation may affect generalisability.<sup>54</sup>

In addition to *what* is delivered, process evaluation can investigate *how* the intervention is delivered. This can provide vital information about how the specific intervention might be replicated, as well as generalisable knowledge on how to implement other complex interventions. Issues considered may include training and support, communication and management structures, and how these structures interact with implementers' attitudes and circumstances to shape the intervention. Process evaluations also investigate the reach of interventions (whether or not the intended audience comes into contact with the intervention, and how).<sup>69</sup>

Exploring the mechanisms through which interventions bring about change is crucial to understanding both how the effects of the intervention occurred and how these effects might be replicated by similar future interventions. Process evaluations may test hypothesised causal pathways using quantitative data as well as using qualitative methods to better understand complex pathways or to identify unexpected mechanisms. Context includes anything external to the intervention that may act as a barrier to or facilitator of its implementation, or its effects. Implementation will often vary from one context to another, however; an intervention may have different effects in different contexts even if its implementation does not vary. Complex interventions work by introducing mechanisms that are sufficiently suited to their context to produce change, while causes of problems targeted by interventions may differ from one context to another. Understanding context is, therefore, critical in interpreting the findings of a specific evaluation and generalising beyond it. Even where an intervention itself is relatively simple, unlike welfare rights advice, its interaction with its context may still be highly complex.<sup>69</sup> In the proposed RCT, we collected both quantitative and qualitative data to assess the process of intervention delivery, allowing us to explore the reach, uptake, fidelity and quality of the intervention, as well as provide contextual information that may prove valuable in explaining the observed outcomes.

# Chapter 2 Methods

In this chapter we present the objectives of the study and then describe the methods that were used to achieve the objectives. The methods are divided into three main sections: quantitative (trial) methods, embedded qualitative study methods and economic evaluation methods. We conducted a process evaluation, drawing on both quantitative and qualitative data, and the methods for this are presented in relevant sections below, and drawn upon in the corresponding results chapters. The process evaluation aimed to evaluate the trial procedures, assess the fidelity of the intervention and ascertain the reasons for the intervention's success or failure. It drew on quantitative data collected to assess the fidelity, dose and reach, including socioeconomic patterning, of the intervention, as well as qualitative data to assess the acceptability and perceived impacts of the trial and intervention, and the reasons for success and failure of each component thereof. An initial analysis of process data was conducted before the main outcome analysis to avoid biased interpretation of process data. This allowed process data to provide prospective insights into why we might have expected to see positive or negative overall effects and generate hypotheses about how variability in outcomes may have emerged.<sup>69</sup> They thus informed our secondary, exploratory analyses.

The proposed methods for all analyses were documented in our protocol.<sup>1</sup> Statistical and economic evaluation analysis plans were further pre-specified in greater detail and approved by the Trial Steering Committee (TSC) prior to the analyses being commenced.

## **Objectives of the randomised controlled trial**

The overall aim of the study was to evaluate the effects on health and well-being of a domiciliary welfare rights advice service for independently living, socioeconomically disadvantaged older people (aged  $\geq$  60 years), recruited from general (primary care) practices.

#### **Primary objective**

To establish the effects on HRQoL of a domiciliary welfare rights advice service targeting independently living, socioeconomically disadvantaged older people (aged  $\geq$  60 years) identified via primary care, compared with usual practice.

## Secondary objectives

- To establish the cost consequences and the cost-effectiveness of a domiciliary welfare rights advice service targeting independently living, socioeconomically disadvantaged older people (aged ≥ 60 years) identified via primary care, compared with usual practice.
- To establish the acceptability to trial participants and relevant professionals of a domiciliary welfare rights advice service targeting independently living, socioeconomically disadvantaged older people (aged ≥ 60 years) identified via primary care.
- To identify the unanticipated consequences (positive or negative) of a domiciliary welfare rights advice service targeting independently living, socioeconomically disadvantaged older people (aged ≥ 60 years) identified via primary care.

## **Trial design**

A pragmatic, individually randomised, single-blinded (researchers), parallel-group, wait-list controlled trial of domiciliary welfare rights advice versus usual care, with embedded economic and quantitative and qualitative process evaluations (*Figure 1*).

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.





## Setting

The trial took place in socioeconomically disadvantaged areas in the North East of England, which included urban, rural and semirural areas, with no previous access to welfare rights advice services targeted to primary care patients.

The study was planned to take place in 10 of the 12 local authority districts in the North East of England (Stockton, Darlington, Middlesbrough, County Durham, Sunderland, South Tyneside, North Tyneside, Newcastle, Northumberland and Gateshead). Social services departments in these local authorities had agreed in principle to provide domiciliary welfare rights advice services. The intention was to recruit two general practices per local authority district with the help of the Primary Care Research Network – Northern and Yorkshire (PCRN-NY). Lists of all general practices from the local authority districts were obtained from the PCRN-NY and ranked according to deprivation score using the 2010 English Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) calculated at middle-layer super output area (MSOA) level for practice premises (main surgery) postcodes, in accordance with the method of Griffin et al.<sup>72</sup> Deprivation covers a broad range of issues and refers to unmet needs caused by a lack of resources of all kinds, not just financial. The English Indices of Deprivation attempt to measure a broad concept of multiple deprivation, made up of several distinct dimensions, or domains, of deprivation. Super output areas are geographical units for the collection and publication of small area statistics. There are currently two layers of super output area: lower-layer super output areas (LSOAs) and MSOAs. LSOAs have an average of 1500 residents and 650 households. MSOAs have a minimum of 5000 residents and 2000 households, with an average population size of 7500, and fit within local authority boundaries. WRAs established whether or not any of the practices in the most socioeconomically deprived two-fifths of the IMD distribution had existing dedicated or targeted welfare rights advice services. Those practices in the lower two-fifths of the deprivation ranking distribution, without existing dedicated or targeted welfare rights advice services, were eligible for inclusion and were sent a letter by the PCRN-NY inviting them to participate (see Appendix 1), along with an information sheet describing the study (see Appendix 2) and an expression of interest form to return directly to the PCRN-NY.

The PCRN-NY provided the study team with a list of all eligible practices that had indicated a willingness to participate in research. If more than two general practices per local authority expressed willingness to participate in the research, the intent was to list the practices randomly and then contact them sequentially until two practices from each local authority district had agreed to participate in the trial. Fourteen eligible practices originally volunteered to participate in the research, representing only eight of the local authority areas for which we had secured the services of domiciliary WRAs. As we did not achieve our target of two general practices per local authority area immediately, we took two further courses of action: (1) we asked those practices that had originally volunteered if they would be willing to recruit additional patients (specifically, twice the number originally requested); and (2) we attempted to recruit further eligible practices through informal research networks across the North East of England. The latter strategy resulted in three further practices volunteering to participate from local authorities already involved in the study. However, it was also necessary to ask three general practices that had expressed willingness to do so, to recruit double the number of participants (*Table 1*). Owing to the problems with general practice recruitment, the welfare rights advice services in two local authorities that were willing to provide them were ultimately not required and the study took place in eight local authority districts.

## **Participants and recruitment**

Participants were volunteer patients aged  $\geq$  60 years (one individual per household) who were not resident in a nursing home or in hospital, were not terminally ill (as assessed by their GP) and were fluent in written and spoken English.

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton S016 7NS, UK.

Local authorities	Domiciliary welfare			Number of participate	Number of patients invited to		
(12 approached, 10 offered WRA services, 8 participated)	rights advice services available	First-wave practices volunteered	Second-wave practices volunteered	First mailing (N = 1700)	Second mailing (N = 2212)	Both mailings (N = 3912)	participate by local authority ( <i>N</i> = 3912)
А	Ν	a	a	a	a	a	a
В	Ν	a	a	a	a	a	a
С	Υ	b	b	b	b	b	b
D	Υ	b	b	b	b	b	b
E	Υ	1		200	187	387	387
F	Y	2		100	195	295	695
		3		200	0	200	
		4		100	100	200	
G	Y	5		100	200	300	600
		6		100	0	100	
			15	0	200	200	
Н	Υ	7		100	0	100	400
		8		100	0	100	
			16	0	200	200	
J	Υ	9		100	200	300	600
		10		100	200	300	
К	Y	11		200	0	200	400
			17	0	200	200	
L	Y	12		100	230	330	330
Μ	Y	13		100	200	300	500
		14		100	100	200	

#### TABLE 1 Outcomes of recruitment of local authorities, general practices and patients to the Do-Well RCT

N, no; Y, yes.

a No study participants: local authorities A and B were ineligible because they had no welfare rights advice services.

b No study participants: local authorities C and D were eligible but no general practices in these areas volunteered to participate in the study.

The PCRN-NY and the Comprehensive Local Research Networks offered personnel and financial resources to participating general practices in the North East of England to identify and approach research study participants. Each participating practice was asked to generate a random sample of up to 300 people aged  $\geq$  60 years from their practice register. Practice staff scrutinised their list to identify any patients terminally ill or known to be resident in hospital or long-term care, who were excluded. Those who were assessed as not able to participate in the research due to poor mental or physical health, as assessed by their GP, were excluded from the study. Practice staff also checked to ensure that only one person per household had been selected for this list. If two people from the same address were found, one was selected by practice staff at random (by flipping a coin) to be retained and the other was removed from the sample list. Not all practices had sufficient patients registered to be able to generate a list of 300 people aged  $\geq$  60 years from their practice register; in these circumstances, they listed as many as possible.

This list of up to 300 names (of people believed to meet the eligibility criteria) per practice was randomly ordered and the first 100 patients on the list were sent a letter (see *Appendix 3*) and patient information sheet (see *Appendix 4*) signed by the senior GP partner on behalf of the practice, inviting them to participate in the trial. The figure of 100 patients was determined on the basis of the recruitment rate in the pilot study and anticipated to yield the required sample in an optimistic, best-case scenario. The letter on practice-headed paper explained that, unless the participant objected by returning the opt-out form (see *Appendix 5*) to the practice in the stamped addressed envelope within 2 weeks, their name and contact details would be passed to the research team, who would then contact them directly to discuss the trial further and seek informed consent.

After 2 weeks, the names, addresses and telephone numbers of those who had not opted out were passed to the research team. Research interviewers contacted these individuals by telephone to arrange, if acceptable, a face-to-face meeting at a mutually convenient time in the participant's own home. At the initial appointment, research interviewers sought written informed consent (see *Appendix 6*) and then proceeded to collect baseline data.

We monitored recruitment continuously to assess whether or not and when further patients should be invited by each practice. When it became apparent that we would need to approach more than 100 patients to achieve our proposed sample size, practices were asked to write to additional patients from their original list of 300. In two cases, practices contacted all remaining patients aged  $\geq$  60 years. In these cases, the total number of patients invited was 387 and 330 (practices 1 and 12, respectively). In the three practices that had offered to recruit additional participants, recruitment numbers were doubled at each stage of the process.

## Randomisation

Following written consent and baseline assessment, participants were randomised in a 1 : 1 ratio to intervention or control condition, stratified by practice. Research interviewers notified the project administrator after each baseline assessment that a new participant had been successfully recruited. The administrator held sequential allocation tables for each practice, independently generated from random numbers prior to recruitment [generated by a statistician (AB) using Stata version 12 software (StataCorp, College Station, TX, USA]. The administrator allocated all participants to the intervention or control group in the chronological sequence in which they were recruited and immediately sent each participant a standard letter (see *Appendix 7*) informing them of their group allocation. Only the project administrator had access to the allocation tables, and the allocation was thus concealed from the research team, data collectors and statisticians. The allocation was revealed to the participant and (in the case of intervention group participants) the relevant WRAs. The administrator immediately informed the appropriate local WRA team member of the contact details of each newly allocated intervention group participant and requested that they should be visited for a welfare assessment within 2 weeks. The WRAs were sent lists of control group participants to assess 24 months later, once follow-up had been completed.

## Blinding

Research interviewers, who collected data from participants at baseline and 24 months, were not notified of the allocation status of participants to ensure that they remained blinded for the duration of the study.

## Intervention

Here the intervention is described as designed and intended, according to Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials (CONSORT) and Template for Intervention Description and Replication (TIDieR)

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

guidelines.<sup>73,74</sup> In *Chapter 3*, variations of this intention are documented and the implications are identified. The rationale underpinning the intervention components was rehearsed in *Chapter 1*.

The domiciliary welfare rights advice service comprised face-to-face welfare rights advice consultations and active assistance with benefit claims, delivered in participants' own homes and tailored to their individual needs by a qualified WRA employed by local authority departments, or their contracted services, in the North East of England. In one local authority, welfare rights advice services were contracted and delivered by a third-sector organisation. Following randomisation, intervention group participants were given an appointment in their own home with a WRA within 2 weeks, during which participants underwent a full benefit entitlement assessment involving assessment of financial, material and welfare status; assessment of previous benefit entitlement and claims; discussion of current entitlement and options for action, including new claims (financial and non-financial). Active assistance with benefit claims and other welfare issues was given, which included completion of benefit application forms on behalf of the participant. Complex claims or those referred for further assessment or tribunal were managed as per their usual practice by WRAs. It was anticipated that initial assessments would last up to 60 minutes. Participants were followed up at home or by telephone as required by WRAs until they no longer required assistance (cases are usually 'closed' once all claims and appeals have been concluded), which could take several months.<sup>11</sup>

In area K, one local authority WRA provided the intervention from the start of the project until April 2013, when budget reviews restricted the availability of the WRA for the Do-Well study. A freelance WRA took over and completed the intervention in this area. In area G, the local authority WRA volunteered to provide the intervention for the Do-Well study but withdrew before recruitment began; therefore, a freelance WRA provided the intervention in this area. In area J, a local authority WRA provided the intervention at baseline but was unable to continue at 24 months (i.e. to deliver the intervention to control participants) because welfare rights posts had been lost and a new team had been formed that combined local welfare provision with supported housing. One WRA was retained by the local authority to deal with complex welfare cases but did not have the capacity to continue providing the intervention for the Do-Well study; therefore, a freelance WRA provided the intervention throughout the study. In area M, the intervention was provided by paid staff from the Citizens Advice Bureau. In areas H and F, one local authority WRA within each area respectively provided the intervention for the duration of the study. In area E, two local authority WRAs provided the intervention for the study.

## **Intervention reach**

Intervention reach was assessed as the proportion of those eligible to receive the intervention who actually received it. Causes of participants not receiving the intervention as intended (e.g. participants withdrawing, refusing or being lost to follow-up) and reasons given by participants (in interviews and questionnaires) were recorded when available. We also analysed the socioeconomic patterning of receipt of the intervention, and receipt of welfare benefits using IMD 2010<sup>72</sup> scores assigned at household level by matching postcode to IMD score at LSOA level.

Eligibility and receipt of welfare benefits was assessed, by type of benefit, as a proportion of those assessed by WRAs in the intervention group at baseline. This was also assessed in the control group at the 24-month follow-up.

At the outset, the intervention was primarily to be funded and provided by welfare rights advice services in the 10 participating local authority areas in the North East. However, a contingency fund of  $\approx$ £28,000 was also secured from the North East Strategic Health Authority in 2012, prior to the start of the study, to fund any excess intervention costs and the costs of any training for WRAs and GPs to ensure the effective delivery of this service with a high level of fidelity.

## Training and quality control

To ensure consistent approaches to medical assessments related to relevant claims, each participating general practice was visited by a member of the research team and provided with an information pack and guidance on the completion of medical information on benefit application forms (see *Appendix 8*). This information was developed by the study team, with the help of a senior WRA who was involved in training and quality control in our pilot RCT, and a GP who was a member of the study team for the pilot RCT.

All participating WRAs were invited to attend information sharing events prior to intervention delivery to agree the intervention protocol, which specified the procedures for delivering welfare rights advice and the follow-up actions in a standardised manner. Intervention procedure checklists (see *Appendix 9*) were then given to all WRAs prior to the commencement of the study to ensure consistent delivery. Study staff closely monitored the progress of intervention delivery and maintained regular contact with all WRAs.

## **Fidelity assessment**

We assessed the fidelity of the intervention in a number of ways. First, we asked WRAs to record the date and time of each initial welfare rights advice assessment, so we could assess whether or not these were delivered on time (within 2 weeks of the baseline study data collection). Second, we assessed whether or not initial welfare rights advice assessments were delivered as intended. This assessment was carried out, as unobtrusively as possible, by analysing audio-recordings of WRAs undertaking this aspect of intervention delivery with a small subsample of study participants. We aimed to analyse one initial welfare advice consultation per WRA (i.e. n = 19). Audio-recorded consultations were assessed by a senior WRA from a local authority not involved in the Do-Well study, selected for her extensive experience as a WRA, supervisor and welfare advice team manager. Each WRA was contacted shortly after the start of the study and asked to audio-record the next consultation undertaken with a consenting participant, and to record a brief commentary explaining the case and the actions recommended. We explained to WRAs that, as part of the research, we needed to understand how they interacted with clients and how outcomes were achieved. We avoided explicit reference to judgements about their practice, as this might have led to practice that was different from usual. Each participant was informed about the nature of the fidelity assessments, and written consent was obtained for audio-recording of the consultation. If a participant refused consent, the WRA was advised to ask the next participant they were due to visit for an initial assessment. The fidelity assessments took place between December 2012 and February 2013. Each consultation was analysed against a checklist of criteria developed by the study team (see Appendix 10). This checklist assessed the overall quality of the consultation, whether or not the correct assessment of needs had been made and that, if warranted, the correct benefits were applied for according to standard procedures. The senior WRA who listened to the recordings completed a confidentiality agreement prior to assessment, as it was felt not possible to fully anonymise the recordings. All data were held in accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998<sup>75</sup> and all sound files were individually password protected. After analysis of the fidelity assessment, all recorded files were destroyed. The research team was provided with a summary of each consultation based on assessment against the criteria of needs assessment, appropriate benefits applied for and a brief commentary on the justification for the outcomes achieved.

## **Comparator (wait-list control condition)**

Participants randomised to the control group received 'usual care' (standard practice) from both health and welfare rights advice services after randomisation until they had completed their 24-month follow-up assessment. They were given no advice regarding welfare rights as a part of the study intervention during this period. However, they were free to seek welfare rights advice independently from their local authority or any third-sector provider at any time. Participants who sought independent advice remained in the trial and were analysed in the control arm on the intention-to-treat principle, and details of any advice and

ensuing claims and outcomes were recorded at the 24-month follow-up assessment. Following the 24-month follow-up assessment, participants in the control arm received the intervention, as delivered to the intervention group (described above), including all follow-up visits by WRAs and assistance with claims and appeals over the following months, until all claims had been resolved.

The participants were informed during recruitment, via the patient information sheet (see *Appendix 4*), that we wanted to recruit 750 people into the study. They were told that one group of 375 people would be given an appointment with the welfare advice service straight away and another group of 375 people would be given an appointment around 24 months later. Potential participants learned that the group they would be put in would be decided by chance, like tossing a coin, but that everyone would receive an appointment within 24 months. Once individuals agreed to participate in the study and completed baseline assessment, they were sent a letter (see *Appendix 7*) detailing which group they had been assigned to. Wait-list control participants were told that the group they had been assigned to would mean that they would see a WRA approximately 24 months after they entered the study.

Both intervention and control group participants remained clients of the welfare advice service beyond the end of the trial, if necessary, until such time as their help was no longer needed, as per usual welfare rights advice service protocols.

## **Data collection**

#### Primary outcome measure

The primary outcome measure was HRQoL, measured using the CASP-19 questionnaire.<sup>57,63</sup> CASP-19 comprises 19 questions in the four domains of control, autonomy, self-realisation and pleasure. The range of the scale is 0–57, with higher values indicating better quality of life.<sup>63</sup> CASP-19 was administered by face-to-face interview at baseline (pre randomisation) and at follow-up 24 months post randomisation, and by postal questionnaire (with two reminders at fortnightly intervals including one duplicate questionnaire) at 12 months post randomisation (see *Appendix 11*).

#### Secondary outcome measures

The following secondary outcomes were collected by face-to-face interview at baseline (pre randomisation) and at follow-up 24 months post randomisation (see *Appendix 11*).

## Mental health

Mental health was measured by the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) depression scale.<sup>76–78</sup> The PHQ-9 examines nine mental health problems. The potential range of the scale is 0–27, with lower values indicating fewer depressive symptoms.

#### Perceived financial well-being

Perceived financial well-being was measured by the Affordability Index.<sup>79</sup> The 13-item Affordability Index has a potential score range of 4–20, with lower scores indicating fewer financial problems.

### Standard of living index

The standard of living index is a 0–24 scale assessing ownership of 24 household items, based on questions used in the British General Household Survey.<sup>80</sup> A higher score indicates a higher standard of living. The items enumerated are listed in question 42 in *Appendix 11*.

#### Social support and participation

Social support and participation was measured by social interaction and strength of confiding relationships.<sup>11</sup> The social interaction score has a potential range of 0–27, with higher scores indicating a higher level of social engagement and support. An isolation indicator was created from one item on this scale, categorising whether or not participants reported that they did not see friends and relatives as often as they wished.

## General health status

General health status was measured by the EuroQol-5 Dimensions-3 Levels (EQ-5D-3L) instrument.<sup>81,82</sup> The EQ-5D-3L is a five-item scale with three levels of response. The tool has been extensively used in studies and full details are reported on the website of the EuroQoL Group (www.euroqol.org/).

#### Health-related behaviours

Health-related behaviours were assessed by self-report, to measure change in key indicator behaviours, such as smoking, alcohol consumption,<sup>83</sup> diet (consumption of key food groups) and physical activity [Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly (PASE)],<sup>84</sup> as in our pilot RCT.<sup>11</sup> The diet score had a potential range of 15–75, with higher scores indicating a healthier diet in terms of salt, fat and sugar consumption. The physical activity score had a potential range of 0–400+, with higher scores indicating higher levels of activity.

## Mortality

Mortality was assessed by identifying deaths at 12 months and 24 months from GP records. General practices were sent a list of participants and asked to check their status. This was carried out prior to commencing the 12- and 24-month follow-up assessments, in order to avoid distressing any recently bereaved relatives.

## **Financial status**

Financial status was measured using an assessment tool developed and used in our pilot RCT.<sup>11</sup> This included data on all sources of household income, including benefits, major outgoings (rent/mortgage, fuel bills, etc.), debts and capital assets (i.e. home and savings). As well as these data, at follow-up detailed data were collected (by WRAs) on new benefits received since baseline, including one-off (lump sum) payments and regular, weekly or monthly income.

## Independence

Independence was measured by assessing living arrangements and carer status using the following categories: living independently or with carer support, in own home, with relations, in a care home or hospital. We also assessed (by self-report) the number of hours of home care received per week.

## Harms

At the outset, we were not aware of any major risks or harms associated with the delivery of the intervention. However, it was possible that older people could spend additional resources in ways that would be potentially harmful. These might include spending additional financial resources on alcohol or tobacco (with known risks of chronic diseases), 'luxury' foods, high in fat and sugar (e.g. chocolate), or gambling, which can be addictive and financially ruinous. It was also possible that the increased independence and mobility (which we hypothesised would be associated with access to additional resources) could result in greater environmental exposures outside the home, resulting in infectious diseases or accidental injury. Furthermore, the intervention could lead to greater use of car travel, resulting in lower levels of physical activity. It was also possible that older people would feel obliged to share any additional income with family members, who may be equally socioeconomically disadvantaged, thus negating the beneficial impacts on themselves. Older people may also be more vulnerable to external pressures, such as cold-calling from salespeople. We assessed potential adverse outcomes by (1) identifying negative (unhealthy) changes in all primary and secondary outcome measures; and (2) including additional, semistructured open questions in follow-up questionnaires and interviews on other, potential, unanticipated outcomes in order to document these and develop explanations.

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

## Other quantitative data collected

Demographic variables were collected to characterise the trial participants and adjust for potential confounding in analyses, including age, sex, ethnicity, educational level attained, employment status and living arrangements (number of household members, paying for accommodation, and whether or not emotional support was available). In addition, two scales were used.

*Functional ability* was measured by the modified Townsend Activities of Daily Living scale,<sup>85</sup> which assesses a person's ability to perform eight activities. The possible range of scores is 0–16, with higher values indicating a greater ability to perform activities of daily living.

*Life events score* was measured by recording eight potentially serious events, including bereavement and significant illness, that might have occurred in the past 7 months, as well as their impact on the individual.<sup>86</sup>

## Sample size

A minimum of 318 participants needed to be followed up in each of the intervention and control arms (a total of 636) to provide 90% power at 5% significance level to detect a 1.5-unit difference in mean CASP-19 score<sup>57,63</sup> at 24 months between the intervention and control groups, assuming a standard deviation (SD) of 8.7 and a correlation between baseline and 24 months of 0.74. The estimates of SD and correlation coefficients came from the results of ELSA (wave 4) restricting the analyses to those aged  $\geq$  60 years.<sup>87</sup> Estimating an attrition rate between baseline and 24-month follow-up of 15% (as experienced in our pilot RCT),<sup>11</sup> we needed to recruit 750 participants to the study (375 to each group).

There has been no published work to establish a meaningful or clinically important difference on the CASP-19 scale. However, we based the above acceptable difference on data from waves 1 and 2 of the ELSA in those aged  $\geq$  60 years. We investigated the adjusted mean difference in CASP-19 at wave 2 between groups whose social or health circumstances had changed.<sup>64</sup> Examples of changes in CASP-19 score associated with changes in health or social circumstances that we might have expected to see in the proposed trial included 'developed limiting illness', -2.8 units; 'developed depression', -2.7 units; 'lost access to car', -1.8 units; and 'increased chance will not meet financial needs', -1.1 units. These differences on the CASP-19 scale suggest that a difference of 1.5 units would represent a minimally clinically important differences.<sup>65</sup> The chosen sample size also provided power to demonstrate some clinically significant difference in secondary outcomes. For example, 750 participants would provide 90% power to detect a difference between a prevalence of 11% and 4% of clinically significant depressive symptoms (PHQ-9 score of  $\geq$  10).

## Data handling, record keeping and sharing

Baseline and 24-month data were entered directly during interviews, via a tablet computer, into a secure custom-built database for processing and management using a bespoke content management system on Microsoft SQL® Server and ASP.NET (Microsoft Corporation, Redmond, WA, USA). A record was maintained of any changes made to the data post entry. All personal information obtained for the study was held securely at Newcastle University and was treated as strictly confidential. The project administrators undertook entry and verification of data from 12-month posted self-completion questionnaires into a Microsoft Excel® (Microsoft Corporation, Redmond, WA, USA) spreadsheet, with a 10% random sample checked for data entry accuracy. The data collection and transfer in this study complied with NRES<sup>88</sup> and Caldicott guidelines<sup>89</sup> and the Data Protection Act 1998.<sup>75</sup>

All patients were allocated a unique study identifier, which was used on all data collection forms and questionnaires to preserve confidentiality; names or addresses did not appear on completed questionnaires or on other data collection forms. Only a limited number of members of the research team were able to link the unique identifier to patient-identifiable details (name, address and telephone number) that were held on a password-protected Microsoft Access<sup>®</sup> (Microsoft Corporation, Redmond, WA, USA) database. All study documentation was held in secure offices that were not open to the public, and all members of the research team with access to identifiable or anonymised data operated to a signed code of confidentiality. Transmission of original or hard copy records (e.g. questionnaires, interview recordings) was by secure fax, post or hand delivery by members of the research team or by the WRAs. Participants were informed in the patient information sheet (see *Appendix 4*) about the transfer of information to the research team and about levels of access to patient identifiable data, and were asked to consent to this.

At the end of the study, original questionnaires, interview transcripts, consent forms and final versions of all data sets will be securely archived in the Institute for Health & Society for 5 years following publication of the last paper or report from the study, in line with sponsor policy and Newcastle Clinical Trials Unit standard operating procedures. This also allows any queries or concerns about the data, conduct or conclusions of the study to be resolved. Anonymised data will subsequently be securely archived and made available for secondary analysis as appropriate. Details of data sharing arrangements are available from the corresponding author.

# **Trial data analysis**

In this section, the methods used to organise and analyse the data are described. This is divided into three sections, covering the quantitative study, economic evaluation and qualitative analysis.

## Statistical analysis

#### Analysis populations

The analysis used the intention-to-treat population, which comprised all participants in the group to which they were randomised, regardless of the intervention that they received. The number of participants who did not receive the intervention to which they were randomised is reported.

#### Analysis data sets

As interviewers collected most of the data, it was not expected that there would be many missing data on items in particular scales. However, unless specified otherwise by the scale developers, when no more than 20% of items were missing or uninterpretable on specific scales, the scores were calculated by using the mean value of the respondent-specific completed responses on the rest of the scale to replace the missing items.<sup>90</sup>

Depending on the extent of missing data on the primary outcome at 24 months, the use of multiple imputation was considered for the primary outcome CASP-19. It was decided that multiple imputation using iterative chained equations was appropriate to obtain a complete data set for the primary outcome at 12 and 24 months, conditional on survival to 12 or 24 months.<sup>91</sup> The variables considered for the multiple imputation model were those thought a priori to be associated with CASP-19 at 12 and 24 months, as well as variables that were predictors of missingness of CASP-19 scores.<sup>92</sup> The final model included baseline characteristics (e.g. age, gender, education, living alone), and CASP-19 at baseline and 12 months. Twenty multiple imputation data sets were produced.

The primary analysis of study end points (listed in the next section) was after the use of the simple imputation method described above to estimate missing items. A sensitivity analysis was carried out to explore the effect of this simple imputation approach. The results of the CASP-19 are also reported after using multiple imputation.

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

## Descriptive analyses (baseline)

Baseline characteristics of the study population were summarised separately within each randomised group. This included primary and secondary outcome variables and covariates. Continuous variables were summarised by numbers of observations and mean and SD, or median and interquartile range (IQR), depending on whether or not the distribution was symmetric. The numbers of observations and percentages are reported for categorical variables. No significance testing for any baseline imbalance was carried out, but any noted differences are reported descriptively.

When covariates were available in both the Do-Well data set and the national ELSA (wave 4),<sup>87</sup> their distributions were compared to determine the representativeness of the Do-Well participants.

## Analyses of study end points

#### Descriptive analysis of benefits received

The numbers and percentages of any financial and non-financial benefits (e.g. aids and adaptations) received since baseline were summarised separately within each of the randomised groups.

#### Primary effectiveness end point

The primary end point, CASP-19, was compared at 24 months between the intervention and control groups using multiple linear regression with adjustment for baseline value and general practice (the stratification variable). The results are reported as a difference in means with a 95% confidence interval (CI). An adjusted analysis included the life events score and functional ability score at 24 months, and baseline covariates age, gender, education and whether or not living alone in the regression model. Bootstrap estimation was used if the distribution was skewed. A similar comparison was also made at 12 months (in this analysis, the life events and functional ability scores at baseline were used instead of those at 24 months).

### Secondary effectiveness end points

The following continuous outcomes were assessed at 24 months:

- mental health PHQ-9
- Affordability Index
- Standard of Living Index
- social interaction score
- alcohol (timeline follow back)
- dietary intake score
- physical activity (PASE)
- receiving care hours per week.

Each secondary outcome was compared at 24 months between the intervention and control groups using multiple linear regression with adjustment for baseline and general practice (the stratification variable). The results are reported as a difference in means with a 95% CI. The adjusted analyses also included the baseline covariates of age, gender, education and whether or not living alone in the regression model. Bootstrap estimation was used for CIs when the distribution was skewed.

The following categorical secondary outcomes were assessed at 24 months:

- living independently (yes or no)
- mortality
- change in smoking status since baseline
- whether or not seeing friends and relations as often as wished.

We used logistic regression with adjustment for general practice (stratification variable) to compare proportions between the intervention and control group. The results are reported as odds ratios with 95% CIs. An adjusted analysis in the regression model also included general practice (stratification variable), age, gender, education and whether or not living alone.

#### **Exploratory** analyses

Exploratory analyses were performed in which the linear model for the primary outcome contained terms for intervention, other key variables (sex, age in years and education) and the interaction between them.

In addition, within the intervention group, multiple linear regression explored whether the mean primary outcome (CASP-19) at 24 months differed, first between those receiving and not receiving welfare rights advice, and then between those receiving and not receiving any extra welfare benefits. As a final exploratory analysis, a comparison was made between the CASP-19 scores at 24 months for those in the intervention arm who had previously been awarded a financial welfare benefit and those in the control arm who were later awarded a financial benefit. As they were all eligible for financial welfare benefits, these participants should be similar in their socioeconomic and health profiles. All of these models also included baseline CASP-19 score, general practice, age, gender, level of educational attainment and whether or not living alone.

#### Analysis of trial process

The analysis for the process evaluation consisted of descriptive statistics for the recruitment and flow of participants through the trial (trial implementation), the time in days between randomisation and visit of WRA, whether or not advice was received, the benefits recorded (receipt of intervention) and the length and number of WRA consultations (dose).

### Qualitative study

#### Sampling

Qualitative interviews were conducted with trial and professional participants. Semistructured interviews with 50 purposively sampled trial participants took place in two phases between January and July 2014 (30 intervention participants) and February and May 2015 (20 control participants). The trial participants were identified from the trial database and recruited to achieve a maximum variation sample with respect to group allocation, gender, age, receipt of benefits and any unanticipated consequences of the intervention identified at follow-up. A sample of 17 professional participants was interviewed between February and June 2015, selected on the basis of their roles in service commissioning, policy, strategy and service delivery. The professional participants were recruited from the Department for Work and Pensions, local authority and Citizens Advice Bureaux welfare rights services, primary care, public health and the third sector. One group of professional participants was directly associated with intervention delivery (i.e. WRAs) and these are identified throughout the report by the code WRA DEL.

#### Recruitment

All trial participants were asked during the baseline trial assessment and consent procedures if they would be willing to participate in qualitative interviews. Altogether, 657 (327 intervention and 330 control) participants consented to being contacted for a qualitative interview. This excludes one intervention participant who declined a WRA visit and another participant who withdrew consent before their allocation to a trial arm.

Those selected for interview (trial participants and professional participants) were sent a letter of invitation (see *Appendix 12*) and a participant information sheet (see *Appendix 13*) by the research team. The researchers' contact details were provided so that those approached to participate could ask any questions before deciding to participate. Separate written informed consent was obtained for the qualitative interviews (see *Appendix 14*). Sampling and interviews with trial and professional participants continued

until data saturation was achieved.<sup>93</sup> During the initial qualitative fieldwork with trial participants, the partners of trial participants were often present during the interviews and made valuable contributions. After establishing that such partners were also willing to take part, we sought an amendment to the study ethics so that partners who were willing to take part could also be consented and included (see *Appendices 15* and *16* for the partner information sheet and consent form). The intervention participants were interviewed between January and July 2014, after their baseline interview was completed and after they had received their welfare rights advice consultation. The control participants were interviewed between February and May 2015, after their 24-month follow-up interview and after receiving the intervention.

#### Data collection

The interviews with trial participants explored the acceptability of the intervention and research design, and the perceived benefits and unanticipated consequences of the intervention.

The interviews with professional participants explored the acceptability of the intervention, training and research; the fidelity of the intervention; and the probable implications of the intervention for translation into routine policy and practice, both within the North East and more widely.

All interviews were digitally recorded (with permission) and transcribed verbatim. The transcripts were checked by EN, MS and SL for accuracy of transcription. The data were anonymised, and pseudonyms were applied to preserve anonymity.

#### Analysis

Qualitative data were collected and analysed iteratively so that themes that emerged in early interviews were explored in later ones. A coding framework was developed, applied to an initial 10 interviews, and then revised to accommodate new insights from the initial analysis. Three interviews were double-coded by MS and SL to ensure reliability of the coding framework that was then applied to all the interview data. The data were analysed thematically using the Framework method<sup>94</sup> with constant comparison<sup>95</sup> and deviant case analysis<sup>96</sup> to enhance validity. NVivo 10 software (QSR International, Warrington, UK) was used to code and manage the data.

## **Economic evaluation**

The relative efficiency of the domiciliary welfare rights advice intervention was assessed in within-trial cost–consequences and cost–utility analyses using data collected during the 24 months of the trial follow-up. For the cost–consequences analysis, the costs and consequences of the intervention are reported separately. The cost–utility analysis combined cost data and HRQoL measures to estimate the incremental cost per quality-adjusted life-year (QALY) gained.

Estimates of cost took the perspectives of the public sector services (for the service delivery costs of the Do-Well intervention) and the Treasury (for additional benefits awarded). Sensitivity analyses were performed to assess the impact of different data sources and varying key assumptions and parameters on the cost-effectiveness of the intervention.

## Intervention costs

#### Identification and measurement

#### Intervention group

The intervention costs were based on resource use and associated costs collected during the trial (supplemented by routine data sources where necessary) for every participant in the intervention group. The intervention costs included the additional time inputs required by WRAs to deliver the intervention.

The service costs of delivering the intervention also required data on staff salaries (collected from local authorities) and standard reimbursement rates for the travel distances from participating localities, as well as data on typical caseloads. These data were used to estimate the average total time spent with participants and to calculate the monetary cost of a specific resource use and the average total cost per case of delivering the intervention to participants.

Time spent on visits to clients and additional time inputs were recorded by WRAs in open-format case diaries as part of the casework contact sheet (CCS) for participants in the intervention group (see *Appendix 17*). The self-completed case diaries enabled WRAs to report categories of their time spent on the intervention [e.g. home visit(s), telephone call(s), writing letter(s)/e-mail(s) and administrative tasks (such as form filling or referring participants to or making follow-up contacts with other agencies)].

Salary costs (including National Insurance and pension) were averaged and a cost per minute was estimated assuming that WRAs worked 46 weeks per year and 37 hours per week. The cost per minute was then applied to the actual time spent for each participant. *Table 2* shows the information provided by participating local authorities and the equivalent average cost per minute of staff time and reimbursement rate for travel used in the analyses, together with sensitivity analyses. Only three local authorities were able to supply relevant data, and in two cases this was incomplete. When data were not available from a local authority, this is marked as not available.

Given that the intervention was assumed to cause no harm to participants, no additional individual-level resource use (e.g. for adverse events) was collected.

## Control group

Ideally, full details of number of tasks and specific durations would have also been collected for participants in the control group to estimate the difference in costs associated with the delivery of the intervention compared with usual practice. Although case-specific activities and durations were collected by means of case diaries in the intervention group, similar information on resource use was not collected

	Average annual	Salary (£)			
Source (local authority)	salary (£) (including on-costs for NI, pension and superannuation) <sup>a</sup>	Per week <sup>b</sup>	Per hour <sup>c</sup>	Per minute	Travel reimbursement (£) per mile
F	35,247	766	20.71	0.35	n/a
G	31,949	695	18.77	0.31	n/a
К	37,334	812	21.94	0.37	0.396
Analysis scenarios Base case					
Average salary	34,843	757	20.47	0.34	
Sensitivity analyses					
Average salary +20%	41,812	909	24.57	0.41	
Average salary –20%	27,875	606	16.38	0.27	
Travel reimbursement +50%					0.594

TABLE 2 Wenare rights advisor salary and traver reinbursement (2015/14), with sensitivity ar	/ity analyses
--	---------------

n/a, not available; NI, National Insurance.

a NI: employer's contribution to NI.

b Estimated contract of 46 weeks per annum.

c Estimated contract of 37 working hours per week.

from the control group. In the absence of the full details in either arm, the economic analyses considered only the additional activities associated with the delivery of the intervention at home (i.e. travel duration and distance travelled) to calculate the incremental cost between arms.

#### Aggregation of costs and sensitivity analyses

The data on costs for each participant were summed to produce a total cost per participant. These data were used to estimate the mean total costs for each arm of the trial and incremental costs. All costs are reported in UK pounds sterling (£) for the 2013/14 financial year. As all costs associated with the intervention were assumed to occur during the first year of the 24 months trial period, costs were not discounted.

Given the likely skewed distribution of the cost data, bootstrapping was used to produce 95% CIs. Sensitivity analyses allowed for effects of a variation in the average WRA salary at a range of -20% to +20%. Additionally, a higher rate of reimbursement per mile travelled (£0.594/mile) was considered to account for higher reimbursement rates usually used in health-related and social sciences research.

#### **Outcomes**

Our outcome assessments captured the number of new benefits awarded to participants, as well as changes in HRQoL between baseline and 24-month follow-up assessment. New benefit claims could have occurred as a result of the delivery of the domiciliary advice in the intervention group or due to participants in the control group independently seeking welfare rights advice. However, it was expected that the number of new claims in the control arm would be lower than those in the intervention group. As the period of study was 2 years, all outcomes (financial, non-financial, HRQoL) occurring in the second year were discounted at 1.5%, the recommended rate for public health interventions.<sup>97</sup> A sensitivity analysis investigated the impact of discounting at the UK Treasury rate of 3.5%.

#### Financial and non-financial benefits

Financial benefits included newly awarded monetary payments or tax credits, while non-financial benefits included newly provided aids and adaptations. Whereas financial benefits have an immediate effect on an individual's income, non-financial benefits do not involve payments to individuals, but capture transfers in some way that may impact on individuals' income or well-being in the longer term. To avoid a systematic bias when using data from different sources, the initial analysis used questionnaire data for both trial arms when assessing the number of new benefits awarded and weekly amounts per financial benefit. These data were combined with information on durations for financial benefits collected by means of the CCS in the intervention group.

#### Intervention group

Gains in financial benefits (in terms of weekly amounts for newly awarded benefits) for participants in the intervention arm were self-reported at 24 months and additionally recorded by WRAs in the CCS. The costs of these were presented from the perspective of the UK Treasury.

The total monetary gain in financial benefits per participant was estimated, based on available information on the weekly amount as reported by participants in the 24-month questionnaire and the duration of the award during the follow-up period as recorded by WRAs in the CCS. The duration of financial benefits paid to participants in the intervention group during the trial period was calculated as the number of weeks between the date of the award as documented in the CCS and the end of the study follow-up. Using CCS data allowed for the inclusion of additional information on the payment of arrears (as lump sums) that was not available from questionnaire data.

#### Control group

For the control group, newly awarded benefits were identified by comparing information collected on welfare benefits received at baseline and at 24-month follow-up.

As data on the duration of each financial benefit were not collected for the control group, we inferred durations for financial benefits received by participants in the control group using information on durations in the intervention group. We used median durations that were less prone to outliers in the data.

#### Comparison between trial arms

The data described above and multiplying the duration (in weeks) by the amount per week for newly awarded claims provided the total value of each financial benefit per participant during the trial follow-up period. The average values of benefits are reported for those participants who received new benefits in either trial arm. Comparisons between trial arms were possible after mapping questionnaire questions capturing different types of benefits onto all benefits recorded in the CCS (*Table 3*).

Sensitivity analyses considered IQR values of durations (first and third quartile of the duration distribution observed in the intervention group) to determine if results were robust to a variation in durations when comparing consequences between trial arms. The information on arrears payments was not included in any of the analyses because the relevant data were not available for the control group, and including arrears payments would have increased the apparent effectiveness of the intervention.

## Non-financial benefits

Newly awarded non-financial benefits included Blue Badge car parking permits and new household aids and adaptations provided by the Community Equipment Service, which help people to remain independent at home. A list of aids and adaptations items was included in the questionnaire at both baseline and 24-month follow-up (see *Appendix 11*). Information on relevant non-financial benefits awarded in the intervention group was also recorded by WRAs in the CCS. However, using cross-validation between the CCS and data collected in the 24-month questionnaire revealed discrepancies in the numbers of claims reported by WRAs and those self-reported by participants in the intervention group, while the numbers of new claims for non-financial benefits obtained from questionnaire data for both trial arms were very similar. Therefore, outcomes associated with non-financial benefits were based on questionnaire data only capturing frequencies of newly awarded non-financial benefits for both trial arms.

Unlike the financial benefits, for which weekly amounts per benefit were reported by participants, unit costs were not collected during the trial for the non-financial benefits. Participating local authorities and public sources provided information on unit costs for aids and adaptations that were part of the non-financial benefits and listed separately in the baseline and 24-month questionnaires. The Department of Health and Social Care's Community Equipment Services National Catalogue and Prescription Scheme (URL: http://psnc. org.uk/services-commissioning/locally-commissioned-services/community-equipment-services/) was used to provide nationally representative unit cost data for Community Equipment Services, which were used to calculate cost implications in absence of unit cost data from the participating local authorities.

Owing to the large number of items listed as aids and adaptations and a lack of variation in the numbers of newly claimed items between trial arms, the costs of installation of those aids and adaptations were not included in the analysis.

*Table 4* gives an overview of questions capturing non-financial benefits (including aids and adaptations) claimed at baseline and 24-month follow-up. The associated unit costs for aids and adaptations are shown in *Appendix 18*.

#### Health-related quality of life

Changes in HRQoL over the 24-month trial period were captured by means of the EQ-5D-3L questionnaire.<sup>81</sup> The EQ-5D-3L is a self-completion questionnaire comprising five dimensions of quality of life: mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort and anxiety/depression. Using the EQ-5D-3L version gave respondents three response options for each of the dimensions: no problems, some problems and severe problems. The responses were recorded as part of the trial questionnaire at baseline and 24-month follow-up and reported separately for each of the five questions in order to observe how responses changed.

Financial benefit (from CCS)	Questionnaire equivalent	Question number
Means-tested		
Council Tax Benefit	Do you receive Council Tax Benefit?	P045
	If YES, how much do you receive? Amount (£/week)	P046
Housing Benefit	Do you receive Housing Benefit?	P049
	If YES, how much do you receive? Amount (£/week)	P050
Pension Credit: Guarantee Credit	Do you receive Pension Credit?	P053
	If YES, is it Savings, Guarantee?	P054
	If YES, how much do you receive? Amount (£/week)	P055
Pension Credit: Savings Credit	Do you receive Pension Credit?	P053
	If YES, is it Savings, Guarantee?	P054
	If YES, how much do you receive? Amount (£/week)	P055
ESA	Do you receive ESA?	P019
	If YES, is it contribution based, means-tested?	P020
	If YES, how much do you receive? Amount (£/week)	P021
Non-means-tested		
DLA: care component	Do you receive DLA (care component)?	P007
	If YES, is it paid at lower/middle/higher rate?	P008
	If YES, how much do you receive? Amount (£/week)	P009
DLA: mobility component	Do you receive DLA (mobility component)?	P013
	If YES, is it paid at lower/middle/higher rate?	P014
	If YES, how much do you receive? Amount (£/week)	P015
Attendance Allowance: low rate	Do you receive Attendance Allowance?	P001
	If YES, is it paid at lower rate, higher rate?	P002
	If YES, how much do you receive? Amount (£/week)	P003
Attendance Allowance: high rate	Do you receive Attendance Allowance?	P001
	If YES, is it paid at lower rate, higher rate?	P002
	If YES, how much do you receive? Amount (£/week)	P003
Carer's Allowance	Do you receive Carer's Allowance?	P033
	If YES, how much do you receive? Amount (£/week)	P034
Industrial Injuries Disablement Benefit	Do you receive Industrial Injuries Disablement Benefit?	P029
	If YES, how much do you receive? Amount (£/week)	P030
Severe Disablement Allowance	Do you receive Severe Disablement Allowance?	P037
	If YES, how much do you receive? Amount (£/week)	P038
DLA, Disability Living Allowance; ESA, Emp	loyment Support Allowance.	

## TABLE 3 Casework contact sheet and equivalent data location in participant questionnaire (financial benefits)

Non-financial benefits (including aids and adaptations) (from CCS)	Questionnaire equivalent	Question number
Blue Badge	Do you or your partner or a relative who drives for you have a disabled person parking badge (Blue Badge)?	C028
Car (Motability Scheme)	Do you or your partner have a car from the Motability Scheme?	C029
Warm Zones referral		CCS only
Amount: Warm Zones referral		CCS only
Help with insulation cost	Have you had any help with insulation costs (e.g. new central heating boiler, loft insulation, cavity wall insulation)?	C018
Grant from HEES	Have you ever received a grant from HEES?	C019
Social tariff (electricity)	Are you on a social tariff for your electricity cost?	C025
Day centre attendance	Do you attend a day centre?	B017
Meals at home	Do you receive a meals at home service?	B019
Financial help with dental treatment charges	Do you receive financial help with dental treatment charges?	R001_2
Amount: dentist		CCS only
Financial help with optical prescription charges	Do you receive financial help with optical prescription charges?	R001_1
Amount: optician		CCS only
Help with health-care costs: travel		CCS only
Amount: NHS travel costs		CCS only
Community Care Alarm		R002
Aids and adaptations		
Bathing	Do you have any aids, or have any alterations been made in the bathroom that you usually use that make things easier?	D002
	Bath/grab rails	D003_1
	Walk-in shower	D003_2
	Bath house	D003_3
	Bath seat/board	D003_4
Toileting	Do you have any aids to help with toileting?	D004
	Grab rails in toilet/bathroom	D005_1
	Commode for day/night use	D005_2
	Bedpan/urinal/bottle	D005_3
	Raised toilet seat	D005_4
	Incontinence pads	D005_5
Sleeping	Do you have any aids in the bedroom to make things easier for you to get in and out of bed?	D006
	Bed hoist	D007_1
	Bed raise/block	D007_2
	Special bed/mattress	D007_3
		continued

## TABLE 4 Casework contact sheet and equivalent data location in participant questionnaire (non-financial benefits)

Non-financial benefits (including aids and adaptations) (from CCS)	Questionnaire equivalent	Question number
Chair/bed	Do you have any of the following aids for your chair or bed?	D008
	Sheepskin	D009_1
	Special cushion(s)	D009_2
	Special chair/chair raise	D009_3
Accessibility	Have any alterations been made to your home to make things easier for you to get around?	D010
	Widened doorways	D011_1
	Additional stair rails	D011_2
	Stairlift/vertical lift	D011_3
	Ramp at front/rear entrance(s)	D011_4
	Additional grab rails at front/rear entrance(s)	D011_5
	Door handle(s)	CCS
Mobility	Do you use any aids for getting about?	D012
	Manual wheelchair	D013_1
	Electric wheelchair	D013_2
	Walking frame (Zimmer)	D013_3
	Walking stick(s)	D013_4
	Walking trolley	D013_5
	Crutches	D013_6
Meals	Do you have any aids for helping you with meals?	D014
	Kitchen gadgets	D015_1
	Special cutlery/crockery	D015_2
	Meal trolley	D015_3
Communication	Do you have any services/aids to help you to communicate with people outside your home?	D016
	Community Care Alarm scheme	D017_1
	Special telephone	D017_2
	Entrance telecom	D017_3
Adapted items	Do you have any aids to help you reach or manipulate objects or parts of your body with your hands?	D018
	Helping hand for picking up objects while standing	D019_1
	Helping hand for pulling on socks/stockings	D019_2
	Special implements with long handles (e.g. hair brush)	D019_3
LIFES Home Energy Efficiency Scheme		

**TABLE 4** Casework contact sheet and equivalent data location in participant questionnaire (non-financial benefits) (*continued*)

Using UK population tariffs, the responses to the EQ-5D-3L questionnaire were converted into scores of participant-specific health state utilities at each time point. The EQ-5D-3L scores were then transformed into QALYs using the 'area under the curve' method.<sup>98</sup> From this, the mean QALY score for each group was calculated, along with incremental QALYs gained to capture the change in HRQoL between trial arms over the trial period.

The differences in mean QALYs gained between the two trial arms were estimated both without adjusting for baseline characteristics and with adjusting QALYs for baseline EQ-5D-3L, age, and gender, to account for any imbalance in the characteristics between the two groups at baseline. Imprecision surrounding incremental QALYs was estimated using bootstrapping and the level of imprecision was presented as 95% CIs.<sup>99</sup>

## Missing data

To assess patterns in missing EQ-5D-3L data, we tested whether or not data were 'missing at random'<sup>100</sup> by creating a binary variable for missing EQ-5D-3L scores at follow-up and analysing the correlation with the primary study outcome, CASP-19 score, at follow-up. If data were missing at random, missing data were addressed by the application of multiple imputation,<sup>91</sup> linking the missing EQ-5D-3L data at follow-up to baseline EQ-5D-3L score and a binary variable capturing whether or not participants reported requiring help at home.

#### Data analysis

The economic analyses estimated differences in costs and outcomes between the intervention and usual care (control group). The measures of variance for all outcomes involved bootstrapping estimates of costs, consequences (financial and non-financial benefits, QALYs gained) and incremental cost per QALY gained. All data were analysed in Stata version 13 software (StataCorp, College Station, TX, USA). In the base-case analysis (complete-case analysis), missing data were assumed to be missing at random.

### Cost-consequences analysis

For the cost–consequences analysis, costs and consequences (financial and non-financial benefits as well as HRQoL) of the intervention were assessed separately. Therefore, the implications for participants' income, based on additional benefits received during the 24-month trial period as well as changes in EQ-5D-3L, were presented in a disaggregated way and presented in the form of a balance sheet. In the balance sheet, outcomes are reported depending on which arm of the trial they favoured. Thus, the cost–consequences analysis can be used to show the trade-offs between different outcomes deemed of importance.

#### Cost-utility analysis

The cost–utility analysis combined cost data and HRQoL measures to estimate the incremental cost per QALY gained by the intervention group compared with the control group at 24 months. The incremental cost-effectiveness of the intervention compared with usual care was estimated using seemingly unrelated regression (SUR).<sup>101</sup> This allowed for the simultaneous estimation of costs and QALYs gained, which were calculated at individual level, and accounted for unobserved individual characteristics that could affect both costs and QALYs and lead to the potential correlation of these two variables. Using SUR controlled for the potential bias in estimates and ensured efficient estimation.<sup>102</sup> Additionally, the estimation controlled for the baseline covariates of age, gender and EQ-5D-3L.

For the bootstrapping, a common random seed was set and used for regressions of both costs and QALYs, to ensure that each bootstrap iteration for the differences in costs and QALYs was comparable. The results are based on 1000 bootstrap iterations. For each iteration, the SUR analysis was run on the data set, non-parametric bootstrap samples were drawn from the SUR residuals for both trial arms, predicted values of incremental costs and QALYs were calculated using the bootstrapped residuals, and differences in mean costs and QALYs between the intervention and control groups were estimated with 95% Cls to account for uncertainty surrounding the incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER).

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

The results of the analysis are presented as point estimates for each of the 1000 bootstrap iterations in a cost-effectiveness plane describing the ICERs from each of the 1000 iterations. Finally, the ICERs calculated were compared against willingness-to-pay thresholds of relevance to UK decision-makers [e.g. the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE)'s current threshold of £20,000–30,000 as society's willingness to pay (WTP) for one QALY gained]. The probability for the intervention to be cost-effective at different WTP thresholds was then presented in a cost-effectiveness acceptability curve (CEAC).

## Ethics arrangements, governance and sponsor

A favourable ethics opinion was received from the UK NRES Committee South West – Exeter (reference number 11/SW/0260). The trial was registered as Current Controlled Trials ISRCTN37380518. The sponsor of the research was NHS North of Tyne.

## **Changes to protocol**

In October 2011 (protocol 1–2), the protocol, participant information sheet and informed consent form were amended to include the possibility of long-term follow-up. In the event of an inconclusive outcome to the study at 24-month follow-up, it would be desirable to follow up participants at a later time point. Therefore, we amended the protocol to seek, at baseline, participants' consent to contact them again at a later date. It was recognised that long-term follow-up would require further funding and a new protocol.

In May 2013 (protocol 2–3), the protocol was amended to correct some typographical errors. In addition, the covering letters designed to be sent out with the 12-month follow-up questionnaire (cover letter, reminder letter 1 and reminder letter 2) were added.

In August 2013 (protocol 3–3.1) the protocol was amended to increase the number of participants able to take part in the qualitative element of the study from 30 trial participants and 10 professional participants, to up to 70 trial participants and up to 20 professional participants, subject to data saturation.

In February 2014 (protocol 3–4), the protocol was amended to allow us to include other household members in our qualitative interviews. This involved the production of a separate participant information sheet and consent form for other household members (see *Appendices 15* and *16*).

Protocol version 4, our final approved version, is available at www.nets.nihr.ac.uk/projects/ phr/09300902.<sup>103</sup>

## Independent Trial Steering Committee

An independent TSC provided overall supervision of the trial. The independent TSC comprised Professor Stephen Walters (chairperson), Professor of Medical Statistics and Clinical Trials, School of Health and Related Research (ScHaRR), University of Sheffield; Professor Colin Green (deputy chairperson), Professor in Health Economics and Head of Health Economics Group, Peninsula College of Medicine and Dentistry, University of Exeter; Mr Nick Whitton, Head of Commissioning for Adult Services, Adult and Community Services, Durham County Council; Mrs Sally West, Strategy Adviser – Income and Poverty; Age UK; Dr Anne Corden, Senior Research Fellow, Social Policy Research Unit, University of York; Christine Smith (lay member); John Marshall (lay member); Professor Martin White (Chief Investigator); the study statistician (Ms Denise Howel); and the study project manager (Dr Catherine Haighton). Observers from the National Institute for Health Research Public Health Research programme and our sponsor were invited to all independent TSC meetings. Following the initial pre-study meeting, the independent TSC met annually. Its role was to monitor progress and supervise the trial to ensure that it was conducted to high standards in accordance with the protocol, the principles of good clinical practice, relevant regulations and guidelines, and with regard to participant safety and well-being. A written charter was agreed and used by the independent TSC (see *Appendix 19*).

## **Data Monitoring and Ethics Committee**

This was a low-risk trial and major safety data were not anticipated; therefore, a Data Monitoring and Ethics Committee was not convened.

## Patient and public involvement

We engaged with service users from the outset and throughout the study. The research design was discussed with a representative sample of low-income older people to assess its acceptability. We undertook a simulation experiment in the context of a focus group discussion with a representative sample of low-income older people (discussed in detail earlier, see *Length of follow-up*). These members of the public provided valuable insight and advice regarding the study design and patient-relevant end points at the outline stage. Throughout the study, direct patient involvement, via a number of focus groups with Age UK members, also supported the development of suitable letters of invitation to participate, participant information sheets and covering letters explaining the study instruments. There were also two lay members of the TSC (Christine Smith and John Marshall), who provided valuable input throughout the course of the study.

# **Chapter 3** Main trial findings

n this chapter, we present the main findings of the RCT, including quantitative aspects of the process evaluation, a description of the study participants, the main outcome analyses and the exploratory analyses.

## **Process evaluation**

In this section, measures of the implementation of the trial and the intervention will be presented.

#### Trial implementation

*Figure 2* shows the recruitment and flow of participants through the trial, using the CONSORT format.<sup>73</sup> Nearly 4000 primary care patients aged  $\geq$  60 years were initially approached by 17 general practices. The recruited participants were spread over the 17 general practices, as shown in *Table 5*. These practices were chosen to be in the lower two-fifths of the deprivation ranking distribution. The average deprivation level of the 17 participating practices (based on the IMD score at the MSOA level for practice postcode) was lower than that among the remaining 363 practices in the North East [IMD score at MSOA level: 27.0 (SD 10.4) vs. 38.5 (SD 11.5)].

Of those patients approached, 1770 (45%) opted out of further involvement by returning the invitation slip to their general practice. GPs sent the remaining 2142 names (55% of those approached) and their contact details to the research team. The chief investigator wrote to all of these patients inviting them to participate in the research. Of the 2142 invited, 825 (39%) declined to participate further at that stage, 405 (19%) were not contactable, 116 (5%) initially did not refuse but later declined to participate and 41 (2%) were not contacted as the recruitment target had been reached before they were needed. Those remaining were 755 primary care patients aged  $\geq$  60 years from participate, provided informed consent and were randomised to either the intervention or the control group. The participants were recruited between 11 May 2012 and 28 February 2013.

However, those who agreed to participate (n = 755) were, on average, less socioeconomically disadvantaged [IMD score at LSOA level: 29.0 (SD 16.0)] than non-participants [n = 1387; IMD score: 33.5 (SD 17.9)], and were more likely to be female (53.5% vs. 50.5%).

During the trial, 121 participants withdrew from the study, 36 were lost to follow-up and 36 participants died (see *Figure 2* for details). The losses were balanced across allocation groups. In total, 562 participants completed the 24-month follow-up (intervention group, n = 283; control group, n = 279) and were available for analysis.

#### Receipt of intervention (reach)

As shown in *Figure 2*, 381 trial participants (50%) were randomly allocated to receive the intervention. The intervention group participants were offered welfare rights advice shortly after recruitment: *Figure 3a* shows the distribution of the time, in days, between randomisation and the first visit by the WRA, while *Figure 3b* shows the distribution of time between randomisation and closing the welfare rights advice case, which occasionally took > 12 months. The number seen (as intended) within 2 weeks by their WRA was 5 (1.5%) and within 4 weeks was 37 (11%). The median number of days from study entry to first WRA visit was 58 days (IQR 40–89 days) and the range was 0–403 days. The length of time taken for WRAs to see intervention group participants for their initial assessment increased over time.

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.



**FIGURE 2** The CONSORT flow chart of participants in the Do-Well RCT. WR, welfare rights. Reproduced from Howel *et al.*<sup>2</sup> This is an Open Access article distributed in accordance with the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution International license (CC BY 4.0), which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt and build upon this work, for commercial use, provided the original work is properly cited. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

Practice code	Mailed (n)	Responders ( <i>n</i> )	Recruitment rate (%)
1	387	52	13.4
2	295	61	20.7
3	200	44	22.0
4	200	51	25.5
5	300	73	24.3
6	100	25	25.0
7	100	17	17.0
8	100	26	26.0
9	300	47	15.7
10	300	70	23.3
11	200	35	17.5
12	330	75	22.7
13	300	54	18.0
14	200	31	15.5
15	200	30	15.0
16	200	47	23.5
17	200	17	8.5
Total	3912	755	19 3

#### TABLE 5 Number recruited (%) to trial by general practice



FIGURE 3 Distribution of (a) time (days) between randomisation and first WRA visit; and (b) time (days) from randomisation to welfare rights advice case being closed.

*Table 6* shows whether or not the advice was received or if benefits were awarded among the 381 participants in the intervention arm. Of these participants, 335 (88%) actually received the intervention as intended. For those randomised to but not receiving the intervention (n = 46, 12%), the most commonly cited reason for not receiving was that the participant declined the welfare rights advice consultation (n = 23); this represented 6% of all who were eligible and 50% of those not receiving the intervention (in the intervention group). In addition, some participants completely withdrew from the study before intervention delivery (n = 16),

	Number (%)
Welfare rights advice received	
Yes	335 (88)
No	46 (12)
Benefits from welfare rights advice	
Yes	84 (22)
Eligible but refused	17 (4.5)
No <sup>a</sup>	250 (65.8)
Awaiting outcome	1 (0.3)
Withdrawn <sup>b</sup>	29 (7.5)
<ul><li>a Includes declined welfare rights advice, and not awarded responses.</li><li>b Includes withdrawn, unknown and non-contactable responses.</li></ul>	

TABLE 6 Welfare rights advice receipt and outcomes at 24 months for those in intervention arm (n = 381)

while a small number of participants could not be contacted in order to arrange the welfare rights advice appointment (n = 7).

In total, 84 of the 381 participants (22%) in the intervention arm were awarded an additional benefit, but this rises to 25% when expressed as a percentage of the 335 who received welfare rights advice. *Table 7* shows the distribution of the benefits received for those who took up the offer of welfare rights advice. This information came from the records kept by the WRAs (CCS). There were some discrepancies observed between WRA records and those obtained when participants were interviewed at 24 months concerning new benefits that had been awarded. This is explored further in *Chapter 5*.

*Table 7* shows that non-means-tested benefits were most commonly received. There were small numbers in each of the categories of different combinations of financial and non-financial benefits received. A detailed description of exactly which financial and non-financial benefits were received is given in *Chapter 5*.

## Dose

The intervention was a standard service and our training and delivery checklist aimed to ensure that the fidelity and 'dose' of the intervention was consistent across participants. However, the intervention was also intentionally tailored to individual social welfare needs, and so consultations varied in duration according to the particular circumstances and requirements of each participant. Further details of the duration and number of consultations are given in *Chapter 5*.

#### Changes to the intervention

The main alterations to the Do-Well intervention were changes to the personnel delivering the intervention, a consequence of local authority budget cuts resulting from national austerity measures that were out of our control. In May 2012, the WRA from one local authority (G) withdrew from the study without giving a reason (see *Table 1* for details of local authorities and general practices). In July 2012, the WRA from another local authority (K) withdrew from the study as a result of staff redundancies. In July 2014, the welfare rights advice team from a further local authority (J) went through a process of restructuring whereby welfare benefits posts were removed and a new team was formed which combined local welfare provision with supported housing. One officer continued dealing with welfare benefits cases but only had a remit for complex issues, and, therefore, was unable to continue with the study. In March 2015, the WRAs in another local authority (H) asked the study team to stop any further referrals, as they had moved into redundancy consultation notice<sup>104</sup> and found that they were not be able to provide follow-up appointments. To mitigate

 TABLE 7 Distribution of benefits received by 24 months for the 335 participants receiving welfare rights advice in the intervention arm

	Number (%)
Type of benefit	
None	250 (74.6)
Financial	65 (19.4)
Non-financial (aids and adaptations)	14 (4.2)
Both financial and non-financial	5 (1.5)
Not known	1 (0.3)
Of 84 participants who received benefits	
Means- or non-means-tested benefits	
Means tested	16 (19.0)
Non-means tested	49 (58.0)
Both means and non-means tested	19 (23.0)
Combination of type of benefit and means or non-means tested	
Financial (means tested)	16 (19.0)
Financial (non-means tested)	34 (40.0)
Both financial (means and non-means tested)	15 (18.0)
Aids and adaptations (non-means tested)	14 (16.5)
Both financial and aids and adaptations (non-means tested) <sup>a</sup>	2 (2.5)
Both financial and aids and adaptations (means and non-means tested)	3 (3.5)
a Non-means tested is not-applicable to non-financial benefits.	

Note

Reproduced from Howel *et al.*<sup>2</sup> This is an Open Access article distributed in accordance with the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution International license (CC BY 4.0), which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt and build upon this work, for commercial use, provided the original work is properly cited. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

the impact of these changes in welfare rights advice provision, we secured the services of two recently retired, qualified WRAs with extensive local authority experience, who were able to work freelance and who stepped in to continue providing the intervention in these local authorities, paid from our contingency budget.

During the course of the study in the eight local authorities, 19 WRAs provided the intervention: three in local authority F; two each in local authorities M and E; two local authority-based and one freelance in local authorities H, J and K; four in local authority L; and one freelance in local authority G.

#### Fidelity assessment

Seven recordings of WRA initial assessments with participants in the intervention group from five local authorities were made available for fidelity assessment: one local authority refused to allow its WRAs to undergo assessment and two local authorities were unable to complete the assessments within the agreed time frame. In one local authority this was because the welfare advisors were unable to find a client who would consent to the recording within the time frame for the fidelity assessment; in another, local authority budget cuts caused staff shortages that prevented an assessment taking place. In another area, only one WRA was assessed for fidelity owing to staff shortages and time constraints.

All consultations were found to be carried out systematically, and the approach to undertaking each consultation was found to be consistent and in accordance with the protocol for intervention delivery. All consultations were found to have appropriate assessment of financial and health status, and all relevant applications for eligible means- and non-means-tested awards and benefits were carried out.

#### **Contamination**

Comparison of the responses to the baseline and 24-month interviews indicated that some control group participants reported receiving new welfare benefits during that period. Despite this, we found no direct evidence that any of the control group participants independently sought welfare rights advice before it was offered following the 24-month interview.

#### Unanticipated consequences of the intervention

We found no evidence from our quantitative analyses of any unanticipated consequences of the intervention.

## **Baseline characteristics of trial participants**

To illustrate how representative the Do-Well participants were of other residents of England, *Table 8* compares the demographic characteristics of the Do-Well participants with those of members of the ELSA cohort in wave 4 who were aged  $\geq$  60 years. The Do-Well trial participants were recruited from practices in the lower two-fifths of the deprivation ranking distribution in areas of the North East, whereas the ELSA cohort was recruited from the whole population of England. There were clear differences between cohorts on only a couple of variables: higher proportions of Do-Well participants lived alone and 'were paying rent or mortgage' (as opposed to owning their own home or, occasionally, living rent free).

*Tables 9* and *10* show the baseline characteristics of the 755 participants for categorical and numerical outcomes, respectively, by trial arm. The distributions were well balanced between the intervention and control arms. Roughly half of the participants were male, living alone and not paying for accommodation. They were predominantly white, were educated to secondary school level, were retired, were never or ex-smokers and had a satisfactory level of emotional support. The average age was 70 years, while typical Townsend Activities of Daily Living scales were relatively high and stressful life events scores were relatively low.

*Table 11* shows the distribution of the primary and secondary outcomes at baseline. The participants had typical values towards the more favourable end of each scale for quality of life, affordability index, standard of living, depression and healthy diet; and towards the less favourable end of the scale for social interaction and physical activity (PASE). The distributions were well balanced between the intervention and control arms.

Table 12 shows the baseline characteristics of the 755 participants for categorical and numerical outcomes for responders and non-responders at 24 months. Those who dropped out of the trial before the 24-month assessment on average tended to be a little older, slightly more likely to be male and have a lower average CASP-19 score at baseline.

Variable	ELSA cohort <sup>a</sup> ( <i>n</i> = 7321), %	Do-Well trial ( <i>n</i> = 755), %
Sex: male	43.9	46.8
Lives alone	31.6	47.0
In employment	15.1	11.4
Paying rent/mortgage	26.0	42.2
Age (years), mean	71.7	70.6
CASP-19 score, mean	41.0	41.1
a ELSA wave 4. <sup>87</sup>		

TABLE 8 Comparison of the distribution of common variables in the Do-Well trial and the ELSA cohort

	Trial arm, <i>n</i> (%)	
Variable	Intervention ( <i>n</i> = 381)	Control ( <i>n</i> = 374)
Sex		
Male	174 (46.0)	179 (48.0)
Ethnicity		
White	375 (98.5)	374 (100)
Education level		
Primary	4 (1.0)	2 (0.5)
Secondary	316 (83.0)	321 (86.0)
Tertiary	61 (16.0)	51 (13.5)
Living alone		
Yes	177 (46.5)	178 (47.5)
No	204 (53.5)	196 (52.5)
Employment status		
Employed	47 (12.2)	39 (10.5)
Unemployed	16 (4.2)	19 (5.0)
Retired	279 (73.2)	275 (73.5)
Other	38 (10.0)	39 (10.5)
Missing	1 (0.2)	10 (0.5)
Accommodation		
Not paying	226 (59.2)	192 (51.5)
Paying	145 (38.0)	174 (46.5)
Other	10 (2.5)	7 (2.0)
Missing	1 (0.3)	0 (0)
Need care at home		
Yes	97 (25.5)	115 (31.0)
Has emotional support		
Yes	361 (94.8)	352 (94.0)
No	11 (2.8)	17 (4.5)
Missing	9 (2.5)	5 (1.5)
Smoking status		
Never smoked	124 (33.0)	118 (31.5)
Ex-occasional smoker	30 (8.0)	29 (8.0)
Ex-daily smoker	161 (42.0)	145 (39.0)
Occasional smoker	8 (2.0)	9 (2.0)
Daily smoker	58 (15.0)	73 (19.5)
AL 4		

#### TABLE 9 Baseline demographic data by trial arm: categorical variables

#### Note

Reproduced from Howel *et al.*<sup>2</sup> This is an Open Access article distributed in accordance with the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution International license (CC BY 4.0), which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt and build upon this work, for commercial use, provided the original work is properly cited. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

#### TABLE 10 Baseline demographic data by trial arm: numeric variables

	Trial arm							
	Intervention (n = 381)		Control ( <i>n</i> = 374)					
Variable	n	Mean	SD	Range	n	Mean	SD	Range
Age (years)	381	70.6	7.1	60–92	374	70.6	7.5	60–94
Townsend Activities of Daily Living score (0–16) <sup>a</sup>	381	10.9	4.8	0–16	373	10.7	5.0	0–16
Life events score (0–32) <sup>b</sup>	370	4.6	4.1	0–16	371	4.4	4.2	0–24
IMD score <sup>c</sup>	379	29.3	16.5	3.2–74.8	373	28.7	15.5	3.2–74.8

a Townsend Activities of Daily Living: low scores indicate less favourable outcome and high scores indicate better outcome on the scale.

b High scores indicate less favourable outcome and low scores indicate better outcome on the scale.

c IMD based on LSOA: higher scores indicate greater deprivation.

#### Note

Reproduced from Howel *et al.*<sup>2</sup> This is an Open Access article distributed in accordance with the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution International license (CC BY 4.0), which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt and build upon this work, for commercial use, provided the original work is properly cited. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

#### TABLE 11 Baseline data: primary and secondary outcomes measures by trial arm (continuous variables)

	Trial arm				
	Intervention		Control		
Scales (potential ranges)	n	Mean <sup>a</sup> (SD)	n	Mean <sup>ª</sup> (SD)	Observed range
CASP-19 quality of life score (0 to $57)^{b}$	354	41.4 (10.5)	351	40.7 (10.9)	11.6 to 57
PHQ-9 depression score (0 to 27) <sup>c</sup>	372	4.4 (5.3)	366	4.6 (5.2)	0 to 24.8
Affordability index (4 to 20) <sup>c</sup>	375	13.0 (2.8)	366	13.2 (2.7)	4 to 20
Standard of living index (0 to $24)^{\rm b}$	381	18.7 (2.5)	374	18.6 (2.5)	7 to 24
Social interaction score (0 to $27$ ) <sup>b</sup>	381	9.9 (4.6)	373	9.5 (4.3)	0 to 24
PASE score (0 to 400+) <sup>b</sup>	380	101.3 (67.5)	373	102.4 (72.3)	0 to 325.5
Diet score (15 to 75) <sup>b</sup>	380	46.9 (6.9)	373	46.8 (6.8)	23 to 66
EQ-5D-3L score (–0.59 to 1) <sup>b</sup>	374	0.589 (0.332)	363	0.583 (0.356)	-0.594 to 1
Units of alcohol in last week: all	369	6.7 (11.2)	367	6.3 (10.2)	0 to 84
Units of alcohol in last week: drinkers	267	9.2 (12.3)	243	9.4 (11.3)	0 to 84
Receiving home care (hours/week) <sup>d</sup>	85	48.1 (56.1)	100	53.6 (57.5)	1 to 168

a Unadjusted mean and SD using simple imputation; individual scale items for incomplete questionnaires with a response rate of at least 80% were imputed using the mean value of the respondent-specific completed responses.

b Low scores indicate less favourable outcome and high scores indicate better outcome on the scale.

c High scores indicate a less favourable outcome and low scores indicate a better outcome on the scale.

d For those participants receiving care only.

#### Note

Reproduced from Howel *et al.*<sup>2</sup> This is an Open Access article distributed in accordance with the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution International license (CC BY 4.0), which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt and build upon this work, for commercial use, provided the original work is properly cited. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.
Characteristic	Respon	ders ( <i>n</i> = 5	55), n (%)		Non-re	Non-responders ( <i>n</i> = 200), <i>n</i> (%)			
<b>Categorical variables</b> Sex									
Male	251 (45	)			102 (51)				
Education level									
Tertiary	84 (15)				28 (14)				
Continuous variables	n	Mean	SD	Range	n	Mean	SD	Range	
Age (years)	555	70.0	6.9	60.2–90.4	200	72.4	8.2	60.2–94.2	
CASP-19 score at baseline	522	41.6	10.4	10–57	183	39.6	11.3	7–57	

#### TABLE 12 Comparison of baseline characteristics between responders and non-responders at 24 months

### **Outcome analysis**

### Intention-to-treat analysis of primary and secondary outcomes

*Table 13* shows the distribution of the primary outcome, CASP-19 score, at baseline, 12 and 24 months by trial arm: the results are reported on complete cases and, in addition, after the application of multiple imputation. The primary comparison was at 24 months, when the mean CASP-19 scores were 42.9 in the intervention group and 42.4 in the control group: an adjusted mean difference of 0.3 (95% CI –0.8 to 1.5). The unadjusted means showed little difference between trial arms at any time point, and, when the distribution of covariates was taken into account, there was still little or no difference between mean CASP-19 scores. The differences in mean CASP-19 between trial arms remained very similar at all time points when multiple imputation was used to deal with missing primary outcomes for some participants.

		Trial a	arm				
		Intervention		Contr	ol	Difference	
Time point analysed	Observed range		Mean <sup>♭</sup> (SD)		Mean <sup>b</sup> (SD)	Adjusted difference in means (I – C) (95% Cl) <sup>c</sup>	
At baseline	7–57	354	41.4 (10.5)	351	40.7 (10.9)	n/a	
At baseline (using MI <sup>d</sup> )	7–57	381	41.3 (10.5)	374	40.8 (10.7)	n/a	
At 12 months	9–57	300	38.2 (10.0)	295	37.4 (10.6)	0.6 (-0.7 to 1.8)	
At 12 months (using MI <sup>d</sup> )	9–57	371	37.9 (10.1)	365	36.9 (10.6)	0.4 (-0.7 to 1.5)	
At 24 months	6–57	279	42.9 (10.1)	276	42.4 (10.4)	0.3 (-0.8 to 1.5)	
At 24 months (using MI <sup>d</sup> )	6–57	320	42.7 (10.3)	317	42.6 (10.1)	0.4 (-0.8 to 1.5)	

 TABLE 13 Primary outcome: CASP-19 scores (range 0–57)<sup>a</sup> at baseline, 12 and 24 months by trial arm using complete cases and multiple imputation

C, control; I, intervention; MI, multiple imputation; n/a, not available.

a Low scores indicate less favourable outcome and high scores indicate better outcome on the scale.

b Unadjusted mean and SD using simple imputation. Individual scale items for incomplete questionnaires with a response rate of at least 80% were imputed using the mean value of the respondent-specific completed responses.

c 95% CI for adjusted mean difference in multiple linear regression. Models were adjusted for baseline covariates age, gender, education, marital status, general practice and CASP-19 score, as well as life events score and Townsend Activities of Daily Living scores at 24 months.

d Multiple imputation using chained equations and predictive mean matching. Imputation model included baseline characteristics age, sex, education and living alone, as well as CASP-19 score at baseline. The model for CASP-19 score at 24 months was additionally adjusted for CASP-19 score at 12 months after imputation.

Note

Reproduced from Howel *et al.*<sup>2</sup> This is an Open Access article distributed in accordance with the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution International license (CC BY 4.0), which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt and build upon this work, for commercial use, provided the original work is properly cited. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

The trial was powered to detect a difference of 1.5 units between means on the CASP-19 scale, and there is little evidence of a difference of this size. It should be emphasised that, although all members of the intervention group were offered welfare rights advice, fewer than one-quarter actually received any additional resources, either financial or non-financial, as a result of the advice. The fact that the majority did not receive any welfare benefits means that any potential change in quality of life as a result of receiving welfare rights advice is likely to have been heavily diluted. An exploration of whether or not the difference in means between trial arms varied significantly between subgroups of trial participants was carried out by testing for interactions between trial arm and sex, age group (dichotomised at median age: 68.6 years) and educational group (primary or secondary vs. tertiary): all interaction terms were not statistically significant (p-values of 0.94, 0.15 and 0.22, respectively) and, therefore, dropped from the regression model.

The difference at 24 months in means between the trial arms was small with narrow CIs for all of the secondary outcome scales (Table 14), other than for average hours of care received each week. The average hours per week were higher in the intervention arm (53.7 vs. 42.0; adjusted difference of 26.3 hours/week, 95% CI 0.8 to 56.1 hours/week). However, for this variable, as few reported receiving care and the amount received varied from 1 to 168 hours per week, the estimates of the difference were imprecise and consistent with either a large or virtually no increase in means.

Table 15 shows the comparison of the four categorical secondary outcomes at 24 months (living independently, mortality, increase in smoking status and social isolation). The proportions were similar across the trial arms, and no associations were statistically significant: the odds ratios were close to 1 and 95% Cls were narrow.

	Trial a	ırm			
	Interv	ention	Contr	ol	Difference
Outcome measure		Mean <sup>ª</sup> (SD)		Mean <sup>ª</sup> (SD)	Adjusted difference in means (I – C) (95% CI) <sup>b</sup>
PHQ-9 depression score (0 to 27) <sup>d</sup>	278	3.9 (4.8)	276	3.9 (4.7)	0.2 (-0.4 to 0.9)
Affordability index (4 to 20) <sup>d</sup>	276	11.9 (2.3)	265	12.1 (2.2)	-0.1 (-0.5 to 0.3)
Standard of living index (0 to 24) <sup>c</sup>	283	18.9 (2.3)	279	18.7 (2.3)	0.1 (-0.2 to 0.3)
Social interaction score (0 to 27) <sup>c</sup>	282	10.5 (4.5)	277	10.3 (4.3)	0 (–0.5 to 0.5)
PASE score (0 to 400+) <sup>c</sup>	283	95.4 (59.8)	274	95.0 (60.6)	1.8 (-5.7 to 9.4)
Diet score (15 to 75) <sup>c</sup>	282	47.0 (6.2)	275	47.4 (6.2)	-0.2 (-1.0 to 0.6)
EQ-5D-3L score (-0.59 to 1) <sup>c</sup>	280	0.680 (0.296)	273	0.674 (0.318)	-0.015 (-0.057 to 0.028) <sup>d</sup>
Units of alcohol in last week: all	281	6.3 (11.4)	278	6.1 (10.4)	0 (-1.3 to 1.2)
Units of alcohol in last week: drinkers	200	8.8 (12.6)	183	9.2 (11.6)	-0.1 (-2.0 to 1.7)
Receiving home care (hours/week) <sup>e</sup>	42	53.7 (66.3)	52	42.0 (56.0)	26.3 (0.8 to 56.1) <sup>f</sup>

#### TABLE 14 Continuous secondary outcome measures by trial arm

a Unadjusted mean and SD using simple imputation. Individual scale items for incomplete questionnaires with a response rate of at least 80% were imputed using the mean value of the respondent-specific completed responses.

b 95% CI for adjusted mean difference in multiple linear regression. Models were adjusted for baseline score and general practice as well as baseline covariates age, gender, education and marital status.

c Low scores indicate less favourable outcome and high scores indicate better outcome on the scale.

d Distribution was positively skewed so bootstrap sampling was used to estimate 95% CIs for adjusted difference in means. e For those participants receiving care only.

f High scores indicate a less favourable outcome on the scale.

Reproduced from Howel et al.<sup>2</sup> This is an Open Access article distributed in accordance with the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution International license (CC BY 4.0), which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt and build upon this work, for commercial use, provided the original work is properly cited. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

Note

	Trial arm, <i>n</i> (%)		Multivariable logistic		
Categorical outcome	Intervention ( <i>n</i> = 283)	Control ( <i>n</i> = 279)	regression, <sup>a</sup> OR (95% CI)		
Living independently					
Dependent on others	52 (18)	56 (20)	0.9 (0.6 to 1.4)		
Mortality <sup>b</sup>					
Dead	18 (5)	18 (5)	1.11 (0.5 to 2.3)		
Smoking status					
Increase since baseline	19 (7)	24 (9)	0.73 (0.4 to 1.4)		
See friends and relatives					
Not as often as wished	63 (23)	65 (24)	0.9 (0.6 to 1.4)		

### TABLE 15 Secondary analysis of categorical outcomes at 24 months by trial arm

OR, odds ratio.

a Logistic regression models adjusted for general practice (stratification variable) age, sex, education and marital status.
 b Mortality was based on full trial recruitment of 381 and 374 in intervention and control groups, respectively.

Note

Reproduced from Howel *et al.*<sup>2</sup> This is an Open Access article distributed in accordance with the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution International license (CC BY 4.0), which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt and build upon this work, for commercial use, provided the original work is properly cited. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

### **Exploratory analyses**

A set of exploratory analyses on those in the intervention arm investigated whether the primary outcome (CASP-19) at 24-month follow-up varied between those in subgroups defined by welfare rights advice received or benefits awarded. These subgroups were not likely to be balanced on key covariates, because socioeconomic and health-related variables are key eligibility criteria considered when a welfare award is made. *Table 16* shows the distribution of sociodemographic variables for those who did and did not receive any welfare benefits: there were no great differences, but those awarded welfare benefits tended to be slightly older and more likely to live alone and be female, and less likely to be well educated and be able to carry out activities of daily living: there was little difference in mean IMD scores, which might have been expected.

Table 17 shows that there was little difference in the crude mean total CASP-19 score at 24-month follow-up between those in the intervention group who did and those who did not receive welfare rights advice, with a small unadjusted difference in means favouring those not receiving welfare rights advice (42.8 for those who received welfare rights advice vs. 44.2 for those who did not). However, after adjustment for key covariates (see *Table 17*), the direction of difference did not change, but this was not statistically significant (adjusted difference –2.1, 95% CI –5.5 to 1.3).

When comparing the subgroups who did and did not receive benefits (as opposed to advice), the lower part of *Table 17* shows that there was a lower average CASP-19 score at the 24-month follow-up in those receiving benefits, for both total score and subscales (mean total score 39.2 for those who received benefits vs. 43.8 for those who did not). This might be explained by the fact that those who received benefits tended to be worse off at baseline, in terms of health and socioeconomic variables, than those who did not receive welfare benefits, and this could be reflected in the CASP-19 scores. After adjusting for these covariates, the difference in mean total CASP-19 score was smaller (adjusted difference –0.7, 95% CI –2.8 to 1.4), and there was no indication of a statistically significant or clinically important improvement in average CASP-19 in those receiving welfare benefits.

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton S016 7NS, UK.

	Benefits	s, n (%)							
Characteristic	Benefits	awarded a	nd received	l ( <i>n</i> = 84)	No benefits awarded <sup>a</sup> ( $n = 267$ )				
<b>Categorical variables</b> Sex									
Male		31	(41)		121 (47)				
Education level									
Primary		Î	(1)		3 (1)				
Secondary		67	7 (89)		209 (81)				
Tertiary		7	(10)			47	(18)		
Marital status									
Living alone		41	(55)		111 (43)				
Accommodation									
Not paying		42	2 (59)			154	l (61)		
Continuous variables	n	Mean	SD	Range	n	Mean	SD	Range	
Age (years)	84	71.4	6.8	60–88	266	69.7	7.2	60–92	
Townsend Activities of Daily Living score at 24 months	60	8.5	4.1	0–16	195	12.2	4.1	0–16	
Life events score at 24 months	66	4.0	3.6	0–15	209	4.7	4.1	0–18	
IMD score <sup>b</sup>	83	29.5	16.3	6.2–71.7	266	29.0	16.3	3.4–74.5	

 TABLE 16 Comparison of characteristics of those who did or did not receive additional benefits at baseline and 24 months (intervention arm only)

a No benefits because none awarded or were eligible for benefits but refused them.

b IMD based on LSOA: higher scores indicate greater deprivation.

Note

Reproduced from Howel *et al.*<sup>2</sup> This is an Open Access article distributed in accordance with the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution International license (CC BY 4.0), which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt and build upon this work, for commercial use, provided the original work is properly cited. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

# TABLE 17 Comparison of CASP-19 scores at 24 months between subgroups who did and did not receive welfare rights advice or welfare benefits (intervention arm only)

		CASP-19	
Subgroups		Mean (SD) <sup>a</sup>	Adjusted difference in means (95% Cl) <sup>b</sup>
Welfare rights advic	ce received		
Yes	261	42.8 (10.1)	-2.1 (-5.5 to 1.3) (received - not received)
No	18	44.2 (9.8)	
Welfare benefits av	varded		
Yes	65	39.2 (9.4)	-0.7 (-2.8 to 1.4) (awarded - not awarded)
No	208	43.8 (10.1)	

a Unadjusted mean and SD using simple imputation. Individual scale items for incomplete questionnaires with a response rate of at least 80% were imputed using the mean value of the respondent-specific completed responses.

b 95% CI for adjusted mean difference in multiple linear regression. Models were adjusted for CASP-19 baseline score and general practice, as well as baseline covariates age, gender, education, marital status and life events and Townsend Activities of Daily Living scores at 24 months.

Note

Reproduced from Howel *et al.*<sup>2</sup> This is an Open Access article distributed in accordance with the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution International license (CC BY 4.0), which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt and build upon this work, for commercial use, provided the original work is properly cited. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

Secondary outcomes were also compared between those who did and those who did not receive welfare rights advice. *Table 18* shows that the adjusted differences in mean between the two subgroups were all small with narrow Cls.

A comparison of secondary outcomes between those who did and those who did not receive any benefits was also undertaken. *Table 19* shows that the adjusted differences in means between the two subgroups were all small with narrow 95% CIs, except for the physical activity score (PASE). The adjusted mean PASE score was significantly higher in those who were not awarded any benefits (adjusted difference –13.9, 95% CI –27.0 to –0.9); this may reflect the better health of those who did not receive welfare benefits, rather than any effect of non-receipt of welfare benefits on the ability or choice to exercise more.

A final comparison was between the CASP-19 scores at 24 months for those in the intervention arm who had been awarded a financial welfare benefit and those in the control arm who were later awarded a financial benefit (after 24-month follow-up). As they were all eligible for financial welfare benefits, these participants should be similar in their socioeconomic and health profiles. The 55 in the intervention group who had been awarded financial benefits had a mean CASP-19 score of 39.2 (SD 9.1), whereas the 48 in the control group (who were later found to be eligible) had a mean CASP-19 score of 39.7 (SD 9.4). After adjustment for covariates, the mean CASP-19 score was 1.4 higher in the control group (95% CI –2.0 to 4.7). This comparison shows again that there was little or no evidence that CASP-19 varied between a subgroup who had received benefits and a subgroup who had not.

Questionnaire score at 24 months	Welfare rights advice received		Mean (SD) <sup>a</sup>	Adjusted difference in means (95% CI) <sup>b</sup>
PHQ-9 depression score (0–27) <sup>c</sup>	Yes	260	4.0 (4.7)	-0.6 (-2.5 to 1.2)
	No	18	3.0 (5.7)	(received – not received)
Affordability index (4–20) <sup>c</sup>	Yes	257	11.9 (3.0)	0.1 (-1.1 to 1.2)
	No	19	12.0 (3.4)	
Standard of living index (0–24) <sup>d</sup>	Yes	264	18.8 (2.3)	0.5 (-0.1 to 1.2)
	No	19	19.8 (2.5)	
Social interaction score (0-27) <sup>d</sup>	Yes	263	10.5 (4.5)	0.9 (-0.6 to 2.4)
	No	19	10.5 (4.6)	
PASE score (0-400+) <sup>d</sup>	Yes	264	94.6 (59.3)	0.2 (-22.1 to 22.6)
	No	19	106.4 (66.5)	
Diet score (15–75) <sup>d</sup>	Yes	264	47.0 (6.2)	-0.9 (-3.3 to 1.4)
	No	18	46.7 (6.9)	
Units of alcohol in last week: all	Yes	262	6.3 (11.4)	1.0 (-3.1 to 5.0)
	No	19	5.7 (11.1)	
Units of alcohol in last week: drinkers	Yes	187	8.9 (12.7)	1.0 (-5.4 to 7.4)
	No	13	8.3 (12.7)	

 TABLE 18 Comparison of secondary outcomes between subgroups of those who did and did not receive welfare rights advice (intervention arm only)

a Unadjusted mean and SD using simple imputation; individual scale items for incomplete questionnaires with a response rate of at least 80% were imputed using the mean value of the respondent-specific completed responses.

b 95% CI for adjusted mean difference in multiple linear regression. Models were adjusted for baseline score and general practice, as well as baseline covariates age, gender, education, marital status and life events and Townsend Activities of Daily Living scores at 24 months.

c High scores indicate less favourable outcome and low scores indicate better outcome on the scale.

d Low scores indicate less favourable outcome and high scores indicate better outcome on the scale.

Reproduced from Howel *et al.*<sup>2</sup> This is an Open Access article distributed in accordance with the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution International license (CC BY 4.0), which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt and build upon this work, for commercial use, provided the original work is properly cited. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

Note

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Questionnaire score at 24 months	Benefits awarded		Mean (SD)ª	Adjusted difference in means (95% Cl); <sup>b</sup> awarded – not awarded
PHQ-9 depression score (0–27) <sup>c</sup>	Yes	65	5.2 (4.5)	0.6 (–0.5 to 1.7)
	No	207	3.5 (4.9)	
Affordability index (4–20) <sup>c</sup>	Yes	65	12.2 (2.1)	0.2 (-0.5 to 0.8)
	No	204	11.9 (2.3)	
Standard of living index (0–24) <sup>d</sup>	Yes	67	18.2 (2.1)	0.1 (-0.3 to 0.5)
	No	209	19.0 (2.4)	
Social interaction score (0–27) <sup>d</sup>	Yes	66	9.4 (4.2)	-0.1 (-1.0 to 0.8)
	No	209	10.8 (4.6)	
PASE score (0–400+) <sup>d</sup>	Yes	67	69.0 (45.3)	-13.9 (-27.0 to -0.9)
	No	209	103.0 (61.8)	
Diet score (15–75) <sup>d</sup>	Yes	67	46.4 (6.0)	-0.6 (-1.9 to 0.8)
	No	208	47.3 (6.3)	
Units of alcohol in last week: $all^c$	Yes	67	5.9 (9.8)	0.1 (-2.4 to 2.5)
	No	207	6.3 (11.5)	
Units of alcohol in last week: drinkers <sup>c</sup>	Yes	44	9.0 (11.0)	0.7 (-3.0 to 4.4)
	No	149	8.7 (12.8)	

 TABLE 19 Comparison of secondary outcomes between subgroups of those who did and did not receive welfare benefits (intervention arm only)

a Unadjusted mean and SD using simple imputation; individual scale items for incomplete questionnaires with a response rate of at least 80% were imputed using the mean value of the respondent-specific completed responses.

b 95% CI for adjusted mean difference in multiple linear regression. Models were adjusted for baseline score and general practice, as well as baseline covariates age, gender, education, marital status and life events and Townsend Activities of Daily Living scores at 24 months.

c High scores indicate less favourable outcome and low scores indicate better outcome on the scale.

d Low scores indicate less favourable outcome and high scores indicate better outcome on the scale.

Note

Reproduced from Howel *et al.*<sup>2</sup> This is an Open Access article distributed in accordance with the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution International license (CC BY 4.0), which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt and build upon this work, for commercial use, provided the original work is properly cited. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

A further exploration of any association between CASP-19 and receipt of welfare benefits in the intervention group was to look at the weekly amount of financial benefits (in pounds sterling). *Figure 4* shows the association between these two variables; it can be seen that there is no indication that CASP-19 at 24 months is higher for those receiving greater financial benefits. However, this does not adjust for the covariates used in previous regression models. When adjustment was made for these, the regression coefficient for CASP-19 on weekly amount was 0.02 (95% CI –0.08 to 0.04) also showing a lack of association.

The final exploration looked at the association between the length of time that a person had been receiving additional benefits and the CASP-19 scores at 24 months (*Figure 5*). It might be expected that among those who had only started receiving welfare benefits shortly before the assessment at 24 months, health may have improved less, and this might be reflected in a smaller change in CASP-19 score. However, the vast majority of people had been receiving benefits for at least a year by the time of final assessment. The correlation between the two variables was 0.39 (95% CI 0.16 to 0.58), a weak positive association.



FIGURE 4 Association between CASP-19 score at 24 months and weekly amount of financial benefit awarded.



FIGURE 5 Association between length of time that participants were in receipt of additional benefits and CASP-19 score at 24-month follow-up.

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

# Chapter 4 Qualitative study

**S** ome quotations in this chapter have been reproduced from Howel *et al.*<sup>2</sup> This is an Open Access article distributed in accordance with the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution International license (CC BY 4.0), which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt and build upon this work, for commercial use, provided the original work is properly cited. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

### Introduction

This chapter presents the findings of the qualitative study embedded within the RCT. We begin by presenting the sociodemographic characteristics of the qualitative study participants, including household members of trial participants, and professionals (see *Tables 20–22*). We then present findings on the acceptability of the research design and intervention, followed by those on the impact of the domiciliary welfare rights advice service, as experienced by trial participants and professionals. We then focus on the mechanisms of action and unanticipated consequences of the intervention, before finally examining the impact of external factors, such as cuts to the public sector, on this type of service and its delivery.

The findings are organised around the key themes identified during interviews and are presented for both trial and professional participants. Our presentation of the findings is interspersed with verbatim quotes to illustrate particular points, pseudonyms are used throughout, and any identifying information (e.g. place names) has been removed to preserve anonymity. The participants were made aware that their comments may be used in publications, and informed consent for this was obtained.

### **Participant characteristics**

Tables 20 and 21 present social, demographic and welfare benefit outcome data for the 50 participants in the embedded qualitative study, 30 intervention (see *Table 20*) and 20 control (see *Table 21*), all of whom received the intervention as planned. Eight partners were also interviewed alongside trial participants, as indicated in *Tables 20* and 21. Thirty-one women and 19 men took part, with six female partners and five male partners also interviewed. The age of the trial participant at the time of the interview is given. The average age was 72 years, ranging from 61 to 86 years. Most of the interviewees were living alone (widowed, n = 19; divorced/separated, n = 8; single, n = 4), with 19 living as part of a couple. Trial participants came from throughout the North East region and from urban, rural and semirural areas; the IMD scores ranged from 7.43 (least deprived) to 71.74 (most deprived). The trial participants were interviewed after receiving a welfare rights intervention and, for those in receipt of a financial or non-financial award, the interview took place after the award was received. The control group trial participants took part in qualitative interviews after their 24-month wait, and following intervention receipt.

Table 22 presents information about the 17 professional participants in the study. Thirteen women and four men were interviewed from the following sectors: welfare rights, public health, primary care and the civil service. Among the 10 interviewees from the welfare rights sector, four delivered the intervention in the trial, while the remaining six had management or strategic roles within that sector.

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Pseudonym	IMD scoreª	Urban/rural <sup>ь</sup>	Sex	Age in years (baseline)	Marital status	LA
Nigel	7.43	5	Male	61	Married	Sunderlan
Nancy	7.74	6	Female	83	Widowed	Northumb
Gloria	9.46	5	Female	72	Divorced/ separated	Sunderlan
William	12.29	5	Male	81	Widowed	Stockton-o
Barbara (and Derek)	15.4	5	Female	75	Married	Sunderlan
Peter (and Beryl)	16.23	6	Male	65	Married	Durham
Finley	21.21	6	Male	63	Widowed	Northumb
Brian	24.6	5	Male	83	Married	Newcastle Tyne
Diane (and Charles)	24.94	6	Female	75	Married	Northumb
Janice	25.86	5	Female	70	Married	Gateshead
Benjamin	26.57	5	Male	61	Divorced/	Newcastle

#### d into TADIE 20 Int. .+i. rticir nt ch ctoricti ntic . **.**.

Pseudonym	IMD scoreª	Urban/rural <sup>b</sup>	Sex	Age in years (baseline)	Marital status	LA	Tenure	Amount (£) gained per week through intervention <sup>c</sup>	All benefits obtained	Means tested element
Nigel	7.43	5	Male	61	Married	Sunderland	0/0	107	ESA	
Nancy	7.74	6	Female	83	Widowed	Northumberland	Rent free	77	AA higher, CTB	Y
Gloria	9.46	5	Female	72	Divorced/ separated	Sunderland	0/0	135	CTB, HB, PC (Guarantee Credit) and AA (lower), Blue Badge	Y
William	12.29	5	Male	81	Widowed	Stockton-on-Tees	0/0	40	PC (Guarantee Credit and Savings Credit); CTB	Y
Barbara (and Derek)	15.4	5	Female	75	Married	Sunderland	0/0	136	AA (higher) and Carer's Allowance (for daughter)	
Peter (and Beryl)	16.23	6	Male	65	Married	Durham	SR	52	AA (lower)	
Finley	21.21	6	Male	63	Widowed	Northumberland	0/0	41	DLA (care component)	
Brian	24.6	5	Male	83	Married	Newcastle upon Tyne	SR	0	None	
Diane (and Charles)	24.94	6	Female	75	Married	Northumberland	0/0	0	Wheeled Zimmer	
Janice	25.86	5	Female	70	Married	Gateshead	0/0	52	AA (lower)	
Benjamin	26.57	5	Male	61	Divorced/ separated	Newcastle upon Tyne	PR	76	DLA (care and mobility components); referred to Adult Social Care	
Julie	26.98	5	Female	72	Widowed	Sunderland	0/0	0	None	
Elaine	27.15	5	Female	76	Divorced/ separated	Newcastle upon Tyne	SR	139	PC and AA (higher)	Y
Penny	28	5	Female	71	Married	South Tyneside	0/0	0	None	
Beatrice	31.16	5	Female	74	Widowed	Sunderland	SR	139	AA (higher), Carer's Allowance	
Mabel	31.91	5	Female	83	Widowed	North Tyneside	SR	0	None	
Jim (and Caron)	33.46	6	Male	66	Married	Northumberland	0/0	58	Carer's Allowance	

NIHR Journals Library www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

Pseudonym	IMD scoreª	Urban/rural <sup>b</sup>	Sex	Age in years (baseline)	Marital status	LA	Tenure	Amount (£) gained per week through intervention <sup>c</sup>	All benefits obtained	Mean testeo eleme
Emma	33.6	5	Female	64	Married	Sunderland	0/0	0	None	
Susan	41.88	5	Female	74	Widowed	South Tyneside	0/0	21	CTB, PC (Savings Credit); Warm Zone; Health Costs and stair rail	Y
Joyce	42.31	5	Female	70	Widowed	South Tyneside	SR	136	PC (Guarantee Credit) and AA (higher)	Y
Boris (and Shirley)	43.64	5	Male	71	Married	Durham	0/0	92	AA (higher), PC (Savings Credit)	Υ
Natalie	44.06	7	Female	64	Divorced/ separated	Northumberland	0/0	0	Blue Badge	
Myrtle	46.28	5	Female	71	Single	Gateshead	SR	0	None	
Arthur	47.06	5	Male	68	Divorced/ separated	Northumberland	SR	72	PC and AA (lower) and SDP and DLA renewal for son	Y
Audrey	57.54	5	Female	78	Widowed	Durham	0/0	139	AA (higher); PC (Guarantee Credit); CTB	Y
Maria	57.54	5	Female	77	Widowed	Durham	SR	136	AA (higher); PC (Guarantee Credit)	Y
Joan (and Alfred)	60.28	5	Female	70	Married	North Tyneside	0/0	32	Industrial Injuries Disablement Benefit	
Margaret (and Andrew)	60.86	5	Female	63	Married	Gateshead	0/0	21	DLA (care component)	
Roger	61.18	5	Male	74	Divorced/ separated	Durham	0/0	0	Blue Badge	
David (and Sandra)	71.74	5	Male	72	Married	Newcastle upon Tyne	0/0	77	AA (higher)	

AA, Attendance Allowance; CTB, Council Tax Benefit; DLA, Disability Living Allowance; ESA, Employment Support Allowance; HB, Housing Benefit; LA, local authority; O/O, owner–occupier; PC, Pension Credit; PR, private rented; SDP, Severe Disability Premium; SR, social rented; Y, yes.

a Higher score is more deprived.

b Urban/rural classification: 5, urban (less sparse); 6, town and fringe (less sparse); 7, village (less sparse).

c Based on data returned by the WRA.

#### Amount (£) Age in gained per week through (baseline) All benefits obtained Υ 69 7 CTB Tom 11.86 6 Male With partner Northumberland 0/0 Paul 14.07 5 Male 76 Widowed Newcastle 0/0 81 AA (lower) 68 Lydia 15.73 5 Female With partner North Tyneside 0/0 34 Carer's Allowance 5 65 50 PC (Guarantee Credit) Υ 18.4 Female Divorced/ Newcastle SR Stacy separated 5 0 Helen (and Ruth) 22.56 Female 83 Widowed Newcastle SR None Adam 25.69 5 Male 70 Widowed Sunderland 0/0 54 AA (lower); Blue Badge Jenny 31.16 5 Female 69 With partner Sunderland 0/0 27 AA (higher) lan 31.16 5 Male 84 Married Sunderland 0/0 0 None Harry 31.91 5 Male 68 Divorced/ Newcastle SR 42 CTB, HB Υ separated 32.45 6 Widowed Northumberland 0/0 10 CTB and reduced gym Υ Laura Female 67 membership (amount unknown) Υ Sally 33.46 6 Female 79 Married Northumberland 0/0 151 AA (lower), CTB, PC (Savings Credit) Frida 35.12 6 62 Widowed Durham 0 None Female 0/0 North Tyneside Female 77 Sheila (and Carly) 36.76 5 Widowed 0/0 91 CTB and AA (lower) Υ 5 80 Oliver 39.34 Male Widowed South Shields 0/0 81 AA (higher)

### TABLE 21 Control participant characteristics and intervention outcome

Pseudonym	IMD score <sup>a</sup>	Urban/rural <sup>b</sup>	Sex	Age in years (baseline)	Marital status	LA	Tenure	Amount (£) gained per week through intervention <sup>c</sup>	All benefits obtained	Mear teste elem
Debbie	42.33	5	Female	61	Divorced/ separated	Gateshead	SR	78	DLA renewal (care and mobility components)	
Grace	42.67	5	Female	62	Divorced/ separated	North Tyneside	SR	71	PC (Guarantee Credit and Savings Credit)	Y
Rose	46.87	5	Female	80	Widowed	North Shields	SR	136	PC (Guarantee Credit and Savings Credit) CTB, HB reassessed and AA (lower)	Y
Steven	51.63	5	Male	64	Divorced/ separated	South Tyneside	0/0	0	None	
Gordon	54.64	5	Male	86	Widowed	Newcastle	SR	0	None	
Mark (and Dawn)	60.28	5	Male	68	With partner	North Shields	SR	0	None	

AA, Attendance Allowance; CTB, Council Tax Benefit; DLA, Disability Living Allowance; HB, Housing Benefit; LA, local authority; O/O, owner–occupier; PC, Pension Credit; SR, social rented;

Y, yes.

a Higher score is more deprived.

b Urban/rural classification: 5, urban (less sparse); 6, town and fringe (less sparse); 7, village (less sparse).

c Based on data returned by the WRA.

Pseudonym	Sector	Interview	Delivered Do-Well
Alice	Welfare rights	Telephone	No
Allan	Welfare rights	Telephone	Yes
Anya	Welfare rights	Telephone	Yes
Ava	Welfare rights	Telephone	Yes
Daniel	Civil service	Telephone	No
Fiona	Public health	Face to face	No
Holly	Charity	Face to face	No
Judith	Public health	Telephone	No
Kirsty	Charity	Face to face	No
Lucy	Welfare rights	Telephone	No
Matthew	Primary care	Telephone	No
Melissa	Civil service	Telephone	No
Olga	Civil service	Telephone	No
Sadie	Welfare rights	Face to face	Yes
Samantha	Welfare rights	Face to face	No
Stephanie	Primary care	Telephone	No
Тоby	Charity	Face to face	No

### **TABLE 22** Professional participant characteristics

### Acceptability of research design and intervention

### Intervention recruitment

Trial participants, alongside professional participants, indicated that being contacted by Newcastle University through their local GP surgeries encouraged them to take part in the study, as both were seen as reputable organisations:

I think the university stamp on the envelope, I think it had some clout on me, you know . . . must be something important . . . made a great deal towards filling it in and taking part. Elaine, 77 years, intervention, received £139 weekly Attendance Allowance and Pension Credit

The involvement of GP practices appeared to be particularly key to recruitment, as a result of the trust placed in individual GPs by, and the important place of general practice within the lives of, older people, particularly those with health problems:

I trust them [local GP practice] . . . I've been with them, well, more or less since I was born . . . I think, well, I've been with this practice that lang [long], you got to trust somebody . . . if a letter just comes through the door that says gan [go] on it, that would have went in the bin, I wouldn't have bothered but because he said, you know, we want you to have a go at this, I thought fair enough, he's a doctor, he knows what he's talking about and I just went along with it . . . this way I think was alreet [alright]. Harry, 71 years, control, received £42 weekly Council Tax Benefit and Housing Benefit

One of them [trial participants] told my colleague that they signed up because it was the doctors suggesting it, they were keen to be involved in something the doctor suggested. So they didn't sign up because they wanted to know if they could get any benefits, they signed up because the doctor has said 'oh could you participate in this?', so they did.

Ava, WRA DEL, Welfare Rights Sector

Trust in the institutions involved further assured trial participants that the sensitive information collected for the study, particularly regarding their health and finances, would be kept confidential and secure:

Interviewer: Were you worried about having to provide guite detailed personal information?

Rose, 83 years, control, received £136 weekly Attendance Allowance, Council Tax Benefit, Housing Benefit and Pension Credit: I think so. I talk a lot but I'm quite a private person ... I was a bit anxious but then I thought it's Newcastle University and they are very trustworthy.

A further factor in recruitment was that the study aims were deemed worthwhile and trial participants appreciated taking part in a project on the potential disadvantages faced by older benefit claimants:

I felt that it may benefit other people like me and other people that don't know the system and that are struggling making ends meet, it might give them a helping hand. Emma, 66 years, intervention, received no benefits as a result of the intervention

I think my interest [in the study] was the fact that they were gonna [going to] start putting more information into places like doctors' surgeries where people who would need the information could get it easier . . . There's a lot of people out there who need information and that's just not been targeted to the right people . . . old people only talk to certain people, they might talk to a doctor or a nurse because they are people they see on a regular basis, and if this kind of thing was targeted over doctor surgeries or somewhere where they go like that ... they might help ... I thought it was worthy in that respect. Margaret, 65 years, intervention, received £21 weekly Disability Living Allowance

I think it's always a good thing to do a study to find out what's going on ... it is absolutely fantastic ... anything that highlights a particular group of people to get advice.

Anya, WRA DEL, Welfare Rights Sector

Only one trial participant expressed that they felt motivated to take part owing to the personal benefit of receiving the welfare rights advice session:

I just thought well it's only a bit of me time and they're ganna [going to] tell you what you mightn't be getting ... So it was worth it.

Nigel, 63 years, intervention, received £107 weekly Employment Support Allowance

Other trial participants reported being unaware that they might financially benefit from getting involved in the study:

I didn't realise what was going to happen ... They didn't tell us that ... [they] just asked me guestions that was it. I never thought anything about money or anything like that. Oliver, 82 years, control, received £81 weekly Attendance Allowance

#### Randomisation

Most trial participants felt that the randomised (wait-list) control trial design of the Do-Well study was an acceptable approach, as the process was clearly explained and they recognised that they would not have received the intervention at all otherwise. Overall, they felt that the study was clearly explained to them so they knew what they were signing up for before becoming involved in the research. They also felt that the randomised controlled method would enable the effects of the intervention to be evaluated:

Interviewer: Would you think that that's fair that some people do have to wait [to receive the intervention]?

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK

Gloria, 74 years, intervention, received £135 weekly Attendance Allowance, Council Tax Benefit, Housing Benefit, Pension Credit and a Blue Badge: Well yes because you were asked if you wanted to join in, you knew what the terms were so yeah it's, I mean it was clearly stated that you might be seen and you might not be seen.

Control group trial participants were free to seek independent welfare advice at any time during the study period, and they were specifically asked whether or not being part of the study had encouraged them to think about seeking welfare rights advice elsewhere. Although some interviewees acknowledged that they were aware of welfare rights services, none of our control interviewees reported seeking independent advice prior to receiving the intervention after the 24-month follow-up interview.

Some trial participants highlighted the importance of knowing that they could seek advice independently from the study at any time if they needed to:

If I had been desperate, really desperate . . . somebody would have sorted us out somewhere . . . I could have gone to the council and stuff like that. Susan, 75 years, intervention, received £21 weekly Council Tax Benefit, Pension Credit and stair rail home adaptation

Interviewer: So you think if you'd been in that situation where things were really bad you might have gone and looked into it yourself?

Susan: I would have gone, yes.

Wasn't bothered [regarding being in the control group], because you can go to Age Concern and the welfare rights to see about your benefits and get them all explained. But I never bothered. Steven, 67 years, control, received no benefits as a result of the intervention

Although trial participants reported that the study process had been explained and initially agreed to, many went on to admit that they found the process difficult to remember over the period of time that the research was undertaken. Thus, when asked further questions concerning the randomisation element of the study design, many trial participants could not recall whether they had been allocated to the intervention or to the control group, or even that there were two groups at all:

I forgot to tell you the truth, you know. It just went out of my mind till I got a letter to say. Frida, 65 years, control, received no benefits as a result of the intervention

No, to be honest I would have probably forgotten, my memory is shocking. Myrtle, 73 years, intervention, received no benefits as a result of the intervention

As time went by I just thought actually that I'd been forgotten about . . . I've got all the letters from the past and it does state . . . [random allocation to the wait-list control group] but as time goes by you do forget things.

Tom, 72 years, control, received £7 weekly Council Tax Benefit

This did not deter trial participants from taking part in the trial, as many of those allocated to the wait-list control group did not expect to receive anything from the intervention and so were not worried about having to wait the extra 2 years:

Because I wasn't expecting anything [from the intervention] like that [receiving benefits] it hasn't made any difference.

Rose, 83 years, control, received £136 weekly Attendance Allowance, Council Tax Benefit, Housing Benefit and Pension Credit I never really thought about [receiving benefits] . . . I just thought well didn't know about it before, so it didn't matter.

Lydia, 71 years, control, received £34 weekly Carer's Allowance

William, 83 years, intervention, received £40 weekly, Council Tax Benefit and Pension Credit: *I didn't know there was two groups*...

Interviewer: And do you think it would have put you off if you had known?

William: No, no ... I mean as far as I knew I might have been in the second [wait-list control] group.

On the other hand, a few trial participants were worried that they might be, or be disappointed that they were, allocated to the wait-list control group, delaying their welfare rights assessment by 2 years. Some professional participants also expressed concerns regarding trial participants allocated to the control group, as it was felt that these individuals would unnecessarily miss out on 2 years of benefits:

Well, I worried a little bit, but there again if it's gonna [going to] happen, it's gonna happen, if it's not, it's just life. It all works out in the end. Joyce, 72 years, intervention, received £136 weekly Attendance Allowance and Pension Credit

I was a bit disappointed being in the second group . . . as at the time I was going through a hard time with [another welfare rights] caseworker.

Debbie, 64 years, control, renewal of £78 weekly Disability Living Allowance claim

Those individuals [allocated to the control group] have . . . potentially missed out on 2 years [of receiving benefits] . . . it's their entitlement, why wait 2 years for it when they should be getting it now? . . . that was the main concern.

Daniel, Civil Service

Not surprisingly, some control group trial participants who received a successful benefit claim from the intervention reflected that they would rather have been in the intervention group:

It might have taken a bit more stress off the situation if I had got it 4 or 5 years ago. Stacy, 67 years, control, received £50 weekly Pension Credit

I think it's wrong. They shouldn't wait 2 years. They could have been claiming it for 2 years ... sooner ... There are people who are in dire straits, so shouldn't have to wait 2 years, getting back to that people who deserve it and people don't deserve it, because I could wait. People who are on the borderline or breadline, they should have priority and be seen straight away, definitely. Paul, 78 years, control, received £81 weekly Attendance Allowance

However, some intervention group trial participants recognised that they would not have received the welfare rights advice at all if the study had not taken place:

If I hadn't got the advice, I would be still the way I am now, because I wouldn't have applied for it myself . . . I wouldn't know where to have gone for that . . . I would have just put up with it and not had it . . . I don't think it would have made much difference at all being in that second group. Elaine, 77 years, intervention, received £139 weekly Attendance Allowance and Pension Credit

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

In one case, a trial participant stated that the delay was beneficial because an adverse event coincided with being seen in the control group:

So it was just the luck of the draw. As it happened the time I got the advice was the right time for me because if I'd had it previously it wouldn't have applied to us. It was only after Timothy [husband] died that I became entitled to it.

Laura, 70 years, control, received £10 weekly Council Tax Benefit and reduced gym membership

Overall, intervention group trial participants thought that the randomisation element of the study design was an effective way to answer the research questions and felt that the research was beneficial to future generations of benefit claimants:

It's the only way you can find out if people [are] happy or unhappy [with the intervention]. Diane, 77 years, intervention, received a wheeled Zimmer frame with seat

The benefits from this [research are] not just for me but for multitudes of people. Penny, 73 years, intervention, received no benefits as a result of the intervention

Although the randomisation element of the study design was deemed potentially unfair to the control group, it was accepted that (1) this study design was the only way to establish the impact of the intervention on quality of life; (2) welfare rights advice services are not statutory and (3) group allocation was completely random:

I just thought that it was, you know, just the luck of the draw.

Grace, 65 years, control, received £71 weekly Pension Credit

Interviewer: How do you feel knowing that you got welfare advice later on in the study, that you had to wait nearly 2 years?

Gordon, 88 years, control, received no benefits as a result of the intervention: *Makes no difference*. *It's a part of life. It happened and that's it. Nothing you can do about it.* 

Interviewer: So you don't mind that you've had to wait or anything?

Gordon: No.

Among those who were interviewed, there was broad agreement that the trial design was an acceptable way to address the research question of the effectiveness of welfare rights advice on health and well-being.

### Trial participation

Overall, the trial participants considered the research to be conducted in an appropriate and confidential manner. Most trial participants did not feel that the questions asked were too long or intrusive, with many instead expressing enjoyment of both the researcher's and the WRA's company:

Interviewer: You weren't worried about them asking you questions about your finances?

Myrtle, 73 years, intervention, received no benefits as a result of the intervention: *No, no because it said it was confidential.* 

I hadn't felt tensed up you know, waiting for something that's gonna [going to] be said, that shouldn't be said or if I put me [my] foot in [it] there or something like that . . . it's just been nice, comfortable and relaxed. Much better than what I had imagined at first. Harry, 71 years, control, received £42 weekly Council Tax and Housing Benefit

NIHR Journals Library www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

Interviewer: Do you find it intrusive in any way?

Audrey, 80 years, intervention, received £139 weekly Attendance Allowance, Council Tax Benefit and Pension Credit: *No not at all, no, no, I liked the company*...

Interviewer: And you didn't find the initial interview too long ...?

Audrey: I was OK with all that . . . in fact, if it's an elderly person and they are on their own . . . you don't see anybody from morning till night. Having that person in there talking to you, face to face for a couple of hours is company for you.

None of the trial participants felt that taking part in the study adversely affected or damaged their relationship with their GP, who was associated with the study via the recruitment letter. Trial participants generally felt that their largely positive experiences of taking part in the trial reflected well on their GP:

Well it [participation in the trial] probably made me think more of her [GP] . . . I was surprised when she was amazed that we'd never had any help, ye [you] know. Finley, 64 years, intervention, received £41 weekly Disability Living Allowance

They [GPs] were quite happy that I was applying actually. Debbie, 64 years, control, renewal of £78 weekly Disability Living Allowance claim

Interviewer: Did you talk to your doctors at all about your claim for benefits?

Rose, 83 years, control, received £136 weekly Attendance Allowance, Council Tax Benefit, Housing Benefit and Pension Credit: *No.* 

Interviewer: OK. Did you think your claim would affect your relationship with the GP?

Rose: No, it never entered my head.

One control group trial participant identified a negative experience of taking part in the study, concerning what he perceived as the depressing nature of questions regarding suicide that were asked in the PHQ-9 at baseline and 24-month follow-up:

[The questions on the PHQ-9 questionnaire] ... were too morbid, so I didn't fill the second lot in ... There's no way am I ever thinking of committing suicide ... They don't relate to me in no way whatsoever ... It was all asking if you felt run down and you felt like topping yourself. Those questions never entered my head ... I didn't want to fill it in anymore ... It was depressing and it could make someone think of committing suicide ... The people that I met [interviewer and WRA], nothing wrong with them though ... [and] they said, 'You don't need to fill it in', so I didn't fill it in. Paul, 78 years, control, received £81 weekly Attendance Allowance

No other interviewees expressed concerns about the content of the questionnaire.

### Acceptability of the intervention

Apart from one, all trial participants interviewed in the qualitative study and the professional participants involved in delivering the intervention reflected positively on the experience of taking part in the Do-Well study. Trial participants expressed gratitude for the advice and monetary benefit received as a result of the intervention:

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton S016 7NS, UK.

This has made a big difference to me . . . [the WRA] was just excellent.

Gloria, 74 years, intervention, received £135 weekly Attendance Allowance, Council Tax Benefit, Housing Benefit, Pension Credit and a Blue Badge

Being able to get that money . . . that's been a great benefit which I wouldn't have had without taking part.

Tom, 72 years, control, received £7 weekly Council Tax Benefit

Our practice nurse and our assistant practice manager spoke very highly of [the Do-Well project] and patients generally have been really interested in and engaged with it.

Stephanie, Health Sector

Even trial participants who received no benefits as a result of the intervention felt that the intervention was useful for clarifying their benefit entitlement status:

It was useful in the way that we found out that we weren't entitled to anything else. Mark, 71 years, control, received no benefits as a result of the intervention

The use of local welfare rights services was highlighted as another positive aspect of the Do-Well study. It gave trial participants the confidence that they could access further welfare advice if their benefit situation were to change, even if the study itself had finished:

Penny, 73 years, intervention, received no benefits as a result of the intervention: And I know how to contact that lady, I have information and I can ring her up . . . I've got all her information here.

Interviewer: Right, so if you needed to ring her in the future then you could do?

Penny: Oh yes, yeah she said, you know, if things deteriorate get back in touch and I would.

I know where to go should I need help as well and that makes a big difference. Whereas before I thought, 'Where the heck can I go? Who can help? Who can I talk to?' Now I know and that makes a difference.

Stacy, 67 years, control, received £50 weekly Pension Credit

Interviewer: Is there anything that you particularly liked about taking part?

Ian, 87 years, control, received no benefit as a result of the intervention: Well, the main thing is the fact that you know that you got [a] contact . . . She [WRA] said if there are any problems at all, all I've got to do is give her a ring and she'll come out and see us. Well that's a good thing.

### Impact of the intervention

This section focuses on the impact of the intervention on financial status, health and well-being from the perspectives of trial participants and professional interviewees.

### Financial impact

Of the 50 trial participants selected and consented to be interviewed, 34 obtained a successful financial benefit claim as a result of the intervention. Owing to a purposive selection process, and our aim of exploring the perceived effects of additional resources, we sampled a higher proportion (78%) of individuals for the qualitative study who obtained a claim as a result of the intervention than of the proportion in the full trial population (25%). As shown in *Tables 20* and *21*, a range of previously unclaimed benefits was obtained and most trial participants were entitled to more than one benefit. Eighteen trial participants qualified for

means-tested benefits, indicating income thresholds of < 60% of the median income (the most commonly used threshold of low income);<sup>105</sup> 15 trial participants were eligible for non-means-tested financial benefits only, indicating that they suffered from a range of health and care needs. Two trial participants received non-means-tested non-financial benefits, including disabled parking badges, walking aids and home adaptations. Actual monetary gains ranged from £7 to £151 per week, and the average weekly amount gained was £76, with 25 trial participants also receiving backdated benefits. Many trial participants talked about how the extra money had enabled them to escape a previously precarious financial situation:

[Regarding receiving extra benefit income] It will make us [me] feel better because I'll not be wondering . . . what do I have to cut out for to pay that bill which I used to do . . . I'm not feeling the pinch as much now whereas before it was a bit of a struggle.

Harry, 71 years, control, received £42 weekly Council Tax Benefit and Housing Benefit

Them years you didn't get help ... so I just had to struggle on, I'm used to having no money, you know I had years and years just struggling through, coping, but now I'm getting this, it's made a big, big difference to my life.

Beatrice, 75 years, intervention, received £139 weekly Attendance Allowance and Carer's Allowance

Many trial participants mentioned that before the intervention they had been borrowing money from friends and family or relying on continually decreasing savings to afford their basic living costs. The extra income had helped to reduce their debts as well as mitigate the use of their finite savings:

She thought I should [have] had this [benefit] for years like ... and I think I should have as well ... 'cos [because] you couldn't make ends meet really ... and you start getting yourself into debt because you borrow money off people and then you try to pay them it back ... good job you've got good parents sometimes ... you divvint [don't] want to borrow it, like, but sometime[s] you've got to. The money that I had prior to [the intervention], you could sort of live on it but you were just surviving really ... you just need enough ... and a little bit extra so you divvint [don't] sink.

Benjamin, 62 years, intervention, received £76 weekly Disability Living Allowance and referral to Adult Social Care

Jim, 68 years, intervention, received £58 weekly Carer's Allowance: The savings . . . they just kept going down and down . . .

Interviewer: How well do you think you could manage without the extra income [from the intervention] now?

Jim: Well we just wouldn't be able to manage as long, effectively.

I have more peace of mind about paying for the things that help whereas before I took it all out me [my] savings money which obviously went down . . . so it has given me a lot of peace of mind in that sense. Audrey, 80 years, intervention, received £139 weekly Attendance Allowance, Council Tax Benefit and Pension Credit

Other trial participants reported the extra income enabled them to start saving to afford future expenses, such as funeral or care costs:

It's a buffer zone that's handy you know . . . It's just left in the bank to accumulate for any eventuality. I put money aside for my funeral and my wife's funeral.

Tom, 72 years, control, received £7 weekly Council Tax Benefit

Well I know it's there if I need it, the extra . . . I know it's there if I needed to fall back on it, you know. I mean they are talking about doing this other knee, there might come a time when I might need

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton S016 7NS, UK.

somebody coming in a couple a times a day and have to pay them, so I know that that money is there to pay for them.

Elaine, 77 years, intervention, received £139 weekly Attendance Allowance and Pension Credit

The extra benefit income primarily increased trial participants' ability to meet their basic household bills, transport costs and domiciliary care services. Trial participants reported being better able to heat their homes and afford food without having to worry about the rising cost of fuel and shopping bills. Trial participants also reported being in a better financial position to cope with larger expenses, such as replacing broken household items, without going into debt:

Well I can buy more food than I was able to do before . . . by the time you've paid for your heating and one thing and another it was a struggle to get food in. Sometimes I had to go and borrow something off the family . . . from their cupboards and that, you know . . . but it has helped that way. Beatrice, 75 years, intervention, received £139 weekly Attendance Allowance and Carer's Allowance

I think the extra money has helped me absorb the changes in the economy . . . everything just costs more.

Sheila, 79 years, control, received £91 weekly Attendance Allowance and Council Tax Benefit

I've just had a freezer broke doon [down], a fridge broke doon [down] and the cooker broke . . . I would have probably had to get a loan out if I didn't have these benefits to replace them. Arthur, 69 years, intervention, received £72 weekly Attendance Allowance and Pension Credit

Second, the extra income was used to pay for costs associated with travel including taxis, trains, buses and private cars. Access to affordable transport was key to engaging in daily activities and facilitating social interaction. The extra income helped trial participants to retain their independent mobility, to attend hospital appointments and go shopping, as well as socialise with friends and family:

Because I don't go out on me [my] own at the minute, I could maybe use it to go in the taxi to do things, to be a little more independent . . . go shopping to the supermarket. Grace, 62 years, control, received £71 weekly Pension Credit

Me [my] sister had a stroke about a year ago and she's in a home at [place name]. Well, if one of the relatives can't take me, then I get the taxi and it's £14 there and back. I couldn't do that before [the intervention] . . . she's the only sister I got, she's stuck in there, she can't get out . . . and she just lived round the corner there you know so I've missed her.

Maria, 80 years, intervention, received £136 weekly Attendance Allowance and Pension Credit

Well I can go out and about in the car . . . and that's me [my] main escape and I can like put money away so I can go for runs . . . I take Celia and Jane up with us, we have like a girls' day out . . . daft carry on and a bit of a natter and it's lovely.

Joyce, 72 years, intervention, received £136 weekly Attendance Allowance and Pension Credit

Third, many trial participants saved up or spent their extra benefit income on domiciliary services, paying formal services or family members to help them with cleaning, shopping and personal care in their homes.

I pay a girl to come and just wait for me in the bathroom while I had me [my] shower while I'm getting in and out just to see I'm all right and I just have to ring another girl, Chloe, she goes and does all me [my] shopping for me, ye [you] know, so I pay her. But that's how I look at the Attendance Allowance, [it] is [there] to help me with my quality of life, to improve it.

Audrey, 80 years, intervention, received £139 Attendance Allowance, Council Tax Benefit and Pension Credit A few trial participants reported spending the money on home services to maintain, improve or adapt their properties:

I've just had a painter in here. I had a leak in the roof and he had to repair that, so I had to pay for the roof as well, which is a lot of money when you think about it . . . certainly [the extra benefit income] helps. As I say, you don't realise that you don't need money [un]til you get a bill in . . . like for the builder and the painters and the joiners.

Paul, 78 years, control, received £81 weekly Attendance Allowance

It helped me a lot. I've gotten my fence fixed out the front and I've gotten this [mobile thermostat] to help me [my] heating . . . plus I've gotten other radiators fitted . . . so it's a lot warmer now . . . I'm nearly 83, plus me [my] chest, this weather, it kills us. I've got that COPD [chronic obstructive pulmonary disease].

Oliver, 82 years, control, received £81 weekly Attendance Allowance

Being able to afford these services and household adaptations, as well as daily living aids such as light, accessible household appliances, was important for those with ill health and disability, as it improved their comfort and well-being by enabling them to carry on living independently in their homes despite being unable to do as much as they could before:

[Owing to receiving extra benefit income] I bought myself a new microwave . . . because I can't manage pots and pans . . . because I have got a lot of nerve damage in my left arm and hand . . . And, I did go out and buy myself a vacuum cleaner, one of these very lightweight ones because I can't manage my old vac . . . it is brilliant.

Stacy, 67 years, control, received £50 weekly Pension Credit

Sheila, 79 years, control, received £91 weekly Attendance Allowance and Council Tax Benefit: I'm going to have to redo my bathroom, because I have difficulty getting out of the bath. In fact, three times I nearly failed ... I'm back to where I started from, believe it or not, which is basin and flannel ... the old-fashioned way before bathrooms were invented.

Interviewer: And is that something that you weren't able to do before [receiving benefit income from the intervention]?

Sheila: No, I didn't have the money to do that.

It [benefit income] can make such a difference to older people's quality of life and being able to live independently . . . bringing in more money that they can use for gardeners, carers, handypersons and cleaners . . . if you've got care needs . . . [it] is important . . . We've had quite a few people who can't manage [cleaning] anymore and they're getting more and more depressed with the state of the place around them. They're getting embarrassed and becoming more isolated because they don't want people to come around and see it, so if you get that little bit of extra help to do that . . . Being able to go out, get the occasional taxi, pay off debts or not get into further debt. It's all those sorts of issues. Holly, Charity Sector

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Additional financial resources also enabled trial participants to access formal services rather than, or as well as, relying on family and friend support networks to provide the help required. The extra benefit income also increased the affordability of council care services:

Maria, 80 years, intervention, received £136 weekly Attendance Allowance and Pension Credit: Instead of relying on them [referring to her daughter and husband] all the time, I can get things done myself.

Interviewer: And that makes you feel better?

Maria: It does yes . . . because [they] used to come down, change the bed . . . I can't make the bed up meself [myself], the state of this arm . . . so somebody's got to be there. So if some weeks Phillip [daughter's husband] hasn't done it, when the cleaner comes, she does it.

Some trial participants reported a sense of pride in being able to reward family and friends for the help they received through offering them money or being able to buy them gifts:

I couldn't get out at all, and there was a friend of my daughter's [who] came and helped me with shopping and she wouldn't, she didn't want to take any money, but I made her. I says 'I [have] got money to cover this now, this allowance allows me to pay people for anything they are doing for me' ... I didn't need to pay her, but I did, you know, just for my own satisfaction, so that's helped. Elaine, 77 years, intervention, received £139 weekly Attendance Allowance and Pension Credit

### Impact on well-being and health

The cumulative impact of being able to afford household, transport and home care costs, as well as receive home adaptations, walking aids and accessible parking badges, had positive effects on trial participants' ability to engage socially and, consequently, on their overall well-being and health. Trial participants reported improved mental well-being and better access to social support networks, as well as increased ability to cope more independently with existing physical health problems.

Professional and trial participants reported how the improved levels of income had reduced stress, worry and anxiety that had been created by financial uncertainty and/or debt. Many trial participants expressed feeling happier or gaining 'peace of mind' after receiving the extra benefit income:

I used to worry at one time but now I don't, I've got no worries at all now. I know I've got enough coming in each week to last me that week and put a little bit away for whatever. William, 83 years, intervention, received £40 weekly, Council Tax Benefit and Pension Credit

I know that loads of older people worry about poverty; it causes stress and anxiety ... people worry about where they're going to get meals ... being able to heat their homes ... who's going to look after them. It makes a massive difference ... for people to be able to get more money in their pockets ... they end up being wealthier and healthier.

Matthew, Health Sector

Some trial participants identified that decreased financial worries had a positive impact on their physical health:

I think it has done wonders for me, it has taken off a lot of stress problems . . . Generally having that little bit of extra money does . . . improve health slightly because it takes the stress away. If you take the stress away you are not tensing up, you are not damaging any muscles, you are relaxing more and you are sleeping better.

Stacy, 67 years, control, received £50 weekly Pension Credit

The extra income received as a result of the intervention enabled trial participants to afford key transport costs as well as to 'pay their way' during social events, both of which facilitated greater social contact despite their increasing age-related health and functional problems. The narratives revealed trial participants' desire to maximise activities and social opportunities with friendship and family support networks while they were still well enough. Thus, this increased independence to engage in social activities was reported by professional and trial participants as having a positive impact on mental health:

Interviewer: [Regarding receiving a walking aid from the intervention] And does being able to go out and about and have freedom to move, do you think that links to your health?

Diane, 77 years, intervention, received a wheeled Zimmer frame with seat: It is, just getting out, I love getting out, I love talking to people. I go across the square and I see lots of people and he [husband] goes along the river and I think that keeps him, you know. He must have been away about 2 and a half hours this morning . . . I think, just getting out and just chatting to people. I think, because if you don't, if you cut yourself off, you just turn into a vegetable.

Some of these people may be housebound, or quite socially isolated, so it could have an impact on that particularly if it releases some extra cash into their pocket to enable them to get out and about, and be much more social in their outlook and the way they behave.

#### Fiona, Public Health

Trial participants had various health issues, including problems with joints, lungs, heart and blood as well as arthritic pain, general fatigue and diabetes. Many did not feel that the monetary increases and non-financial aids received as a result of the intervention could remediate these physical illnesses. However, they did report that the extra benefit income enabled them to cope better with various physical health problems:

Interviewer: Would you say that you think the extra money from benefits has affected your health at all in anyway?

Janice, 72 years, intervention, received £52 weekly Attendance Allowance: *No, not really. It just makes the pain a little bit easier I suppose . . . being able to get a taxi and that.* 

[On receiving the extra benefit income] It means I was able to get myself a little scooter to go in the back of the car. I can only walk so far without pain ... I feel in myself better. It doesn't take away the aches and pains but in myself I feel calmer ... Everyday life for me, I don't worry as much anymore, I know I will be able to cope.

### Stacy, 67 years, control, received £50 weekly Pension Credit

Some trial participants recounted how being able to afford to keep their heating on for longer had a positive effect on their ability to manage health conditions:

Interviewer: What things do you think affect your health?

Harry, 71 years, control, received £42 weekly Council Tax Benefit and Housing Benefit: The only [thing] I think of is the heating ... because of me [my] arthritis, when it's cold everything just seizes up, it's painful at times. Before I got this lot [extra benefit income], I still wouldn't put the heating on because ... if I put it on all day I'm not gonna [going to] be able to afford it ... I just sat here, I had me [my] gloves on, me [my] hat and me [my] scarf ... it was freezing in here at times. Then when this [extra benefit income] come along, I put the heating on more.

[On receiving the extra benefit income] It means I can have the heating on all day, without having to worry, because I know I've got that extra money to pay ... I mean Clive [husband] just sits in a

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

wheelchair all day, so he's on the cold side and I keep thinking well, I can't have this. I mean, this heating has been on since 8 o'clock this morning and it's usually on [un]til 11 o'clock at night you know, but I think, well, it doesn't matter, now, as long as he's comfortable, we've got the money to do it, so that's fine . . . that is a big weight off my shoulders.

Lydia, 71 years, control, received £34 weekly Carer's Allowance

Overall, when asked more broadly about the link between income and health, professional participants, and some trial participants, suggested that low income had a negative effect on physical health outcomes:

We all know about social scales, people who are very poor, have poor lifestyles. If you have more income you can have a better lifestyle, can't you? Have better food, comforts, heating, access to things. So that's what money brings you, I don't think it necessarily brings you health but brings you access to things that can give you better health, doesn't it? That's what I believe. Penny, 73 years, intervention, received no benefits as a result of the intervention

Clearly if you've more money in your pocket, you can buy different food. You can go to the gym, you can become more active, whether that's social or physical activity. It's an enabler for people . . . We know that income is highly correlated to health and well-being.

Fiona, Public Health

### **Mechanisms of action**

# Role of the welfare rights advisor in overcoming barriers to older benefit claimants

The main barriers to older people claiming their benefit entitlements can be categorised into (1) knowledge and process and (2) attitudinal. WRAs were pivotal in overcoming barriers to claiming benefits through providing one-to-one advice, support and advocacy. Professional and trial participants reflected that many older people preferred to manage on tight budgets rather than claim welfare entitlements, valuing hard work and independence from state support so highly that they saw accepting benefit income as a personal failure. Additionally, many older benefit claimants did not view welfare as a right but rather as a safety net, designed for others more deserving. Thus, many held further worries about the legitimacy of their claim as well as concerns about inadvertently claiming fraudulently:

I always feel embarrassed at claiming, because I've never claimed anything in my life. When you've worked all your life it's strange . . . it never feels as though I'm entitled . . . it's not in my nature. Gordon, 88 years, control, received no benefits as a result of the intervention

I didn't wanna claim it in case I've made a mistake, because I couldn't understand some of the stuff that you had to fill in and I thought if I put my name on the wrong thing here, I could finish off in jail or something, so [I] just never bothered.

Harry, 71 years, control, received £42 weekly Council Tax Benefit and Housing Benefit

I think there is a real attitude [among older people] of having worked all their life and supported themselves . . . they really felt that they'd kind of failed by having to fall back on state support and that they should be able to cope . . . With some of them as well . . . the amounts of money they received were quite substantial . . . They didn't trust that the system had calculated it correctly and were worried that somebody was going to turn up on their doorstep and tell them that this was all wrong and they had to give it all back. That in itself was a barrier as well.

Melissa, Civil Service

Professional and trial participants reflected how WRAs overcame barriers to claiming by explaining benefit entitlement and addressing concerns about individual claims. The provision of trusted professional support

throughout the benefit application process resulted in many successful benefit claims that would not have otherwise occurred:

[The WRA] came and explained all we would be entitled [to], 'cos [because] you have to do this for him and you have to do that ... I think it's understanding the form as well, when you read the form you think, 'God, you've more or less gotta [got to] be completely incapacitated to get this', but she explained it, you didn't have to be.

Finley, 64 years, intervention, received £41 weekly care component of Disability Living Allowance

He had his book and he showed me, 'It is in black and white. It is this law that you will get this'. That really put my mind at rest . . . [my WRA] was spot on, he knew exactly what he was talking about and that made me feel better. I didn't have to worry . . . It was good, I felt reassured that it was right as well. I would be terrified in case I was claiming something that I shouldn't get. He explained it all. Stacy, 67 years, control, received £50 weekly Pension Credit

The staff build up a relationship with the service user and encourage them to claim and not worry about doing it wrong or being accused of fraud because everything will be done with [the WRA] and explained at every step . . . often the people in the most need who are reluctant to claim, they need a friendly face to sit down and talk it through with them.

#### Alice, Welfare Rights Sector

Trial participants whose benefit applications were initially rejected further highlighted the important advocacy role WRAs held, which gave applicants the confidence to challenge official decisions as well as advice on how to strengthen any reapplication:

Well he [WRA] was like our spokesman, it was like having a solicitor at a trial, you know ... we were really surprised when we did get it [they received Attendance Allowance on their reapplication], we wouldn't have got it if it wasn't for [WRA] ... when you go in front of that thing [disability capability assessment] and turned out nothing's wrong with you [when initially turned down for Attendance Allowance], what do you do? How do you fight them? ... if it wasn't for [WRA] and you lot [referring to the study], we would never have known.

Boris, 73 years, intervention, received £92 weekly Attendance Allowance and Pension Credit

Overall, domiciliary welfare rights advice was regarded as enabling access to entitlements for vulnerable older populations, particularly when health problems diminished their capabilities and confidence:

You're in your life of working and ye [you] think 'ooh I'm alright, I'm independent', [and] that takes you into a different category, if you know what I mean. But as I got that little bit older . . . there comes a point where you do need it and I came to that stage. I thought now, especially when he'd explained it all to me and after that mini stroke thing, I thought to meself [myself], 'aye [yes], it's a good job that I did' [apply for benefits].

Audrey, 80 years, intervention, received £139 weekly Attendance Allowance, Pension Credit and Council Tax Benefit

Most trial participants expressed surprise and appreciation when their claim was successful, particularly as most had not thought that they would be entitled to anything:

[On receiving benefits] Absolutely shocked to the core, absolutely shocked to the core, I phoned [the WRA] up when the letter came and I just said 'it's wonderful, I can't believe it, can't thank you enough' . . . but oh, absolutely gobsmacked when the letter came to say that I was entitled to that money.

Elaine, 77 years, intervention, received £139 weekly Attendance Allowance and Pension Credit

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

70

There has been some good results . . . ones with a bit more income and maybe some savings are less likely to [claim] because . . . they didn't think they'd be entitled to anything and they were and it might just have been a small top-up of the pension credit, but it was something that they didn't know. Ava, WRA DEL, Welfare Rights Sector

## Primary care as a point of contact for older people

Many professional and trial participants saw the use of GP surgeries as a referral centre for the intervention as an ideal model of service delivery for older populations. Primary care, with its high levels of contact with older people, was regarded as one of the first places where individuals' changing health circumstances are presented, changes that may lead to new benefit entitlements:

[GP surgeries] are in a good position for vulnerable older people because they have more contact with them than anyone else . . . more so than even maybe the local authority.

Olga, Civil Service

A lot of benefit entitlement is linked to changes that happen to people during their lives, and a lot of those changes will end you up in the GP surgery, so that is the place where you should be trying to identify people and link them into [welfare rights] services.

Melissa, Civil Service

Professional and trial participants felt that older people regarded their local GP surgeries as a respected professional and universal service acting in their best interests. As a result older people were viewed as much more likely to engage with a benefits assessment referral through their local practice, as many trusted the judgement of their GP:

Obviously the health sector is one of the places where people can go and it is universal. That means because it is an open door people don't feel judged by going to ... it is a good opportunity for the advice sector but also it very much speaks to things like the Marmot report.

Samantha, Welfare Rights Sector

A lot of older people trust the GPs and the nurses at the GP surgeries. I think there's certain older people who, if a GP says, 'I want to refer you on. They'll help. You can trust them', they're more likely to engage initially. I think it is a useful model.

Lucy, Welfare Rights Sector

## **Domiciliary model**

Opinion was divided on the benefits of a domiciliary service delivery model for welfare rights advice. Concerns were primarily about the resources required to deliver the service in this way, but distinct advantages were identified for older populations who have multiple health, income and mobility problems that inhibit their access to services:

Sheila, 79 years, control, received £91 weekly Attendance Allowance and Council Tax Benefit: I'm housebound . . . Until I get my eyes fixed. Because I'm not safe out in a car, and I'm not very safe on my feet.

Interviewer: Did it help, then, that the welfare rights advisor came to your home?

Sheila: Yes. That's helped enormously.

If you asked the clients how they would cope with getting in [to their central offices], half of them wouldn't get in and half of those that did wouldn't be able to sit in comfort and go through all the details and the other half would have probably left after the vital paperwork. So I just don't think it would happen if we didn't do the [home] visits.

Professional and trial participants further argued that domiciliary visits enabled WRAs to make a wider assessment of clients' needs, and fostered a safe and confidential environment for trial participants to disclose sensitive information, both of which were felt to strengthen any benefit applications made:

I felt better about it because . . . you are in your own environment so you don't feel pressured or anything like that, it was more relaxed.

Emma, 66 years, intervention, received no benefits as a result of the intervention

Being in the client's home gives you an opportunity to make a wider assessment of the client's needs . . . because you can see how the person lives. Most people will tend to, but not deliberately, play down their care needs because they don't necessarily see something that is part of their general behaviour, as a care need. It's how they cope, so they don't see it, but if you can actually witness some of this stuff, you can make a better application.

### Toby, Charity Sector

When I've been out to clients' houses, they seem to be more relaxed, there's a lot more I can start to ask about, because you've already got the trust, if you are at the house you can certainly start to probe a bit more.

### Allan, WRA DEL, Welfare Rights Sector

Some professional participants advocated the 'cost-benefit' savings domiciliary welfare rights interventions had regarding their potential impact on the use of health and social care services:

I think it's highly appropriate [model of welfare rights advice] . . . in terms of savings for National Health Service. If you can give people that little bit of extra help at an early stage before they might not be able to manage in their homes anymore, with more depression, more visits to the GP and more spent on them, yes, it's very important to have home visits available.

### Holly, Charity Sector

If you are trying to promote independent living, staying healthy and not being a demand on local authority and health resources which can [be] very expensive you need the preventive work to be effective . . . it's a good investment.

### Alice, Welfare Rights Sector

If they are going out and struggling and you provide an aid and adaptation, it's gonna [going to] make a big difference to them . . . there's less risk of falling . . . hav[ing to] go off to hospital . . . that's the drain on other services.

### Anya, WRA DEL, Welfare Rights Sector

However, in addition to resource issues, a minority of professional participants criticised the domiciliary method of service delivery, viewing it as paternalistic and potentially disempowering, limiting understanding of the claimant process and fostering a long-term reliance on welfare rights services. Other professional participants further argued that trial participants might find home visits intrusive and advocated the need for alternative models of service provision for those who prefer to receive advice in a neutral, central location:

It's a little bit paternalistic in its approach . . . it disempowers clients, and in the longer term, that can be problematic for a client . . . if there is any future problem with the administration of a benefit or the review of a benefit, if you've done it all for them, they generally haven't a clue what that is when it comes in . . . A good I and A [information and advice] service helps someone to assess how much they can do for themselves. It helps tell them how to do it, empowers them to do it, and is there as a safety net if anything goes wrong.

Toby, Charity Sector

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Some people might not want to be seen at home anyway . . . It can be very intrusive. They may be embarrassed about the state of their home. There may be someone in the home who they don't want to know . . . that they're taking advice . . . [involving] other issues such as domestic abuse.

Holly, Charity Sector

It's good to have a mix of places to see people . . . some people see [home visiting] as an intrusion . . . one size doesn't fit all . . . some people might actually prefer to be seen in the GP practice particularly if they are living in poverty and those prouder older people might not want to have strangers coming into their home.

Judith, Public Health

## Unanticipated consequences of the intervention

As we have demonstrated, many trial participants were highly satisfied with the intervention, its delivery and its outcomes. Trial participants did not highlight any adverse outcomes, harms or risks associated with the delivery of the intervention. Trial participants did not discuss spending their additional benefit income on potentially anticipated harms such as alcohol, tobacco, 'luxury' foods or gambling but rather used it primarily to afford basic household, transport and care costs. Furthermore, trial participants did not associate the independence and mobility received as a result of the intervention with accidental injury or exposure to infectious diseases, but rather with an increased sense of mental well-being as a result of their ability to socialise with family and friends despite their limiting ill health. Although some trial participants used their additional benefit income to afford a new car or taxi fares, trial participants felt that this increased, rather than limited, their levels of physical activity, as they were unable to leave the house without this transport available. No other potential unanticipated harms or risks were discussed throughout the qualitative study. There were, however, a number of unanticipated consequences concerning the intervention delivery identified by the WRAs delivering the intervention.

### Intervention delivery

Throughout the study period, progressively larger funding cuts negatively impacted on the capacity of welfare rights organisations to deliver services. Two professional participants reported that their organisation was further stretched by delivering what they regarded as resource-intensive domiciliary visits, which were different from their standard practice:

We've had to do them all as home visits . . . it has taken an awful a lot more of our time and we haven't had the flexibility to deal with it . . . [in our organisation's service delivery] if it was obvious that [the client] wouldn't get any benefits than they wouldn't go through the specialist [WRA], whereas under the Do-Well study the specialists have been doing the whole thing which has been fine and we'd agreed to do it as part of the study, but in the general day-to-day processes without getting the funding for a visit worker to work in that way it does take up more time of the people who are providing advice.

Ava, WRA DEL, Welfare Rights Sector

Two professional participants found they had to take more time explaining the Do-Well intervention, as trial participants had a limited understanding of the study process, especially in the case of control group trial participants who received their intervention 2 years after the study started:

At the beginning it took a little bit of explanation of who we are and why we were coming out . . . at least 2 out of the 13 seemed really resistant to me coming out . . . more the second [control] group. I don't know whether that was because of the 2-year delay . . . there just seemed to be more of the 'well, I don't understand what this is about' or 'somebody has already come out to see me' . . . there was that part of the problem.

Allan, WRA DEL, Welfare Rights Sector

One professional participant described concern about a lack of staggered Do-Well referrals to her organisation:

The only problem I can remember . . . is that the referrals didn't come through steadily. There were none for a few weeks and then loads, so that put a bit of pressure on . . . [I would have preferred it] more staggered.

Sadie, WRA DEL, Welfare Rights Sector

However, professional participants who raised these concerns also highlighted that the feedback mechanisms were useful in order to raise such concerns and adapt the delivery of the Do-Well intervention to suit their organisation's needs:

[Regarding limited trial participant understanding of the study process] It was good to have those feedback mechanisms as the project was going along to raise that as an issue.

Allan, WRA DEL, Welfare Rights Sector

Sadie, Welfare Rights Sector: I was able to speak to [project administrator] to see if the referrals could be staggered so that we didn't get a massive batch at once.

Interviewer: Did that happen after that?

Sadie: Yes, yes. It was just teething problems.

### Impact of external factors

Throughout the period of the study, major changes to the UK welfare system were being implemented. Owing to the timing of the intervention delivery (June 2012 to August 2013), none of the changes [e.g. introduction of Universal Credit, Personal Independence Payments and the spare room subsidy ('bedroom tax')], affected our intervention trial participants. Overall, in comparison with the adult population below state pension age, those over the state pension age are less affected by the changes, in terms of the key benefits available to older people. However, the cuts in public services disproportionately affected the poorest areas with the worst health outcomes. Welfare rights advice services came under increasing strain from a combination of funding cuts and increasing demands as a result of changes to welfare.<sup>106,107</sup> Thus, the service delivery model that was developed and piloted in 2001–5,<sup>11</sup> and that we adopted for the Do-Well study, had to operate under highly constrained budgeting circumstances. We therefore took these external factors into account and examined the suitability of our intervention delivery model in the current economic climate.

### **Resource-intensive intervention**

Despite professional participants advocating a universal, domiciliary intervention as an ideal model of welfare rights service delivery for older people, many recognised that it was a resource-intensive intervention that might not be able to cope with client demand. Owing to rising resource constraints created by the impact of public sector cuts, professional participants felt that this model could not be translated into current routine practice, as it would not be seen as affordable or cost-effective by funders. Many professional participants, and some trial participants, suggested use of a wider range of first- and second-tier service delivery models, prioritising centralised drop-in surgeries and telephone advice lines over face-to-face advice. Some professional participants argued that this would maximise resources, providing welfare rights advice for as many clients as possible despite funding constraints:

There has been a move away from doing home visits ... money has driven that ... just not having the capacity ... [A home visit is] an important part of doing the job and there are some clients where it is the only option, but offering it as a matter of course to everybody, we would probably disagree with ... in the current climate, where the key driver is cost ... [and] even telephone advice is often

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

considered too expensive . . . You're asking for a very expensive approach to the welfare benefit take-up.

Toby, Charity Sector

I think giving a carte blanche home visiting service is probably quite wasteful, in terms of resource, because it costs us time and money to travel to somebody's home . . . if some of those people were able to travel to a central point then your advisor would have been able to have reached more people . . . if we could offer a premium service to everybody then that is obviously what I would want to do, but I have limited resources and a duty to help as many people as I can with the resources that I do have.

### Kirsty, Charity Sector

On the other hand, it was accepted that although a centrally located service provision would make welfare rights advice services available to more people, sole reliance on such a service delivery model would exclude the most ill, disabled and housebound, for whom domiciliary services are still required:

I think that the main driver [in not funding domiciliary services] is that they want locality-based services and want more people to be seen. Now, my argument, my response to that, is that more people will be seen, but those vulnerable people who are relying on home visits will receive no service at all. We will see more people, but we will see more of the less vulnerable, but there doesn't seem to be a great deal of concern about that.

### Kirsty, Charity Sector

### Optimally identifying benefit entitlement among older people

Professional participants delivering the Do-Well intervention reflected on the low uptake of benefits among trial participants during the study. It was reported that many of the trial participants seen had comfortable levels of income and no major/limiting health issues, eliminating them from benefit eligibility. Thus, the professional participants highlighted the Do-Well project as having higher levels of 'redundant' benefit assessments than their normal welfare rights service provision:

We soon found that a lot of the people who we were coming out to see we ruled out of the entitlement to benefits simply because they had too much capital ... and they didn't really have health problems.

### Allan, WRA DEL, Welfare Rights Sector

Professional participants advocated an initial triage involving assessment of clients' care and health needs as part of a first-tier advice service, so that a full benefits assessment, or the use of a domiciliary visit, is undertaken only when appropriate:

I don't know if there's a better way of finding the people who are actually missing out . . . Maybe over the phone . . . within a few questions you know they are not going to be entitled because they had no health issues and they were in receipt of some quite decent pension or they had savings for the future, so with those three questions you can virtually rule them out.

Allan, WRA DEL, Welfare Rights Sector

I like the telephone assessments, to start with, because it makes sense . . . [to] identify they are eligible for a benefit first . . . following this up with a mix of home and office visits.

### Holly, Charity Sector

I would . . . try and identify how you could segment people, so that the ones who weren't able to do it for themselves would be the ones prioritised for the domiciliary visits . . . a more tiered approach . . . perhaps get a short questionnaire completed which would allow you to do that segmentation in a more robust way . . . I think the key is targeting in a very personal way, so you are thinking about the person's needs rather than the groups, so not that you live in a disadvantaged area, therefore you are going to get this, [but] you live in a disadvantaged area and we have evidence that you are not very good at planning . . . I think we just have to think quite carefully how we then target those people. Judith, Public Health

Many professional participants went on to outline further general points in order to improve welfare rights services that involved timely advice and that recognised that some people used various services at multiple (crisis) points in their lives:

There must be lots of services like us who will see the same people year in, year out with the same problems . . . if the intervention came at an early stage instead of at a crisis point, it's got to make a difference in the long term . . . in terms of trying to help the poorest and most disadvantaged communities . . . to reduce the need for public services really . . . There's just so much need out there . . . there's more than enough work for everybody . . . We have to start working more closely together . . . It's trying to find ways to maximise your resources as a whole and to trust each other.

Lucy, Welfare Rights Sector

Domiciliary welfare rights advice accessed via primary care was regarded as having a positive impact, by enabling older people to gain their benefit entitlements. Trial and professional participants reflected on how such a model might be translated into policy and practice. User-designed, preventative services were advocated in order to be relevant to local context as well as engaging with vulnerable claimants before they reached a crisis point. Many professional participants stressed the importance of fostering stronger collaboration across the welfare rights sector to maximise sector resources and service delivery. One professional participant suggested that it would be beneficial to train older people as volunteers to aid the delivery of welfare rights advice:

Peers understand their situation because they're a similar age to them, or in similar circumstances ... training older people to give benefits advice to other older people would be an interesting model ... we would always advocate involving older people ... in the design and the delivery of services ... to meet their needs ... which will make them cost-effective as well as efficient in meeting their outcomes.

### Melissa, Civil Service

Informally, the sharing of advice and information concerning benefit entitlement occurred between trial participants. Professional and trial participants indicated that welfare rights advice received is passed on to wider networks of family and friends, encouraging wider benefit uptake than for those just involved in the intervention:

I mean, as I says, my friend lost her husband about 8 years ago . . . and I nagged at her, because she, I mean she worked till she was 67 and she was only on like a small pension from Gerry and then her own old age pension and she was struggling. I say 'Josie, go and ask about housing benefit', 'no I'm fighting'. I says, 'why, what are you fighting for? I think you are entitled to it'. And she eventually went last year and she got her housing benefit [and said] 'I'm glad I took notice of you'. I says, 'well if I got it, you're entitled to it'.

Joyce, 72 years, intervention, received £136 weekly Attendance Allowance and Pension Credit

If you go out to see one person . . . then it's always a word of mouth that they pass on . . . so they pass it on to the relatives or family.

Anya, WRA DEL, Welfare Rights Sector

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

### Impact of public sector cuts

Professional participants outlined that older people's demand for welfare rights services was rising. A number of factors were identified: the increase in the older population, particularly the oldest old; an increasingly punitive and complicated welfare benefits system; and the implementation of the Health and Social Care Act 2012<sup>108</sup> placing new and additional responsibilities on local authorities to provide advice services to carers as well as those in receipt of care:

There is a definite increase in the number of 'younger' older people coming [for welfare rights advice] because . . . the benefit system is now much more punitive . . . with administration problems in the benefits processes [as] there are less people to administer.

Toby, Charity Sector

[The demand for welfare rights advice services] is increasing all the time . . . We can't possibly deal with everyone who comes to us, there is too high a demand . . . We've got this huge ageing population that is going to increasingly need that help to stay in their own homes to keep the costs down, [and stay] independent for as long as possible.

#### Holly, Charity Sector

However, rather than receiving improved funding allocations, all professional participants reported an intensification of austerity-driven public sector cuts that vastly decreased the resources available for the welfare rights sector. Staff redundancies and organisational restructuring had left many services with fewer advisors coping with an increased workload. Some professional participants described how their organisations had such limited capacity that they had curtailed outreach work to limit client demand:

Legal aid funding has gone which funded a lot of welfare rights . . . the local authority funding is under pressure . . . [and] advice agencies are having more trouble getting funding from charitable trusts. So many people are under pressure and they are on a downward trend.

Alice, Welfare Rights Sector

Because posts have been deleted, we feel like we work on the bare bones of staff, so there are concerns about having enough staff to deal with everything.

Sadie, WRA DEL, Welfare Rights Sector

If you crunch the numbers you know, you need a team three times our size to stick up a flag and say all older people come here for welfare rights advice. We can't have too high a profile . . . [or else] our waiting list gets too much and that's bad service for the clients and the staff feel harassed. So we don't tell everybody all the time that we are here.

### Alice, Welfare Rights Sector

Professional participants reported a shift away from guaranteed local and central government funding towards short-term, precarious and competitively tendered contracts from the charity, corporate and health-care sectors. Constant cycles of funding applications were placing a strain on already-stretched resources. At the same time, 'cost-effective' interventions were felt to be increasingly prioritised, with an emphasis on providing specialised and targeted interventions using digital, centralised and telephone models of service delivery rather than face-to-face consultations:

I'm under pressure from numerous places to provide more for less . . . the demand for welfare benefits advice far outstrips what we're able to provide, so we're having to make decisions all the time as to who receives the service and who doesn't . . . that's not a comfortable position to be in.

Kirsty, Charity Sector

Unfortunately that's how it's moving now, a lot of the funding rather than being general it's very targeted . . . it would be good to get funding for a general service available for anybody for specialist benefit advice [rather than just services for people with] leukaemia, young people and mental health.

Ava, Welfare Rights Sector

[Funding] tends to be very much issue-focused and short . . . [but] advice funding should be continual. It shouldn't be about an innovative new project. There is no innovation in how you provide advice, to be honest. We've been doing it to death for years. We generally know what works. It doesn't need innovation. It just needs to be funded long term, not 2 or 3 years at a time through grants.

Toby, Charity Sector

Some professional participants predicted that this reliance on digital or telephone services would increase barriers to claiming for older people, as many do not have the technical skills to access advice services online:

I think it's a major shift, the only available services are online and old people don't necessarily . . . have ready access to the online services, or the confidence to access them.

#### Stephanie, WRA DEL, Health Sector

Most local authorities are keen to pay for the cheapest option, which means less face to face . . . they would rather people were using self-help tools on the internet . . . it's as much about cutting costs as it is about saying, 'This is a sensible approach to giving access to services', and particularly for older people, it makes no sense. Once you're over 70, the likelihood of you using the internet is pretty low, and that's using the internet for anything, not going online and making applications for benefits, which is a quite complex activity.

### Toby, Charity Sector

Overall, trial and professional participants depicted a bleak future for the welfare rights sector, predicting further welfare reform and cuts to welfare rights services:

I mean the outlook isn't great ... I'm not very confident that we'll be here in 5 years' time ... the only reason that say we might be here in the next couple of years is that welfare reform is massive ... once those big reforms are gone the general sense seems to be people shouldn't be on benefits ... I don't think there's really much support for [welfare rights services].

Allan, WRA DEL, Welfare Rights Sector

### Impact of widespread negative portrayals of citizens claiming welfare benefits

Trial participants demonstrated a heightened awareness of the stigma attached to claiming welfare benefits. They focused in particular on media and government discourses on benefit entitlement, and how these were negatively influencing the general public's perceptions of benefit claimants:

They [the government] class every one of them [benefit claimants] as scroungers. They're not giving any leeway for people who actually need it, you're all the same. If you're on benefits you're an outcast to them . . . They show you the ones they want you to see, yes, but the ones who are entitled to benefits, no, you never see them.

Paul, 78 years, control, received £81 weekly Attendance Allowance

I think the general public has got a bad opinion . . . If they are not on benefits I don't think they understand what it is like to be on benefits . . . I think they look down on people with benefits. The opinion coming out in the papers . . . I think a lot of people who aren't on benefits think they [claimants] are all scroungers. Well they are not really.

Debbie, 62 years, control, renewal of £78 weekly Disability Living Allowance

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Trial participants did not agree with such negative portrayals of people claiming welfare payments, although there was widespread acknowledgement of dishonest claiming. Trial participants distinguished between 'deserving' and 'undeserving' claimants. Older citizens were viewed as 'deserving' owing to their lifetime contributions into the system, and the fact that, as a group, they were less likely to claim. Trial participants were concerned about the negative stereotyping of people on benefits because they felt that this was exaggerated, lumped a heterogeneous group of individuals together and made it more difficult for 'genuine' claimants to access their entitlements:

I think it's because the papers, they don't talk about the decent people on benefits. They'll only talk about the ones that are on benefits, [with] all the children and they've got a 52-inch television screen, and they are smoking their head off and having a drink you know. But not all of the benefit people are like that.

#### Myrtle, 71 years, intervention, no additional resources received

They make you feel as though you are digging you know. Whatever's out there should be readily available if you need it. You shouldn't have to get anxious thinking, what if it's not . . . it's bad enough to be, struggling . . . dealing with the everyday things that life throws at you when you have got someone who is disabled, without having to fight for something that should be there because you need it.

Laura, 67 years, control, received £10 Council Tax Benefit and reduced gym membership

### **Summary**

The findings of this embedded qualitative study indicate that the research design, in terms of recruitment and randomisation, was acceptable to those interviewed, although there was some concern expressed, primarily by professional informants, about the 24-month wait for the control group to receive the intervention. Without exception among trial participants the intervention was deemed acceptable. The professional informants supported the need for welfare rights advice targeted at older people, but there was some disagreement about the optimal means of service delivery, particularly in the light of recent and continuing cuts to public and voluntary sector services. Trial participants viewed the impact of the intervention as highly positive, in terms of financial, social, health and well-being factors, irrespective of the amount of additional benefit received; professional participants were fully aware of the wide-ranging impact that additional resources could have for older people in need, and reiterated the preventative potential of 'low-level' interventions such as welfare rights advice. The mechanisms of intervention delivery – introduced via trusted GPs and domiciliary visits – successfully overcame the well-known barriers to claiming benefit entitlements among older people. However, immediately before and during the execution of the trial the most significant government-led changes to the welfare system since its inception began to be implemented, coupled with austerity-driven public sector and voluntary sector service cutbacks. These external factors were perceived to have considerable implications for the design, commissioning and delivery of welfare rights advice services in the future.
# **Chapter 5** Economic evaluation findings

#### **Sample characteristics**

*Table 23* shows the responses to questionnaire data on individual health at baseline and 24-month follow-up for both trial arms. The majority of participants in both trial arms reported having a long-term illness, health problem or disability. At both baseline and 24-month follow-up, and for both trial arms, the largest proportion in each arm described their health status over the previous 6 months as good. The proportion in each arm reporting a long-term illness, health problem or disability, and a health problem limiting their daily activities, decreased over the 24 months of the trial. However, comparing the average baseline EQ-5D-3L score for those participants with missing EQ-5D-3L at 24-month follow-up with the average score for the complete study population showed that those with missing follow-up data had reported a substantially lower EQ-5D-3L at baseline [intervention group 0.589 (complete study population) vs. 0.529 (participants with missing 24-month follow-up EQ-5D-3L score); control group 0.583 vs. 0.457].

	Trial arm, <i>n</i> (%)					
	Intervention		Control			
Variable	Baseline ( <i>n</i> = 381)	24-month follow-up ( <i>n</i> = 283)	Baseline ( <i>n</i> = 374)	24-month follow-up ( <i>n</i> = 279)		
Long-term illness/health	problem/disability					
Yes	327 (86)	239 (63)	313 (84)	236 (63)		
No	54 (14)	43 (11)	58 (16)	42 (11)		
Don't know	0	0	2 (1)	1 (< 1)		
Refused to answer	0	1 (< 1)	0	0		
Not asked	0	0	1 (< 1)	0		
Health problem limiting daily activities						
Yes	227 (60)	166 (44)	225 (60)	157 (42)		
No	99 (26)	72 (19)	87 (23)	76 (20)		
Don't know	0	1 (< 1)	0	3 (1)		
Not asked	1 (< 1)	0	1 (0)	0		
Health status (last 6 mor	nths)					
Very good	38 (10)	35 (9)	49 (13)	45 (12)		
Good	119 (31)	90 (24)	105 (28)	83 (22)		
Neither good/poor	108 (28)	71 (19)	84 (22)	70 (19)		
Poor	94 (25)	74 (19)	103 (28)	64 (17)		
Very poor	22 (6)	13 (3)	32 (9)	17 (5)		
Not asked	0	0	1 (< 1)	0		
Missing	0	98 (26)	0	95 (25)		

#### TABLE 23 Questionnaire data on health status at baseline and 24-month follow-up

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

#### Cost-consequences analysis

#### Costs

*Table 24* shows the durations of, and associated costs for, the WRAs' activities required to deliver the intervention to participants in the intervention group. These activities included the home visit itself as well as additional telephone calls, letter or e-mail writing, administrative tasks (such as form filling or referring to other agencies), and other or unspecified activities, as well as travelling to the participants' homes. Some WRAs recorded durations of 0 minutes for activities or distances of 0 miles for travel. These were considered valid responses as, on occasions, WRAs reported that they combined appointments when these were in close geographical proximity on the same day for efficiency.

The average total cost per participant for delivery of welfare rights advice was calculated as £43.76; 38% of these costs (£16.80) were travel costs associated with WRAs travelling to participants' homes.

#### **Financial benefits**

Twelve financial benefits and allowances recorded by WRAs in the CCS were found to have been awarded to participants in the intervention group. Means-tested benefits included Council Tax Benefit, Housing Benefit, Pension Credit (guarantee, savings) and Employment Support Allowance, while non-means tested benefits were Disability Living Allowance (care and mobility components), Attendance Allowance (at high and low rate), Carer's Allowance, Industrial Injuries Disablement Benefit and Severe Disablement Allowance. For all except two benefits (Employment Support Allowance and Severe Disablement Allowance), information on durations were available from the CCS for participants in the intervention group. The 10 financial benefits for which there was information on the duration of award (i.e. excluding Employment Support Allowance and Severe Disablement Allowance) were therefore considered when comparing the effectiveness of the intervention between trial arms.

Given the limited information collected in the CCS, partner benefits, one-off payments for financial benefits and pending claims were not considered in the initial analyses. In the CCS data, 10 financial benefits received by partners were recorded, but there were no data available to estimate the value of these over the 24-month follow-up period. For instance, for most of the recorded benefits, the only

	Number of	Duration distance	(minutes) or (miles)	Costs (£)		
Type of activity	observations	Mean	Median (IQR)	Mean	Median (IQR)	
Home visit	310	56.14	41.50 (30–72)	19.04	14.16 (10.24–24.57)	
Telephone call	210	17.19	10.00 (5–20)	5.83	3.41 (1.71–6.82)	
Letter/e-mail writing	41	9.12	5.00 (2–10)	3.09	1.71 (0.68–3.41)	
Administration, form filling, referring to or chasing up other agencies, etc.	93	37.05	22.00 (6–55)	12.57	7.51 (2.05–18.77)	
Other	9	12.22	10.00 (10–15)	4.15	3.41 (3.41–5.12)	
Missing/unspecified	46	32.28	22.50 (10–40)	10.95	7.68 (3.41–13.65)	
Travel time	328	32.21	25.00 (15–40)	10.93	8.53 (5.12–13.65)	
Total time inputs	347	106.61	80.00 (54–120)	36.16	27.30 (18.42–40.94)	
Distance travelled (miles)	316	14.37	9.00 (5–19)	5.69	3.56 (1.98–7.52)	
Total cost				43.76	32.46 (21.78–47.66)	
Total cost (travel duration and distance only)				16.80	12.58 (7.10–21.57)	

#### TABLE 24 Welfare rights advisor resource use and associated costs (intervention group only)

information available was on the recipient of the benefit. No information on the date of award or the weekly amount was recorded. No information on one-off payments was recorded in the CCS. The analysis also excluded pending claims, as the impact of these would not be observed in the 24-month follow-up period.

*Table 25* reports the number of financial benefits newly awarded during the 24-month follow-up period and the average total amount (as well as the median and IQR) gained per participant in each trial arm when there were complete data available (a complete-case analysis), as well as the difference in average total amount. The benefits with the highest number of new claims in the intervention group were Council Tax and Attendance Allowance paid at the higher rate, while Council Tax Benefit, Housing Benefit and Disability Living Allowance (care component) were the most frequent new benefits in the control group. There was evidence of statistically significant differences between the trial arms in the weekly amounts for Disability Living Allowance (mobility component) and Carer's Allowance, for which participants in the control group reported receiving significantly higher weekly amounts.

Contrary to our expectations, the total average value of financial benefits was higher for control group participants awarded new financial benefits than for those in the intervention group. The difference between the intervention and control arms in the total mean amount for newly awarded financial benefits per participant was –£451 (95% CI –£1892 to £991). Although there was no evidence of a statistically significant difference between groups, the CIs were wide enough to include economically important differences favouring either group.

These findings did not change when the discount rate was increased to 3.5% (*Table 26*).<sup>109</sup> Sensitivity analyses capturing extreme case scenarios assessed the confidence around the imputed missing information on durations in the control group by imputing the missing value with values of either the first (*Table 27*) or the third quartile (*Table 28*) from the distribution of duration since receipt of benefit in the intervention group. In both cases, usual care was estimated to be more effective with regard to the average total amount gained per participant across all financial benefits, although this was not statistically significant.

Missing data were observed for some participants in the intervention group because of missing 'date awarded' information. These data were not replaced because no information was available on whether or not the initial claim was successful (i.e. whether or not the benefit was eventually awarded). The average total amount gained per participant and per benefit was estimated by combining information on newly awarded benefits, weekly amounts obtained from questionnaire data for both trial arms and median durations observed in the intervention group.

#### Non-financial benefits

Non-financial benefits recorded by WRAs in the CCS included the following items in addition to some aids and adaptations: Blue Badge (disabled driver), Warm Zones referral (including amount) and help with health-care costs (optician prescription charges, dental treatment charges, NHS travel costs) (*Table 29*).

As *Table 29* shows, the numbers of new non-financial benefits recorded on the CCS by WRAs for participants in the intervention group were substantially different from the numbers of financial benefits reported by participants in the questionnaire.

To avoid an underestimation of effects in the intervention group, the analysis of non-financial benefits considered the same data source (i.e. questionnaire) for both the intervention and the control group, and so faces the same potential recall bias, thus providing a fair comparison between the two groups.

There was no evidence of statistically significant differences in the number of newly awarded benefits between trial arms, except that significantly more participants in the control group received general help with insulation costs.

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

	Tria									
	Inte	ervention			Cor	itrol			Difference	
Benefit	n	n (complete cases)	Mean amount gained (£)	Median (IQR) amount gained (£)	n	n (complete cases)	Mean amount gained (£)	Median (IQR) amount gained (£)	Mean amount (95% Cl) gained (£)	
Means tested										
Council Tax Benefit	24	8	746	508 (423–1039)	29	11	991	889 (423–1585)	-245 (-694 to 204)	
Housing Benefit	12	5	4670	6202 (2180–6582)	12	8	4920	5737 (2855–6543)	–250 (–3387 to 2886)	
Pension Credit Guarantee	4	4	1529	1582 (711–2346)	7	4	1870	1053 (438–3301)	-341 (-2653 to 1971)	
Pension Credit Savings	5	5	872	459 (430–845)	4	3	955	851 (636–1376)	-83 (-977 to 811)	
Non-means tested										
Disability Living Allowance: Care	9	4	5106	4023 (2746–7466)	12	8	3970	4013 (2746–5201)	1136 (–2742 to 5015)	
Disability Living Allowance: Mobility	4	1	1686	1686 (1686–1686)	7	4	5030	4927 (4380–5680)	-3344 (-4035 to -2654)	
Attendance Allowance: lower rate	3	2	3727	3727 (3421–4034)	5	2	3941	3941 (3867–4016)	-214 (-684 to 256)	
Attendance Allowance: high rate	9	7	7240	7387 (7387–7387)	7	3	7066	6996 (6815–7387)	174 (-231 to 580)	
Carer's Allowance	2	1	3895	3895 (3895–3895)	8	2	5393	5393 (4578–6208)	–1499 (–2810 to –187)	
Industrial Injuries Disablement Benefit	2	2	1763	1763 (1226–2299)	5	5	2257	2529 (1229–2545)	-494 (-1673 to 685)	
Average total amount gained per participant		36	3541	2240 (532–6874)		41	3991	3756 (1412–6189)	-451 (-1892 to 991)	

 TABLE 25 Financial benefits: average total amounts gained per participant and new benefit awarded (1.5% discount rate)

	Trial arm						
	Intervention			Control		Difference	
Benefit	<i>n</i> (complete cases)	Mean amount gained (£)	Median amount gained (£) (IQR)	n (complete cases)	Mean amount gained (£)	Median amount gained (£) (IQR)	Mean amount gained (£) (95% Cl)
Means tested							
Council Tax Benefit	8	737	502 (418–1026)	11	979	878 (418–1566)	-242 (-681 to 197)
Housing Benefit	5	4608	6119 (2151–6495)	8	4855	5661 (2817–6456)	-247 (-3289 to 2795)
Pension Credit Guarantee	4	1506	1558 (701–2311)	4	1842	1038 (432–3252)	–336 (–2626 to 1955)
Pension Credit Savings	5	861	454 (425–834)	3	943	841 (629–1359)	-82 (-962 to 798)
Non-means tested							
Disability Living Allowance: Care	4	5037	3969 (2709–7365)	8	3916	3959 (2709–5131)	1121 (–2715 to 4957)
Disability Living Allowance: Mobility	1	1663	1663 (1663–1663)	4	4963	4862 (4322–5604)	-3300 (-4022 to -2578)
Attendance Allowance: low rate	2	3675	3675 (3373–3978)	2	3886	3886 (3813–3959)	-211 (-677 to 256)
Attendance Allowance: high rate	7	7158	7303 (7303–7303)	3	6985	6916 (6737–7303)	172 (–226 to 570)
Carer's Allowance	1	3841	3841 (3841–3841)	2	5320	5320 (4516–6124)	–1478 (–2772 to –184)
Industrial Injuries Disablement Benefit	2	1739	1739 (1210–2268)	5	2227	2495 (1213–2510)	-488 (-1696 to 721)
Average total amount gained per participant	36	3496	2210 (525–6795)	41	3939	3705 (1392–6106)	-443 (-1874 to 988)

#### TABLE 26 Financial benefits: average total amounts gained per participant and new benefit awarded (3.5% discount rate)

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NHR Journals Ubrary, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

		Control	Difference				
unt	Median amount gained (£) (IQR)	n (complete cases)	Mean amount gained (£)	Median amount gained (£)	IQR	Mean amount gained (£) (95% Cl)	
	508 (423–1039)	11	917	823	392–1468	-171 (-600 to 258)	
	6202 (2180–6582)	8	4166	4858	2418–5541	503 (–2479 to 3485)	
	1582 (711–2346)	4	1731	975	406–3057	–203 (–2382 to 1977)	
	459 (430–845)	3	879	784	586–1268	-8 (-886 to 871)	
	4023 (2746–7466)	8	3640	3679	2518–4768	1466 (–2392 to 5325)	
	1686 (1686–1686)	4	4920	4819	4285–5556	–3235 (–3951 to –2518)	
	3727 (3421–4034)	2	3207	3207	3147–3268	520 (52 to 989)	
	7387 (7387–7387)	3	6605	6540	6370–6905	636 (249 to 1023)	
	3895 (3895–3895)	2	4656	4656	3953–5360	–762 (–1894 to 371)	

2529

3147

1229–2545

1307–5431

-494 (-1673 to 685)

-84 (-1473 to 1305)

2257

3625

TABLE 27 Financial benefits: average total amounts gained per participant and new benefit awarded (1.5% discount rate, first quartile of duration distribution used for control group participants)

1763 (1226–2299) 5

41

2240 (532–6874)

Means tested

Council Tax Benefit

Pension Credit Savings

Housing Benefit

Pension Credit

Guarantee

Non-means tested Disability Living

low rate

high rate

Allowance: Care Disability Living

Allowance: Mobility Attendance Allowance:

Attendance Allowance:

Carer's Allowance

Industrial Injuries

gained per participant

Disablement Benefit Average total amount Trial arm Intervention

8

5

4

5

4

1

2

7

1

2

36

gained (£)

746

4670

1529

872

5106

1686

3727

7240

3895

1763

3541

	Trial arm						
	Intervention			Control	Difference		
Benefit	n (complete cases)	Mean amount gained (£)	Median amount gained (£) (IQR)	<i>n</i> (complete cases)	Mean amount gained (£)	Median amount gained (£) (IQR)	Mean amount gained (£) (95% Cl)
Means tested							
Council Tax Benefit	8	746	508 (423–1039)	11	1125	1009 (480–1800)	–379 (–853 to 96)
Housing Benefit	5	4670	6202 (2180–6582)	8	5853	6825 (3396–7784)	-1183 (-4409 to 2043)
Pension Credit Guarantee	4	1529	1582 (711–2346)	4	2423	1365 (568–4278)	–894 (–3815 to 2026)
Pension Credit Savings	5	872	459 (430–845)	3	1060	946 (707–1528)	-188 (-1098 to 721)
Non-means tested							
Disability Living Allowance: Care	4	5106	4023 (2746–7466)	8	4212	4258 (2914–5518)	894 (-3017 to 4805)
Disability Living Allowance: Mobility	1	1686	1686 (1686–1686)	4	5536	5422 (4820–6251)	-3850 (-4656 to -3044)
Attendance Allowance: low rate	2	3727	3727 (3421–4034)	2	4585	4585 (4499–4672)	–858 (–1336 to –379)
Attendance Allowance: high rate	7	7240	7387 (7387–7387)	3	7344	7271 (7082–7677)	-103 (-514 to 307)
Carer's Allowance	1	3895	3895 (3895–3895)	2	5423	5423 (4604–6243)	–1529 (–2848 to –210)
Industrial Injuries Disablement Benefit	2	1763	1763 (1226–2299)	5	2257	2529 (1229–2545)	-494 (-1673 to 685)
Average total amount gained per participant	36	3541	2240 (532–6874)	41	4420	3756 (1678–6727)	-880 (-2406 to 646)

TABLE 28 Financial benefits: average total amounts gained per participant and new benefit awarded (1.5% discount rate, third quartile of duration distribution used for control group participants)

	Data source						
	ccs		Questionnaire				
	Interver new cla	ntion ( <i>n</i> = 381) ims	Intervention ( <i>n</i> = 381) new claims	Control ( <i>n</i> = 374) new claims			
Benefit	n (%)	Mean amount (SD)	n (%)	n (%)			
Blue Badge	8 (2)		21 (6)	15 (4)			
Car (Motability Scheme)	n/aª		6 (2)	1 (< 1)			
Day centre attendance	n/aª		2 (1)	6 (2)			
Meals at home	n/aª		1 (< 1)	1 (< 1)			
Help with insulation cost	n/aª		24 (6)	40 <sup>b</sup> (11)			
Grant from HEES	n/aª		10 (3)	9 (2)			
Social tariff (electricity)	n/aª		16 (4)	17 (5)			
Warm Zones referral	1 (< 1)		n/aª	n/aª			
Amount: Warm Zones referral	1 (< 1)	130.00 (n/a)	n/aª	n/aª			
Financial help with dental treatment charges	3 (< 1)		17 (4)	23 (6)			
Amount: dentist	2 (< 1)	53.43 (34.20)	n/aª	n/aª			
Financial help with optical prescription charges	3 (< 1)		31 (8)	36 (10)			
Amount: optician	2 (< 1)	45.49 (8.84)	n/aª	n/aª			
Help with health-care costs: travel	1 (< 1)		n/aª				
Amount: NHS travel costs	1 (< 1)	13.08	n/aª	n/aª			
Community Care Alarm	2 (< 1)		0 (0)	0 (0)			

TABLE 29 Non-financial benefits: number (%) and amount (£) of new benefits by group allocation and data source

HEES, Home Energy Efficiency Scheme.

a No information collected in CCS or questionnaire.

b Statistically significantly different (at 5% level) from intervention group.

One element of non-financial benefits that participants could receive was new aids and adaptations that helped them to remain independent at home. A full list of all items can be found in *Table 30*. This information was taken from the responses to the questionnaire in order to provide a fair (less biased) comparison. There was no evidence of any statistically significant differences in the number of newly awarded items between trial arms, with the exception of a 'special telephone', which was more frequently received in the intervention group.

*Table 31* reports the average total value for aids and adaptations per participant. On average, the intervention group received £134 per participant more than the control group in the value of non-financial benefits in the form of aids and adaptations over the 2-year follow-up period (95% CI –£582 to £850).

		Data source, n (S		
		ccs	Questionnaire	
Category	Item	Intervention ( <i>n</i> = 381)	Intervention (n = 381)	Control ( <i>n</i> = 374)
Bathing	Bath/grab rail(s)		17 (4)	21 (6)
	Walk-in shower		19 (5)	21 (6)
	Bath house		2 (< 1)	0 (0)
	Bath seat/board	3 (< 1)	10 (3)	5 (1)
Toileting	Grab rails in toilet/bathroom		11 (3)	13 (3)
	Commode for day/night use		4 (1)	1 (< 1)
	Bedpan/urinal/bottle		1 (< 1)	0 (0)
	Raised toilet seat	1 (< 1)	13 (3)	15 (4)
	Incontinence pads		5 (1)	1 (< 1)
Bedroom	Bed hoist		1 (< 1)	0 (0)
	Bed raise/bed block		5 (1)	4 (1)
	Special bed/mattress		7 (2)	8 (2)
Chair/bed	Sheepskin		0 (0)	0 (0)
	Special cushion(s)		6 (2)	5 (1)
	Special chair/chair raise	3 (< 1)	9 (2)	6 (2)
Accessibility	Widened doorways		2 (< 1)	2 (< 1)
	Additional stair rails	4 (1)	10 (3)	10 (3)
	Stairlift/vertical lift	1 (< 1)	7 (2)	4 (1)
	Ramp at front/rear entrance(s)		5 (1)	5 (1)
	Additional grab rails at front/rear entrance(s)		17 (4)	13 (3)
	Door handle(s)	4 (1)	n/a	n/a
Mobility	Manual wheelchair		2 (< 1)	7 (2)
	Electric wheelchair		1 (< 1)	0 (0)
	Walking frame (Zimmer)	1 (< 1)	2 (< 1)	5 (1)
	Walking stick(s)		22 (6)	21 (6)
	Walking trolley		4 (1)	2 (< 1)
	Crutches		2 (< 1)	1 (< 1)
Meals	Kitchen gadgets		12 (3)	12 (3)
	Special cutlery/crockery		4 (1)	1 (< 1)
	Meal trolley		2 (< 1)	0 (0)
Communication	Community Care Alarm scheme		14 (4)	10 (3)
	Special telephone		7 (2)	1ª (< 1)
	Entrance telecom		3 (< 1)	1 (< 1)
				continued

#### TABLE 30 Number (%) of newly received benefits: aids and adaptations by group and by data source

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

		Data source, n (%)						
		ccs	Questionnaire	Questionnaire				
Category	Item	Intervention (n = 381)	Intervention (n = 381)	Control ( <i>n</i> = 374)				
Adapted items	Helping hand for picking up objects while standing		18 (5)	20 (5)				
	Helping hand for pulling on socks/stockings		1 (4)	1 (< 1)				
	Special implements with long handles (e.g. hair brush)		4 (1)	3 (< 1)				

#### TABLE 30 Number (%) of newly received benefits: aids and adaptations by group and by data source (continued)

a Statistically significantly different (at 5% level) from intervention group (questionnaire data).

### **TABLE 31** Aids and adaptations: average total amounts gained per participant in intervention and control groups, and mean difference

	Tria	ıl arm								
Intervention						ntrol		Difference		
		Mean amount gained (£)	Median amount gained (£)	IQR (£)		Mean amount gained (£)	Median amount gained (£)	IQR (£)	Mean difference (£) [intervention- control]	95% Cl (£)
Average total amount gained per participant	92	1514	87	29–1646	92	1380	130	23–4021	134	–582 to 850

#### Health-related quality of life

Changes in HRQoL were captured by a comparison of EQ-5D-3L scores between trial arms. EQ-5D-3L responses are broken down into the responses for each of the five questions so that it is possible to observe how responses to each question may differ between trial arms (see *Table 37*, *Appendix 20*). The observed pattern in responses to each of the questions at both baseline and 24 month follow-up was similar between trial arms.

*Table 32* reports the mean EQ-5D-3L scores by each group. When converting the responses to the EQ-5D-3L into a score, the 36 participants who died during the trial follow-up period were scored as 0 at the 24 month follow-up, and these data have contributed to the estimation of mean scores. The number of deaths was evenly distributed between the randomised groups.

Not all participants who were alive at the end of trial follow-up completed the EQ-5D-3L. To understand if there might be some informative reason why there was not a response to the EQ-5D-3L, the correlation between whether or not EQ-5D-3L was missing and the primary study outcome, CASP-19, was estimated. This analysis showed that there was no evidence that missing EQ-5D-3L values were highly correlated with the CASP-19 (Pearson's correlation coefficient –0.0886; p = 0.0668). Therefore, it was assumed that missing EQ-5D-3L responses for those who were not known to have died were missing at random.

For both trial arms, EQ-5D-3L scores were slightly higher at 24 months. QALYs calculated from EQ-5D-3L data at both baseline and 24 months were slightly higher on average in the intervention group after adjusting for differences in baseline EQ-5D-3L, age and gender (see *Table 32*), but there was no evidence of a statistically significant difference between trial arms. The CI is wide enough, however, to include clinically important differences favouring either trial arm.

### TABLE 32 Health-related quality-of-life measures at baseline and 24 months in intervention and control groups, and mean differences

	Trial	arm							
	Intervention					rol	Difference		
Measure		Mean score	SD	Median score		Mean score	SD	Median score	Mean (95% Cl)
EQ-5D-3L baseline	374	0.589	0.332	0.691	363	0.583	0.356	0.691	0.006 (–0.044 to 0.056)
EQ-5D-3L 24 months <sup>a</sup>	298	0.630	0.325	0.699	291	0.623	0.343	0.714	0.006 (–0.048 to 0.060)
QALYs <sup>a</sup>	293	1.240	0.562	1.372	282	1.242	0.613	1.415	-0.002 (-0.098 to 0.094)
Adjusted QALYs gained <sup>b</sup>									0.014 (–0.031 to 0.059)

a Benefits from year 2 have been discounted at a rate of 1.5%.

b Adjusted via standard linear regression for baseline covariates: EQ-5D-3L, age and gender.

#### Balance sheet

The results of the cost–consequence analysis are presented in the balance sheet (*Table 33*), indicating which arm of the intervention they favour (i.e. in which trial arm a significant positive difference in a particular benefit was observed).

#### **Cost-utility analysis**

On average, the (adjusted) intervention was found to be more costly and more effective than usual care (*Table 34*).

#### TABLE 33 Cost-consequences analysis: balance sheet

Outcome favours intervention (I)	Outcome favours control (C)
Qualitative findings	Financial benefits (mean difference in amount gained)
For some, the nature of the intervention, involving a domiciliary visit and active assistance with claims, as well as reassurance concerning entitlement, relieved stress and generated positive feelings (e.g. peace of mind)	Disability living allowance (mobility component): £3344 (95% CI £2654 to £4035)
For some, the increased benefits allowed the individual to escape a stressful and precarious financial situation	Carer's Allowance: £1499 (95% CI £187 to £2810)
For some, the increased benefits prevented the need for borrowing or reducing savings and helped to reduce or prevent debt, thus increasing their financial security and reducing stress	Non-financial benefits
For some, the increased benefits alleviated food and fuel poverty and security against otherwise catastrophic unplanned costs	Insulation cost: an additional 16 participants received help with insulation cost [I, 24 (6%); C, 40 (11%); p = 0.030]
For some, the increased benefits helped to maintain mobility, independence and support formal and informal support with activities of daily living	
For some, the increased benefits allowed the provision of monetary or non-monetary gifts for informal help receive, increasing their perceptions of self-worth and reinforcing informal support networks	

continued

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

#### TABLE 33 Cost-consequences analysis: balance sheet (continued)

No evidence that outcome differs between intervention and control group (I - C)

No evidence of a difference in the following financial benefits (mean difference in amount gained), but CIs are wide enough to include economically important differences favouring either group Financial benefits<sup>a</sup>

Average total amount: -£451 (95% CI -£1892 to £991)

Council Tax Benefit: -£245 (95% CI -£694 to £204)

Housing Benefit: -£250 (95% CI -£3387 to £2886)

Pension Credit (guarantee): -£341 (95% CI -£2653 to £1971)

Pension Credit (savings): -£83 (95% CI -£977 to £811)

Disability Living Allowance (care component): £1136 (95% CI -£2742 to £5015)

Attendance Allowance (low rate): -£241 (95% CI -£684 to £256)

Attendance Allowance (high rate): £174 (95% CI –£231 to £580)

Industrial Injuries Disablement Benefit: -£494 (95% CI -£1673 to £685)

No evidence of a difference in the following non-financial benefits (difference in frequency between groups) Non-financial benefits<sup>a</sup>

Blue Badge: an additional six participants in the intervention group received Blue Badges [I, 21 (6%); C, 15 (4%); p = 0.313]

Car: an additional five participants in the intervention group received a car from the Motability Scheme [I, 6 (2%); C, 1 (<1%); p = 0.057]

Day centre attendance: an additional four participants in the control group attended a day centre [I, 2 (1%); C, 6 (2%); p = 0.150]

Meals at home: the same number of participants received meals at home in both trial arms [I, 1 (< 1%); C, 1 (< 1%); p = 0.992]

Grant from HEES: one additional participant in the intervention group received a grant from HEES [I, 10 (3%); C, 9 (2%); p = 0.828]

Social tariff (electricity): one additional participant in the control group reported to be on a social tariff for electricity [I, 16 (4%); C, 17 (5%); p = 0.642]

Financial help with optical prescription charges: an additional five participants in the control group received financial help with optical charges [I, 31 (8%); C, 36 (10%); p = 0.356]

Financial help with dental treatment charges: an additional six participants in the control group received financial help with dental treatment charges [I, 17 (4%); C, 23 (6%); p = 0.266]

Aids and adaptations (mean difference in average total amount)<sup>a</sup>

Average total amount: £134 (95% CI -£582 to £850)

HRQoL (mean difference in QALYs gained)

QALYs gained: 0.009 (95% CI -0.038 to 0.055)

C, control; HEES, Home Energy Efficiency Scheme; I, intervention.

a A positive difference implies that the average amount or the number of observations in the intervention group was greater than the average amount or number of observations in the control group.

#### Note

Reproduced from Howel *et al.*<sup>2</sup> This is an Open Access article distributed in accordance with the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution International license (CC BY 4.0), which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt and build upon this work, for commercial use, provided the original work is properly cited. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

Group allocation	Cost (£)	Incremental cost (£) (95% CI)	QALYs	Incremental QALYs	Incremental cost (£) per QALY gained (ICER)
Control	0.00		1.242		
Intervention	16.80	16.80	1.240	-0.002	Dominated
Intervention (adjusted <sup>a</sup> )		17.18 (15.37 to 19.05)		0.009 (–0.038 to 0.055)	1914

#### TABLE 34 Cost-utility analysis: ICER – base case

a Results reported from SUR estimation, adjusting for baseline EQ-5D-3L, age and gender. **Note** 

Reproduced from Howel *et al.*<sup>2</sup> This is an Open Access article distributed in accordance with the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution International license (CC BY 4.0), which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt and build upon this work, for commercial use, provided the original work is properly cited. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

However, the differences in QALYs gained were not significant (p = 0.966). The point estimate of incremental cost per QALY gained was £1914. Nevertheless, there is considerable statistical imprecision surrounding these data, and bootstrapping was used to estimate the precision surrounding estimates of cost, QALYs and incremental cost per QALY. The incremental cost-effectiveness plane (*Figure 6*) visually plots the differences in mean costs and effects from each of the 1000 bootstrap iterations and indicates the level of uncertainty around cost and QALY point estimates (as previously reported by the 95% bootstrapped CIs in *Table 34*). Every point above the *x*-axis indicates that the intervention is more costly than usual care. Every point left of the *y*-axis indicates that the intervention is less effective than usual care, and right of the y-axis is more effective.

The statistical imprecision surrounding estimates of cost-effectiveness are presented in terms of a CEAC (*Figure 7*). A CEAC shows the one-sided probability that the intervention is cost-effective at any given value for society's WTP for a QALY gained. This is analogous to the upper interval in a CI; the lower interval is irrelevant if we believe that the intervention is cost-effective at the upper interval because it must therefore be cost-effective at the lower interval.

In the CEAC we calculate the number of bootstrap iterations where the intervention arm is likely to be considered cost-effective compared with control over a range of values for society's WTP for a QALY gain. As we have 1000 bootstrap iterations, we can estimate the probability that the intervention is cost-effective



FIGURE 6 Cost-effectiveness plane.

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.



FIGURE 7 Cost-effectiveness acceptability curve.

over the range of values. Furthermore, if the intervention is not cost-effective compared with the control then the control is cost-effective.

The probability that the intervention would be cost-effective, should society be willing to pay £20,000 per QALY gained, was around 63%. This suggests, given current evidence, that in economic terms and taking a NHS and local authority perspective we are almost indifferent to whether or not the intervention is implemented.

From an individual perspective, however, the value of the benefits can be considered a gain, albeit one that has not clearly translated into improved health over the 2-year time horizon of the study.

These results were robust to changes in the discount rate and higher costs associated with the delivery of the intervention.

The base-case analysis was based on complete cases. When missing EQ-5D-3L data were imputed using multiple imputation, the QALYs gained in the control group were, on average, 0.019 higher (95% CI –0.068 to 0.029). Therefore, the intervention was, on average, more costly and less effective than the control, and hence the intervention was dominated by usual care (*Table 35*).

#### Probability **Probability** cost-effective cost-effective cost-effective OALY at WTP at WTP at WTP Imputation for missing data ICER £10,000 (%) £20,000 (%) £30,000 (%) Complete cases only, n/a (only participants with full 0.009 Base case 534 17.18 1914 60.5 62.7 63.3 discount rate 1.5% data) Higher discount EQ-5D-3L at 24-month n/a (only participants with full 534 17.18 0.009 1953 60.4 62.5 63.3 follow-up discounted at data) rate 3.5% Intervention costs Mean WRA salary n/a (only participants with full 534 22.39 0.009 2492 59.7 61.7 62.9 +20%, mileage data) reimbursement +50% 19.3 19.8 Missing EQ-5D-3L MI for missing EQ-5D-3L MI using baseline information 664 15.58 -0.019 Dominated 18.6 for EQ-5D-3L and care at home at 24-month scores at 24-month follow-up follow-up required (binary variable)

#### TABLE 35 Cost-utility analysis: ICER, probabilities for cost-effectiveness and sensitivity analyses

MI, multiple imputation; n/a, not applicable.

a Results from SUR estimation, adjusted for baseline EQ-5D-3L, age and gender.

# Chapter 6 Discussion

#### **Summary of main findings**

Within the intervention group, only 22% of participants were awarded extra financial or non-financial benefits after receiving domiciliary welfare rights advice: the remainder declined the advice, were awarded no benefits or declined the benefits for which they were eligible. Quantitative analyses found little evidence that domiciliary welfare rights advice led to positive impacts on HRQoL over the 24-month follow-up period. There was no significant difference in the primary outcome (CASP-19 score) between intervention and control group participants at 24 months (adjusted mean difference 0.3, 95% CI –0.8 to 1.5), nor was there evidence that the difference varied among subgroups distinguished by age, sex or socioeconomic position. We did find a significant change in the hours of care received per week, which increased more in the intervention group (53.7 vs. 42.0; adjusted difference of 26.3 hours/week, 95% CI 0.8 to 56.1 hours/week), but at the lower end of the CI the difference was of questionable value, while at the upper end of the CI the difference would be of real importance. This range reflected the small numbers receiving care, and the large variation between them in terms of hours of care.

Exploratory analyses indicate that there were no significant differences in primary or secondary outcomes between those in the intervention group who received welfare rights advice versus those who did not, and those in the intervention group who received benefits versus those who did not, excepting that those who did not receive benefits reported significantly higher levels of physical activity at 24 months. We also found no significant differences in CASP-19 score between the 55 participants in the intervention group who were awarded financial benefits compared with the 48 in the control group who were awarded financial benefits after 24 months and were thus comparable on eligibility (adjusted mean difference in CASP-19 score 1.4, 95% CI –2.0 to 4.7). We found no evidence of a dose–response relationship between amount of financial benefit received by those in the intervention group and change in CASP-19 score at 24 months. We did, however, find a weak positive correlation between CASP-19 score at 24 months and the amount of time since receipt of the benefit (0.39, 95% CI 0.16 to 0.58).

The qualitative data suggested that receipt of the intervention was acceptable, and both participants and professionals perceived the receipt of additional financial and non-financial benefits to have had a positive impact on health and HRQoL. For example, for some participants, the increased benefits allowed them to escape a stressful and precarious financial situation; prevented the need to borrow or reduce savings and helped to reduce debt, thereby increasing financial security and reducing stress; alleviated some food and fuel poverty and provided security against otherwise catastrophic unplanned costs; helped to maintain mobility, independence and pay for formal and informal support with activities of daily living; or allowed the provision of monetary or non-monetary gifts for informal help received, increasing perceptions of self-worth and reinforcing informal support networks. Overall, the picture painted by the qualitative findings was one that suggested that the intervention, when leading to additional financial or non-financial benefits, resulted in improvements in HRQoL with the potential to impact on physical or mental health, and could lead to increased independence.

The economic evaluation indicated that, on average, the delivery of domiciliary welfare rights advice was found to be more costly and more effective than standard practice. The average total cost per participant was £44 over 24 months. This included around £17 (95% CI £15 to £19) for additional activities associated with the intervention being delivered in participants' homes. The mean health gain, although not statistically significant, from the Do-Well intervention after 24 months was 0.009 (95% CI –0.038 to 0.055) QALYs (adjusted for baseline EQ-5D-3L, age and gender), resulting in an ICER of £1914 per QALY gained. However, the probability that the intervention was cost-effective was only 60% when compared with conventional thresholds for society's WTP for a QALY (£20,000) and any value above. For the majority

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton S016 7NS, UK.

of financial and non-financial benefits, including aids and adaptations, no difference in the number of new awards was observed between the trial arms over the study period. Using a cost–consequences analysis, from an individual perspective the value of the receipt of benefits was a gain, albeit one that did not clearly translate into improved health over the 2-year time horizon of the study. Imprecision around all estimates was high, and analyses involving multiple imputation to account for missing data yielded differing conclusions, indicating the degree of uncertainty that still exists.

Overall, the economic analyses showed that, despite no significant difference in quality of life being identified, changes in the receipt of benefits might be expected to impact on recipients' well-being. Nevertheless, there was no evidence of any difference in welfare benefits between the trial arms, although CIs were wide enough to include potentially important differences. Even small increases in relatively small incomes might, therefore, be important.

### Strengths and limitations of the study

This is the first RCT to examine the impact of welfare rights advice on health outcomes, and the first to explore specifically the impact of the advice on older people when it is delivered in their own homes. The trial was rigorously, ethically and legally conducted to internationally accepted standards, adhered to accepted reporting protocols and was overseen by an independent TSC. We employed rigorous controls to ensure data quality, and blinding to minimise bias among data collectors. Our primary and secondary outcomes were measured using validated scales, and were chosen on the basis of rigorous pilot work. We demonstrated the potential of the CASP-19 scale to show a clinically important change over time in relevant groups in advance of the trial using analysis of national cohort study data. The study was then powered to be able to demonstrate such a change as a result of the intervention. The intervention and control groups were balanced on all variables, indicating appropriate and effective randomisation.

The trial included a detailed process evaluation with both quantitative and qualitative components providing data that helped to explain the main trial and economic evaluation findings. We optimised the intervention prior to delivery by providing information, training and guidance for WRAs and GPs on their respective roles in ensuring welfare entitlements. We then assessed the fidelity of the intervention by recording and analysing a sample of WRAs' interactions with clients. We were able to record only seven interactions. Although it is possible that WRAs who were not recorded delivered the service in a different way, resulting in systematically different outcomes, we think that this is unlikely, as a key performance indicator for WRAs is income maximisation, and they are therefore highly motivated to identify eligibility.

The qualitative study was rigorously conducted, with systematic and independent double coding of data to enhance internal validity. The participant data was corroborated using data from professional participants, and triangulated with our pilot study data.

The economic evaluation was conducted from public sector and Treasury perspectives, and comprehensively explored the potential for cost-effectiveness using both cost–utility and cost–consequences analyses. Sensitivity analyses assessed the impact of different data sources and varying key assumptions and parameters on the cost-effectiveness of the intervention.

We intended to conduct the trial in all local authority areas in one region, but found that two out of 12 authorities were unable to provide domiciliary welfare rights advice services, and in a further two local authority areas we were unable to recruit any general practices willing to participate. In the eight local authority areas in which we found willing general practices, there was variation in the ability or willingness of these practices to recruit participants, such that numbers of potential participants who were approached varied from 330 to 695 by local authority area and from 100 to 387 by general practice. Initial recruitment fell short of our target, and a second wave of recruitment, involving the recruitment of additional general practices, was necessary, which required us to seek an extension to the study.

We recruited participants from general practices located in areas in the lower two-fifths of the distribution of socioeconomic deprivation, measured using the IMD 2010, using the method described by Griffin et al.<sup>72</sup> However, when we examined the IMD scores assigned to the 17 general practices that agreed to participate in the study, the practices were in fact slightly less deprived on average [mean IMD score at MSOA level 37.0 (SD 10.4)] than the remaining 363 general practices in the North East [mean IMD score at MSOA level 38.5 (SD 11.5)]. Forty-five per cent of older people who were identified by general practices, and who did not opt out after receiving the initial invitation, later declined to participate. We have no information on these 1770 older people, who might have differed significantly (e.g. in terms of benefit eligibility or health status) from those who later participated. Similarly, of the 2142 we invited to participate, only 35% agreed to be randomised. Compared with those who declined, those who participated were, on average, less likely to be socioeconomically disadvantaged [IMD score at LSOA level 33.5 (SD 17.9) vs. IMD score at LSOA level 29.0 (SD 16.0)] and more likely to be women (50.5% vs. 53.5%). Overall, the recruitment rate varied from 8.5% to 26.0% (mean 19.3%; 755/3912) by general practice; it is unclear if this had an impact on outcomes. We compared these data with both the ELSA cohort and equivalent data from our pilot study. In both cases these data suggest that our trial cohort was somewhat more affluent than expected, which is likely to have reduced their eligibility for benefit outcomes and may, to an extent, explain the lower than expected proportion gaining additional benefits.

Participation in the study was limited to those fluent in English, which is likely to have excluded some older people from black and minority ethnic communities. Compared with the rest of the UK, the North East has a lower proportion of people from black and minority ethnic communities. The cost and complexity of providing translation and interpretation services for the very small number of participants (both for the trial and, in particular, for the domiciliary intervention) were considered too great to facilitate the participation of this group. Nevertheless, six people from black and minority ethnic groups participated in the trial (about 0.75% of participants). This does limit the generalisability of the study to black and minority ethnic populations in the UK. The study also excluded individuals deemed unable to participate in the research owing to poor mental or physical health, as assessed by their GP. In studies of this kind, it is usual for GPs to be offered the opportunity to exclude patients from the research who they feel would be unable to participate, or for whom the research might prove too challenging either physically or mentally. Nevertheless, such patients might have benefited from the intervention, and their exclusion may limit generalisability. The exclusion of the above groups may have contributed to the less socioeconomically disadvantaged profile of the trial participants.

One local authority did not deliver its own welfare rights advice services and, instead, contracted such services out to a third-sector organisation. In addition, during the course of the study there was substantial turnover of WRAs and changes in the local authority services available, which may have impacted on intervention delivery. For example, there was an indication that the initial WRA appointments for participants took longer to arrange the more the study progressed. We mitigated this as far as possible by employing independent WRAs as part of the study to provide cover when local authorities could not deliver services in their areas.

We lost 21% of participants through withdrawal or loss to follow-up, which was more than we anticipated from our pilot RCT.<sup>11</sup> However, those lost from the study as a result of death constituted 4.8% of participants, fewer than the 5.6% who died during the 24 months' follow-up in the pilot study.<sup>11</sup> Those who left the study had poorer health than those who remained at 24 months. We were unable to interview anyone who dropped out of the study, so the reasons for attrition remain unclear.

An important limitation was the lower than anticipated proportion of participants in the intervention group (84/335, 22%) found to be eligible for additional benefits (and, similarly, after 24-month follow-up, in the control group). This had the consequence of significantly reducing the chance that we could detect an overall meaningful effect of the intervention, as any signal from the small number of those eligible was diluted in the intention-to-treat analyses. The relatively small numbers of new benefits recorded and the variation in the observed amounts resulted in substantial imprecision around point estimates for the value of benefits. For most of the financial benefits, owing to a lack of evidence, the economic analysis did not

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton S016 7NS, UK.

detect any significant differences between trial arms. However, CIs are wide and include economically important differences favouring either the intervention or the control group.

We designed the study to avoid contamination between trial arms. The participants were individually randomised, and those in the control group received no contact from a study WRA until after the 24-month follow-up. However, participants were free to seek welfare rights advice independently or to claim benefits independently during the course of the study. In data collected from the control group by interview at 24 months, a larger than anticipated proportion of participants reported new benefits that were not reported at baseline. When these were financial benefits, they must either have resulted from new claims or be the result of misreporting. When these were non-financial benefits (e.g. aids and adaptations in the home), it is possible that they were acquired by means other than welfare claims. Our qualitative work shed no further light on the source of these benefits (e.g. out of 20 control group participants interviewed, none indicated that participating in the trial had prompted them to seek welfare rights advice independently, yet 14 out of the 20 ultimately reported additional benefits at the 24-month follow-up), and the numbers and amounts of benefits reported, particularly non-financial, differed considerably between the 24-month interview and the CCS forms completed by WRAs at 24 months (see further below). Nevertheless, we are aware that, during the time of the study, a range of third-sector welfare rights advice service providers were operating in the North East, including Citizens Advice Bureaux, Age UK, Advice UK network, Law Centres Network, Shelter and the Money Advice Trust. Family and friends can also be important sources of advice on claiming benefits.

The main outcome (CASP-19) was assessed in interviews at 24 months, and by self-report using a postal questionnaire at 12 months. Such self-reported data may be subject to a variety of biases, in particular due to recall and social desirability. We found that the reports of benefits received at 24-month follow-up differed substantially between interview data and the data collected by WRAs in their CCS forms at 24 months. The reasons for this are unclear and, to ensure comparability with the intervention group, in particular in the economic evaluation, we decided to use the interviewer data. Sensitivity analyses were employed to explore the impact of data source. The discrepancy in self-reported data for additional non-financial benefits was substantial and could have altered the findings. However, comparing the reported numbers between groups suggested no significant effect of the intervention, although we cannot rule out the possibility that a meaningful difference existed. We were unable to obtain all of the CCS forms from the WRAs, resulting in some missing data on benefit outcomes in the control group at 24 months.

In our qualitative study, many participants referred to how benefits alleviated anxiety or worry. In our secondary outcomes measures, although we included the PHQ-9 depression scale, we did not include a specific measure of anxiety, and this is a limitation. We measured activities of daily living using the Townsend Activities of Daily Living scale, which was collected at baseline and at 12 and 24 months. This was included as a potential confounding factor in the outcome analyses. We decided that it would be inappropriate to use this scale as a secondary outcome because, although it reports on the ability to perform activities, it does not take into account whether or not, and from whom, help with activities is needed.

The costs in the control group were probably overestimated compared with those in the intervention group. For example, the durations for all other WRA activities that were not included in the cost analyses may have been higher in the intervention group. This is based on the assumption that, compared with usual practice, more claims for additional benefits may have been picked up by the WRA in participants' homes, which would have increased the total duration of all activities in the intervention group.

Owing to the number of data collected by means of both participant questionnaires and the CCS that had to be analysed, the aim of the cost-effectiveness analyses was to use as much information as possible to provide an overview of which benefits (out of a potentially large range) were the most frequently awarded. Not all information (e.g. partner benefits and one-off payments from questionnaire data) were included in the final analyses, largely because there were missing duration data. However, as there was no evidence

that the number of benefits reported in the questionnaires differed substantially between the trial arms, the results should not have been affected by this decision. Given that the information on durations was essential for the analysis, and was not collected for participants in the control group, estimates of the time a benefit was received in the control group were based on the estimates of the duration of benefits obtained for the intervention group. This may have limited the number of financial benefits considered and, therefore, may have led to an underestimate of the financial benefits in the control group. However, as the intervention was supposed to increase the number of benefits claimed, it was thought that this underestimation would be negligible.

Cross-validation between the CCS and questionnaire data for the intervention group was used to assess the validity of both data sources. This work showed that the number of newly awarded financial benefits recorded for the intervention group in the CCS was slightly higher than in the self-reported questionnaire data. Although a similar pattern of under-reporting may have occurred for those in the control group, the net impact on differences in value of benefits is likely to be small.

Finally, most likely as a result of the age range of the population and the trial period of 2 years, the number of participants lost to follow-up was relatively high, which was reflected, for example, by almost 23% of EQ-5D-3L data missing in each trial arm at the 24-month follow-up. There was also evidence that those remaining in the study at 24 months were healthier than those who dropped out for any reason.

### Strengths and limitations in relation to previous studies

The trial was designed carefully to overcome the key methodological weaknesses of previous research. These included a lack of randomisation or controls; a limited range of outcomes without clear theoretical justification; limited statistical power; very short-term follow-up; a lack of economic evaluation; and a lack of process evaluation offering explanatory potential (see *Chapter 1* for a detailed discussion of how these limitations were addressed).<sup>42,43</sup>

We optimised the intervention to maximise the likelihood of successful claims for those eligible by providing the intervention in people's own homes, so as to avoid requiring those with health problems to travel;<sup>33</sup> ensuring that there was active assistance with claims, so as to avoid the significant challenges that people can face in completing complicated claims forms;<sup>12,31,110</sup> and providing training, information and guidance for both WRAs and GPs in assisting claims, so as to ensure that the welfare rights advice was delivered with maximal fidelity.<sup>11,12</sup>

We targeted the intervention to ensure that it was delivered most efficiently to those most likely to benefit from the intervention. We did this by identifying general practices in the poorest areas of the North East, using methods similar to those used in previous studies.<sup>72</sup> However, we found that this did not guarantee that either the practices or the individual participants were similarly socioeconomically deprived (i.e. in the lower two-fifths of IMD distribution).

Our qualitative findings were remarkably similar to those identified in our pilot RCT,<sup>12</sup> completed more than 10 years earlier. They demonstrated a range of potentially important impacts on HRQoL at an individual level, which we had anticipated might translate into detectable quantitative improvements in CASP-19 and secondary outcomes in this trial. The most notable difference from the pilot study to emerge reflected wider societal discourses on welfare entitlements, particularly the stigma and shame associated with claiming benefits.<sup>111</sup> As has been found elsewhere, being viewed as an undeserving claimant is the key form of benefit stigma,<sup>112</sup> and participants went to considerable lengths to justify the legitimacy of their claim by referring to their lifetime contributions into the welfare system. Professionals expressed a range of concerns about the impact of government austerity measures on welfare benefits and services, measures that were not present at the time of our pilot study and that are disproportionately impacting hardest on the poorest areas with the worst health outcomes.<sup>106,107</sup> However, in the context of a rigorously

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton S016 7NS, UK.

conducted RCT, neither of these issues seems likely to have affected the outcome of the trial, as they would probably have affected both trial arms equally. That said, it is possible that changing views on benefit entitlement adversely affected older people's willingness to participate in the trial, which may in turn have affected the response rate adversely. It was also evident during the study that the ability of welfare rights advice services to meet the study's needs became more constrained over time.

# Meaning of the study: possible mechanisms and implications for policy and practice

Altogether, the findings of this study do not provide sufficient evidence to support the commissioning of domiciliary welfare rights advice as a means of promoting health among older people. Nevertheless, taking into account the potential limitations of the study, we cannot rule out the possibility that the intervention had a potentially beneficial effect, and that this might be cost-effective. The findings in relation to the trial end points are somewhat surprising, given the qualitative findings, which suggest important impacts on HRQoL at an individual level. There are a number of possible explanations for this. First, the smaller than anticipated proportion of participants in the intervention arm eligible for new benefits will have considerably diluted the effect of the intervention on outcomes, resulting in an undetectable signal from the primary or secondary outcomes. Second, the receipt of additional benefits may take longer to convert into changes in HRQoL than we had time to measure. Third, we may have measured the wrong outcomes. Finally, there may be no measurable effect. Each of these explanations is now discussed further.

Our method of identifying suitable practices yielded ones that, despite being based in relatively poor areas (i.e. in the lower two-fifths of the IMD distribution), did not result in trial participants with equivalent levels of socioeconomic deprivation. This might have been because there were fewer such potential participants in practices than anticipated or because older people at the poorer end of the socioeconomic spectrum were not contactable or were less willing to participate. It is also possible that, when compared with the time our pilot trial was undertaken, there are now fewer older people entitled to unclaimed benefits. However, data collected nationally do not support this proposition. For example, around two-fifths of pensioner households entitled to Council Tax Benefit and one-third of those entitled to Pension Credit are still not claiming these benefits.<sup>35</sup> It seems most likely that our recruitment method failed to identify and engage those most likely to be in need of the intervention. This has important implications for future evaluations and for service delivery models. More targeted approaches to identifying evaluation participants eligible for new benefits are warranted, as suggested by key stakeholders interviewed in our qualitative interviews.

We identified a correlation, albeit one that is relatively weak, between time since receipt of benefit and level of CASP-19 at 24 months in the intervention group. This, coupled with the lack of overall effect at 24 months, and the longer than anticipated time (median 58 days: substantially greater than the intended 14 days) taken by WRAs to conduct initial assessments of participants in the intervention group, suggests that a follow-up of longer than 24 months may have made it possible to detect a stronger effect. The feasibility of such a long-term follow-up (e.g. 36–60 months) in a new randomised trial may be problematic as, in our qualitative work with older people during the design of this trial, participants felt that it would not be acceptable for those in the control group to wait longer than 24 months for the intervention.<sup>1</sup> Nevertheless, further follow-up of this trial cohort would be possible and may yield important new findings.

In developing this trial we focused considerable efforts on identifying the most appropriate outcomes. We based our decisions on existing literature as well as on the findings of our prior qualitative research.<sup>12,52</sup> This work pointed us towards the likelihood that the receipt of additional benefits among those living in socioeconomically disadvantaged circumstances might have its greatest impact on HRQoL. The CASP-19 measure<sup>57,63</sup> captured four domains (control, autonomy, self-realisation and pleasure) that most closely mapped onto the theoretical constructs defined in this prior research. Nevertheless, it is possible that this measure failed to capture sufficiently strongly the domain(s) of health or HRQoL that most closely accord with the impacts of increased resources on health. We also failed to detect any effect using a range of

secondary outcome measures that we might have expected to demonstrate some change, such as measures of mental health, although our lack of an explicit measure for anxiety is a limitation previously acknowledged. The exact mechanisms of this relationship remain unknown.

It cannot be ruled out that the receipt of additional benefits failed to have any measurable effect on health or HRQoL. Although on first consideration this seems implausible, the context in which this impact is expected to occur needs to be taken into account. The participants in this trial were older people (aged  $\geq 60$  years), many of whom (particularly those who were more socioeconomically disadvantaged) were in relatively poor health, suffering a range of chronic, non-communicable conditions. These conditions may have resulted from a lifetime of exposure to unhealthy environments or behaviours, consequent on social disadvantage. The potential of these participants' rate of decline to reduce might therefore be severely constrained by their conditions, such that the amounts of additional income or the advantages of non-financial benefits awarded were too little and too late to result in measurable impact.

Although it has proved all too easy to demonstrate strong socioeconomic patterning of health by measures of socioeconomic position in observational research,<sup>3,4</sup> few studies have been able to show, under experimental conditions, that increasing access to resources results in better health.<sup>20</sup> Although this may seem counterintuitive, it is important to remember that we do not yet have a clear understanding of the causal relationship between socioeconomic factors and health outcomes. Some progress has been made in the last 15–20 years, with research identifying some key pathways.<sup>32</sup> This evidence suggests that the relationship is likely to have multiple pathways, some of which may be interdependent, leading to multiple outcomes. Studies such as the trial reported here may have simply not measured the right combination of exposures, outcomes or confounding factors to be able to pick up a measurable signal.

Nevertheless, in this trial we did identify some differences between the intervention and control groups at 24 months that offer tantalising signals that welfare rights advice may have an impact on health. The proportion benefiting from personal care in their home increased in the intervention group compared with controls, indicating that the intervention may have helped participants gain access to much-needed care, which could help them to maintain their independence and access to beneficial social relations. These findings were corroborated by the qualitative data, which provided ample evidence that the intervention led to valued outcomes among those who gained financial or non-financial benefits. Finally, there was weak evidence that the longer participants had benefited from additional financial or non-financial resources, the higher their CASP-19 scores were, an indication that impacts may have been developing over time.

If the intervention is effective, it is probably cost-effective. It proved remarkably cheap to deliver (£44 per case), even in comparison with the usual practice of welfare advice not being delivered in people's own homes (an average additional cost of £17 per person). The estimated cost per QALY gained was £1914, well below the NICE threshold of £20,000, although with only a 60% chance that the actual cost per QALY was below this value.

Taking into account all of our findings, we remain equivocal about whether or not domiciliary welfare rights advice is effective as a health intervention as assessed in the context of this trial. It is possible that the intervention will yield positive impacts after a longer period of follow-up. It is also possible that important impacts will be identified in further evaluations that overcome the shortcomings of this research. Nevertheless, for those who receive unclaimed benefits as a result, the intervention remains important socially and economically and our research does not suggest that local government or third sector organisations should reduce their efforts in this area. Given that many of the unclaimed benefits for those aged  $\geq 60$  years are health-related, our research suggests that it will be of value to health care if professionals opportunistically identify and refer people to welfare rights advice services who they believe may be eligible for unclaimed benefits

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

#### Unanswered questions and future research

While much fundamental research is still needed to understand the causal pathways between socioeconomic position and health, a significant onus also remains on the research community to provide evidence to demonstrate whether or not improved socioeconomic circumstances result in better health. It would also be prudent to conduct further experimental studies to explore the impact of worsening socioeconomic circumstances on health, particularly in older people, as ecological study evidence suggests that important impacts of austerity measures could be mitigated by interventions such as welfare rights advice.<sup>113</sup>

It is unknown if a trial such as this could be replicated using the recruitment of a sample population of those in greater need (as assessed by eligibility) of welfare benefits. The challenges of achieving this are not inconsiderable. It would be important to identify participants on the basis of their own socioeconomic position rather than (or perhaps in addition to) using an ecological measure (e.g. IMD score associated with the general practice), as was used in this study. Recruitment and retention would probably be lower with such a population, and practical and analytical strategies would need to be adopted to minimise and mitigate the effects of the potential bias introduced.

Given the constraints on conducting this trial, it seems unlikely, on ethical grounds, that a similar but necessarily larger trial could be conducted using longer follow-up in order to see whether or not impacts of the intervention emerge over a period of > 2 years. However, it might be possible to conduct an alternative form of evaluation, perhaps taking advantage of a natural experiment in which a cohort of older people, some of whom have and some of whom have not claimed the benefits to which they are entitled, are followed up over an extended period. Such a study would need to make use of routine data to assess outcomes, and could explore the impact of differing lengths of time in receipt of benefits on outcomes. However, without targeted welfare rights advice providing a means to access for those currently not claiming their entitlements, such a study might suffer from similar problems, as sufficient claimants are needed in whom to measure an effect.

Future evaluations of welfare rights advice will need to consider carefully the outcome measures of interest. Taking into account the findings of recent research on psycho-neural pathways that show promise in explaining socioeconomic patterning of health outcomes,<sup>114,115</sup> it may be possible to determine more proximal intermediate physiological outcomes, such as cortisol levels, which can be assessed non-invasively and might offer a more sensitive signal.

In the meantime, it may be of value to continue follow-up of this trial cohort to identify whether or not outcomes diverge among the intervention and control groups over a more extended time period (e.g. 2–5 years). The potential costs and burdens of such longer-term follow-up would need to be considered carefully, although follow-up using routine data (from primary care) focusing on independence and morbidity might offer a cost-effective and ethically uncontentious solution.

# Acknowledgements

e thank all of the WRAs, general practices and participants who were involved in this research, without whom this study would have not been possible. We particularly thank the participating local authorities for funding and delivering the welfare rights advice services evaluated in this study. The intervention costs were also, in part, supported through a grant from the North East Strategic Health Authority, which ceased to exist in March 2013. This grant also funded the training of the WRAs and primary care staff involved in the study. We thank the Primary Care Research Network and Comprehensive Local Research Network for their support for the study. We are grateful to the Newcastle Clinical Trials Unit and specifically to Christine Harle and Chris Speed for their support with research governance. We would like to thank Erin Graybill, Health Economist, who developed the draft economic analysis plan and contributed to the design and conduct of the economic analysis, before moving on to study for a PhD. We are extremely grateful to our team of interviewers who collected data intermittently over a 3-year period. They are Pat Parr, Jackie Price, Patricia Bell, Victor Ball, Gemma Musson, Ursula Balderson, Susan Clarke, Margaret McDermott, Pauline Winship, Andrea Hird and Nichol Watson. We are grateful to Lavinia Miceli and Astrid Macintyre for their administrative support, Rosemary Bell for her invaluable knowledge and advice of the welfare system, and Sarah Batty, who assessed intervention fidelity. Professor Greg Rubin collaborated on the study and helped with study design. We thank members of the independent TSC for their advice on study management, analysis and interpretation. Thanks must also go to Anne Corden and Peter Allmark for their informal peer review of our final report.

#### **Contributions of authors**

**Catherine Haighton** (Lecturer, Public Health) contributed to the study design and the development of methods, managed the project overall, helped with the data analysis and interpretation, and drafted text in the report.

**Suzanne Moffatt** (Senior Lecturer, Sociology of Health and Illness) conceived the idea for the study, contributed to the study design and the development of methods, led the embedded qualitative study, helped with the data analysis and interpretation, and drafted text.

**Denise Howel** (Senior Lecturer, Statistics) conceived the idea for the study, contributed to the study design and the development of methods, led the statistical analysis for the main trial, contributed to the data analysis and interpretation, and drafted text.

**Mel Steer** (Research Associate) conducted qualitative interviews, contributed to the data analysis and interpretation, and drafted text.

**Frauke Becker** (Research Associate, Health Economics) contributed to the methods development, collected economic data, conducted the economic analysis, contributed to the data interpretation and drafted text.

**Andrew Bryant** (Research Associate, Statistics) conducted the statistical analysis for the main trial and contributed to the data interpretation.

**Sarah Lawson** (Research Associate, Qualitative Research) conducted qualitative interviews, contributed to the data analysis and interpretation, and drafted text.

**Elaine McColl** (Professor, Health Services Research) contributed to the study design and methods development, oversaw research governance and contributed to the data interpretation.

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

**Luke Vale** (Health Foundation Chair, Health Economics) contributed to the methods development, led the economic evaluation, contributed to the data analysis and interpretation, and drafted text.

**Eugene Milne** (Director, Public Health) contributed to the study design, provided liaison with public health stakeholders and contributed to the data interpretation.

Terry Aspray (Consultant, Geriatric Medicine) contributed to the study design and data interpretation.

**Martin White** (Professor, Public Health) was chief investigator with overall responsibility for the study, conceived the idea for the study, contributed to the study design and methods development, oversaw the fieldwork, contributed to the data interpretation and drafted text.

All authors commented on drafts of the report and approved the final version.

**Emma Noble** (deceased) (Research Associate, Public Health) contributed to the development of methods and carried out fieldwork at baseline and at 12-month follow-up.

### **Publications**

#### Journal articles

Haighton C, Moffatt S, Howel D, McColl E, Milne E, Deverill M, *et al.* The Do-Well study: protocol for a randomised controlled trial, economic and qualitative process evaluations of domiciliary welfare rights advice for socio-economically disadvantaged older people recruited via primary health care. *BMC Public Health* 2012;28;**12**:382. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-12-382

Moffatt S, Haighton C, Steer M, Lawson S, White M. What impact does welfare rights advice have on health and wellbeing? Qualitative study from the UK. *Gerontologist* 2015;**55**:90.

Howel D, Moffatt S, Haighton C, Bryant A, Becker F, Steer M, *et al.* Does domiciliary welfare rights advice improve health-related quality of life in independent-living, socio-economically disadvantaged people aged  $\geq$  60 years? Randomised controlled trial, economic and process evaluations in the North East of England. *PLoS One* 2019;**14**:e0209560.

#### **Conference presentations**

White M, Howel D, Moffatt S, Vale L, McColl E, Haighton C, et al. Does Domiciliary Welfare Rights Advice Improve Health Related Quality of Life in Independent-living, Socio-economically Disadvantaged People aged  $\geq$  60 years, Recruited via Primary Care? Randomised Controlled Trial with Embedded Economic, Qualitative and Process Evaluations. Presented at The Society for Social Medicine, 60th Annual Scientific Meeting, University of York, York, UK, 14–16 September 2016.

Steer M, Moffatt S, Haighton C, Lawson S, Bryant A, Howel D, et al. A Mixed Methods Approach to Dealing with Discrepant Quantitative and Qualitative Findings: The Case of a Randomised Controlled Trial of a Complex Social Intervention. Presented at the Mixed Methods International Research Association Conference, Durham, UK, 3–5 August 2016.

Moffatt S, Haighton C, Howel D, Steer M, Bryant A, Becker F, *et al. Evaluating the Impact of a Welfare Rights Advice Intervention on Older People's Quality of Life. The Outcomes and Challenges of Undertaking a Randomised Controlled Trial of a Complex Intervention*. Presented at the British Society of Gerontology, Stirling, UK, 6–8 July 2016.

Moffatt S, Haighton C, Steer M, Lawson S, Howel D, White M. 'I Would be Terrified in Case I was Claiming Something I Shouldn't Get'. Impact of and Barriers to Claiming Welfare Entitlements in Later Life in the UK. Presented at the 23rd Nordic Congress of Gerontology, Tampere, Finland, 19–22 June 2016.

Moffatt S, Haighton C, Steer M, Lawson S, White M. *What Impact does Welfare Rights Advice have on Health and Wellbeing? Qualitative Study from the UK*. Presented at The Gerontological Society of America Annual Scientific Meeting, Orlando, FL, USA, 18–22 November 2015.

White M, Moffatt S, Lock C, McColl E, Howel D, Deverill M, et al. Is a Randomised Controlled Trial to Evaluate the Health Impacts of Welfare Rights Advice for Older People Safe, Fair and Scientifically Rigorous? Design for a Definitive RCT in North East England, 2011–15. Presented at Population Health – Methods and Challenges Conference, The ICC Birmingham, UK, 24–26 April 2012.

### **Data-sharing statement**

All data requested shoud be submitted to the corresponding author for consideration. Access to available anomymised data may be granted following review.

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

# References

- 1. Haighton C, Moffatt S, Howel D, McColl E, Milne E, Deverill M, *et al.* The Do-Well study: protocol for a randomised controlled trial, economic and qualitative process evaluations of domiciliary welfare rights advice for socio-economically disadvantaged older people recruited via primary health care. *BMC Public Health* 2012;**12**:382. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-12-382
- Howel D, Moffatt S, Haighton C, Bryant A, Becker F, Steer M, et al. Does domiciliary welfare rights advice improve health-related quality of life in independent-living, socio-economically disadvantaged people aged ≥ 60 years? Randomised controlled trial, economic and process evaluations in the North East of England. PLoS One 2019;14:e0209560.
- Marmot M, Atkinson T, Black C, Broadfoot P, Cumberledge J, Diamond I, et al. Fair Society, Healthy Lives (The Marmot Review). London: University College London Institute of Health Equity; 2010.
- Charlton BG, White M. Living on the margin: a salutogenic model for socio-economic differentials in health. *Public Health* 1995;**109**:235–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0033-3506(95)80200-2
- Morciano M, Hancock RM, Pudney SE. Birth-cohort trends in older-age functional disability and their relationship with socio-economic status: evidence from a pooling of repeated cross-sectional population-based studies for the UK. Soc Sci Med 2015;**136–137**:1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.socscimed.2015.04.035
- Chandola T, Ferrie J, Sacker A, Marmot M. Social inequalities in self reported health in early old age: follow-up of prospective cohort study. *BMJ* 2007;**334**:990. https://doi.org/10.1136/ bmj.39167.439792.55
- Han SD, Boyle PA, James BD, Yu L, Bennett DA. Poorer financial and health literacy among community-dwelling older adults with mild cognitive impairment. *J Aging Health* 2015;**27**:1105–17. https://doi.org/10.1177/0898264315577780
- Jivraj S, Nazroo J. Determinants of socioeconomic inequalities in subjective well-being in later life: a cross-country comparison in England and the USA. *Qual Life Res* 2014;23:2545–58. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-014-0694-8
- Allin S, Masseria C, Mossialos E. Inequality in Health Care Use among Older People in the United Kingdom: An Analysis of Panel Data. LSE health working papers, 1/2006. London: London School of Economics and Political Science; 2006.
- 10. Argyle E. Poverty, disability and the role of older carers. *Disabil Soc* 2001;**16**:585–95. https://doi.org/10.1080/09687590120059559
- Mackintosh J, White M, Howel D, Chadwick T, Moffatt S, Deverill M, Sandell A. Randomised controlled trial of welfare rights advice accessed via primary health care: pilot study [ISRCTN61522618.] *BMC Public Health* 2006;**6**:162. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-6-162
- Moffatt S, Mackintosh J, White M, Howel D, Sandell A. The acceptability and impact of a randomised controlled trial of welfare rights advice accessed via primary health care: qualitative study. *BMC Public Health* 2006;**6**:163. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-6-163
- Moor N, de Graaf PM, Komter A. Family, welfare state generosity and the vulnerability of older adults: a cross-national study. J Aging Stud 2013;27:347–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jaging.2013.07.002

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

- Wu J, Varnik A, Tooding L, Varrnik P, Kasearu K. Suicide among older people in relation to their subjective and objective well-being in different European regions. *Eur J Ageing* 2014;**11**:131–40. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10433-013-0297-1
- Iparraguirre J. Have winter fuel payments reduced excess winter mortality in England and Wales? *Public Health* 2015;**37**:26–33. https://doi.org/10.1093/pubmed/fdu063
- 16. Benzeval M, Bond L, Campbell M, Egan M, Lorenc T, Petticrew M, et al. How Does Money Influence Health? York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation; 2014.
- 17. Glasgow Centre for Population Health. Asset Based Approaches for Health Improvement: Redressing the Balance. Glasgow: Glasgow Centre for Population Health; 2011.
- McDonough P, Duncan GJ, Williams D, House J. Income dynamics and adult mortality in the United States, 1972 through 1989. *Am J Public Health* 1997;87:1476–83. https://doi.org/ 10.2105/AJPH.87.9.1476
- Allmark P, Baxter S, Goyder E, Guillaume L, Crofton-Martin G. Assessing the health benefits of advice services: using research evidence and logic model methods to explore complex pathways. *Health Soc Care Community* 2013;21:59–68. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2524.2012.01087.x
- Connor J, Rodgers A, Priest P. Randomised studies of income supplementation: a lost opportunity to assess health outcomes. *J Epidemiol Community Health* 1999;**53**:725–30. https://doi.org/ 10.1136/jech.53.11.725
- 21. Scholz R, Maier H. *German Unification and the Plasticity of Mortality at Older Ages*. Rostock: Max-Planck-Institute for Demographic Research; 2003.
- 22. Vogt T, Gampe J. Money or Medicine? The Contribution of Rising Income and Improving Health Care to the East-West German Mortality Convergence. Boston, MA: Population Association of America: 2014 Annual Meeting; 2013.
- Secretary of State for Health. Saving Lives: Our Healthier Nation. Cm 4386. London: The Stationery Office; 1998.
- 24. Acheson D. Independent Inquiry into Inequalities in Health. London: The Stationery Office; 1998.
- Bauld L, Judge K, Barnes M, Benzeval M, Mackenzie M, Sullivan H. Promoting social change: the experience of Health Action Zones in England. J Soc Policy 2005;34:427–45. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/S0047279405008858
- 26. Consilium Research and Consultancy. *The Role of Advice Services in Health Outcomes Evidence Review and Mapping Study*. London: Advice Services Alliance; 2015.
- 27. Department of Health and Social Care. *Reducing Health Inequalities: An Action Report*. London: Department of Health and Social Care; 1999.
- 28. Department for Work and Pensions. *Income Related Benefits Estimates of Take-Up*. London: Department for Work and Pensions; 2010. URL: www.gov.uk/government/organisations/ department-for-work-pensions (accessed 3 February 2016).
- Age Concern. Confusion over Benefits System Keeping Pensioners from Claiming their Dues Worrying New Statistics Revealed by Age Concern. 2007. URL: www.ageconcern.org.uk/ AgeConcern/ACF27D5BD87F43B1B35155C67A628760.asp (accessed 15 June 2009).
- 30. National Audit Office. *Tackling Pensioner Poverty: Encouraging Take-up of Entitlements*. London: National Audit Office; 2002.
- 31. Moffatt S, Scambler G. Can welfare-rights advice targeted at older people reduce social exclusion? *Ageing Soc* 2008;**28**:875–99. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0144686X08007253

- 32. Adams J, White M, Moffatt S, Howel D, Mackintosh J. A systematic review of the health, social and financial impacts of welfare rights advice delivered in healthcare settings. *BMC Public Health* 2006;**6**:81. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-6-81
- Moffatt S, White M, Stacy R, Downey D, Hudson E. The impact of welfare advice in primary care: a qualitative study. *Crit Public Health* 2004;**14**:295–309. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 09581590400007959
- 34. McConaghy M, Hill C, Kane C, Lader D, Costigan P, Thornby M. *Entitled but not Claiming? Pensioners, the MIG and the Pension Credit*. Leeds: Department for Work and Pensions; 2003.
- 35. The Poverty Site. *Take-up of Benefits*. URL: www.poverty.org.uk/66/index.shtml (accessed 17 June 2010).
- 36. Corden A. Claiming Entitlements: Take-up of Benefits. In Ditch J, editor. *Introduction to Social Security*. London: Routledge; 1999. pp. 134–55.
- Coppel DH, Packham CJ, Varnam MA. Providing welfare rights advice in primary care. Public Health 1999;113:131–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0033-3506(99)00137-7
- 38. Cornwallis E, O'Neil J. *Promoting Health by Tackling Poverty*. Scottish RCGP Magazine; 1998. pp. 8–9.
- 39. Jarman B. Giving advice about welfare benefits in general practice. *Br Med J* 1985;**290**:522–4. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.290.6467.519-a
- Paris JA, Player D. Citizens' advice in general practice. BMJ 1993;306:1518–20. https://doi.org/ 10.1136/bmj.306.6891.1518
- 41. Widdowfield H, Rickard P. *Health Centre Advice Service Report*. Sunderland: Wear Valley Citizens Advice Bureau; 1996.
- Abbott S, Hobby L. An Evaluation of the Health and Advice Project: Its Impact on the Health of Those Using the Service. Report No. 99/63. Liverpool: Health and Community Care Research Unit; 1999.
- Abbott S, Hobby L. Welfare benefits advice in primary care: evidence of improvements in health. *Public Health* 2000;**114**:324–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0033-3506(00)00356-5
- 44. Veitch D. Prescribing Citizens Advice. Birmingham: Social Services and Health Authority; 1995.
- 45. Greasley P, Small N. Providing welfare advice in general practice: referrals, issues and outcomes. Health Soc Care Community 2005;**13**:249–58. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2524.2005.00557.x
- 46. Greasley P, Small N. Establishing a welfare advice service in family practices: views of advice workers and primary care staff. *Fam Pract* 2005;**22**:513–19. https://doi.org/10.1093/fampra/cmi047
- 47. Levy J, Payne M. Welfare rights advocacy in a specialist health and social care setting: a service audit. *Brit J Soc Work*. 2006;**36**:323–31.
- Fruin C, Pitt PI. Welfare benefit promotion within a district general hospital rheumatology centre: a joint project with the local Citizens Advice Bureau. *Musculoskeletal Care* 2008;6:211–19. https://doi.org/10.1002/msc.133
- 49. Fries JF, Spitz P, Kraines RG, Holman HR. Measurement of patient outcome in arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* 1980;**23**:137–45. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.1780230202
- 50. Moffatt S, Noble E, White M. Addressing the financial consequences of cancer: qualitative evaluation of a welfare rights advice service. *PLOS ONE* 2012;**7**:e42979. https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0042979

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

- Krska J, Palmer S, Dalzell-Brown A, Nicholl P. Evaluation of welfare advice in primary care: effect on practice workload and prescribing for mental health. *Prim Health Care Res Dev* 2013;**14**:307–14. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1463423612000461
- 52. Moffatt S, White M, Mackintosh J, Howel D. Using quantitative and qualitative data in health services research what happens when mixed method findings conflict? [ISRCTN61522618.] *BMC Health Serv Res* 2006;**6**:28. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-6-28
- 53. Thomson H, Hoskins R, Petticrew M, Ogilvie D, Craig N, Quinn T, Lindsay G. Evaluating the health effects of social interventions. *BMJ* 2004;**328**:282–5. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.328.7434.282
- 54. Craig P, Dieppe P, Macintyre S, Michie S, Nazareth I, Petticrew M. *Developing and Evaluating Complex Interventions: New Guidance*. Medical Research Council; 2008.
- Angus VC, Entwistle VA, Emslie MJ, Walker KA, Andrew JE. The requirement for prior consent to participate on survey response rates: a population-based survey in Grampian. BMC Health Serv Res 2003;3:21. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-3-21
- Hewison J, Haines A. Overcoming barriers to recruitment in health research. *BMJ* 2006;**333**:300–2. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.333.7562.300
- 57. Wiggins RD, Netuveli G, Hyde M, Higgs P, Blane D. The evaluation of a self-enumerated scale of quality of life (CASP-19) in the context of research on ageing: a combination of exploratory and confirmatory approaches. *Soc Indic Res* 2008;**89**:61–77. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-007-9220-5
- Corden A, Sainsbury R, Irvine A, Clarke S. The Impact of Disability Living Allowance and Attendance Allowance: Findings from Exploratory Qualitative Research. Research Report No. 649. London: Department for Work and Pensions; 2010.
- Abbott S, Hobby L, Cotter S. What is the impact on individual health of services in general practice settings which offer welfare benefits advice? *Health Soc Care Community* 2006;**14**:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2524.2005.00582.x
- 60. Forster N, Dalkin SM, Lhussier M, Hodgson P, Carr SM. Exposing the impact of Citizens Advice Bureau services on health: a realist evaluation protocol. *BMJ Open* 2016;**6**:e009887. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2015-009887
- 61. Abbott S. Prescribing welfare benefits advice in primary care: is it a health intervention, and if so, what sort? *J Public Health Med* 2002;**24**:307–12. https://doi.org/10.1093/pubmed/24.4.307
- 62. Greasley P, Small N. Welfare Advice in Primary Care. Bradford: University of Leeds; 2002.
- Hyde M, Wiggins P, Higgs P, Blane DB. A measure of quality of life in early old age: the theory, development and properties of a needs satisfaction model (CASP-19). *Aging Ment Health* 2003;**7**:186–94. https://doi.org/10.1080/1360786031000101157
- 64. Netuveli G, Wiggins RD, Hildon Z, Montgomery SM, Blane D. Quality of life at older ages: evidence from the English longitudinal study of aging (wave 1). *J Epidemiol Community Health* 2006;**60**:357–63. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech.2005.040071
- 65. Howel D. Interpreting and evaluating the CASP-19 quality of life measure in older people. *Age Ageing* 2012;**41**:612–17. https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afs023
- 66. Craig P. Costs and benefits: a review of research on take-up of income related benefits. *J Soc Policy* 1991;**20**:537–65. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0047279400019796
- 67. Sandell A. Oxford Handbook of Patients' Welfare: A Doctor's Guide to Benefits and Services. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 1998.

- 68. Moffatt S, White M, Stacy R, Hudson E, Downey D. 'If We Had Not Got Referred and Got The Advice, I Don't Know Where We'd Be, It Doesn't Bear Thinking About'. The Impact of Welfare Advice Provided in General Practice. A Qualitative Study. Newcastle upon Tyne: Newcastle University; 1999.
- Moore GF, Audrey S, Barker M, Bond L, Bonell C, Hardeman W, et al. Process evaluation of complex interventions: Medical Research Council guidance. BMJ 2015;350:h1258. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.h1258
- Collins A, Colwell N, McClowry S. Maintaining Fidelity of the Intervention. In Melnyk B, Beedy D, editors. *Intervention Research: Designing, Conducting, Analyzing, and Funding*. New York, NY: Springer; 2012. pp. 213–27.
- Dumas JE, Lynch AM, Laughlin JE, Phillips Smith E, Prinz RJ. Promoting intervention fidelity. Conceptual issues, methods, and preliminary results from the EARLY ALLIANCE prevention trial. *Am J Prev Med* 2001;**20**(Suppl. 1):38–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0749-3797(00)00272-5
- Griffin T, Peters TJ, Sharp D, Salisbury C, Purdy S. Validation of an improved area-based method of calculating general practice-level deprivation. *J Clin Epidemiol* 2010;**63**:746–51. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2009.07.019
- Schulz K, Altman D, Moher D, for the Consort Group. CONSORT 2010 Statement: updated guidelines for reporting parallel group randomised trials. *Trials* 2010;**11**:32. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/1745-6215-11-32
- Hoffmann T, Glasziou P, Boutron I, Milne R, Perera R, Moher D, et al. Better reporting of interventions: Template for Intervention Description and Replication (TIDieR) checklist and guide. BMJ 2014;348:1687. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.g1687
- Great Britain. Data Protection Act 1998. London: The Stationery Office; 2011. URL: http://webarchive. nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130107105354/http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Managingyourorganisation/ Informationpolicy/Recordsmanagement/DH\_4000489 (accessed 22 March 2016).
- Löwe B, Kroenke K, Herzog W, Gräfe K. Measuring depression outcome with a brief self-report instrument: sensitivity to change of the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9). J Affect Disord 2004;81:61–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-0327(03)00198-8
- 77. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL. The PHQ-9: a new depression diagnostic and severity measure. *Psychiat Ann* 2002;**32**:1–7. https://doi.org/10.3928/0048-5713-20020901-06
- Cameron IM, Crawford JR, Lawton K, Reid IC. Psychometric comparison of PHQ-9 and HADS for measuring depression severity in primary care. Br J Gen Pract 2008;58:32–6. https://doi.org/ 10.3399/bjgp08X263794
- 79. Ford G, Ecob R, Hunt K, Macintyre S, West P. Patterns of class inequality in health through the lifespan: class gradients at 15, 35 and 55 years in the west of Scotland. Soc Sci Med 1994;**39**:1037–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/0277-9536(94)90375-1
- 80. Walker A, Maher J, Coulthard M, Goddard E, Thomas M. *Living in Britain. Results from the 2000 General Household Survey.* London: The Stationery Office; 2001.
- Szende A, Oppe M, Devlin N. EQ-5D Value Sets: Inventory, Comparative Review and User Guide. Berlin: Springer; 2007. https://doi.org/10.1007/1-4020-5511-0
- 82. The EuroQol Group. EuroQol a new facility for the measurement of health-related quality of life. *Health Policy* 1990;**16**:199–208. https://doi.org/10.1016/0168-8510(90)90421-9
- 83. Sobell LC, Sobell MB. *Alcohol Timeline Followback Users' Manual*. Toronto, ON: Addiction Research Foundation; 1995.

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

- Washburn RA, Smith KW, Jette AM, Janney CA. The Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly (PASE): development and evaluation. J Clin Epidemiol 1993;46:153–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0895-4356(93)90053-4
- The Medical Research Council Cognitive Function and Ageing Study Team. The description of activities of daily living in 5 centres in England and Wales. *Age Ageing* 1998;**27**:605–13. https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/27.5.605
- Marmot MG, Smith GD, Stansfeld S, Patel C, North F, Head J, et al. Health inequalities among British civil servants: the Whitehall II study. Lancet 1991;337:1387–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0140-6736(91)93068-K
- 87. Banks J, Lessof C, Nazroo J, Rogers N, Stafford M, Steptoe A. *Financial Circumstances, Health and Well-being of the Older Population in England: The 2008 English Longitudinal Study of Ageing (Wave 4).* London: Institute for Fiscal Studies; 2010.
- Health Research Authority. *Research Ethics*. Health Research Authority; 2016. URL: www.hra.nhs.uk/research-ethics-committee-members/guidance-on-ethical-review-for-members/ (accessed 22 March 2016).
- 89. Department of Health and Social Care. NHS Caldicott Guardians. London: Department of Health and Social Care; 2012.URL: http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130107105354/http:// www.dh.gov.uk/en/Managingyourorganisation/Informationpolicy/ Patientconfidentialityandcaldicottguardians/DH4100563 (accessed 22 March 2016).
- 90. Peyre H, Leplège A, Coste J. Missing data methods for dealing with missing items in quality of life questionnaires. A comparison by simulation of personal mean score, full information maximum likelihood, multiple imputation, and hot deck techniques applied to the SF-36 in the French 2003 decennial health survey. *Qual Life Res* 2011;**20**:287–300. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-010-9740-3
- 91. Carpenter J, Kenward M. Multiple Imputation and its Application. New York, NY: Wiley; 2013. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119942283
- Sterne JA, White IR, Carlin JB, Spratt M, Royston P, Kenward MG, et al. Multiple imputation for missing data in epidemiological and clinical research: potential and pitfalls. BMJ 2009;338:b2393. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.b2393
- 93. Denzin NK, Lincoln YS. Handbook of Qualitative Research. London: Sage; 2000.
- 94. Ritchie J, Lewis J. Qualitative Research Practice. A Guide for Social Scientists. London: Sage; 2003.
- 95. Silverman D. Doing Qualitative Research. London: Sage; 2000.
- 96. Clayman SE, Maynard DW. Ethnomethodology and Conversation Analysis. In Have P, Psathas G, editors. *Situated Order: Studies in the Social Organisation of Talk and Embodied Activities*. Washington, DC: University Press of America; 1994.
- 97. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. *Methods for the Development of NICE Public Health Guidance*. London: NICE; 2012.
- 98. Dolan P. Modeling valuations for EuroQol health states. *Med Care* 1997;**35**:1095–108. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005650-199711000-00002
- 99. Drummond M, Sculpher M, Torrance G, O'Brien B, Stoddart G. *Methods for The Economic Evaluation of Health Care Programmes*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press; 2005.
- Little R, Rubin D. Statistical Analysis with Missing Data. 2nd edn. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons; 2002. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119013563

- 101. Fiebig D. Seemingly Unrelated Regression. In Baltagi B, editor. A Companion to Theoretical Econometrics. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing Ltd; 2001. pp. 101–21.
- 102. Willan AR, Briggs AH, Hoch JS. Regression methods for covariate adjustment and subgroup analysis for non-censored cost-effectiveness data. *Health Econ* 2004;**13**:461–75. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/hec.843
- 103. White M, Howel D, Deverill M, Moffatt S, Lock K, McColl E, et al. Do-Well Study Protocol Version 3.1 (12th July 2013). National Institute for Health Research; 2013. URL: www.nets.nihr.ac.uk/projects/ phr/09300902
- 104. UK Government. *Redundancy: Your Rights*. 2016. URL: www.gov.uk/redundant-your-rights/ consultation (accessed 22 March 2016).
- 105. The Poverty Site. *Numbers in Low Income*. 2016. URL: http://poverty.org.uk/01/index.shtml (accessed 16 January 2016).
- 106. Abrahams D. Health Inequalities: What is in Store? In Wood C, editor. *Health in Austerity*. London: Demos; 2013.
- 107. Whitehead M. Due North: Report of the Inquiry on Health Equity for the North 2014. University of Liverpool and Centre for Local Economic Strategies; 2014. URL: www.cles.org.uk/wp-content/ uploads/2014/09/Due-North-Report-of-the-Inquiry-on-Health-Equity-in-the-North-final1.pdf (accessed 29 February 2016).
- 108. Great Britain. Health and Social Care Act 2012. London: The Stationery Office; 2012.
- 109. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. *Guide to the Methods of Technology Appraisal*. London: NICE: 2013.
- 110. Moffatt S, Higgs P. Charity of entitlement? Generational habitus and the welfare state among older people in North-east England. *Soc Policy Admin* 2007;**41**:449–64. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9515.2007.00567.x
- 111. Garthwaite K. 'The language of shirkers and scroungers?' Talking about illness, disability and coalition welfare reform. *Disabil Soc* 2011;**26**:369–72. https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2011.560420
- 112. Garthwaite K, Bambra C, Warren J. 'The unwilling and the unwell?' Exploring stakeholders perceptions of working with long term sickness benefits recipients. *Disabil Soc* 2013;**28**:1104–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2012.758032
- 113. Loopstra R, McKee M, Katikireddi SV, Taylor-Robinson D, Barr B, Stuckler D. Austerity and old-age mortality in England: a longitudinal cross-local area analysis, 2007–2013. J R Soc Med 2016;109-16. https://doi.org/10.1177/0141076816632215
- 114. Lazzarino AI, Hamer M, Stamatakis E, Steptoe A. The combined association of psychological distress and socioeconomic status with all-cause mortality: a national cohort study. JAMA Intern Med 2013;173:22–7. https://doi.org/10.1001/2013.jamainternmed.951
- 115. Serwinski B, Salavecz G, Kirschbaum C, Steptoe A. Associations between hair cortisol concentration, income, income dynamics and status incongruity in healthy middle-aged women. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 2016;**67**:182–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2016.02.008
# **Appendix 1** General practitioner recruitment letter







PCRN N&Y 1<sup>st</sup> Floor East Wing Wellington House Falcon Court Preston Farm Industrial Estate Stockton TS18 3TS

Dear Research interested GPs and Practice Managers

#### Re: Do-Well – randomised controlled trial of a domiciliary welfare rights advice service for people aged 60 and over recruited from general practices in the North East

We hope that your practice will be willing to participate in the Do-Well RCT (information leaflet enclosed), which has been funded by the National Institute of Health Research (NIHR), Public Health Research Programme. The study has received NHS ethical and governance approval.

The trial aims to evaluate the impact on health of domiciliary welfare rights advice for older people recruited via general practice. Our pilot RCT, carried out in the North East, showed that the intervention and trial was acceptable to participants and to GPs.<sup>1,2</sup>

The intervention had immediate benefits to participants in terms of financial and material assistance, and a qualitative study showed that mental health and wellbeing was enhanced. A definitive evaluation is required to assess health outcomes objectively.

We have identified your practice as potentially eligible as you serve areas of high socioeconomic deprivation. It is possible that some practices will already have in-house welfare rights advice services for older people – if this is the case you may not be eligible for the trial. However, we would be happy to discuss this with you.

Participation in the study will require administrative input rather than additional time during consultations. Essentially, we will be asking your administrative staff to: (i) select a random sample of 300 people aged 60 and over from your practice list; (ii) send out a signed letter from the GPs inviting your patients to participate in the study; and (iii) collate the responses. To facilitate this, the research team will provide clear instructions and produce signed letters (using electronic signatures) on practice headed notepaper for you, as we know that this increases recruitment. There is Primary Care Research Network (PCRN) support for this study and your administrative costs will be reimbursed.

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Our recruitment target is approximately 38 patients from each practice in the study. Your patients' involvement may generate some benefit-related clinical workload. This is most likely to involve GPs completing a short section on Attendance Allowance forms; welfare rights advisors will undertake remaining work. We will keep records of benefits accrued and, if it is your normal practice to charge for benefit form completion, will reimburse the practice the usual fee per patient at the end of the intervention period.

If you are willing to participate, the research team and welfare rights officers will be happy to meet with the practice team to give a brief overview of the research, discuss the practicalities and any questions that you may have. This should take no longer than 30 minutes. However, if it is difficult to arrange such a meeting with clinical staff, we can meet with the practice manager and administrative staff to outline procedures. Just let us know what would work best for you.

We do hope that you will be able to participate in this trial. This is an intervention with the potential to make a huge difference to the well-being of older patients. Please return the reply slip attached indicating whether you are or are not willing to participate. If you would like to see further information (*e.g.* the full trial protocol), please let us know.

If you have any queries at this stage, please do not hesitate to contact () on or () on ().

We look forward to working with you on this exciting project.

Yours sincerely,

# .

Fuse - UKCRC Centre for Translational Research in Public Health www.ncl.ac.uk/ihs www.fuse.ac.uk

#### References

- 1. Mackintosh J, **White M**, Howel D, Chadwick T, Moffatt S, Deverill M, Sandell A, Randomised controlled trial of welfare rights advice accessed via primary health care: pilot study [ISRCTN61522618]. *BMC Public Health* 2006; **6**: 162
- Moffatt S, Mackintosh J, White M, Howel D, Sandell A. The acceptability and impact of a randomised controlled trial of welfare rights advice in primary care: qualitative study [ISRCTN61522618]. *BMC Public Health*, 2006; 6: 163

# **Appendix 2** Information for general practices

Do-Well is a randomised controlled trial of a domiciliary welfare rights advice service for people aged over 60 years, recruited from general practices in the North East of England. The intervention is delivered by welfare rights advice services offered by local authority social services departments. The study is funded by the National Institute of Health Research, Public Health Research Programme and has received NHS Research Ethics approval.

In this leaflet, you will find brief details of the study and information to help your practice decide whether to take part. Please read the leaflet and accompanying letter, and then respond using the attached reply slip. Many thanks.



# Why is Do-Well important?

Income inequalities among older people are widening and tackling health inequalities is a major policy priority for government. In the UK, large amounts of social welfare benefits are unclaimed, especially in vulnerable groups including older people. Failure to claim entitlements is linked to the complexity of the benefits system, lack of knowledge about entitlements and difficulty in making claims.

In a pilot RCT, also conducted in the North East, we found that facilitating access to a domiciliary welfare rights advice service increased uptake of financial (*e.g.* Attendance Allowance) and non-financial (*e.g.* aids and adaptations in the home) benefits in 58% of participants aged 60 years and over.

## What does the study involve? Randomised controlled trial

We aim to recruit 750 people aged 60 years or more from general practices in 10 local authority districts across the North East. After a baseline assessment, individuals recruited will be randomised to intervention or control group.

*Intervention group* - Participants will receive a consultation with a trained welfare rights adviser at home. Assistance with benefit claims will be offered and advice and follow-up tailored to individual needs.

*Control group* - Participants will not receive a welfare rights advice consultation until the end of the trial period (following the final outcome assessment, 24 months later). The full intervention (*i.e.* full benefit assessment and active assistance with claims) will then be offered to all control participants.

*Assessments* - Data will be collected by interview in participants' homes at baseline (recruitment to study) and at 24 months follow-up. Data will include quality of life, health, health related, financial and other measures. In addition, quality of life will be assessed at 12 months post randomisation using a postal questionnaire.

## Qualitative study

Semi-structured interviews will be carried out with up to 30 participants, already recruited to the trial, at 8-11 months and 20-23 months. Approximately 10 stakeholders, including health professionals, will also be interviewed at 20-23 months. Interviews with trial participants will explore acceptability of the intervention/research design and benefits of the intervention. Interviews with professionals will explore the reliability of the intervention, acceptability of the intervention and the research, and

implications for practice.

# Economic evaluation

Analysis of the cost of the intervention in relation to main outcomes, as well as mean change in benefits and mean change in total income of participants, will be undertaken.

# What are we asking your practice to do?

We aim to recruit two general practices in each local authority district, with a recruitment target of around 38 people aged 60 or over per practice. If your practice already has a welfare rights advice service in house, however, you are not eligible to participate. We are working with the Primary Care Research Network, Northern & Yorkshire (PCRN-NY) on this recruitment process. Each practice will be asked to:

- 1. Generate a random list of 300 people aged 60 and over from their practice register
- 2. To identify and exclude any patients that meet the exclusion criteria below
- 3. To send out to 100 randomly selected patients on this list a letter signed by their GP together with a study information leaflet, inviting participation in the trial
- 4. Patients will be asked to return an opt-out slip to the practice within 2 weeks if they do not wish their details to be passed onto the research team. We ask you to collect these slips and forward them to our research team.

The research team will then contact individuals from your practice to invite them to take part in the study until we have the required number. We will inform you about which participants will be in the study.

# Who will be included in the study?

- A sample of people aged 60 years and over, only 1 person per household
- Individuals providing informed consent

# Who will be excluded from the study?

- Practices with access to targeted welfare rights advice services delivered to primary care
- People resident in nursing homes or hospital
- People with a diagnosed terminal illness
- People who cannot participate due to current severe physical or mental health problems
- People who are unable to write or speak English

# What research support will be provided?

There is Primary Care Research Network (PCRN) support for this study and your administrative costs will be reimbursed. The research team will provide clear instructions and produce signed letters (using electronic signatures) on practice headed notepaper for you.

## How long will the study last?

The study will last 42 months, finishing in May 2015. Recruitment to the study will start in February-March 2012 and continue for 6 months. Findings will be reported at the end of the study.

# What are the anticipated benefits of the study?

Delivery of welfare rights advice to older people, who would not normally receive such a service pro-actively, can result in:

- Increased financial and material benefits for patients
- Improved health related quality of life (*e.g.* ability to maintain independence, increased social participation, decreased stress and anxiety, improved mental health).

The study will provide robust evidence about the impact of welfare rights advice for older people that can be used in future to inform commissioning of such services.

## Who can I contact about the study?

Please contact us is you have questions about any aspect of the study. Contact details are below. Further information is available on our web site at: <u>http://www.fuse.ac.uk/group.php?gid=157&pid=2532</u>



Institute of Health and Society Newcastle University Baddiley-Clark Building Newcastle upon Tyne, NE2 3AX

# **Appendix 3** Participant recruitment letter

Patient name Address line 1 Address line 2 Address line 3

Date

Dear <title> <name>,

### Invitation to take part in research on welfare advice and health

I am writing to you about a research study that is being carried out by Newcastle University and the Local Authority Welfare Rights Service. The study is testing out a new way of giving advice about welfare rights to patients registered with my practice. The researchers are trying to find out whether this advice may help with welfare rights and whether there are any health benefits from receiving the advice.

Please find enclosed a copy of the Participant Information Sheet, which provides further details about the study, as well as contact details for the research team if you would like further information. Please read this carefully and take time to consider if you would like to take part in the study. You may like to discuss taking part with family or friends before you make up your mind.

If you would like to take part in the study, then you don't need to take any action. The research team will make contact with you in two weeks' time.

If you would prefer <u>not</u> to take part in this study or to be contacted by the study team, please return the attached 'opt-out' slip in the stamped addressed envelope provided. You will not be contacted about this study again.

Many thanks for taking the time to read this letter.

Yours Sincerely

Dr <firstname> <lastname> (Senior Partner)

On behalf of XXXXXX GP Practice

# **Appendix 4** Participant information sheet



Trial of welfare advice for older general practice patients (the Do-Well study)

# **Information about the research**

### We would like your help

We are carrying out a research study to test out a new service delivered to patients registered with your doctor's surgery.

### What is this study about?

A lot of older people do not get the state welfare benefits that they should. We are testing out a new way of giving advice about welfare rights and state welfare benefits. We are trying to find out whether this advice helps people get the state welfare benefits they should and whether there are any health benefits for them when they do. We are inviting you to take part in this study.

### What does this involve?

If you decide to take part in this study, a researcher will come to your home to ask you some questions about your health and circumstances in a private interview. This will probably take about an hour. After this you will be given an appointment to see a Welfare Rights Advisor from your local social services department, who will give you confidential advice about your rights to State and other benefits, and offer you help with making claims if appropriate. If you have difficulty filling out forms, help will be provided. The Welfare Rights Advisor can come to your home or meet with you at another location if you prefer.

We would like to recruit 750 people into this study. One group of 375 people will be given an appointment with the welfare advice service straight away and another group of 375 people will be given an appointment around 24 months later. The group you are put in will be decided by chance, like tossing a coin. However, everyone will get an appointment within 24 months.

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Approximately 12 months after you enter the study, our researchers will send out a questionnaire (similar to the one you answered at the beginning of the study) to your home for you to complete and return by post. About 24 months after you join the study, you will be asked to take part in a second interview about your health.

Some people taking part in this study may also be approached to take part in an in-depth interview with a member of the research team. If you are interested in taking part in these interviews, you can tell the researcher when you meet him/her. These interviews may be audio-recorded.

In the future, we may try to get funding for further research on the longterm effects of this service. This would involve a researcher coming to your home to carry out another interview about your health. This would let us see if there have been any changes since your last interview. You do not have to agree to us contacting you in the future if you do not wish to do so.

## How did you get my name?

Your name was selected randomly from among those aged 60 and over on the patient register at your doctor's surgery.

### What about confidentiality?

All the information we collect will be kept in complete confidence. Your name will never be passed to any third party. No names will appear on any reports and no one will be able to identify you or anything you have said in any reports or other publications.

### What are the benefits of taking part?

If you are already claiming the highest rate for benefits that you can, there may be no direct benefit for you from taking part. However, all participants get a free, confidential assessment of their right to state and other benefits and help with applying for any benefits that they deserve. Many people aged over 60 are entitled to benefits that they do not claim and our advisor can help you to find out if you are eligible. Even if you think you are currently claiming all the benefits you are entitled to, you may be eligible for a higher rate or for other benefits.

If the study shows that welfare advice provided to patients registered at your doctor's surgery is of benefit to people's health, more services may be set up as a result.

### How is the research funded?

The research has been funded by the National Institute for Health Research, Public Health Programme. The NIHR has been referred to as the research arm of the NHS. The researchers will not get paid anything other than their normal salary and travelling expenses for working on this study.

## Has the research been approved?

The research has the support of your GP, other doctors in the area (through the Primary Care Trusts), social services departments throughout the North East, and has been reviewed and approved by South West Research Ethics Committee.

### Is there anyone I can talk to about this further?

## What should I do now?

Please think about the information you have just read and decide whether or not you wish to take part in the study.

If you would like to be contacted by the researchers to take part in this study, you do not need to do anything. A member of the research team will be in touch with you shortly. You will be asked to sign a consent form if you take part in the study, and you will be given a copy of the signed form to keep.

If you do not wish to take part in this study, it is important that you complete and return the attached 'opt-out' form in the stamped addressed envelope provided, to ensure that you will not be contacted again about this study

*Thank you for taking the time to read this information.* 

# **Appendix 5** Participant opt-out slip



Research on welfare advice for older general practice patients

# **Study Opt-Out return Slip**

Print Patient Name:
Date of Birth:
Address:
I do not want to take part in the Do-Well study, and do not wish to be contacted about this study in the future.
Signed: Date:
<i>Optional:</i> it would help our research if you could give a reason why you do not wish to take part in the study. If you feel able, can you please explain here:
For GP Practice use only:
Date Received:////
Processed by:
Added to database by: Date/

# Appendix 6 Participant consent form



# Trial of welfare advice for older general practice patients (the Do-Well study)

# **Informed Consent form**

Participant Study number:	
Participant Date of Birth (dd/mm/yy):	

 Name of GP:

 Address of GP:

Chief Investigator:

### Please initial each box below to confirm you have read it and agree:

I confirm that I have read and understood the information sheet version 2.0 dated November 2011 about the research and have had sufficient time to think about it. The aim of the study and the procedures required have been explained to me by the Researcher and I have had the opportunity to ask questions about the study.



I consent to taking part in the trial of welfare advice for older general practice patients (the Do-Well study). I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time without giving a reason and that this will not affect my medical or social care in any way.



I understand that I will receive a private consultation with a Welfare Rights Advisor from my local Social Services. I understand that half of the people who take part in the study will receive this consultation straight away and the other half will receive it around 24 months later. The group I am in will be decided by chance. I understand that I am free to seek welfare advice independently at any time.

I understand that information collected by the Welfare Rights Advisor will be used in the research, but will remain completely confidential.

I understand that I will not be identified by name in any reports or publications, and that any information relating to me will be kept confidentially.

I understand that the anonymous data collected during the study, may be looked at by responsible individuals from the study team or from North Tyneside PCT where it is relevant to me taking part in this research. I give permission for these individuals to have these data



I am happy to be approached about taking part in an in-depth interview with a member of the research team, which may be audio recorded.

I am happy for a member of the research team to contact me in the future to see if I would like to take part in further research. This will be fully explained to me at the time and I understand that I do not have to take part if I do not wish to do so



I am happy for a member of the research team to contact my GP in the future to confirm my contact details

Signature of Participant Date signed by Participant

Print Name of Researcher	Signature of Researcher	Date signed by Researcher

# **Appendix 7** Letter assigning to intervention or control



Institute of Health & Society Newcastle University Baddiley-Clark Building Richardson Road Newcastle upon Tyne NE2 4AX

Date Participant name Address line 1 Address line 2 Address line 3 Postcode

Dear Title and Participant Surname

### Trial of welfare advice for older general practice patients (the Do-Well study)

Thank you very much indeed for giving your valuable time and help with the recent interview for the Do-Well study. This letter explains the next steps.

The group that you have been assigned to means that you will see a welfare rights adviser within the next few weeks. The welfare rights adviser in your area is <name> who will contact you to arrange a suitable date and time for the appointment and advice.

We will send a questionnaire to your home approximately 12 months after you entered the study, which we would like you to complete and return by prepaid post. About 24 months after you entered the study, we will contact you to ask you to take part in a second interview about your health.

Please do not hesitate to contact us by post, email or on one of the telephone numbers below if you have any questions about the study. We would like to emphasise how important your involvement is and thank you for your participation.

Yours sincerely



Institute of Health & Society Newcastle University Baddiley-Clark Building Richardson Road Newcastle upon Tyne NE2 4AX

Date Participant name Address line 1 Address line 2 Address line 3 Postcode

Dear Title and Participant Surname

### Trial of welfare advice for older general practice patients (the Do-Well study)

Thank you very much indeed for giving your valuable time and help with the recent interview for the Do-Well study. This letter explains the next steps.

The group that you have been assigned to means that you will see a welfare rights adviser approximately 24 months after you entered the study.

We will send a questionnaire to your home approximately 12 months after you entered the study, which we would like you to complete and return by prepaid post. About 24 months after you entered the study, we will contact you to ask you to take part in a second interview about your health. Following this interview, a welfare rights adviser will contact you to arrange a suitable date and time for the appointment and advice.

Please do not hesitate to contact us by post, email or on one of the telephone numbers below if you have any questions about the study. We would like to emphasise how important your involvement is and thank you again for your participation.

Yours sincerely

# **Appendix 8** Guidance for general practitioners on Attendance Allowance and Disability Living Allowance benefits applications

In the Do-Well Study the claims that will be submitted in this study are on behalf of people aged over 60 who, in the opinion of an experienced Welfare Rights Officer, are likely to have successful claims, because of their medical problems and functional limitations. A statement is required for Attendance Allowance on page 26 of form AAIA and for Disability Living Allowance on page 35 of form DLAIA.

This aide memoir is designed to assist you in providing the quickest and most efficient way to give medical support for a claim

By completing the section about how the patient's illnesses and disabilities affect their daily life, the GP can:

- increase the efficiency with which the claim is processed;
- assist earlier receipt of benefits for patients entitled to them;
- see what the patient has actually written on the form describing their functional limitations or need for supervision/assistance;

#### Attendance Allowance – Key Points

- Attendance Allowance (AA) is payable for first claims from people aged over 65 years.
- AA is paid at two rates lower rate for either day <u>or</u> night care £51.85/week - higher rate for both day <u>and</u> night - £77.45/week
- Patient must <u>reasonably require</u> frequent attention in connection with bodily functions or continual supervision to avoid substantial danger to themselves or others.
- Bodily functions include: getting out of bed, getting washed, bathing, cutting nails, dressing, moving about inside the home, taking medication, toileting.
- Patient must have had care needs for at least 6 months.
- Patient must be likely to need care for the next 6 months (the forward test).
- The patient does not actually have to receive care or supervision.
- If they can only do these with difficulty or it takes a long time then they reasonably require the help.
- Criteria for supervision include: confusion, poor short-term memory, need for prompting, poor self-care.
- Any tendency to fall is also accepted as an indicator of need.
- Requiring help with housework, shopping and outside mobility do not count for Attendance Allowance.
- Attendance Allowance is paid on top of all other benefits. It is not means tested, and it is tax-free.
- Payment of Attendance Allowance can trigger increased amounts of other means tested benefits, *e.g.* Pension Credit, Housing Benefit or Council Tax Benefit.

#### Disability Living Allowance - Key Points (Rates from April 2012)

- First claim must be made under 65 but then can be payable for life if they remain entitled.
- Established need must have been present for at least three months.
- Needs must be likely to continue for the next 6 months the forward test.
- DLA is paid on top of all other income. It is not means tested and is tax free.
- DLA is made up of two components: the care component and the mobility component.
- On first claim, DLA cannot be paid until discharge from hospital.

#### **Care component**

To qualify for the care component, the claimant must either:

require frequent attention in connection with the bodily functions:- these include getting out of bed, getting washed, bathed, cutting nails, dressing, moving around the home, taking medication and toileting. Communication needs are also a bodily function. If they can only do these things slowly, or with pain they reasonably require the help.
 or:

• must need continual supervision to avoid substantial danger to themselves or others. Again, if they reasonably require the supervision, but don't actually get it, that still counts.

DLA care component is paid at three rates: - lower, middle and higher.

- The lower rate is for people who need help for a significant portion of the day....at least one hour in total <u>or</u> who need help to prepare a main cooked meal. **£20.55/week**
- The **middle rate** is for people who need care and attention throughout the day <u>or</u> night or supervision throughout the day or night. **£51.85/week**
- The higher rate is for people who need help throughout the day and night. £77.45/week
- DLA care component is stopped after 28 days in hospital.

#### **Mobility Component**

DLA Mobility Component has two rates :- lower rate and higher rate.

- The lower rate is for people who can walk but who cannot go out unaccompanied or find their way on unfamiliar routes. It can be paid for a child over 5
   £20.55/week
- The higher rate is for people who are unable or virtually unable to walk because of severe discomfort. This includes pain and breathlessness. It can be paid for a child over 3 £54.05/week

A person is not "virtually unable to walk" if they can manage more than 30 yards. Any walking which can only be achieved with severe discomfort should be ignored.

#### • Children

- DLA is available for children up to 16. Their needs must be substantially in excess of those of a normal child of the same age.
- Children have the same three month qualifying period unless a baby is terminally ill at birth.

#### Special Rules

- The three month qualifying period does not apply if "death would not be unexpected in the next 6 months". The claimant has to complete part of form and obtain a DS1500 Special Rules report from their GP or specialist.
- Automatically paid higher rate of the care component but the mobility component has to be claimed.

#### • Reconsiderations and Appeals

- It is always advisable to seek advice from a qualified welfare rights officer.
- The applicant must apply for reconsiderations within one month of the date of the decision.
- The applicant must appeal within one month of the date of a revision decision.

The applicant is entitled to see what the GP has written for the Appeal Tribunal.

# **Appendix 9** Instructions for welfare rights advisors involved in the Do-Well study

XXXXXX will inform you of study client contact details and study identification numbers on a weekly basis - 2 participants per week or as required

•Please let XXXXXX know how you would like to receive client names - weekly/ monthly.

Contact each client and arrange a visit within 3 weeks of being given their details

Carry out full welfare benefits advice and assessment as per normal practice. If AA or DLA please send statement to GP for completion.

•We can supply a covering letter and SAE for sending forms/statement page to GP for completion

Inform XXXXXX by email or phone on a weekly basis when client has been seen at home and advice/ assessment given

See footnote 1

Complete a casework contact form stating which benefits are applied for and when for each client

Contact necessary organisation or the client to establish benefit outcomes for each client and log any time spent on case

Return completed benefit outcome form to XXXXXX by email or post for each client when outcomes are known and case closed

XXXXXX will contact you 22 months after start of study to determine the best way of giving you contact details of the control clients to be seen 24 months after start of study

# **Appendix 10** Checklist for internal assessment of welfare rights interviews

WRO ID number			
General tone of the interview			Comments
Does WRO demonstrate the following	g:		
Empathy	Y	N	
Tact	Y	N	
Valuing clients' participation	Y	N	
Benefits check for client Appropriate assessment of finances	Y	N	
Appropriate assessment of health problems/issues	Y	N	
Appropriate assessment of functional limitations	Y	N	
Appropriate benefits applied for Y	N		
Appropriate aids and adaptations	Y	Ν	
applied for If applicable, appropriate onward	Y	N	

Benefits check /health status Y N

check for partner/carer/anyone in household

Any other comments:

# **Appendix 11** Baseline questionnaire

The Do-Well Study

# **Strictly Confidential**

Interviewer (initials):					
Today's date:					
Pa	rticipan	t id:			

## 1. Introduction and preamble

- Introduce yourself
- Check identity of participant
- Discuss presence of carer or others (conduct interview alone if feasible)
- Introduction to research research questions, procedures, timescales etc.
- Explanation of intervention and control conditions
- Explanation of randomisation
- Notification of data to be collected (questionnaires, benefit assessments)
- Informed consent
- Complete contact sheet
- Explanation of present interview and timescale
- Mention sensitive and personal nature of some of the question
- Explain confidentiality
- Explain anonymity
- Check participant comfortable before commencing

### Personal details:

Title:	Mr	Mrs	Ms	Miss
First Name:				
Last Name:				
Address:				
Post code				
Home Telephone				
Work Telephone				
Mobile Telephone				

Continued overleaf...

### Details of others in household (allow up to 6 people)

# Relationship to participant (*e.g.* partner):



### **Relationship to participant:**

Spouse/partner	1
Child	2
Grandchild	3
Brother/sister	4
Uncle/aunt	5
Son-in-law/daughter-in-law	6
Other related (specify)	7
Other non-related (specify)	8

# Social and demographic information

I'd like to start by asking you some questions about yourself, and your home life.

1.	Record sex:				
			Male	1	
			Female	2	
2.	Can you please tell me your date of birth (dd/mm/yy)	)?			
	Date of Birth:				
3.	I'd like to know a little about your education - at what	at age di	d you leave full t	ime educa	tion?
			Age in yea	rs:	

4. Now, thinking just of your full-time education, what type of school or college did you last attend full-time? (If you are still in full-time education, please say which category currently applies to you.)

Primary or middle school	1
Elementary or secondary school	2
College of Arts and Technology	3
College of Further Education	4
Polytechnic	5
University	6
Some other type of College (please specify	7

5. On this card is a list of ethnic backgrounds (Show Card A). Can you please select the ethnic group that you feel best describes your cultural background?

White	
British	01
Irish	02
Any other white background	03
Mixed	
White and Black Caribbean	04
White and Black African	05
White and Asian	06
Any other Mixed background	07
Asian or Asian British	
Indian	08
Pakistani	09
Bangladeshi	10
Any other Asian background	11
Black or Black British	
Caribbean	12
African	13
Any other Black background	14
Chinese or other ethnic group	
Chinese	15

Any other ethnic background	16
The outer cumic background	10

### Employment

6. Are you currently doing any paid work of any sort?

	Yes	1
	No	2
If YES, are you:		
In full time employment, <i>i.e.</i> > 30 hrs/week		1
In part time employment, <i>i.e.</i> < 30 hrs/week		2
If NO, are you:		
Retired because of your age		3
Retired because of long term illness/ disability		4
Not in paid work because of home/ family con	nmitments	5
Unemployed		6
Other (please specify)		7

7. If retired, at what age did you cease paid work?

Retirement age:

**8.** Do you look after, or give any help or support to family members (or friends, neighbours or others) because of their long term physical or mental ill health or disability, or because of problems related to old age (this does not include anything you do as part of your paid employment)

No 1

Yes 2

9. If yes, how many hours per week do you provide help or support?

Hours per week			
----------------	--	--	--

**10.** Do you need someone to care for you at home some or all of the time? Yes 1 2 No **11.** If yes do you have someone that cares for you at home some of all of the time? Yes 1 No 2 **12.** From whom do you receive care or help? Yes No Care from family or friends who 1 2 live elsewhere Live in carer (paid or family) 1 2 2 Home help 1 Meals at home 1 2

**13.** How many carers are there who help you on a daily basis?

Number of carers

14. How many hours per week do you receive care or help in total?

**15.** Can I ask you to tell me who is/are your main carer(s)?

### Details of main carer(s) (if appropriate)

	Carer 1				Care	er 2		
Title	Mr	Mrs	Ms	Miss	Mr	Mrs	Ms	Miss
First Name						·		
Last Name								
Relationship to participant:								
Address:								
Post code								
Home Telephone								
Work Telephone								
Mobile Telephone								

**16.** Do you receive/have/use any of the following support services?

	No	Yes	Hours/week
Home Care/ Home Support	1	2	
Private Home Help	1	2	
Attend a Day Centre (including lunch clubs)	1	2	
Meals at Home Service	1	2	

Г

### **Home and Family**

**17.** What is your current marital status?

- Single (never married) 1
  - Married 2
- Living with a partner as a couple 3
  - Divorced or separated 4
    - Widowed 5

**18.** How many adults (people aged 16 and over) are there in your household, including yourself?

Number of adults

19. How many children (people under the age of 16) are there in your household?

Number of children

20. How many adult children (aged over 16 years) do you have who live elsewhere?

Number of adult children

**21.** Is the accommodation in which you live:

Owned outright by you or your partner 1 Being paid for by a mortgage or loan by you or your partner 2 Rented from a private landlord 3 Rented from the Council 4 Rented from a housing association or charitable trust 5 Rented or rent free with a job or business 6 Living rent free with a relative 7 Living with a relative and paying for board 8 Other 9

**22.** Do you live here independently or is this purpose built sheltered accommodation?

Independent or with partner or family





148

Sheltered accommodation with or without partner

- **23.** Is your household's accommodation self-contained? This means that all your rooms, including kitchen, bathroom and toilet are behind a door that only your household can use.
  - Yes 1
  - No 2

**24.** How many rooms does your household have for its own use? (include the kitchen (if you can sit down to eat in it), living rooms, bedrooms, dining rooms *etc*. Do not include small kitchens, bathrooms, toilets, landings, hallways)

Number of rooms			
<b>25.</b> Do you have a bath or shower AND toilet for use only by your household?			
	Yes	1	
	No	2	

**26.** At home, do you usually have to walk up and down stairs at least once per day?

Yes	1
No	2
Not applicable (lift or no stairs)	8

**27.** Does your accommodation have central heating? (this includes central heating radiators, storage heaters, warm air or under floor heaters) Answer YES, even if the central heating is not used. Answer YES if it is centrally provided in sheltered accommodation *etc*.

Yes, in all bedrooms and living rooms	1
In some, but not all bedrooms and living rooms	2
No, not in any bedrooms or living rooms	3

**28.** Is damp or condensation a serious problem in your home? (do not include just condensation on windows when it is cold)

No problem	1
More of a nuisance than a problem	2
A serious problem	3

29.	Is	your	home	comfortably	/ warm,	even in	winter?
		2			,		

	Yes	1
	No	2
<b>30.</b> If NO, is it because:		
you do not have central heating or the system is inadequate		1
your house is draughty/inadequately insulated		2

**31.** Can you tell us approximately what your fuel bills are per week, month or year?

you cannot afford the fuel bills

Gas	Electricity	Oil	
Week	Week	Week	
Month	Month	Month	
year	year	year	

**32.** Have you had any help with insulation costs, *e.g.* new central heating boiler, loft insulation, cavity wall insulation?

Yes 1

3

No 2

**33.** Have you ever received a grant from the Heating Energy Efficiency Scheme (HEES)?

Yes 1

No 2

If YES, how much did you receive?	£
What was this for?	

**34.** Do you have loft insulation in your house/flat (at least 6 inches/15 cm of fibre insulation)?

Yes	1
No	2
Not sure	3
Not applicable	8

Yes

1

<b>35.</b> Do you have cavity wall insulation in your home?		No	
	Not sure		3
		Not applicable	
<b>36.</b> Do you have a key meter?	Yes	1	
	No	2	
<b>37</b> Are you on a social tariff for you electricity cost?			
ST. Ale you on a social tariff for you electricity cost:	Yes	1	
	No	2	
<b>38.</b> Have you asked your energy supplier for the lowest tariff?	Yes	1	
	No	2	

**39.** How many cars or vans are owned, or available for use, by one or more members of your household (count any vehicles that are driven by members of this household)?

None	1
One	2
Two	3
Three	4
Four or more	5

**40.** Do you or your partner or a relative who drives for you have a Disabled Persons Parking Badge (Blue Badge) (formerly Orange Badge)?

- Yes 1
- No 2

**41.** Do you or your partner have a car from the Motability Scheme?

- Yes 1
- No 2
Vac

No

## **Household Items**

I'd now like to ask you some more questions about your home circumstances.

42. Do you have any of the following items in your household? (Read out each item)

		162	110
a)	Colour Television	1	2
b)	Black and White Television	1	2
c)	Satellite, Cable or Digital TV receiver	1	2
d)	Video Recorder	1	2
e)	DVD player	1	2
f)	Radio	1	2
g)	Compact Disc (CD) Player	1	2
h)	Home computer	1	2
i)	Refrigerator	1	2
j)	Deep Freezer or Fridge/Freezer	1	2
k)	Dishwasher	1	2
1)	Microwave oven	1	2
m)	Gas or electric oven	1	2
n)	Gas or electric hob/cooking rings	1	2
0)	Toaster	1	2
p)	Automatic Washing Machine	1	2
q)	Tumble Drier (or washer/dryer)	1	2
r)	Vacuum Cleaner	1	2
s)	Telephone (land line)	1	2
t)	Mobile (cellular) telephone	1	2
u)	Double glazing	1	2
v)	Smoke alarm	1	2
w)	Burglar alarm	1	2
x)	MP3 player	1	2

#### **APPENDIX 11**

#### The next few questions ask about your home and any aids and adaptations you may have.

**43.** Do you have any aids, or have any alterations been made in the bathroom that you usually use that make things easier? (For example, rails or a bath board?) (answer even if in sheltered accommodation)

Yes, or awaiting	1
No	2

**44.** If Yes, did you have the aid or adaptation more than six months ago, within the last six months, or are you waiting for the item?

Alteration/aid	Provided > 6 months ago	Provided within last 6 months	Waiting for
Bath or Grab rails	1	2	3
Walk-in Shower	1	2	3
Bath Hoist	1	2	3
Bath seat/board	1	2	3

**45.** Do you have any aids to help with toileting? (For example, a commode, a raised toilet seat or incontinence aids?) (answer even if in sheltered accommodation)

Yes, or awaiting	1
No	2

**46.** If Yes, did you have the aid or adaptation more than six months ago, within the last six months, or are you waiting for the item?

Alteration/aid	Provided > 6 months ago	Provided within last 6 months	Waiting for
Grab rails in toilet or bathroom	1	2	3
Commode for day or night use	1	2	3
Bedpan/urinal/bottle	1	2	3
Raised toilet seat	1	2	3
Incontinence pads	1	2	3

**47.** Do you have any aids in the bedroom to make things easier for you to get in and out of bed? (For example, a bed hoist, a bed raise or a special bed?) (answer even if in sheltered accommodation)

Yes, or awaiting	1
No	2

**48.** If Yes, did you have the aid or adaptation more than six months ago, within the last six months, or are you waiting for the item?

Alteration/aid	Provided > 6 months ago	Provided within last 6 months	Waiting for
Bed hoist	1	2	3
Bed raise or Bed block	1	2	3
Special bed or mattress	1	2	3

**49.** Do you have any of the following aids for your chair or your bed? (For example, special cushions to prevent pressure sores?) (answer even if in sheltered accommodation)

Yes, or awaiting	1
No	2

**50.** If Yes, did you have the aid or adaptation more than six months ago, within the last six months, or are you waiting for the item?

Alteration/aid	Provided > 6 months ago	Provided within last 6 months	Waiting for
Sheepskin	1	2	3
Special Cushions	1	2	3
Special chair or Chair raise	1	2	3

**51.** Have any alterations been made to your home to make things easier for you to get around? (answer even if in sheltered accommodation)

Yes, or awaiting	1
No	2

**52.** If Yes, did you have the aid or adaptation more than six months ago, within the last six months, or are you waiting for the item?

Alteration/aid	Provided > 6 months ago	Provided within last 6 months	Waiting for
Widened doorways	1	2	3
Additional stair rails	1	2	3
Stair lift or Vertical lift	1	2	3
Ramp at front or rear entrances	1	2	3
Additional grab rails at front or rear entrances	1	2	3

**53.** Do you use any aids for getting about? (For example, a wheelchair or sticks?)

Yes, or awaiting	1
No	2

**54.** If Yes, did you have the aid or adaptation more than six months ago, within the last six months, or are you waiting for the item?

Alteration/aid	Provided > 6 months ago	Provided within last 6 months	Waiting for
Manual wheelchair	1	2	3
Electric wheelchair	1	2	3
Walking frame (Zimmer)	1	2	3
Walking stick(s)	1	2	3
Walking trolley	1	2	3
Crutches	1	2	3

**55.** Do you have any aids for helping you with meals? (For example, kitchen gadgets or special cutlery?) (answer even if in sheltered accommodation)

Yes, or awaiting	1
No	2

**56.** If Yes, did you have the aid more than six months ago, within the last six months, or are you waiting for the item?

Alteration/aid	Provided	Provided within	Waiting for

	> 6 months ago	last 6 months	
Kitchen gadgets	1	2	3
Special cutlery/crockery	1	2	3
Meal trolley	1	2	3

**57.** Do you have any services/aids to help you to communicate with people outside your home? (For example, Care Call, special telephone) (answer even if in sheltered accommodation)

Yes, or awaiting	1
No	2

**58.** If Yes, did you have the aid more than six months ago, within the last six months, or are you waiting for the item?

Alteration/aid	Provided > 6 months ago	Provided within last 6 months	Waiting for
Community care Alarm Scheme	1	2	3
Special telephone	1	2	3
Entrance telecom	1	2	3

**59.** Do you have any aids to help you reach or manipulate objects or parts of your body with your hands (*e.g.* helping hand)?

Yes, or awaiting	1
No	2

**60.** If Yes, did you have the aid more than six months ago, within the last six months, or are you waiting for the item?

Alteration/aid	Provided > 6 months ago	Provided within last 6 months	Waiting for
Helping hand - for picking up objects while standing	1	2	3
Helping hand – for pulling on socks or stockings	1	2	3
Special implements with long handles ( <i>e.g.</i> hair brush)	1	2	3

**61.** What are your current living arrangements?

In hospital	5
Living in a care home	4
Not living in your own home but with support from relatives/friends/carer (including supported accommodation)	3
Living in your own home with support from a partner or carer	2
Living independently in your own home	1

### Affordability

**62.** How often does it happen that you do have enough money to afford the kinds of **food** that you or your family should have? Is it...

Always	1
Often	2
Sometimes	3
Seldom	4
Never	5
Not applicable	8

**63.** How often does it happen that you do have enough money to afford the kinds of **clothing** that you or your family should have? Is it...

Always	1
Often	2
Sometimes	3
Seldom	4
Never	5
Not applicable	8

**64.** How often does it happen that you find it difficult to meet the cost of your bills for **gas and/or** electricity? Is it...

Always	1
Often	2
Sometimes	3
Seldom	4
Never	5
Not applicable	8

**65.** How often does it happen that you find it difficult to pay bills for the **telephone**? Is it...

Always	1
Often	2
Sometimes	3
Seldom	4
Never	5
Not applicable	8

66. How often does it happen that you find it difficult to pay your rent or mortgage? Is it...

Always	1
Often	2
Sometimes	3
Seldom	4
Never	5
Not applicable	8

**67.** How satisfied are you with your **standard of living**? Is it...

Very dissatisfied	1
A little dissatisfied	2
No feelings either way	3
A little satisfied	4
Very satisfied	5

68. How satisfied are you with your present accommodation?

Very dissatisfied	1
A little dissatisfied	2
No feelings either way	3
A little satisfied	4
Very satisfied	5

**69.** Suppose you needed a lump sum of money, for example suppose a cooker or washing machine broke down and you need £250 for a new one straight away, would it be...

Impossible	1
Difficult	2
Inconvenient, but not impossible	3
No problem	4
Don't know	5
Question refused	6

**70.** Suppose you needed to find a smaller sum of money, for example suppose you needed £50. How difficult would it be to find that? Would it be...

Impossible	1
Difficult	2
Inconvenient, but not impossible	3
No problem	4
Don't know	5
Question refused	6

**71.** Are there important ways in which you feel your life has changed for the better over the last six months?

Yes 1

No 2

If Yes: In what ways has your life changed for the better?

1.			
2.			
3.			
4.			

**72.** Are there important ways in which you feel your life has changed for the worse over the last six months?

Yes 1

No 2

If Yes: In what ways has your life changed for the worse?

1.		
2.		
3.		
4.		

## EQ-5D

Think about your own health state today. Please can you tell me which statement best describes your health today.

#### 73. Mobility

I have no problems in walking about I have some problems in walking about I am confined to bed

#### 74. Self-Care

I have no problems with self-care
I have some problems washing or dressing myself
I am unable to wash or dress myself

<b>75.</b> Usual Activities ( <i>e.g.</i> work, study, housework, family or leisure <i>activities</i> )	
I have no problems with performing my usual activities	1
I have some problems with performing my usual activities	2
I am unable to perform my usual activities	3

#### 76. Pain/Discomfort

I have no pain or discomfort I have moderate pain or discomfort I have extreme pain or discomfort

#### 77. Anxiety/Depression

I am not anxious or depressed I am moderately anxious or depressed I am extremely anxious or depressed

1	
2	
3	

1	1
	2
	3

1	
2	
3	

<b>78.</b> Do you have any long-term illness, health problem or disability?		
	Yes	1
	No	2
IF YES - (a) What is this problem:		
(b) Does this long-term illness, health problem, or	Yes	1
disability limit your daily activities in any way?	No	2

**79.** Over the last six months, would you say your health has been:

Very Good	1
Good	2
Neither good nor poor	3
Poor	4
Very poor	5

80. What is your current height (without shoes)? (round up halves)



**81.** What is your current weight (in light clothing)? (round up halves)



## **Modified Townsend Activities of Daily Living**

The following questions (Q48-Q74) take the same form and these notes should be applied consistently throughout. It will be necessary to probe in order to confirm the use of aids in carrying out activities of daily living.

Using scissors as an aid to cut toenails does not count, as we would all normally use these. However, specially adapted furniture or the use of adapted cooking utensils would count as special aids.

Probing will also be necessary to establish whether the subject would be able to undertake the activity in the absence of another person. This particularly applies to men when asking about household activities as they may never undertake such activities but it could equally apply to women where someone else is available.

People with mental frailties who cannot undertake activities because of their mental frailty should be coded as needing help.

**Rate 0** - Needs help if the subject requires assistance from another person to undertake the activity. Do not use this code if they **could** undertake the activity for themselves but someone usually does it for them.

**Rate 1** - Some difficulty if the subject reports difficulty undertaking activity or if they report no difficulty but use an aid.

**Rate 2** - No difficulty if the subject is able to undertake this activity by themselves without difficulty and without the use of aids or help from others.

# I would now like to ask you some questions about day to day activities, which some people find difficult.

I would like to know if you are able, or if you have any difficulty with the following activities.

- **82.** Are you able to cut your own toenails? (IF YES: Do you have difficulty cutting your own toenails?)
  - 0 (No), needs help
  - 1 (Yes), some difficulty
  - 2 (Yes), no difficulty
  - 7 Don't know
  - 8 No answer
  - 9 Not asked
- **83.** Are you able to wash all over or bathe? (IF YES: Do you have difficulty washing all over or bathing?)
  - **0** (No), needs help

1	(Yes), some difficulty
2	(Yes), no difficulty
7	Don't know
8	No answer
9	Not asked

**84.** Are you able to get on a bus? (IF YES: Do you have difficulty?)

0	(No), needs help
1	(Yes), some difficulty
2	(Yes), no difficulty
7	Don't know
8	No answer
9	Not asked

**85.** Are you able to go up **and** down stairs? (IF YES: Do you have difficulty?)

0	(No), needs help
1	(Yes), some difficulty
2	(Yes), no difficulty
7	Don't know
8	No answer
9	Not asked

- **86.** Are you able to do light housework? (IF YES: Do you have difficulty?) *Light housework (e.g. vacuuming, mopping floors, ironing, making beds.* 
  - 0 (No), needs help
    1 (Yes), some difficulty
    2 (Yes), no difficulty
    7 Don't know
    8 No answer

- 9 Not asked
- **87.** Are you able to do heavy housework? (IF YES: Do you have difficulty?) *Heavy housework (e.g. cleaning windows, scrubbing floors).* 
  - (No), needs help
  - 1 (Yes), some difficulty
  - 2 (Yes), no difficulty
  - 7 Don't know
  - 8 No answer
  - 9 Not asked
- **88.** Are you able to shop and carry heavy bags? (IF YES: Do you have difficulty?)
  - 0 (No), needs help
  - 1 (Yes), some difficulty
  - 2 (Yes), no difficulty
  - 7 Don't know
  - 8 No answer
  - 9 Not asked
- **89.** Are you able to prepare and cook a hot meal? (IF YES: Do you have difficulty?) *If the subject claims they never have to cook a hot meal because this is always done for them, ask them to make the judgement as to whether they could if they had to.* 
  - 0 (No), needs help
  - 1 (Yes), some difficulty
  - 2 (Yes), no difficulty
  - 7 Don't know
  - 8 No answer
  - 9 Not asked

**90.** Are you able to reach an overhead shelf? (IF YES: Do you have difficulty?)

0	(No), needs help
1	(Yes), some difficulty
2	(Yes), no difficulty
7	Don't know
8	No answer
9	Not asked

**91.** Are you able to tie a good knot in a piece of string? (IF YES: Do you have difficulty?)

0	(No), needs help
1	(Yes), some difficulty
2	(Yes), no difficulty
7	Don't know
8	No answer
9	Not asked

92. Are you able to put on your shoes and socks or stockings? (IF YES: Do you have difficulty?)

0	(No), needs help
1	(Yes), some difficulty
2	(Yes), no difficulty
7	Don't know
8	No answer
9	Not asked

93. Do you have any difficulty using a telephone *i.e.* looking up numbers, dialling *etc*?

(No), needs help
(Yes), some difficulty
(Yes), no difficulty

- 7 Don't know
- 8 No answer

9 Not asked

**94.** Do you have any difficulty taking medicine (preparing and taking correct dose)?

0 (No), needs help
1 (Yes), some difficulty
2 (Yes), no difficulty
7 Don't know
8 No answer

Not asked

9

- **95.** Do you have any difficulty managing money (paying bills/writing cheques or using a cashpoint machine to remove or deposit money)?
  - 0 (No), needs help
  - 1 (Yes), some difficulty
  - 2 (Yes), no difficulty
  - 7 Don't know
  - 8 No answer
  - 9 Not asked
- **96.** Do you have any difficulty following TV programmes or movies and remembering details of the stories?
  - 0 (No), needs help
  - 1 (Yes), some difficulty
  - 2 (Yes), no difficulty
  - 7 Don't know
  - 8 No answer
  - 9 Not asked
- **97.** Do you have difficulty with household tasks such as making yourself a cup of tea?
  - 0 (No), needs help

- (Yes), some difficulty
   (Yes), no difficulty
   Don't know
   No answer
- 9 Not asked
- **98.** Have you needed any help recently to check your change after spending small amounts of money?
  - 0 No
    1 Yes
    8 No answer
    9 Not asked

IF EITHER Q63 OR Q64 RATED 1 RATE Q65, OTHERWISE SKIP TO Q66.

- **99.** OBSERVATION FAILURE IN **Q63** & **Q64** IS DUE TO PHYSICAL IMPEDIMENT (E.G. STROKE, SEVERE RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS) AS DISTINCT FROM COGNITIVE IMPAIRMENT.
  - 0 Not physical
  - 1 Partly physical
  - 2 Entirely physical
  - 8 No answer
  - 9 Not asked
- **100.** Are you able to get to and use the toilet? (IF YES: Do you have difficulty?)
  - 0 (No), needs help
  - 1 (Yes), some difficulty
  - 2 (Yes), no difficulty
  - 7 Don't know
  - 8 No answer
  - 9 Not asked
- **101.** Do you have difficulty controlling your bladder?

- 0 No
- 1 Occasionally wets
- 2 Frequently wets
- 8 No answer
- 9 Not asked
- **102.** Would you say there has been any change in your ability to do practical things in the past two years?
  - 0 No change
  - 1 Better
  - 2 Worse
  - 3 Much worse
  - 8 No answer
  - 9 Not asked
- **103.** Does anyone help you with any of the day-to-day tasks I've just asked about?
  - 0 No
  - 1 Yes
  - 8 No answer
  - 9 Not asked

#### IF RATED NO SKIP TO Q75 (next section)

#### **104.** Who usually helps? *CODE MAIN HELPER*

- 01 No-one
- 02 Spouse/partner
- 03 Daughter
- 04 Daughter-in-law
- 05 Son
- 06 Son-in-law

# 07 Brother

08 Sister

09 Other relative

10 Friend or neighbour

Home help

12 Care worker

13 Meals on wheels

14 Community worker

15 Community nurse

16 Warden

17 Paid help

18 Other

88 Not applicable

IF 01 OR 88 SKIP TO Q75 (next section)

**105.** Do they help every day, most days or less often?

1 Most days

2 Less often

8 No answer

9 Not asked

# **106.** Does anyone else help? *CODE UP TO 3 OTHER HELPERS.* $1^{st}$ Helper

- 01 No-one
- 02 Spouse/partner
- 03 Daughter
- 04 Daughter-in-law
- 05 Son

- 06 Son-in-law
- 07 Brother
- 08 Sister
- 09 Other relative
- 10 Friend or neighbour
- Home help
- 12 Care worker
- 13 Meals on wheels
- 14 Community worker
- 15 Community nurse
- 16 Warden
- 17 Paid help
- 18 Other
- 88 Not applicable
- **107.** Does anyone else help?  $2^{ND}$ Helper.
  - 01 No-one
  - 02 Spouse/partner
  - 03 Daughter
  - 04 Daughter-in-law
  - 05 Son
  - 06 Son-in-law
  - 07 Brother
  - **08** Sister
  - 09 Other relative
  - 10 Friend or neighbour
  - Home help

12	Care worker
13	Meals on wheels
14	Community worker
15	Community nurse
16	Warden
17	Paid help
18	Other
88	Not applicable

## **108.** Does anyone else help? 3<sup>rd</sup> Helper

01	No-one
02	Spouse/partner
03	Daughter
04	Daughter-in-law
05	Son
06	Son-in-law
07	Brother
08	Sister
09	Other relative
10	Friend or neighbour
11	Home help
12	Care worker
13	Meals on wheels
14	Community worker
15	Community nurse
16	Warden
17	Paid help
18	Other
88	Not applicable

Over the <i>last 2 weeks</i> , how often have you been bothered by any of the following problems?		Not at all	Several days	More than half the days	Nearly every day
109.	Little interest or pleasure in doing things	0	1	2	3
110.	Feeling down, depressed, or hopeless	0	1	2	3
111.	Trouble falling or staying asleep, or sleeping too much	0	1	2	3
112.	Feeling tired or having little energy	0	1	2	3
113.	Poor appetite or overeating	0	1	2	3
114.	Feeling bad about yourself—or that you are a failure or have let yourself or your family down	0	1	2	3
115.	Trouble concentrating on things, such as reading the newspaper or watching television	0	1	2	3
116.	Moving or speaking so slowly that other people could have noticed. Or the opposite— being so fidgety or restless that you have been moving around a lot more than usual	0	1	2	3
117.	Thoughts that you would be better off dead, or of hurting yourself in some way	0	1	2	3
	add columns:			+	+
	TOTAL:				

## PATIENT HEALTH QUESTIONNAIRE (PHQ-9)

		Not difficult at all
118.	If you checked off any problems, how difficult have these problems made it for you to do your	Somewhat difficult
	work, take care of things at home, or get along with other people?	Very difficult
	1 1	Extremely difficult

# CASP-19 Questionnaire (Self Completion)

Here is a list of statements that people have used to describe their lives or how they feel. We would like to know how often, if at all, you think they apply to you.

		Tick <u>one</u> box on each line			line
		Often	Some- times	Not often	never
119.	My age prevents me from doing the things I would like to	1	2	3	4
120.	I feel that what happens to me is out of my control	1	2	3	4
121.	I feel free to plan for the future	1	2	3	4
122.	I feel left out of things	1	2	3	4
123.	I can do the things I want to	1	2	3	4
124.	Family responsibilities prevent me from doing what I want to	1	2	3	4
125.	I feel that I can please myself what I want to do	1	2	3	4
126.	My health stops me from doing the things I want to do	1	2	3	4
127.	Shortage of money stops me from doing the things I want to do	1	2	3	4
128.	I look forward to each day	1	2	3	4
129.	I feel that my life has meaning	1	2	3	4
130.	I enjoy the things that I do	1	2	3	4
131.	I enjoy being in the company of others	1	2	3	4
132.	On, balance, I look back on my life with a sense of happiness	1	2	3	4
133.	I feel full of energy these days	1	2	3	4
134.	I choose to do the things that I have never done before	1	2	3	4
135.	I feel satisfied with the way my life has turned out	1	2	3	4
136.	I feel that life is full of opportunities	1	2	3	4
137.	I feel that the future looks good for me	1	2	3	4

To be handed to interviewee to complete

## **Social Life**

I'd now like to ask you some questions about your social life.

**138.** In the last 3 months, how often have you done any of the following things: (Show Card B)

		Not at all	1 or 2 times	At least once a month	At least once a week
a)	Gone to visit family or friends	0	1	2	3
b)	Gone to a church or other place of worship	0	1	2	3
c)	Attended a social club	0	1	2	3
d)	Gone to a pub, bar or café	0	1	2	3
e)	Eaten out at a restaurant	0	1	2	3
f)	Gone on a day trip or outing	0	1	2	3
g)	Gone to a sports event	0	1	2	3
h)	Gone to the theatre, cinema or an exhibition	0	1	2	3
i)	Had family or friends to visit you at home	0	1	2	3
j)	Done any voluntary work ( <i>e.g.</i> visiting sick, disabled or elderly <i>etc.</i> )	0	1	2	3

**139.** Overall, are you happy with your social life, or would you prefer to go out more often than you do?

Happy with my social life as it is 1

Would prefer to go out more than I do 2

**140.** How many friends or relatives do you have who you see socially on a regular basis?

None	1
1-2	2
3-5	3
6-10	4
11 or more	5

**141.** Do you see your friends or relatives as often as you would like?

Yes	1
No	2

**142.** How many friends or relatives do you have who you think would help you out, if a problem or crisis came up?

None		1
1-2		2
3-5		3
6-10		4
11 or mo	ore	5

**143.** How important do you think it is to have close friends and relatives you can confide in?

Very important	1
Fairly important	2
Not very important	3
Not at all important	4

**144.** Is there anyone in particular who would listen to you and give you emotional support, if you needed it?

Yes	1
No	2

145.	Who is it who would listen and give you support?		
		Your spouse/partner	1
		Your mother or father	2
		One of your children	3
		Another relative	4

Some other person 5

**146.** How often do you see him/her?

Daily	1
2-3 times a week	2
At least once a week	3
At least once a month	4
Less often than once a month	5

**147.** Thinking about your relationship with that person, would you say that you can talk frankly and share your feelings with him/her?

Yes, over anything	1
Yes, over most things	2
Yes, over some things	3
No, not really	4

## Life Events

**148.** I'm now going to read out a list of things that can happen to people. Try to think back over the past 6 months and remember if any of these things happened to you and, if so, how much you were upset or disturbed by it? (Show Card C)

## Prompts:

The first one is				
Did this happen to you over the last 6 months? [If yes]				
how much did it upset you?	Very	Moder-	Not too	Not at all
The next one is	much	atery	muen	
a) Serious personal illness, injury or operation				
Yes 1 No 2				
If yes, how much did it upset you?	1	2	3	4
b) Death of a close relative or friend				
Yes 1 No 2				
If yes, how much did it upset you?	1	2	3	4
c) Serious illness, injury or operation of a close relative or friend				
Yes 1 No 2				
If yes, how much did it upset you?	1	2	3	4
d) Major financial difficulty				
Yes 1 No 2				
If yes, how much did it upset you?	1	2	3	4
e) Divorce, separation or break up of personal intimate relationship				
Ves 1 No 2				
If yes, how much did it upset you?	1	2	3	4
f) Other marital or family problem				
Yes 1 No 2				
If yes, how much did it upset you?	1	2	3	4
g) Any mugging, robbery, accident or similar event				
Yes 1 No 2				
If yes, how much did it upset you?				
	1	2	3	4
h) Change of job or residence				
Yes 1 No 2				
If yes, how much did it upset you?	1	2	3	4

## **Physical Activity**

I'm now going to ask you some questions about activities you may have participated in recently.

**149.** Over the past 7 days, how often did you participate in sitting activities such as reading, watching TV, sewing or knitting or other handicrafts?

Never (go to q.128)	0
Seldom (1-2 days)	1

Sometimes (3-4 days)2

Often (5-7 days) 3

What were these activities?

On average, how many hours per day did you engage in these sitting activities?

Less than 1 hour	1
1 but less than 2 hours	2
2-4 hours	3
More than 4 hours	4

**150.** Over the past 7 days, how often did you take a walk outside your home or garden for any reason? For example, for fun or exercise, walking to work or to the shops, walking the dog, *etc.*?

Never (go to q.129)	0
Seldom (1-2 days)	1
Sometimes (3-4 days)	2
Often (5-7 days)	3

On average, how many hours per day did you spend walking?

Less than 1 hour	1
1 but less than 2 hours	2
2-4 hours	3
More than 4 hours	4

**151.** Over the past 7 days, how often did you engage in light sport or recreational activities such as bowling, darts, fishing from a boat or pier or other similar activities?

Never (go to q130)	0
Seldom (1-2 days)	1
Sometimes (3-4 days)	2
Often (5-7 days)	3

What were these activities?

On average, how many hours per day did you engage in these light sport or recreational activities?

Less than 1 hour	1
1 but less than 2 hours	2
2-4 hours	3
More than 4 hours	4

**152.** Over the past 7 days, how often did you engage in moderate sport and recreational activities such as doubles tennis, ballroom dancing, ice skating, golf, cricket, or other similar activities?

Seldom (1-2 days)	1

Sometimes (3-4 days)2

- Often (5- 7 days) 3
- Never (go to q131) **0**

What were these activities?

On average, how many hours per day did you engage in these moderate sport and recreational activities?

Less than 1 hour	1
1 but less than 2 hours	2
2-4 hours	3
More than 4 hours	4

**153.** Over the past 7 days, how often did you engage in strenuous sport and recreational activities such as football, jogging, swimming, cycling, singles tennis, aerobics or other similar activities?

Seldom (1-2 days)	1
Sometimes (3-4 days)	2
Often (5-7 days)	3
Never (go to q132)	0

What were these activities?

On average, how many hours per day did you engage in these strenuous sport and recreational activities?

Less than 1 hour	1
1 but less than 2 hours	2
2-4 hours	3
More than 4 hours	4

**154.** Over the past 7 days, how often did you do any exercises specifically to increase muscle strength and endurance, such as lifting weights or press-ups, *etc*?

Seldom (1-2 days)	1
Sometimes (3-4 days)	2
Often (5-7 days)	3
Never (go to q133)	0

What were these activities?

On average, how many hours per day did you engage in exercises to increase muscle strength and endurance?

Less than 1 hour	1
1 but less than 2 hours	2
2-4 hours	3
More than 4 hours	4

**155.** During the past 7 days, have you done any light housework, such as dusting or washing dishes?

- No 1
- Yes 2
- **156.** During the past 7 days, have you done any heavy housework or chores, such as vacuuming, scrubbing floors, washing windows, or carrying wood or coal?
  - No 1
  - Yes 2

**157.** During the past 7 days, did you engage in any of the following activities?

		NO	YES
a)	Home repairs like painting, wallpapering, electrical work, etc.	1	2
b)	Outdoor work, such as mowing the lawn, clearing leaves, chopping wood, etc.	1	2
c)	Any other gardening work, such as planting, potting, etc.	1	2
d)	Caring for another person, such as children, dependent spouse, or another adult	1	2
1	<b>58.</b> During the past 7 days, did you work for pay or as a volunteer?		
		No	1
		Yes	2
	If YES, How many hours per week did you work for pay and/or as a volunteer?		

159.	Which of the following categories best describes the amount of physical activity
requir	red in your usual daily activities?

HOURS

a)	Mainly sitting with slight arm movements. [examples: office worker, watchmaker, seated assembly line worker, bus driver, <i>etc.</i> ]	1
b)	Sitting or standing with some walking. [examples: cashier, shop assistant, general office worker, light tool and machinery worker. ]	2
c)	Walking, with some handling of materials generally weighing less than 50 pounds.[examples: postal or other delivery worker, waiter/waitress, care worker, construction worker, heavy tool and machinery worker.]	3

d) Walking and heavy manual work often requiring handling of materials weighing over 4 50 pounds. [examples: bricklayer, stone mason, farm or general labourer.]

## Diet

**160.** I now want to ask you some questions about the food you eat. I'm going to read out a list of foods and I want you to tell me how often you eat each food. On average, how often do you eat the following foods? (Show Card D)

		6 or more times a week	3-5 times a week	1-2 times a week	Less than once a week	Rarely or never
a.	A serving ( a bowl) of any kind of breakfast cereal	1	2	3	4	5
b.	A serving of pasta, rice or potatoes (mashed, boiled or baked/jacket)	1	2	3	4	5
c.	A serving of bread ( <i>e.g.</i> a piece of bread or a roll) of any kind	1	2	3	4	5
d.	A serving of pulses ( <i>e.g.</i> peas, lentils beans, chick peas - including baked beans, dhal <i>etc</i> )	1	2	3	4	5
e.	A serving of root vegetables ( <i>e.g.</i> carrots, parsnips, turnips, sweet potatoes, swedes, beetroot <i>etc</i> )	1	2	3	4	5
f.	A serving of green vegetables and salad ( <i>e.g.</i> lettuce, cabbage, broccoli, sprouts <i>etc</i> )	1	2	3	4	5
g.	A piece of non-citrus fruit ( <i>e.g.</i> a banana, apple, plum, pear <i>etc</i> )	1	2	3	4	5
h.	A piece of citrus fruit ( <i>e.g.</i> an orange, grapefruit, satsuma, <i>etc</i> )	1	2	3	4	5
i.	A serving of tinned, dried or stewed fruit of any sort ( <i>e.g.</i> prunes, figs, dates, apricots <i>etc.</i> )	1	2	3	4	5
j.	A serving of white meat ( <i>e.g.</i> chicken, turkey, duck, goose <i>etc.</i> )	1	2	3	4	5
k.	A serving of red meat ( <i>e.g.</i> beef, pork, ham, lamb, venison <i>etc.</i> )	1	2	3	4	5
1.	A serving of processed meat or pies (burgers, sausages, tinned meat, pasties <i>etc</i> )	1	2	3	4	5
m.	A serving of white fish – not including fried ( <i>e.g.</i> cod, haddock)	1	2	3	4	5
n.	A serving of oily fish ( <i>e.g.</i> tuna, kippers, mackerel, herrings, sardines, salmon <i>etc</i> )	1	2	3	4	5
0.	A serving of cakes, puddings or pastries	1	2	3	4	5

	(including ice cream)					
p.	A serving of chocolate, crisps or biscuits (sweet or savoury)	1	2	3	4	5
q.	A serving of cheese (any type except low fat, soft cheeses)	1	2	3	4	5
r.	A serving of eggs (as a meal or part of a meal, cooked by any method)	1	2	3	4	5
s.	Fried food (fried breakfast, fried chips, fried fish, pakora, fritters etc)	1	2	3	4	5
t.	A serving of pure fruit juice (not squash or Sunny Delight)	1	2	3	4	5
u.	A serving of carbonated or other flavoured drink (NOT low calorie or 'Diet') ( <i>e.g.</i> Coke, Pepsi, Lemonade, e <i>tc</i> .	1	2	3	4	5

161. What type of milk do you usually use for drinking, in tea or coffee, or on cereals?

Whole milk	1
Semi-skimmed (including dried semi-skimmed)	2
Skimmed (including dried skimmed)	3
Soya	4
Some other kind	5
I do not have a usual kind	6
I do not drink milk	7

162. What type of butter, margarine or other spread do you usually use, for example on bread, sandwiches, toast, potatoes or vegetables?

Butter/Ghee	01
Butter substitute (e.g. I Can't Believe it's not Butter)	02
Hard margarine (e.g. Krona, Echo)	03
Polyunsaturated vegetable margarine (e.g. Flora, sunflower, soya)	04
Other soft margarine (e.g. Stork, Blueband)	05
Reduced fat spread or low fat spread (e.g. Flora Light, Gold, Outline)	06
Olive oil based spreads (e.g. Olivio)	07
Cholesterol lowering spread (e.g. Benecol, Flora-ctive)	08
Some other kind	09
I do not have a usual kind	10
I do not eat butter, margarine or other spread	11

163. Have you changed what you eat over the last six months?

Yes	1
No	2

If Yes, why have you changed what you eat? [Prompt with reasons below: (Is it...?)]

	Yes	No
Mainly for appearance ( <i>e.g.</i> for a better body)	1	2
Mainly for medical reasons (e.g. on doctor's advice)	1	2
Mainly for health reasons (e.g. to feel better or eat healthy foods)	1	2
Because of concern about food safety issues	1	2
Because I/we can now afford to eat more or different kinds of food	1	2
Mainly to save money	1	2
Other reasons	1	2
#### If, Yes: What changes have you made?

Record changes below.	Indicate increase or	decrease of intake	and specify	foods or food g	roups
involved (e.g. red meat)					

Food type/group	Code	Increase	Decrease
1.		1	2
2.		1	2
3.		1	2
4.		1	2
5.		1	2

#### Alcohol

I'm now going to ask you some questions about drinking alcohol

164. How often do you have a drink containing alcohol?

Never	1	$\rightarrow$ Go straight to Tobacco section
Occasionally (monthly or less)	2	$\int$
2 to 4 times a month	3	$\rightarrow$ Carry on to the next question (85)
2 to 3 times a week	4	
4 or more times a week	5	

165. Over the last six months, has your pattern of drinking changed? Do you:

Drink more alcohol now	1
Drink about the same amount	2
Drink less alcohol now	3

Go to drinks diary on next page

Monday 1	Tuesday 2	Wednesday 3	Thursday <b>4</b>	Friday 5	Saturday 6	Sunday 7
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				

Complete the drink diary on the next page with UNITS consumed. Start with relevant day of week (yesterday) and work backwards. First ask about drink consumed in the daytime, and then the evening. Probe: "anything else?"

For each type of drink consumed, record amount drunk in STANDARD UNITS (using the table below to convert). Alternatively, calculate as follows: multiply the amount consumed in millilitres (ml) by the ABV and divided by 1000 to give number of units. (*e.g.* 500 ml of 3.5% beer is 1.75 units). Please sum the units for each category at the foot of each column.

	(% ABV, alcohol by volume, shown on labels as 'alcohol % vol' or '% vol')
Beer	• ½ pint (285ml) ordinary strength beer, lager or cider (3.5% ABV) is <b>1 unit</b>
	• <sup>1</sup> / <sub>2</sub> pint of stronger beer, lager or cider (5.5% ABV) is <b>1.5 units</b>
	• One 330ml bottle of ordinary strength beer, lager or cider (3.5% ABV) is about <b>1 unit</b> and the same sized bottle of stronger beer, lager or cider (5.5% ABV) counts as <b>2 units</b>
Wine	• 1 small glass (125ml) of table wine (8% ABV) is 1 unit
	• 1 small glass (125ml) of medium strength wine (11% ABV) is <b>1.5 units</b>
	• 1 small glass (125ml) of a stronger wine (14% ABV) is <b>2 units</b>
	• 1 small glass (50ml) of sherry, martini or other fortified wine (20% ABV) is <b>1 unit</b>
Spirits	• 1 single measure (25ml) of spirits or liqueur (40% ABV) is 1 unit
	• 1 larger measure (35ml) is about <b>1.5 units</b>
Alcopops	• 1 bottle (275 ml) of Alcoholic soft drinks, <i>e.g.</i> Hooch , Two Dogs, Bacardi Breezer, or Smirnoff Ice (5.4% ABV) is <b>1.5 units</b>

			Non-alcoholic or low alcohol beer or lager	Normal strength beer, lager, or cider	Strong beer, lager, or cider	Spirits, liqueurs and aperitifs	Wine	Fortified Wine	Alcoholic soft drinks, 'alcopops', 'designer' bottled drinks	Other alcoholic drinks
Day	Time	None	(e.g. Kaliber)	(less than 6% alcohol)	(6% alcohol or more- <i>e.g.</i> Tennants Extra, Special Brew, Diamond White)	( <i>e.g.</i> Gin, Whisky, Brandy, Gin Rum, Vodka, Bacardi, Cointreau, Cocktails)	(Red, white, Rose, still or sparkling, Champagne, Babycham <i>etc.</i> )	(e.g. Sherry, Martini, Port, Vermouth, Cinzano)	( <i>e.g.</i> Hooch, Two Dogs, Alcola, Bacardi Breezer, Smirnoff Ice, Metz, Moscow Mule)	Please write name of drink below and fill in amount
Monday	Day	0								
	Eve	0								
Tuesday	Day	0								
	Eve	0								
Wednesday	Day	0								
	Eve	0								
Thursday	Day	0								
	Eve	0								
Friday	Day	0								
	Eve	0								
Saturday	Day	0								
	Eve	0								
Sunday	Day	0								
	Eve	0								
Total units										

#### Type of drink – Fill in the Units below

н

#### **Tobacco and Smoking**

I'm now going to ask you some questions about smoking tobacco.

166. Which of the following best describes you?

I have never smoked (Go to Q152)	1
I used to smoke occasionally but do not smoke at all now (Go to Q151)	2
I used to smoke daily but do not smoke at all now (Go to Q151)	3
I smoke occasionally, but not every day (Go to Q146)	4
I smoke daily (Go to Q146)	5

FOR CURRENT SMOKERS ONLY – For EX-SMOKERS, go to Q93 on next page. For NON SMOKERS, go to end of questionnaire.

167. Which of the following tobacco products do you currently use?

Cigarettes or roll ups	1
Cigars	2
A pipe	3
Other tobacco products	4

168. How many cigarettes and/or how much loose tobacco do you smoke each day?

	Number of cigarettes smoked each day =		
	Number of ounces of tobacco smoked each day =		
OR	Number of grams of tobacco smoked each day =		

169. Have you ever been advised by a doctor, nurse or other health professional to stop smoking altogether because of your health?

1	1
	]

No 2

Not sure 3

170.	Which of the following best describes you at the present time?	
I have no	desire to give up smoking at the present time	1
I have th	ought about giving up smoking but am not ready yet	2
I am thir	king about giving up smoking now	3
I am tryi	ng to give up smoking now	4
171.	Has the amount you smoke changed over the last six months?	
	I smoke more	1
	I smoke about the same	2
	I smoke less	3
FOR I	EX-SMOKERS ONLY	
172.	How long ago did you give up smoking?	
	In the past 4 weeks	1
	At least 4 weeks, but less than 6 months ago	2
	At least six months, but less than one year ago	3
	At least one year, but less than ten years ago	4
	Ten years ago or more	5

#### **Income, Pensions, Benefits and Allowances**

I'd like to ask you a few questions about your household finances. By this I mean the money that you and your partner/husband/wife have available to you from all different sources. I also need to ask you about some of your outgoings – the essential things you spend your money on.

#### Please complete tables on the following pages.

**Ask:** Do you or your partner receive... any state benefits or allowances / Pensions / Income from employment *etc...*? [**Prompt:** do you receive.....?]. If awaiting decision, please write "**Pending**"

#### **Benefits and Allowances**

		Amount (£/week)		
		You	Your Partner	
Attendance allowance	Lower rate			
	Higher rate			
Disability Living Allowance	Lower rate			
(Care Component)	Middle rate			
	Higher rate			
Disability Living Allowance	Lower rate			
(Mobility Component)	Higher rate			
Employment Support Allowance (ESA)	Contribution based			
	Means tested			
Independent Living Fund				
Industrial Injuries Disablement Benefit				
Carers Allowance				
Severe Disablement Allowance				
Income Support				
Council tax benefit				
Housing Benefit				
Pension Credit	Savings			
	Guarantee			
Working Tay Credit	Ouarantee			
Income based Job Seeker's Allowance				
Contribution based Job Seeker's Allowance	20			
Statutory sick pay				
Child Benefit				
Child Tax Credit				
Bereavement Allowance				
Industrial Injurias Panafit				
Industrial Death Benefit				
Others (nlease specify):				
culets (preuse speeny).				
TOTAL Benefit	s & Allowances			

#### Pensions

	Amount (£/week)		
	You	Your Partner	
State Retirement Pension			
Pension(s) from past employers (list employers)			
1.			
2.			
3.			
4.			
Private pension(s)			
Widow's pension			
War Widow's Pension			
War Disablement Pension			
Widowed Mother's allowance			
Any other pension(s)			
TOTAL Pensions			

#### **Other benefits**

173. Do you receive financial help with:

	Yes	No
Optical prescription charges	1	2
Dental treatment charges	1	2

#### 174. Have you received *one-off* payments for any of the following?

	Yes	No	Amount (£)	Date (mm/yy)
Community Care Grant(s)	1	2		
Funeral Expenses	1	2		
Budgeting loan(s)	1	2		
Crisis loan(s)	1	2		

#### 175. Are you receiving payment from Adult Services?

	Yes	No	Amount (£)	Date (mm/yy)
Direct payment	1	2		
Personal Budgets	1	2		
Independent Living Fund	1	2		

176. Are you registered blind?

Yes 1

No 2

#### **Income from Employment**

177. Can you tell me how much income you earn as a household from **employment** per week, month or year?

Earnings per week	£
Earnings per month	£
Earnings per year	£

178. Can I just check – is this figure before or after deduction of income tax and allowances?

The figure above is <b>before tax</b>	1
The figure above is <b>after tax</b>	2

#### **Outgoings – Major Regular Payments**

For those who pay rent for their home:

179. Can I ask you, how much is your weekly **rent** for this house/flat?

(Please calculate if necessary from weekly payments – write N/A if not applicable - Fill in the amount of rent *before* any deductions or allowances)

Rent payment

£ per week

#### Charges towards care (average weekly cost)

Day Centre charges

Care at home charges

Respite charges



#### Charges included in rent

180. Can you please tell me what is included, if anything, in your weekly rent payments?

	Yes	No	Amount per week (£)
Water Rates	1	2	
Council Tax	1	2	
Heating and hot water	1	2	
Lighting	1	2	
Fuel for cooking	1	2	
Any meals	1	2	
Television	1	2	
Any cleaning inside home	1	2	
Any laundry	1	2	
Accommodation service charges ( <i>e.g.</i> heating, lighting, cleaning for shared areas, lift maintenance, gardening, window cleaning <i>etc.</i> )	1	2	

#### For those who pay a mortgage on their home:

181. Can I ask you, how much is your monthly repayment on your mortgage?

Mortgage payment

per Month

**182.** If you have an **endowment mortgage**, how much are the endowment (life assurance) payments? (please ensure that the mortgage payments box above is also completed)

£

Endowment payment

£ per Montl
-------------

#### For ALL:

183. What is the present Council Tax Band of your home?

Α	1	F	6
В	2	G	7
С	3	Н	8
D	4	Don't know	9
E	5		

**184.** If you do not know this, can you please tell me how much you pay per year or in each instalment? **Please record how much they pay, after allowances** 

	Yearly bill	£			
	or				
	Monthly instalment	£			
185.	Do you have any household Contents insurance?				
			Yes	1	
			No	2	

#### Debts

186. Can you tell me if you currently owe any money (apart from your mortgage, if applicable), for example to banks, credit card companies, credit unions or money lenders? If so, can you please tell me how much you currently owe, the amount of your monthly payment(s)? Please write in the type of debt for each one (*e.g.* credit card, bank overdraft, money lender *etc.*) and the total owed and monthly payments.

Lender	Total amount	Monthly Payment
Debt 1:	£	£
Debt 2:	£	£
Debt 3:	£	£
Debt 4:	£	£
Total amount of debts	£	
Total monthly payment		£

#### **Your Savings**

187. Can you please tell me how much money you or your partner has in savings or investments and how it is saved?

### Please record the name of the Bank or Building society *etc.* and the amount saved below. Include ISAs under Bank or Building Society accounts

	You	Your partner
Current Accounts		
Bank or Building Society:	£	£
Bank or Building Society:	£	£
Savings Accounts		
Bank or Building Society:	£	£
Bank or Building Society:	£	£
Post office Savings Account:	£	£
Girobank Account:	£	£
Premium Bonds	£	£
National Savings Certificates	£	£
Stocks, Shares, Bonds or Unit Trusts:	£	£
Stocks, Shares, Bonds or Unit Trusts:	£	£
Cash saved at home	£	£
Other (please specify)	£	£
Total Savings		

#### **END OF INTERVIEW**

That is the end of the interview. Do you have any questions or issues that you would like to raise with me? Can I now just check I have all your contact details correctly, so we can contact you again in the future? (Go to Contact Sheet)

As a part of this study one of our research team would like to talk to some people who we have interviewed about their views of this research. Would you be willing to talk to them for about 1 hour if they contacted you to make arrangements?

**Yes** 1

**No** 2

How long did the interview take? (from time of entering home to completing schedule)

Hours	Minutes		
-------	---------	--	--

# **Appendix 12** Participant recruitment letter (qualitative study)



Institute of Health & Society

Newcastle University Baddiley-Clark Building Richardson Road Newcastle upon Tyne NE2 4AX

Date

Participant name Address line 1 Address line 2 Address line 3 Postcode

Dear Title and Surname

#### Trial of welfare advice for older general practice patients (the Do-Well study)

Thank you for agreeing for me to come to visit you to talk about the study on welfare benefits and health. As discussed in our telephone conversation, please note that an appointment to visit you at home has been arranged for **Date at Time.** 

At this time, I will ask you some questions in a private interview about your views on the welfare advice service and about this way of providing welfare rights benefit advice.

The interview will last about an hour and all the information you give to me will remain strictly confidential. If this date and time is no longer convenient, please contact me on the telephone number below. The interview can be re-arranged at your convenience. If you decide that you do not wish to take part, please let us know.

I will carry identification from Newcastle University when I see you at home. Please do ask to see this on the day. I have added my picture below so you can identify me on the day.

Please find enclosed an information sheet and consent form for you. I will go through this information with you when we meet and I will ask you to sign the consent form. If you have any enquiries before then, please do contact me.

I very much look forward to meeting you and thank you very much for your valuable interest and help with the study.

Yours sincerely



# **Appendix 13** Participant information sheet (qualitative study)



Trial of welfare advice for older general practice patients (the Do-Well study)

### Information about the research for participants in the qualitative study

#### We would like your help

You are already taking part in a research study about welfare benefits and health. We would like to hear your views about this new way of providing welfare rights advice services for people of retirement age.

#### What does this involve?

Mainly, we need you to give up a little of your time. You will be asked some questions about your views on the new service and any difference that it has made to you. This will probably take about an hour and the appointment will take place at a location and time convenient to you, most likely your home or your GP's surgery.

#### How did you get my name?

Your name was selected from among those who have taken part in the first phase of this study.

#### What about confidentiality?

All the information we collect will be kept in complete confidence. Your name will never be passed to any third party. No names will appear on any reports and no one will be able to identify you in any reports or other publications.

#### What are the benefits of taking part?

Your views will help us with the design of future services, and ensure that this takes account of service users.

#### How is the research funded?

The research has been funded by the Government's National Institute of Health Research.

#### Has the research been approved?

The research has the support of your GP, other doctors in the area (through the Primary Care Trust), social services departments throughout the North East, and NRES Committee South West - Exeter Research Ethics Committee.

#### Is there anyone I can talk to about this further?

Yes. You can telephone one of the researchers from Newcastle University who is working on this study, on (

#### What should I do now?

Please think about the information you have just read and decide whether or not you wish to take part. If you are happy to take part, then please keep the appointment date as arranged by telephone. If you decide you do not wish to take part, please contact the researchers at the number above.

Thank you for taking the time to read this information.

# **Appendix 14** Participant consent form (qualitative study)



#### Trial of welfare advice for older general practice patients (the Do-Well study)

#### **Consent form for qualitative study**

Principal Researcher:

Participant Study number: \_\_\_\_\_\_ Participant Date of Birth (dd/mm/yy): \_\_\_\_\_\_ Name of GP: \_\_\_\_\_\_ Address of GP:

#### Please initial each box below to confirm you have read each statement and agree:

I confirm that I have read and understood the information sheet version 1.3 dated 18Oct2013 about the Qualitative research and have had sufficient time to think about it. The aim of the study and the procedures required have been explained to me by the researcher. I have had the opportunity to ask questions about the study.



I consent to taking part in the interview for the trial of welfare advice for older general practice patients (the Do-Well study). I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time without giving a reason and that this will not affect my medical or social care in any way.



I understand that this part of the study will involve taking part in a recorded interview with a member of the research team.

I understand that I will not be identified by name in any reports or publications, and that any information relating to me will be kept confidentially.

Print Name of Participant

Signature of Participant

Date signed by Participant

Print Name of Researcher

Signature of Researcher

Date signed by Researcher

One copy for Participant, one copy to be retained by Researcher

# **Appendix 15** Other household members information sheet (qualitative study)



Trial of welfare advice for older general practice patients (the Do-Well study)

### Information about the research for other household members in the qualitative study

#### We would like your help

A member of your household is already taking part in a research study about welfare benefits and health. We would like to hear your views about this new way of providing welfare rights advice services for people of retirement age.

#### What does this involve?

Mainly, we need you to give up a little of your time. You will be asked some questions about your views on the new service and any difference that it has made to you and/or members of your family. This will probably take about an hour.

#### What about confidentiality?

All the information we collect will be kept in complete confidence. Your name will never be passed to any third party. No names will appear on any reports and no one will be able to identify you in any reports or other publications.

#### What are the benefits of taking part?

Your views will help us with the design of future services, and ensure that this takes account of service users

#### How is the research funded?

The research has been funded by the Government's National Institute of Health Research.

#### Has the research been approved?

The research has the support of your GP, other doctors in the area (through the Primary Care Trust), social services departments throughout

the North East, and NRES Committee South West - Exeter Research Ethics Committee.

### What if I decide that I do not want to be involved in the study anymore?

Your participation is completely voluntary and you are free to withdraw at any time without giving a reason, prior to the analysis/publication of the results. If you decide at a later date that you do not want the information given at the interview to be used in the study, then please contact the researchers at the number below and we will ensure that this is not used. This can be undertaken up to the analysis/publication of the results of the study.

#### Is there anyone I can talk to about this further?

Yes. You can telephone one of the researchers from Newcastle University who is working on this study, on **Sector**.

#### What should I do now?

Please think about the information you have just read and decide whether or not you wish to take part. If you decide you do not wish to take part, please inform the researcher at the time of the interview.

Thank you for taking the time to read this information.

## **Appendix 16** Other household members consent form (qualitative study)



Principal Researcher:

#### Trial of welfare advice for older general practice patients (the Do-Well study)

### Other household members consent form for qualitative study

Other household member Study number: \_\_\_\_\_\_ Participants Study number: \_\_\_\_\_\_ Participant Date of Birth (dd/mm/yy):

#### Please initial each box below to confirm you have read each statement and agree:



I confirm that I have read and understood the information sheet version 1.1 dated 17Mar2014 about the Qualitative research and have had sufficient time to think about it. The aim of the study and the procedures required have been explained to me by the researcher. I have had the opportunity to ask questions about the study.



I consent to taking part in the interview for the trial of welfare advice for older general practice patients (the Do-Well study). I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time without giving a reason and that this will not affect my medical or social care in any way.



I understand that this part of the study will involve taking part in a recorded interview with a member of the research team.

I understand that I will not be identified by name in any reports or publications, and that any information relating to me will be kept confidentially.

Print Name of Participant	Signature of Participant	Date signed by Participant
Print Name of Researcher	Signature of Researcher	Date signed by Researcher

One copy for Participant, one copy to be retained by Researcher

### Appendix 17 Casework contact sheet

#### **Strictly Confidential**

#### Welfare Rights Officer's casework contact sheet

Name of Welfare Right Officer: \_\_\_\_\_ Area: \_\_\_\_\_

Client ID: \_\_\_\_\_

Date of first assessment:

	ASSESSMENT	OUTCOME				
Financial Benefits	Date claim submitted	Date awarded	Weekly amount gained £	Lump sum/Benefit arrears £		
Attendance Allowance Lower Rate						
Attendance Allowance Higher Rate						
Disability Living Allowance (Care)						
Disability Living Allowance (Mobility)						
Pension Credit (Guarantee Credit)						
Pension Credit (Savings Credit)						
Council Tax Benefit						
Carer's Allowance						
Housing Benefit						
Income Support						
Industrial Injuries Disablement Benefit						
Employment Support Allowance Contribution-based						
Employment Support Allowance Income- related						
Tax Credits						
Statutory Sick Pay						
Job Seekers Allowance contribution based						
Job Seekers Allowance income based						
Funeral Expenses Payment						
Social Fund Community Care Grant						
Social Fund Crisis Loan						
Social Fund Budgeting Loan						
Health Benefits						
Bereavement Payment						
Bereavement Allowance						
War Pension						
Other (specify)						

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

	ASSESSMENT	OUT	COME
Non financial benefits	Date claims submitted	Date awarded	Comments
Community care Alarm Scheme			
Blue Badge			
Adult Services assessment			
Aids and Adaptations			
Care at Home			
Meals at Home			
Sensory Support assessment			
Residential care			
Council Tax discount			
Warmzone / other heating or insulation measures			
Money Advice			
Housing advice			
Charitable payments			
Carer's assessment			

#### Other referrals

1\_\_\_\_\_ 2\_\_\_\_\_ 3\_\_\_\_\_

Other actions

Date	<b>Type of casework</b> e.g. home visit, form filling, telephone	Total time in minutes	Travel time in minutes	Mileage
	call, referrals, appeals, supersessions, reconsiderations, other (specify)			

required

Please continue overleaf if

Date	<b>Type of casework</b> e.g. home visit, form filling, telephone call, referrals, appeals, supersessions, reconsiderations, other (specify)	Total time in minutes	Travel time in minutes	Mileage

When the case is closed and the outcomes known, please return this form to:



# **Appendix 18** Non-financial benefits: unit cost of aids and adaptations

TABLE 36	Non-financial	benefits:	aids and	adap	tation	s – un	it costs	(£)

	Total		Northumberland			North	PSSRU 20	PSSRU 2013/14		National catalogue and tariff			
Aid or adaptation	average (mean)	Durham (amount)	Amount 1	Amount 2	Amount 3	Tyneside (mean)	Mean	Notes	Mean	Notes		Amount	
Bath or grab rails	24.64	12.66	27.40	28.00	28.40	31.00	18.00	Fit handrail to bath	27.00	Bath side rail: adjustable height	GR14_v1.2	27.00	
Walk-in shower	4021.00		3912.00			3500.00	4651.00	Level access shower					
Bath house													
Bath seat/board	21.86	38.33				10.21			17.05	Bath seat: 8-inch type	BA08_v1.5	16.29	
										Bath seat: 12-inch type	BA09_v1.5	17.80	
Grab rails in toilet or bathroom	28.36		27.40	28.00	28.40	31.00			27.00	Bath side rail: adjustable height	GR14_v1.2	27.00	
Commode for day or night use	117.45	344.99				15.89	57.00	Commodes	51.94	Static commode adjustable height (fixed arms)	TA06_v1.6	25.87	
										Mobile commode fixed height (detachable arms)	TA07_v1.5	78.00	
Bedpan/urinal/ bottle	6.36	9.60				14.45			6.50	Bed pan	TA10_v1.2	6.50	
Urinal/bottle		4.08				1.00			2.50	Female urinal bottle	TA08_v1.2	2.50	
										Male urinal	TA09_v1.2	2.50	
Raised toilet seat	16.55	31.75				5.20			12.70	Raised toilet seat 4 inch	TA02_v1.2	10.40	
										Raised toilet seat 6 inch	TA03_v1.2	15.00	

	Total		Northumbe	erland		North	PSSRU 20	013/14	Nationa	al catalogue and tari	ff	
Aid or adaptation	average (mean)	Durham (amount)	Amount 1	Amount 2	Amount 3	Tyneside (mean)	Mean	Notes	Mean	Notes		Amount
Incontinence pads	n/a											
Bed hoist (bed rails)	24.95					24.95						
Bed raise or bed block	23.44					10.79	32.00	Linked bed raisers, pair	27.53	Linked double bed raiser	FU15d_v1.2	27.53
										Linked single bed raiser	FU15s_v1.2	27.53
Special bed or mattress	547.00					547.00						
Sheepskin	n/a											
Special cushions	45.00					45.00						
Special chair or chair raise	433.56					800.00			67.11	High back chair adjustable height	FU04_v1.3	115.60
										Chair raisers for chairs with legs	FU01_v1.2	18.62
Widened doorways	1078.00		2412.00			292.00	530.00	Widen doorway for wheelchair access				
Additional stair rails	61.52		59.55			97.00	28.00	Hand rail (internal)				
Stairlift or vertical lift	5729.75		3860.00	12,412.00		4800.00	1847.00	Stairlift (straight)				
Ramp at front or rear entrances	933.82		490.45			1998.00	313.00	Ramp to front/ back door				
Additional grab rails at front/rear entrance(s)	42.00						42.00	Fit handrail (external)				

-

PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH 2019 VOL. 7 NO. 3

A 1	Total		Northumbe	erland		North	PSSRU 20	013/14	Nationa	al catalogue and tarif	f	
Aid or adaptation	average (mean)	Durham (amount)	Amount 1	Amount 2	Amount 3	l yneside (mean)	Mean	Notes	Mean	Notes		Amoun
Manual wheelchair	263.67		243.00			173.00	375.00	Self-/attendant- propelled wheelchair				
Electric wheelchair	1850.00						1850.00	Powered wheelchair				
Walking frame (Zimmer)	18.48					13.95			23.00	Standard non- wheeled walking frame: adjustable height	MO29_v1.1	22.00
										Standard wheeled walking frame: adjustable height	MO30_v1.1	24.00
Walking stick(s)	17.25					4.53	38.00	Walking sticks, choice of six sizes, types £22–54	9.21	Metal walking stick: adjustable height	MO13_v1.3	5.64
										Metal walking stick anatomical left handed	MO14L_v1.3	6.70
										Metal walking stick anatomical right handed	MO14R_v1.3	6.70
										Tripod walking stick: metal	MO15_v1.3	13.52
										Quadruped walking stick: large	MO16L_v1.0	13.52
										Quadruped walking stick: small	MO165_v1.0	13.52
										Wooden walking	MO27_v1.4	4.90

stick

#### TABLE 36 Non-financial benefits: aids and adaptations – unit costs (£) (continued)

A . 1	Total		Northumbe	erland		North	PSSRU 2	013/14	Nationa	al catalogue and tarif		
adaptation	average (mean)	Durnam (amount)	Amount 1	Amount 2	Amount 3	l yneside (mean)	Mean	Notes	Mean	Notes		Amount
Walking trolley	20.19					20.19						
Crutches	12.75					9.00			16.50	Metal crutches (double adjustable)	MO17_v1.4	16.50
Kitchen gadgets	5.91								5.91	Kettle tipper	PL08_v1.3	10.00
										Plate guard/surround	PL09_v1.2	1.95
										Non-spill mug/cup	PL10_v1.2	4.00
										Long-handled sponge	PL11_v1.2	3.50
										Bread board	PL12_v1.2	4.50
										Electrically operated tin opener	PL15_v1.2	14.00
										Multisize jar and bottle opener	PL16_v2.2	9.71
										Peeler	PL18_v1.2	3.73
Special cutlery/ crockery	9.23					4.99			13.46	Cutlery set	PL14_v1.3	13.46
Meal trolley	26.10					20.19			32.00	Trolley adjustable height	FU03_v1.3	32.00
Community Care Alarm scheme	n/a											
Special telephone	115.00					96.00			134.00	Text phone	SAH10_v1.3	233.00
										Corded Amplified Telephone	SAH11_v1.3	35.00
Entrance telecom	286.00					286.00						
												continued

221

#### TABLE 36 Non-financial benefits: aids and adaptations – unit costs (£) (continued)

Aid or adaptation	Total average (mean)	Durham (amount)	Northumberland			North	PSSRU 2013/14		National catalogue and tariff			
			Amount 1	Amount 2	Amount 3	(mean)	Mean	Notes	Mean	Notes		Amount
Helping hand for picking up objects while standing	3.93					3.60			4.25	Pick up and reaching aid standard	PL01_v1.2	4.25
Helping hand for pulling on socks or stockings	3.60					3.58			3.63	Sock/stocking aid Tights aid	PL05_v1.1 PL06_v1.1	2.75 4.50
Special implements with long handles (e.g. hair brush)	7.68					7.68						
7				1								

n/a, not applicable; PSSRU, Personal Social Services Research Unit.
## **Appendix 19** Research governance guidelines for Trial Steering Committee

The main features of the TSC are as follows:

- The role of the TSC is to provide overall supervision for a trial on behalf of the Trial Sponsor and Trial Funder and to ensure that the trial is conducted to the rigorous standards set out in the Medical Research Council's (MRC) Guidelines for Good Clinical Practice. It should be noted that the day-to-day management of the trial is the responsibility of the Investigators and the Chief Investigator may wish to set up a separate Trial Management Group (TMG) to assist with this function.
- In particular, the TSC should concentrate on progress of the trial, adherence to the protocol, patient safety and the consideration of new information of relevance to the research question.
- The safety and well-being of the trial participants are the most important considerations and should prevail over the interests of science and society
- The TSC should provide advice, through its chair, to the Chief Investigator(s), the Trial Sponsor, the Trial Funder, the Host Institution and the Contractor on all appropriate aspects of the trial.
- Membership of the TSC should be limited and include an independent Chair<sup>1</sup>, at least two other independent members, one or two Principal Investigators and, where possible, a consumer representative. Involvement of independent members provides protection for both Trial Participants and the Principal Investigator(s).
- Representatives of the Trial Sponsor and the Trial Funder should be invited to all TSC meetings.
- Responsibility for calling and organising TSC meetings lies with the Chief Investigator. The TSC should meet at least annually, although there may be periods when more frequent meetings are necessary.
- There may be occasions when the Trial Sponsor or the Trial Funder will wish to organise and administer these meetings for particular trials. In the HTA Programme's case this is unlikely, but it reserves the right to convene a meeting of the TSC in exceptional circumstances.
- The TSC will provide evidence to support any requests for extensions, indicating that all practicable steps have been taken to achieve targets.

Now that your project has been approved for funding you are required to submit to the HTA Programme a suggested membership, including a chair, for the TSC. You should contact your nominees, prior to submission, to ascertain their availability and willingness to be appointed. The HTA programme, will formally appoint the Chair and Members by means of a formal appointment letter.

**N.B.** An indication of any proposed overseas members should have been given at the full application stage and feedback on such proposals supplied to you following the Commissioning Board's consideration of your application.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Good Clinical Practice (GCP) guidelines define independence as: 'not involved directly in the trial other than as a member of the TSC'.

<sup>©</sup> Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton S016 7NS, UK.

# **Appendix 20** EuroQol-5 Dimensions-3 Levels scores at baseline and 24-month follow-up by trial arm

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Haighton *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

EQ-5D-3L dimension	Trial	Trial arm																	
	Inter	Intervention ( <i>n</i> = 381)									Control ( <i>n</i> = 374)								
	Base		24-month follow-up				Baseline				24-month follow-up								
	n	Mean score	SD	Median score	n	Mean score	SD	Median score	n	Mean score	SD	Median score	n	Mean score	SD	Mediar score			
EQ-5D-3L	374	0.589	0.332	0.691	298	0.639	0.330	0.710	363	0.583	0.356	0.691	291	0.633	0.349	0.725			
Mobility	380	1.663	0.495		300	1.463	0.619		374	1.615	0.487		297	1.448	0.619				
No problems	132				127				144				130						
Some problem	244				153				230				147						
Confined to bed	4				2				0				2						
Missing	1				81				0				77						
Self-care	381	1.289	0.498		301	1.179	0.549		374	1.342	0.513		297	1.165	0.536				
No problems	279				216				253				216						
Some problem	94				62				114				59						
Unable to wash/dress	8				5				7				4						
Missing	0				80				0				77						
Usual activities	381	1.593	0.585		300	1.407	0.655		374	1.588	0.605		297	1.404	0.656				
No problems	174				152				177				151						
Some problem	188				120				174				118						
Unable to perform	19				10				23				10						
Missing	0				81				0				77						

### TABLE 37 EuroQol-5 Dimensions-3 Levels scores at baseline and 24-month follow-up by trial arm

lian

	Trial arm																
	Intervention (n = 381)									Control ( <i>n</i> = 374)							
	Baseline				24-month follow-up				Baseline				24-month follow-up				
EQ-5D-3L dimension		Mean score	SD	Median score		Mean score	SD	Median score		Mean score	SD	Median score		Mean score	SD	Mec scor	
Pain/discomfort	380	1.963	0.624		300	1.647	0.742		374	1.930	0.687		297	1.653	0.791		
No pain/discomfort	81				100				102				108				
Moderate pain/discomfort	232				152				196				130				
Extreme pain/discomfort	67				30				76				41				
Missing	1				81				0				77				
Anxiety/depression	375	1.437	0.604		301	1.229	0.609		363	1.482	0.605		291	1.234	0.582		
Not anxious/depressed	233				207				209				192				
Moderately anxious/depressed	120				65				133				76				
Extremely anxious/depressed	22				11				21				5				
Missing	6				80				11				83				

## EME HS&DR HTA PGfAR PHR

Part of the NIHR Journals Library www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

This report presents independent research funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR). The views expressed are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of the NHS, the NIHR or the Department of Health and Social Care

#### Published by the NIHR Journals Library